
 
 

BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 

Tuesday, August 6, 2013 
6 p.m. 

 
5 p.m. to 6 p.m. – There will be a special reception held in the municipal building lobby to recognize 
the work of citizens and staff on working groups related to municipalization 
 

FINAL AGENDA 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) Public may 

address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in the meeting (this 
includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public hearings have taken place, any 
remaining speakers will be allowed to address council.  All speakers are limited to three minutes. 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA  

 
Special Presentation by David Frederick regarding the 2012 CAFR 

 
A. Consideration of a motion to approve the City Council Meeting Minutes from June 10, 

2013 
 
B. Consideration of a motion to approve the City Council Meeting Minutes from June 18, 

2013 
 

C. Consideration of a motion to accept the Study Session summary from June 11, 2013 
regarding the 2013 Work Plan Update 
 

D. Consideration of a motion to accept the Study Session summary from July 23, 2013 on 
Boulder’s Energy Future Municipalization Exploration Project 
 

E. Consideration of a motion to adopt a resolution appointing BKD, LLP for the 2013 
Annual Audit 
 

F. Consideration of a motion accepting the 2012 CAFR and independent auditor reports 
 

G. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only, 
an emergency ordinance adopting Supplement No. 117, which codifies previously 
adopted Ordinance Nos. 7892, 7895, 7901, 7904, 7905, 7908 and other miscellaneous 
corrections and amendments, as an amendment to the Boulder Revised Code, 1981 
 

H. Consideration of a motion to approve the disposal to the State of Colorado, the 
Colorado Department of Transportation, of Open Space and Mountain Parks land and 

Packet Page     1



 
 

temporary easements, including a land exchange, to accommodate the U.S. 36 Managed 
Lanes Project Phase 2. This is a disposal of open space land under City Charter Section 
177 
 

I. Consideration of a motion to approve the disposal of Open Space and Mountain Parks 
land described as two permanent easements on 6,405 square feet (.15 acres) and four 
temporary construction easements on 18,500 square feet (.42 acres) to Public Service 
Company of Colorado for an underground natural gas pipeline and a valve set on the 
Jewel Mountain Open Space land at the immediate northwest corner of State Highway 
72 and 93. This is a disposal of open space land under City Charter Section 177 
 

J. Consideration of a motion to change Study Sessions scheduled for October 8, 22 and 
October 29 to business meetings 
 

K. Consideration of a motion to call a special meeting of the Boulder City Council to 
consider the Hogan-Pancost Annexation on October 3, 2013 
 

4. POTENTIAL CALL- UP CHECK IN  
Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call- up of an item listed under agenda 
Item 8-A1.   

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS   

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS   
 

A. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7917 finding 
that the conditions precedent to formation of an electric power and light utility of 
Charter Section 178(a) have been satisfied, and setting forth related details and 
acceptance of the summary of the July 23, 2013 presentation by PowerServices, Inc. 
 

B. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7918 
authorizing the acquisition of property interests owned by Public Service Company 
of Colorado d/b/a Xcel Energy by negotiation and purchase or through the power of 
eminent domain and setting forth related details 
 

C. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7919 setting the 
ballot title for an initiated amendment to the Boulder Charter, and setting forth 
related details 
 

D. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7920 submitting 
to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the general municipal coordinated 
election to be held on Tuesday, November 5, 2013, an alternative ballot question 
amending the City Charter to address issues presented by the proposed initiated 
Charter amendment that adds a new section 188 on limitations on electric utility debt 
and setting forth related details 

Packet Page     2



 
 

 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER   

None 
 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY   
 None 
 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

 
A. Potential Call-Ups 

 
1. Landmark alteration certificate to demolish a non-contributing building at 1023 

Walnut St. in the Downtown Historic District and in its place construct a new four 
story commercial building to be connected via a bridge to the proposed building at 
1048 Pearl St. Information Packet Date: July 30, 2013 Last Opportunity for Call-Up: 
August 6, 2013 
 

2. Vacation of a utility easement in the Kalmia Estates Subdivision Information 
Packet Date: July 16, 2013 Last Opportunity for Call-Up: August 6, 2013 
 

B. Appointments to Boards and Commissions 
 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS (15 min.) Public comment on any motions made 

under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters. 
 

11. DEBRIEF (5 Min.) Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.  Meetings 
are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast at 6 p.m. 
Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council meeting.  DVDs may 
be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.  Anyone requiring special packet preparation 
such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded versions may contact the City Clerk’s Office at (303) 
441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday through Friday.  48 hours notification prior to the meeting or 
preparation of special materials IS REQUIRED.  If you need Spanish interpretation or other 
language-related assistance for this meeting, please call (303) 441-1905 at least three days prior to 
the meeting.  Si usted necesita interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para 
esta junta, por favor comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 días antes de la junta. 
Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at the time of sign up and will 
NOT be accepted after 5:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  Electronic media must come on a 
prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical support is provided by staff. 

Packet Page     3

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     4



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

Monday, June 10, 2013 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL – 5:00 PM 
  

Mayor Appelbaum called the regular June 10, 2013 City Council meeting to order at 5:00 PM 
in Council Chambers. 
 
Those present were: Mayor Appelbaum and Council Members Ageton, Becker, Cowles, 
Jones, Karakehian, Morzel, Plass and Wilson.  

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS   

 
2. PUBLIC HEARING – 5:05 PM 
 

A. CONSIDERATION OF THE APPLICATION REQUESTING SISTER CITY STATUS FOR NABLUS, 
PALESTINE 
 

Council Member Morzel reviewed the application process and criteria for sister city 
relationship establishment. 
 
Council Member Cowles welcomed those attending the meeting and noted that Council was 
eager to hear their thoughts. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum discussed the special rules adopted for the meeting. 
 
Essrea Sharon presented on behalf of the Nablus, Palestine Sister City Project.  
 
Bill Cohen and Rabbi Marc Soloway presented on behalf of the opposition.  
 
Stan Deetz presented the rebuttal to the opposition remarks. 

 
The public hearing was opened at 6:27 PM. 
 

1. Dee Marie – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 
Palestine. 

 
2. Gordon Pedrow – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
3. Vern Seieroe – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
4. Scott Levin – Spoke as a representative from the Anti-Defamation League, against 

formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, Palestine. 
 
5. Mark Loewenstein – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page     5



 
 

 
6. Joan Nagel – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine.  
 
7. Jeff Skovron – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
8. Stanley Kreis – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
9. Thomas Trager – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
10. Diane Deschanel – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
11. Beth Ornstein – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
12. Dan CJ Winters – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
13. Alan Rosenfeld – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
14. Michael Wolin – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
15. Rabbi Joshua Rose – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with 

Nablus, Palestine. 
 
16. Alice Trembour – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
17. Neil Dobro – Spoke as the chair of Americans Against Terrorism, opposed to 

formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, Palestine. 
 
18. Miriam Schiff – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
19. Deborah Young – Spoke as an originating member of the Jalapa Sister City Group, in 

support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, Palestine. 
 
20. Mimi Ito – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
21. Jane Rubenstein – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page     6



 
 

 
22. Jacqueline Melmed – Spoke as the chair of the Jewish Community Relations Council 

in favor of formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, Palestine. 
 
23. Will Weathersby – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
24. Kathryn Bernheimer – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with 

Nablus, Palestine. 
 
25. Sergio Atallah – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
26. Charna Rosenholtz – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with 

Nablus, Palestine. 
 
27. Aaron Pinsker – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
28. Jerry Pinsker – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
29. Rob Smoke – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
30. Jennifer Durrett – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
31. Gordon Golding – Spoke about waging peace in the world rather than war. 
 
32. Tara Winer – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
33. Linda Feather – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
34. Andy Franklin – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
35. Pastor Gene Binder – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with 

Nablus, Palestine. 
 
36. Claudia Chang – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
37. Sara Fitouri – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page     7



 
 

38. Amy Austin – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 
Palestine. 

 
39. Mark Toukan – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
40. Sheila Winters – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
41. Kaitlyn Griffith – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
42. Elizabeth Ordonez – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with 

Nablus, Palestine. 
 
43. Tom Mayer – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
44. Wisam Alshaibi – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
45. Sara-Jane Cohen – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
46. Ida Audeh – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
47. Kristine Walcler – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
48. Cameron Powers – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
49. Francoise Poinsatte – Spoke as a board member for the sister city of Jalapa in favor of 

forming a relationship with Nablus, Palestine. 
 
50. Rob Prince – Spoke on behalf of Front Range Jewish Voice for Peace in favor of 

forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, Palestine. 
 
51. Stuart Chase – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
52. Stephen Ruby – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page     8



 
 

53. Prudence Scarritt – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 
Palestine. 

 
54. Sophia Stoller – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
55. Mary Axe – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
56. John Lamb – Spoke against formation of a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
57. Anna Baltzer – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
58. Philip Wegener – Spoke as the former president of the Friendship Cities Project in 

support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, Palestine. 
 
59. Neal Feldman – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
60. Lisa Soehn – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
61. Lana Khalar – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
62. Lynn Segal – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
63. David Prowell – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
64. Christopher Kuehl – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with 

Nablus, Palestine. 
 
65. Brian Underhill – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
66. Guy Benintendi – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 
67. Saib Jarrar – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page     9



 
 

 
68. Ayman Alawneh – Spoke in support of forming a sister city relationship with Nablus, 

Palestine. 
 

There being no further speakers the public hearing was closed at 9:07 PM. 
 
Council Member Cowles directed attention to the criteria in Resolution 631 and stated his 
support for approval of the Nablus, Palestine relationship. 
 
Council Member Cowles moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to find that the 
Nablus Sister City Project has satisfied the conditions set forth in Resolution 631 and 
approve the application for sister city status. 
 
Council Member Morzel pointed to the Sister Cities International purpose and noted her 
support for the motion. 
 
Council Member Plass commented that he was concerned about how divided the community 
was in relation to the Nablus, Palestine application. He felt that sister city relationships 
should bring the community of Boulder together. 
 
Council Member Wilson noted that he was not convinced that Nablus, Palestine was a good 
choice for Boulder as a sister city. He agreed with Council Member Plass’ comments. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum agreed with Council Member Plass’ comments. He was worried that there 
were complexities that had not been addressed in regard to formation of a relationship with 
Nablus, Palestine relating to political issues. 
 
Council Member Becker commented that both sides of the conversation were searching for 
peace and common ground. She stated that she felt the community was not ready for a sister 
city relationship that was very divisive in the community. She noted that she hoped the 
dialogue would continue in the community. 
 
Council Member Ageton acknowledged the hard work of the members from the Nablus Sister 
City Project. She was concerned about the division within the community and agreed with 
Council Member Plass’ comments. She felt there was more work to be done and would not 
be supporting the motion. 
 
Council Member Karakehian commented that he was touched by many of the stories from 
supporters of the Nablus, Palestine application. He agreed with the comments related to 
concern over the polarization in the community. He stated that he would not be supporting 
the application. He asked if Council would consider requiring a “nod of five” before allowing 
Nablus, Palestine to come back for consideration. 
 
Council Member Morzel stated that she would like to withdraw her second on Council 
Member Cowles motion and make a new motion.  
 
Council Member Morzel moved, seconded by Council Member Jones, to postpone the 
decision on the Nablus, Palestine sister city application for nine months while the proponents 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page     10



 
 

and opponents of the application work together to resolve the criticisms and concerns heard 
during the public hearing and Council discussion. 
 
Council Member Becker pointed out that Council could not dictate to the two groups that 
they had to work together before the application would be brought back to Council.  
 
Council Member Jones suggested that Council encourage the groups to work together to 
return with a modified proposal that addressed the concerns raised. 
 
Council Member Ageton pointed out that the question before Council was to either accept or 
turn down the application. She noted that Council could make suggestions to make the 
application successful in the future, but she agreed that Council would not be able to force 
them to do this. 
 
Council Member Wilson agreed with the sentiments of Council Members Ageton and 
Becker. 
 
Council Member Karakehian chose to second the original motion so that a vote could be 
taken. 
 
Council Member Becker pointed out that the current motion needed a vote before another 
motion could be made and called the question.  
 
Mayor Appelbaum asked for a show of hands to call the question but there was not a two 
thirds majority. 
 
Council Member Jones offered a friendly amendment to the motion, restating the motion to 
state that while the Boulder City Council did not accept the application at this time, Council 
would invite an application in the future that addressed the concerns raised at this meeting. 
 
After discussion regarding the wording of the motion on the table, the following language 
and determination of who made the motion was agreed upon: 

 
Council Member Jones moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to communicate to the 
applicant that while the Boulder City Council did not accept the sister city application at this 
time, they strongly support cultural exchanges between the residents of Boulder and other 
municipalities and would welcome a proposal in the future that addressed the concerns raised 
tonight. The motion failed 4:5, with Council Members Ageton, Becker, Cowles, Karakehian, 
and Wilson opposed. Vote taken at 10:15 PM.     

 
Council Member Plass moved, seconded by Council Member Karakehian, to decline the 
application for the establishment of a new sister city relationship with Nablus, Palestine. The 
motion carried 7:2, with Council Members Cowles and Morzel opposed. Vote taken at 10:18 
PM. 

 
3. DEBRIEF  

Council Member Plass commented that he had hoped the council discussion regarding this 
issue would have been handled in a more appropriate manner. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 7Packet Page     11



 
 

 
4. ADJOURNMENT 

 
There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY MOTION 
REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED on June 10, 2013 at 10:21 
PM. 
 
Approved this ___ day of ___________, 2013. 

 
        APPROVED BY: 
            
ATTEST:      ______________________ 

      Matthew Appelbaum 
________________________   Mayor  
Alisa D. Lewis 
City Clerk 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 8Packet Page     12



 
 

CITY  OF  BOULDER  
CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

 June 18, 2013 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL – 5:00 PM 

 
Mayor Appelbaum called the regular June 18, 2013 City Council meeting to order at 
5:05 PM in Council Chambers. 

 
Those present were: Mayor Appelbaum and Council Members Ageton, Becker, 
Cowles, Jones, Karakehian, Morzel, Plass and Wilson.  

 
A. BROUGHT IT: DISPOSABLE BAG FEE IMPLEMENTATION 
 
Jamie Harkins addressed the kickoff of the Bag Fee project with samples of the free 
bags and an overview of the community outreach that would be provided to Boulder 
Residents.  

 
2. OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE – 5:10 PM 

 
1. Paul Dopp - Addressed his desire to build an apartment in his garage for his 

elderly mother and expressed frustration that he was told that that was against 
city code. 

 
2. Mary Young - Spoke in support of Open Space sales tax extensions and Long’s 

Garden preservation. 
 
3. Pedro De la Cruz - Spoke as a member of Cultiva and supported the 

preservation of Long’s Garden. 
 
4. Edith Stevens - Supported placing the Open Space sales tax extensions on the 

November ballot. 
 
5. Alex Weaver - Supported a conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 
 
6. Sydney Macy - Spoke in support of Long’s Garden Easement and the extension 

to the Open Space tax extensions. 
 
7. Bon Crifasi - Supported a conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 
 
8. Gwen Dooley - Supported additional funding plus the extension of the 0.15 and 

0.33 Open Space sales tax extensions. 
 
9. Dick Harris - Challenged the multiple spreadsheets prepared on Open Space 

and submitted a different perspective which called for the support of the Open 
Space Sales Tax extensions. 

 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page     13



 
 

10. Libby Brown – Spoke as a representative of Cultiva and supported a 
conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 

 
11. Kent Young – Supported a conservation easement for Long’s garden. 
 
12. Steve Pomerance - Suggested looking broadly all the spreadsheets and urged 

support of the tax extensions for Open Space on this November’s ballot.   
 
13. William DeOreo - Supported a conservation easement for Long’s garden. 
 
14. Angelique Espinoza the Chamber’s communications manager and resident of 

Boulder, expressed the importance of getting the ballot measures right and 
suggested Council take a longer and more comprehensive look before putting 
the Open Space taxes on the ballot. 

 
15. Catherine Long Gates - Requested that the Council listen to the community in 

approving the negotiations for a conservation easement for the Long’s Garden 
property. She noted that the property was not for sale as the family did not 
trust what city ownership might create down the road. She explained that she 
understood that the city felt it should own the property to ensure what happens 
long term. 

 
16. Maya Anthony - Supported a conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 
 
17. Katie McGee – Spoke as an employee of the Boulder County Health 

Department  about its Alcohol and Marijuana diversion program and provided 
statistics relating to the number of students (over 300) in the last year that 
went to the diversion program for assistance with substance or alcohol abuse. 
She expressed support for Recreational Marijuana excise taxes being utilized 
to support diversion programs for youth. 

 
18. Jessica Ognibene – Spoke as a member of COPIRG and informed Council of a 

Transportation Survey that had been conducted and its ability to provide 
valuable statistics about changing trends around transportation. 

 
19. Mary Ann Mahoney - Asked for Council to support the Ironman Competition 

for 2014. 
 
20. Amanda Bickel - Supported the conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 
 
21. Kathy Icenogle - Supported a conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 
 
22. Vanessa Keeley - Director of Cultiva spoke to the importance the program 

plays in the community and urged council to move forward with a 
conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 

 
23. Raymond Bridge - Representing PLAN Boulder County, indicated that they 

supported placing the 0.33 and 0.15 sales tax extension on the 2013 ballot. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page     14



 
 

 
24. Renee Winklmann - Supported a Long’s Garden conservation easement. 
 
25. Jeff Zayach – Spoke as the Boulder County Public Health Director about the 

value of sales and excise taxes on Recreational Marijuana and the need for 
funding of diversion programs. 

 
26. Emma Holland - Supported the conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 
 
27. Taber Ward – Leader at Mountain Flower Dairy (located on Long’s Garden 

property) also supported a conservation easement. 
 
28. Jim Knopf - Supported a conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 
 
29. Lora Hansen Beard - Informed council that on June 10 she entered the Library 

with her walking stick which was confiscated on the grounds that it could be 
used as a weapon. 

 
30. Sue Prant – Spoke on behalf of Community Cycles in support of 

Transportation funding. 
 
31. Christopher Kiley – Spoke as a youth leader at Cultiva and urged approval of 

a conservation easement for Long’s garden. 
 
32. Giuliana De Toma - Resident and community gardener of 18 years, supported 

the conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 
 
33. Shawn Colemen - Spoke in support of an excise tax for Recreational 

Marijuana indication that those in the industry support it as well. 
 
34. Rob Smoke - Addressed the passing of a homeless woman who often spoke at 

council meetings who was a violinist and fell on hard time when she lost her 
home. He was disappointed that more had not been done to address the needs 
of the homeless in Boulder. 

 
35. Neshama Abraham - Announced that the Boulder County Commissioners, 

with a unanimous vote, extended the moratorium on fracking for another 18 
months. She then urged Council to place a five year moratorium on the 
November ballot. 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA – 6:20PM 

 
A. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES FROM MAY 7, 2013 
 

B. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MINUTES FROM MAY 21, 2013 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page     15



 
 

Council Member Morzel abstained from this vote as she was not in attendance. 
 

C. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE APRIL 23, 2013 STUDY SESSION 
SUMMARY ON THE BUDGET AND FINANCIAL UPDATE, AND POTENTIAL BALLOT 
ISSUES 
 

D. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE MAY 14, 2013 STUDY SESSION 
SUMMARY ON THE COMPREHENSIVE HOUSING STRATEGY 

 
E. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE MAY 28, 2013 STUDY SESSION 

SUMMARY ON THE 2013 HUMAN SERVICES OVERVIEW 
 

Council Member Becker abstained from this vote as she was not in attendance. 
 

F. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE MAY 28, 2013 STUDY SESSION 
SUMMARY ON THE BOULDER POLICE DEPARTMENT MASTER PLAN UPDATE 
 

Council Member Becker abstained from this vote as she was not in attendance. 
 

G. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE MAY 28, 2013 STUDY SESSION 
SUMMARY ON THE PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT MASTER PLAN 
 

Council Member Becker abstained from this vote as she wasn’t in attendance. 
 

H. SECOND READING, AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE ORDINANCE 
NO. 7908 ADDING A NEW SECTION 11-1-59 TO THE BOULDER REVISED CODE 
BANNING THE USE, SALE OR SUPPLY OF  
WATER FOR OIL AND GAS EXTRACTION AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 
 

I. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 
PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING PARTICIPATION IN THE 
DENVER METRO MORTGAGE ASSISTANCE PLUS PROGRAM AND AUTHORIZING 
THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO THE DELEGATION AND PARTICIPATION 
AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF DENVER 
 

J. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE TWO INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE CITY OF BOULDER AND BOULDER COUNTY FOR: 
 

1. THE FUNDING OF ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMS; AND 
 

2. SUSTAINABILITY MATCHING GRANT FUND 
 

K. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO CANCEL THE JULY 2, 2013 MEETING  
 

Council Member Jones moved, seconded by Council Member Karakehian to approve 
Consent Agenda Items 3A through 3K with Council Member Becker abstaining form 
3E, F and G and Morzel abstained from 3B. The motion carried 8:0, Becker abstained 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page     16



 
 

from 3E, F, and G, Morzel abstained to 3B and Council Member Wilson absent. Vote 
was taken at 6:23PM. 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL- UP CHECK IN  
 
No interest was expressed in the call-up of Agenda 8A-1 
 

ORDER OF BUSINESS   
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  - None 
 

6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER – 6:25 PM 
 

A. BALLOT MEASURE REPORT 
 
City Manager Jane Brautigam and Chief Financial Officer Bob Eichem presented on 
this item. 

 
1. Blue Line  

 
Council Member Karakehian commented that his main concern was public safety and 
the need for more staff for the Fire Department to provide protection to homes that are 
not within the blue line of the city limits.   
 
Council Member Morzel echoed Council Member Karakehian’s comments. She 
expressed concern about homes built near open space properties that were not within 
city limits.  
 
Mayor Appelbaum stated that he would prefer to have more information prior to 
making changes to the blue line. He wanted to give staff time to gather all the 
information necessary and work with property owner’s through negotiations before 
putting an item on the ballot to make changes.  
 
Council Member Becker agreed. 
 
Council agreed to hold off until 2014 given the amount of research and analysis 
needed on all properties potentially impacted. 

 
2. HRC Proposal to amend Section 130 of the charter to remove the 

requirement of having to be a registered elector to serve on a board or 
commission. In its place would be a one year residency and age 
requirement of 18. 
 

Karen Rahn, Director of Housing and Human Services presented on this item. 
 
Shirley White, Board Member of the Human Relations Commission, spoke about the 
proposed charter amendment. 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 5Packet Page     17



 
 

Council Member Becker agreed with making changes to the current requirements for 
serving on boards and commissions.  
 
Mayor Appelbaum also agreed and asked if the changes should be made for all boards 
and not just the Human Relations Commission. His preference would be to have 
uniform requirements across the board. 
 
Council Member Cowles agreed with Mayor Appelbaum’s comments. He recalled the 
ballot item in 2008 requesting the same change and supporting placing it on the 2013 
ballot. 
 
Council Member Jones agreed. 
 
Council Member Ageton agreed and commented that she would like the change to 
include the age issue and residency issue.  
 
City Attorney Tom Carr asked if Council would like to include people who are not 
eligible to register to vote and change the requirement that board and commission 
members be registered electors as well. 
 
Council requested a draft ordinance be brought forward on July 16, 2013. 

 
3. Negotiated Bond Sales amendment in Section 98 

 
Chief Financial Officer Bob Eichem presented on this item. 
 
Council Member Ageton asked whether the competitive sales method or negotiated 
sales method would be used, she wanted to understand what factors would determine 
which methodology was pursued.  
 
Mr. Eichem explained that the rating of the bonds would determine the method used.  
 
Council Member Ageton commented that she would like to maintain flexibility in the 
decision of which method was better and not lock the City into a position that could 
potentially cause problems. 
 
Council Member Karakehian agreed with Council Member Ageton’s comments, he 
commented that he would like Council to make bond decisions and not have to return 
to the voter’s over and over. 
 
Mr. Eichem stated that he would bring options to Council at the July 16 meeting. 
 
Council Member Cowles agreed with allowing flexibility.  
 
Mayor Appelbaum commented that he would prefer to be more cautious and state 
specifically that based on rating, what the preferred method of sale would be. He was 
concerned that bond debt was very complicated and difficult for voters to understand.  
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 6Packet Page     18



 
 

Council requested staff bring forward options that provide flexibility in negotiated 
bond sales. 

 
4. Fracking moratorium 

 
City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this item. 
 
Council Member Jones referenced a hotline she had sent in requesting an extension of 
the moratorium be placed on the ballot and a request that the extension last until 
further information related to health studies, environmental studies and pending 
litigation are available. 
 
Council Member Cowles commented that he would like the extension to continue 
until 2018 and suggested provisions for extension of the moratorium after a specific 
length of time. 
 
Council Member Jones asked if Council had the ability to attach the moratorium to 
the outcome of various studies and litigation.  
 
Council Member Jones commented that she thought Council was able to state their 
specific reasons for the length of the moratorium.  
 
Council Member Morzel stated that she would prefer a five-year moratorium 
concluding in 2018 linked to the long-term health and environmental study that was 
currently ongoing. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum suggested a three-year moratorium that could then be extended 
automatically for an additional two-years unless a super majority of Council were to 
end it. He commented that he would prefer a three-year moratorium over a five-year if 
his suggestion were not possible. 
 
Mr. Carr responded that he would have to spend time working through how the 
Mayor’s suggestion could be incorporated into ballot language. 
 
Council Member Plass noted that he would support a three-year moratorium and 
would support Mayor Appelbaum’s suggestion of an automatic extension. 
 
Council Member Karakehian asked why Council was proposing a ballot issue rather 
than just put a three-year moratorium in place. His impression was that if Boulder 
were to be sued over a moratorium it would happen regardless of whether it was voter 
approved or not. 
 
Council Member Jones noted that moratoriums on fracking were new to the courts 
and she wanted there to be a statement from the voters showing that they wanted the 
moratorium to continue. She noted that lawsuits were very expensive and a vote of 
the people would also tell Council that taxpayers were prepared to allow the city of 
Boulder to expend funds through litigation if necessary. 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 7Packet Page     19



 
 

Council Member Cowles agreed with Council Member Jones in regard to allowing 
voters to approve a longer moratorium sending a strong statement to the State of 
Colorado government in regard to pending litigation.  
 
Council Member Becker agreed. 
 
Council Member Ageton asked if there were any challenges to defending a three-year 
moratorium compared to the one-year moratorium that was currently in place. 
 
Mr. Carr responded that there was no precedent, research on the topic found that the 
longest moratorium upheld was ten months. He restated that his recommendation was 
to only have the moratorium in place for one year. 
 
Council Member Ageton asked if a longer moratorium could be upheld if it were tied 
to the studies discussed previously. 
 
Mr. Carr commented that one of the decisions in the Longmont lawsuit would 
determine whether the state could preempt local control in regard to hydraulic 
fracturing. He stated that there was not enough history on the topic in his field to 
provide a definite answer. 
 
Council Member Ageton agreed that the longer the moratorium, the more likely the 
city would be subject to litigation. 
 
Council requested staff bring back options for a three-year moratorium with an option 
to extend the moratorium automatically for an additional two years unless there was a 
super majority vote of Council to cancel the extension. 

 
5. Recreational Marijuana 

 
Chief Financial Officer Bob Eichem and City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this 
item. 
 
Council Member Becker explained conversations that she and Council Member Plass 
had with various interested parties. She recalled multiple discussions regarding 
education programs for youth regarding marijuana.  
 
Council Member Plass was also concerned about youth substance abuse. He asked for 
more information on what tax rates would be proposed for an excise tax as well as 
sales and use tax. He would also like more information on the needs in the community 
for those funds that would be collected.  
 
Council Member Cowles commented that he was concerned about over taxing a new 
industry. He noted that the state was considering a thirty percent tax. He wanted to 
understand the total tax burden on the product including local and state taxes. 
 
Council Member Morzel noted that she would like to see options for both types of 
taxes. She also expressed concern about over taxing the businesses to the point that 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 8Packet Page     20



 
 

they would be in competition with the black market. She expressed that she wanted to 
see a portion of the tax dedicated to youth drug prevention education and programs. 
 
Council Member Jones agreed that a portion of the taxes should be dedicated to 
education efforts. She suggested stepping taxes over time rather than implementing a 
high tax rate up front. She wondered if the city tax question would pass in the election 
if the question from the state was also on the ballot.  
 
Council Member Becker reminded Council that licensing fees cover direct costs for 
licensing, but they do not cover police calls and other indirect costs of allowing 
dispensaries. She noted that she liked Council Member Jones idea of stepping taxes 
up over time as the industry established itself. 
 
Council Member Cowles suggested an excise tax of fifteen percent and a sales and 
use tax of fifteen percent on the difference between the wholesale and retail costs. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum noted that the state of Washington had done something similar, 
but it was all collected at the state level. 
 
Mr. Eichem noted that marijuana tends to be cash based business and the proposal of 
a value added tax may be overly complicated for business owners. He asked for time 
to consider the idea. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum stated that he wanted to try to stay in sync with other cities and 
how they intended to address taxation of recreational marijuana. He was willing to 
dedicate a portion of the taxes, but wanted to set limits and understand the business 
plan for educational programs before funds were handed over. He asked for 
information on both sales and excise taxes to come forward for consideration. 
 
Council Member Becker clarified that she wasn’t trying to dedicate the entire tax to 
education and prevention, but rather a portion.  
 
Council Member Morzel agreed with Council Member Becker’s sentiments. She 
stated that she wanted the taxes put in place prior to implementation of Amendment 
64 because she thought it might be more difficult to do so afterward. 
 
Council Member Karakehian supported the idea of a tax range being approved by 
voters rather than a rigid amount that could only be changed by a vote of the people if 
projections were off. He commented that he did not believe legal business would 
overcome the black market. 
 
Council Member Cowles asked Council if they would agree to staff bringing back 
ballot language for an excise tax up to fifteen percent and a sales and use tax up to ten 
percent. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum asked staff to also come back with how the funds would be used 
and what the costs of various programs might be. 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 9Packet Page     21



 
 

Council Member Becker pointed out that some municipalities have decided against 
allowing dispensaries and customers from those cities may come to Boulder. She 
commented that the decision to allow these businesses in Boulder could have 
countywide implications and therefore the city ought to think about assisting with the 
funding of educational programs that are more than just local within city limits. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum suggested having a discussion with the school district to better 
understand the costs involved in creating educational drug prevention programs in 
response to legalization of recreational marijuana. 
 
City Manager Jane Brautigam reminded Council that there would always be a caveat 
attached to dedicated funds because sales tax projections are tied to variables outside 
the city’s control. 
 
Council agreed to direct staff put together ballot language for an excise tax up to 15% 
and a sales tax up to 10%, neither of which would have specified purposes of 
expenditure. 
 

6.  Open Space Tax Issues  
 

Chief Financial Officer Bob Eichem and Director of Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Mike Patton presented on this item. 
 
Chairman of the Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) Allyn Feinberg gave a brief 
presentation regarding the extension of the Open Space Sales Tax and 
recommendations from OSBT.  
 
City Manager Jane Brautigam gave a brief explanation regarding department needs 
assessments and prioritization. 
 
Mr. Eichem explained that the city was taking a comprehensive approach to 
operations and maintenance to ensure proper funding was budgeted to cover core 
services. 
 
Council Member Jones asked whether or not TABOR would go into effect if Council 
changed any of the taxation percentages that were up for extension. She also 
wondered if the taxes could be presented together or if they would have to be 
presented separately. 
 
Mr. Carr responded that a change in the tax amount would most likely trigger 
TABOR. He could bring back information to answer these questions in full after 
having some time to consider the questions. 
 
Mr. Eichem noted that changing the amount could possibly trigger TABOR, changing 
the dedication of the funds would not. 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 10Packet Page     22



 
 

Council Member Morzel requested that staff bring back information regarding a new 
0.20 tax for twenty years, a 0.20 tax for fifteen years and a .05 tax added to the 0.40 
permanent taxes. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum asked for more information on taxes that provided analysis of 
implications of each tax being proposed. He also requested fund statements that did 
not show bonding options. He commented that the assumptions used should be 
standard for all the models presented, he wanted the escalations to be more uniform 
throughout the models because he was confused as to why numbers were escalated 
differently in the various scenarios.  
 
Mr. Eichem asked how Mayor Appelbaum would like acquisitions to be presented in 
the spreadsheets. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum responded that he wanted to see a number that was sustainable. 
 
Council Member Cowles mentioned that using a number that was the same each year 
and sustainable throughout the years would ignore the idea that opportunities present 
themselves at any given time and needed to be addressed individually. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum pointed out that bonding required funds to hold a specific amount 
of money in reserves and he wanted a better understanding of what opportunities staff 
did know about in regard to acquisitions for the open space fund.  
 
Council Member Morzel stated that the plan for 2019 was to stop the general fund 
transfer to open space.  
 
Mr. Eichem pointed out that he had continued the transfer through 2039 in his 
financial models.  
 
Council Member Morzel commented that she wanted to include Long’s Garden in the 
projections for open space acquisitions. She also noted that she would like more data 
on acquisitions and possible new programs before making a decision on open space. 
 
Mr. Eichem pointed out that he had not provided financial analysis that included 
programs and purchases not approved by Council in the past. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum responded that he would include purchases identified in the master 
plan. 
 
Council Member Ageton agreed and recalled that a vision plan, master plan and 
acquisition plan had been approved by Council and she would expect that information 
to be included in future financial models.  
 
Council Member Jones noted that open space acquisition is opportunistic in nature 
and therefore projections become difficult and complex. 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 11Packet Page     23



 
 

Council Member Ageton expressed concern about putting the open space fund in a 
position where it would not be able to bond. 
 
Council Member Cowles agreed that there was a need for additional financial 
information as laid out by Mayor Appelbaum. He also agreed that the scope of the 
financial models should stay within the plans that had been approved by Council to 
date. He reminded Council that there would be a discussion later in the evening 
regarding support for the purchase of or a conservation easement for Long’s Garden. 
He stated that he would be supporting negotiations with the Long’s family. 
 
Council Member Becker clarified that she wasn’t against dedicating taxes. In her 
research she found that general fund taxes were difficult to pass and she was 
concerned about core city services living in the general funds. She pointed out that her 
proposal took into account the opportunistic nature of open space as well as taking 
care of needs in the general fund. She was attempting to find a solution that would 
benefit open space, transportation and the general fund. She felt that a sales tax 
renewal would have the most benefit. She also emphasized that needs assessments of 
the various city departments would always be ongoing and would have to be 
considered in that context by Council. 
 
Council Member Karakehian agreed that only needs identified by Council should be 
considered in the financial analysis. He suggested creating a separate ballot question 
related to Long’s Garden. 
 
Council Member Plass acknowledged the complexity of the information required in 
making decisions on taxes. He commented that he was open to an undedicated tax, 
but did not want to underfund open space. He also wanted to ensure that bonding 
ability was maintained. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum shared his colleague’s concerns regarding the volatility in sales tax 
revenues and the impact on various city departments. He pointed out that the vision 
plan for open space included ten million dollars for unanticipated needs. Therefore, he 
did not find it necessary to include further unknown opportunities in projections 
related to the sales tax renewals. He also noted that bonding would then require 
additional burdens on the fund in order to maintain reserve requirements and make 
payments.  
 
Council Member Jones reiterated that the best package would fund the open space 
vision plan in her opinion. She also commented that she thought the projections for 
regional trail completion were low and did not encompass the entire vision, she 
referenced trails connecting Boulder and Nederland as an example. 
 
Council Member Becker noted that there were a lot of grant opportunities that open 
space could pursue and she noted that such opportunities should be considered in the 
financial analysis. She recalled conversations with constituents expressing desires to 
fund arts, parks and the library once the general fund was sufficiently covered.  
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 12Packet Page     24



 
 

Council requested more information and use of standard assumptions before 
providing direction to staff on the issue of Open Space taxes. 

 
7.  Transportation Maintenance Fee or Tax 
 

Director of Public Works Transportation Tracy Winfree presented on this item. 
 
Chair of the Transportation Advisory Board (TAB) Jessica Yates gave a brief 
presentation on the operations and maintenance costs for transportation, the 
transportation master plan priorities and impact of a Transportation Maintenance Fee 
(TMF). She noted that TAB had not had a full discussion regarding the 
recommendations that staff had made. She expressed concern about reliance on an 
undedicated tax. 
 
Council Member Morzel asked if TAB would prefer a tax or a fee.  
 
Ms. Yates responded that the board did not have a formal position. She expressed 
concern regarding over burdening the school system with taxes and fees, she asked 
Council to consider carefully who would be impacted. 
 
Council Member Cowles commented that he would like to see the TMF on the ballot. 
He stressed that travel services and ease of use of those services were very important 
to the community and needed to be funded. 
 
Council Member Morzel agreed and stressed that there were safety concerns 
involving potholes that needed to be addressed throughout the city.  
 
Council Member Karakehian mentioned that choosing a tax over a fee would prevent 
non-profits, governments and schools from being impacted. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum commented that he preferred a TMF because it would be based on 
usage of the system. He noted that there were three components to the proposal: a fee 
would have a flat rate component linked to property units, the fee could be viewed as 
a head tax and would also impact commercial businesses, and the retail component. 
He was concerned that a per unit fee would impact those that use other modes outside 
of traditional gas powered transportation in the community. The impact on 
commercial businesses would be based on the unit and would therefore not be a 
traditional head tax. He also noted that retail businesses, while they do cause trip 
generation, already paid sales tax to government and would then have another burden. 
He wanted to find a way to create a tax or fee charged in connection with 
transportation to justify implementation. The use of the system should be connected to 
the amount of the tax or fee paid. He thought that a gas tax would have more of a 
connection, but he understood the public would not tolerate increases in the cost of 
fuel. He agreed with Council Member Cowles that a fee was fairer than a tax, but 
Businesses, University of Colorado and the Boulder Valley School District (BVSD) 
would be against that approach.  
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 13Packet Page     25



 
 

Council Member Becker agreed with Mayor Appelbaum’s concerns regarding the 
impacts to BVSD. She stated that she would support a tax rather than a fee. She also 
reviewed upcoming ballot tax items at both the state and local levels that may come 
before voters in the near future.  
 
Council Member Karakehian informed Council that he was not confident that voters 
would pass a fee or a tax for transportation. He would rather have a sales tax 
dedicated to transportation and he agreed with Council Member Becker that 
packaging a sales tax with renewal of the open space tax without raising current taxes 
would be more palatable and have a better chance of being passed.  
 
Council Member Ageton agreed with both Council Members Becker and Karakehian.  
 
Council Member Plass asked how critical operation and maintenance needs would be 
addressed if there was a five-year period before any portion of the 0.33 tax were 
dedicated to transportation. 
 
Council Member Ageton stated that Council would need to explore short term 
solutions. She commented that voters had approved short term taxes to fill gaps in 
service in the past. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum expressed support for an interim tax for transportation until the 
0.33 was able to be repurposed in the 2019.  
 
Council Member Plass commented that he did not like the idea of using sales tax 
revenues to fund transportation, but he was struggling with the other options and 
whether voters would pass a TMF or transportation tax. 
 
Council Member Morzel expressed support for a packaged option of the 0.33 tax and 
an interim tax for operations and maintenance.  
 
Council Member Jones wanted to see the math before making a decision. She 
supported exploring the options discussed more thoroughly before moving forward. 
 
Council expressed interest in looking at a package that bundled Transportation, Open 
Space and the General Fund. 

 
Council Member Cowles expressed interest in a ballot issue coming forward dealing 
with corporate stockholder approval for funding of any ballot issues. Council did not 
agree to pursue this issue. It was acknowledged for its importance but needed to be 
included as a work plan item. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum conducted an agenda check at 10:30 PM. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to suspend the 
rules and continue the meeting.  The motion carried 8:0, with Council Member 
Wilson absent. Vote taken at 10:30 PM. 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 14Packet Page     26



 
 

7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY   
 None 
 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL – 10:30 PM 

 
Given the late hour, Council determined to hold the discussion on Long’s Garden 
prior to the Board and Commission Report. 
 
A. VACATION OF EXISTING UTILITY EASEMENT AT 637 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE IP 

DATE: JUNE 6, 2013 LAST OPPORTUNITY FOR CALL-UP: JUNE 18, 2013 
 

No action was take on this item 
 
B. BOARD AND COMMISSION COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Council Member’s Ageton and Plass presented on this item.  
 
Council Member Becker urged Council to consider including board members on the 
subcommittee. 
 
Council Member Jones recalled her experience on boards and commissions and how 
it led her to run for Council. 
 
Council Member Karakehian suggested allowing phone interviews as part of the 
selection process for boards and commissions. He also recommended holding exit 
interviews with outgoing members to receive feedback. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum expressed concern about listing required competencies for boards, 
he thought it might diminish the number of applicants Council would be able to 
choose from. He did like the idea of responsibilities for the board positions to clarify 
the roles to applicants. 
 
Council Member Cowles commented that building morale through expressing 
gratitude and appreciation for board and commission members was very important. 
 
Council Member Morzel expressed concern about adding more work for staff. She 
agreed with Council Member Becker’s idea that board members work closely together 
to collaborate rather than staff liaisons. She noted that there was no list of 
qualifications to serve on Council and she did not feel it would be appropriate for 
boards and commissions. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum summarized the discussion by saying that an agenda item should 
be brought to Council to form an official subcommittee of Council. 

 
C. LONG’S GARDEN DISCUSSION  

 
City Attorney Carr explained that this discussion was being held due to Council’s 
expressed interest as well as community interest in preservation of Long’s Garden. He 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 15Packet Page     27



 
 

asked for direction regarding discussions with the owners of Long’s Garden. 
Specifically, whether or not to enter into negotiations with them and which 
department would own and pay for the property. 
 
Council Member Cowles commented that he would like to begin negotiations for 
Long’s Garden and he would like the City manager to make decisions regarding 
which department would own and pay for the property. He expressed an interest in 
Open Space owning and caring for the property. 
 
Council Member Plass expressed interest in preserving the Long’s Garden property, 
specifically the water and ditch rights. He stated that he would support a conservation 
easement for the property as well as a landmark application. 
 
Council Member Becker noted that she would support a conservation easement for 
Long’s Garden and expressed concern regarding the appraisal. She commented that 
she did not believe the site would create a great deal of work for any department and 
she did not have a preference as to which department owned and cared for the 
property. She did not believe that Parks and Recreation had the funds to purchase the 
property and had a current vision plan that was not fully funded. She suggested either 
utilizing Open Space funds or a ballot item giving the voters a say in funding the 
purchase. 
 
Council Member Jones agreed with Council Member Plass’ comments.  
 
Council Member Ageton commented that the purpose for acquiring the property 
should be clearly defined before moving forward and also to facilitate clear discussion 
in negotiations and possible partnerships.  
 
Council Member Morzel spoke about the educational opportunities for children 
taking field trips to community gardens. She noted that community gardens had 
previously been handled by the Parks and Recreation department and praised them for 
the work in this area. She also noted that a recommendation would need to come from 
the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board. She agreed with support for a conservation 
easement.  
 
Mayor Appelbaum agreed that the City should pursue the purchase of Long’s Garden 
and agreed that it would be of community interest. He would support a conservation 
easement. He agreed with the comments made by both Council Member’s Morzel and 
Plass.  
 
Council Member Karakehian agreed with preserving the use of Long’s Garden. He 
urged caution in entering into negotiations and being fiscally responsible.  
 
Council Member Cowles pointed out that the use of urban agriculture and educational 
opportunities were guided by the owners, he urged Council to have a conversation 
with them about the philosophy that had guided them through the years.  

 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 16Packet Page     28



 
 

D. IRONMAN COMPETITION DISCUSSION 
 

City Manager Jane Brautigam presented on this item. 
 
Council Member Becker commented on increased police activity on Labor Day 
weekend and said that she thought that Boulder had eliminated that weekend for the 
competition.  
 
Ms. Brautigam confirmed that was the case and stated that dates in August were being 
considered. 
 
Council Member Morzel informed Council that the organizing group was already 
contacting hotels and businesses to begin discussions. 
 
Council agreed to support ongoing discussions and plans to hold an Ironman 
Competition in the city of Boulder. 

 
Council Member Becker moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to support the 
discussions and plans for an Ironman Competition in the City of Boulder. 

 
E. REQUEST FOR NOD OF FIVE  

 
This item was not addressed. 

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS  

 
10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS  

 
Vote was taken on the motion to support the discussions and plans for an Ironman 
Competition in the City of Boulder. The motion carried 8:0, with Council Member 
Wilson absent. Vote taken at 11:50 PM. 

 
11. DEBRIEF  

 
This item was not addressed. 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY MOTION 
REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED on June 18, 2013 
at 11:55 PM. 
 
 
 
Approved this ___ day of ___________, 2013. 

 
        APPROVED BY: 
            

Agenda Item 3B     Page 17Packet Page     29



 
 

ATTEST:      ______________________ 
      Matthew Appelbaum 

________________________   Mayor  
Alisa D. Lewis 
City Clerk 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 18Packet Page     30



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 6, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE   
Consideration of a motion to accept the study session summary from June 11, 2013 
regarding the 2013 Work Plan Update. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this study session was to provide an update on the 2013 Work Plan 
relative to City Council Goals including (a) accomplishments in the first 2 quarters of 
2013; and (b) work plan items relative to City Council Goals for the 3rd and 4th quarters 
of 2013.     
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Motion to accept the study session summary from June 11, 2013 regarding the 2013 
Work Plan Update. 
 
 
ATTACHMENT  
A.  Study Session Summary from June 11, 2013 regarding the work plan update 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page     31



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page     32



City Council Study Session Summary 
2013 Work Plan Update 

June 11, 2013 
 

Present:  Mayor Appelbaum and Council Members Ageton, Becker, Cowles, Jones, 
Karakehian, Morzel, Plass and Wilson 
 
City Manager Brautigam indicated that staff views the work plan as 2 years in duration.   
She acknowledged staff's responsiveness to Council priorities, inquired if Council 
believed something to be missing from the work plan and indicated that staff would 
respond to City Council comments and questions. 
 
Alcohol Land Use – 500 foot rule change 
Council Member Wilson indicated that he heard that staff is planning another study 
session on alcohol land use with respect to the 500 foot rule and potential changes.  He 
thought that Council had given some options and that this would come back to Council in 
the 3rd quarter for a decision.  Mr. Wilson requested Council support to bring this item 
back as a decision and that options could be included for 500 foot rule and density of 
alcohol sales on the Hill.  If the Council cannot do that, Mr. Wilson indicated that he 
would seek a moratorium on the Hill for new licenses or new late openings.   
Council Member Becker indicated her support for not having another study session and 
to bring forward options. 
City Manager Brautigam indicated that land use definitions would come back in the 3rd 
quarter.  During the last study session, staff thought it heard from Council to bring back 
definitions and the ramifications of a 500 foot rule change during a study session – and 
that is what staff is prepared to do.  If Council wants a 500 foot ordinance change brought 
forward, Ms. Brautigam indicated that can be done but in the 4th quarter, not 3rd quarter, 
and it will have been made up without input from Council. 
Council Member Wilson indicated that he thought Council expressed concern about what 
to do with a 500 foot rule change not on the Hill – which he believes can be separated out 
with discussions with CU about what happens on east campus area.  Mr. Wilson indicated 
that the issues have been long standing on the Hill and should be addressed sooner rather 
than later.  Discussions regarding other areas could be deferred to a later date.   
Community Planning and Sustainability Director David Driskell indicated that staff heard 
different options and had planned to go out to the community to get input, come back to 
council for its input and then draft an ordinance.  An alternative is to draft 3-4 ordinance 
options and get Council direction.  Mr. Driskell indicated that the options are not that 
simple, in practice or application. 
Council Member Wilson stated that the Council has been talking with the community for 
the six years he has been on Council and does not think it needs to be done again.  He 
reiterated that he would call for a moratorium if that’s what is going to happen. 
Mr. Driskell indicated that there are variations of the 500 foot rule change that came up in 
the last Council conversation that have not been talked about with the community. 
Council Member Wilson requested that it be done through a first and second reading, not 
through another set of surveys and meetings. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page     33



Council Member Becker stated that she feels as much as Boulder values public input and 
process, it is being overdone in several instances – which is exhausting for the 
community, staff and council.  She indicated that which she does not know if this is one 
of those instances, everyone needs a break by not constantly going long on public 
process. 
Council Member Plass indicated his support for Council Member Wilson’s proposal and 
would like to see it come back as an ordinance. 
Council Member Morzel stated she is fine with it coming back as an ordinance with 
options – through which the public process can occur.  Alcohol use on the Hill has cause 
discomfort for Hill residents for some time. 
Council Member Cowles indicated he would like to see it come back as an ordinance. 
Council Member Jones stated she understands the frustration and does not think it is 
going to be that easy – that’s why it has not been solved yet.  At the same time, Ms. Jones 
indicated her support to get on with it. 
Mayor Appelbaum stated his agreement that it will not be easy and that it will be 
important to have some options presented.  He indicated the first and second readings 
will effectively be the discussion that would have been had at a study session. 
Council Member Ageton agreed that this item has been waiting a long time, and believes 
the Council must decide what it is taking off of the City Attorney’s plate. 
City Attorney Tom Carr stated that in looking at the ordinance, the community is 
concerned about the sale of liquor at sub shops, that Council wanted to change the hotel 
language to beer or wine or to eliminate it completely as applicable to the CU campus. 
Council Member Wilson stated the only other option is to tie it into a new restaurant 
definition. 
There was consensus that it would be ideal to have the definitions addressed first, and to 
bring options pertaining to the 500 foot rule through an ordinance process. 
 
Congregate Care 
Council Member Morzel indicated that the congregate care item has been on the work 
plan for some time, has not come back, and requested that it be brought back to Council 
for action as soon as possible.  She stated her desire to have changes in effect in order to 
capture some of the congregate care projects occurring. 
City Attorney Carr indicated that the staff proposal presented to Council was a small 
change to close a small loop hole.  In response, Council requested significant changes – 
for which work is being done.  He indicated the whole scope of the project changed and 
that it will come back when it is ready, it just is not ready now. 
The City Attorney’s Office stated it would provide Council with a timeline for this matter 
to return to it for consideration. 
 
OAU/ ADU 
Council Member Morzel stated that the OAU/ ADU item has been on the work plan for 
some time, has not come back, and questioned the status of it.  She stated the issue was 
raised in 2008 and is frustrated that the Council has not seen it.  Ms. Morzel asserted that 
to her, this issue is just a land use tweak and not part of the Comprehensive Housing 
Strategy. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page     34



Council Member Cowles indicated his agreement and concern that the analysis of the 
issue has gotten balled up with the Comprehensive Housing Strategy.  He stated his belief 
that the OAU/ ADU issue should have a higher priority than the Housing Strategy. 
Community Planning and Sustainability Director David Driskell stated that the issue is 
with the Comprehensive Housing Strategy that will not move forward until the next steps 
of the strategy are reached.  He indicated that while the changes are certainly easy to 
make, as something that affects every single family neighborhood in Boulder, it will not 
be easy or quick. 
Council Member Morzel stated she did not believe it should apply to every single family 
neighborhood in the city, but rather take it gradually and look at certain zones such as 
lower density neighborhoods. 
Council Member Plass stated his belief that this is a big discussion which will involve a 
lot of public interest in what could change established neighborhood.  He indicated that 
this needs a pretty robust process. 
Mayor Appelbaum stated his belief that this is not a tweak, it will affect many and will 
cause a lot of community discussion especially if it is rushed.  He indicated that it should 
be a part of the Comprehensive Housing Strategy because he may be willing to approve 
OAU/ ADU changes depending on what can be gotten for it.   
Council Member Becker recognized that this is a big issue and wondered if doing it as a 
pilot in a scaled down way is better in areas such as Martin Acres or Table Mesa. 
Mr. Driskell stated that the Comprehensive Housing Strategy will come back to Council 
in late October.  The expectation is to get feedback from Council then and develop a 
work plan for Council to consider. 
 
Simple Land Use Code Changes 
Council Member Morzel stated that due to the late hour she would send out a separate 
email about the issue of simple land use codes as an item for 2014. 
 
E-bike pilot 
Council Member Cowles stated that while he understands that the Transportation Master 
Plan Update is in process, he would like staff to bring back an ordinance that authorizes 
an e-bike pilot now.  He indicated that he would like it to come back as an ordinance, 
believing that this is a quick change that can be made as a temporary pilot to see if 
problems develop by allowing e-bikes up to 700 watts to share the bike lanes and bike 
paths of Boulder. 
City Manager Brautigam stated her belief that if a pilot is pursued, it should be limited to 
certain areas based on her concern for the more dense areas of town and the congested 
parts of the Boulder Creek Path.  If a pilot was developed, the City Manager would 
propose it only apply to bike paths east of 28th Street or something like that (such as east 
of Folsom).  Ms. Brautigam indicated that due to timing issues of an ordinance, the 
earliest this could be in place is late August which would miss most of summer. 
Council Member Ageton asked the City Attorney the impact of this item on workload. 
City Attorney Carr indicated that the drafting part is not difficult, but the internal 
discussion and meetings to develop scope and parameters would be detailed and lengthy. 
Council Member Becker stated her support for and excitement about an e-bike pilot, but 
doesn’t support adding anything to staff’s work plan. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page     35



Council Member Ageton agreed – she finds the pilot exciting, but there are many other 
things to do.  The aspects of this pilot are more detailed than the Council things, and as a 
result, she would rather wait. 
Council Member Jones stated that it is crunch time now, but that it’s sunny in Boulder a 
lot and that people ride their bikes all year.  She indicated she would not be opposed to 
moving it up to come back to council, but not this summer. 
Council Member Karakehian stated his agreement with Council Member Jones. 
Mayor Appelbaum agreed that staff should figure out the timing for this to go into effect 
by next spring. 
Council Member Ageton requested clarification regarding whether this item can wait 
until 2014.   
Mayor Appelbaum replied that it would be later in 2013 based on realities of scheduling. 
City Manager Brautigam stated that she recalled the Transportation Director said this 
process would start in the fall of 2013, and not be effective until later.  Ms. Brautigam 
indicated that staff will try to make this as streamlined as possible, and maybe jump to a 
pilot without a lot of process.  She stated she was hearing Council ask to speed this up. 
Mayor Appelbaum and Council Members Ageton and Karakehian indicated their 
agreement with that. 
 
Smoking Ban on Municipal Campus and City Parks 
Mayor Appelbaum stated his request that this include more than the stated locations – 
such as open space, a bigger portion of downtown (not just Municipal Campus and the 
Pearl Street Mall), and include key bike paths, places where people linger, hang out, sit, 
stroll slowly in large numbers.  He requested that the ordinance presented to Council 
include all these.  The Mayor also stated that the proposal should go through appropriate 
boards. 
Council Member Cowles stated his agreement with the Mayor, and would add smoking 
adjacent to outside patios adjacent to sidewalks – a problem seen on the Hill and the east 
end of Pearl Street. 
Council Member Jones stated that was fine, but that her very liberal friends have given 
her untold grief for the smoking ban and to expect a lot of push back on this from peoples 
concerns about a police state. 
There was consensus to bring this item back to Council in the fourth quarter of 2013. 
 
Hogan Pancost Annexation 
Mayor Appelbaum stated his concerns that the item’s timing is stated ‘TBD by applicant’ 
from a timing perspective.  He indicated that this is not up to the applicant, needs to be 
scheduled, and cannot go on forever or to the next Council. 
Council Member Becker stated her disagreement and that if the applicant wants to take 
time to figure out its next step, it is their prerogative. 
Mayor Appelbaum stated that if that happened, Council would send it back to the 
Planning Board. 
Council Member Becker stated there would be nothing for Council to act on if the 
applicant doesn’t bring it forward. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page     36



Mayor Appelbaum stated that one cannot go to Planning Board for a recommendation 
and then come back 2 years later to Council to follow up on that Planning Board action/ 
recommendation which no one remembers. 
Community Planning and Sustainability Director stated that the applicant must sign an 
annexation agreement before it can be brought forward to Council and that there is 
nothing to schedule without a signed agreement. 
Mayor Appelbaum stated that this is simply about scheduling, not merits.  He asserted 
that at some point, the option for an applicant to sign an annexation agreement must go 
away and that a Planning Board action/ recommendation cannot last for an eternity. 
Mr. Driskell stated that under the city’s annexation policy/ guidelines, the city does not 
initiate the process – the applicant does and pays a fair amount of money to submit an 
annexation. 
City Attorney Carr agreed with the process as stated by Mr. Driskell and that there is 
some outer point at which the applicant would need to reapply and start the process all 
over. 
Council Member Becker stated that there is nothing to put on anyone’s work plan or 
agenda at this point relative to Hogan Pancost annexation. 
Council Member Morzel questioned if a Planning Board recommendation must move 
forward to Council. 
Mr. Driskell stated that the city’s annexation policy/ guidelines stated that the next step is 
triggered by the applicant signing an annexation agreement which is then brought 
forward to Council. 
City Attorney Carr indicated that he would get Council information as soon as possible 
regarding the outer limit for bringing this back and the current schedule for bring it back. 
Mayor Appelbaum reiterated that this is about scheduling and not the merits of the 
annexation.  He indicated from a scheduling perspective, this would be another special 
meeting – which is a big deal for Council. 
 
Ground Breaking for 1175 Lee Hill Road/ Housing First Project 
Council Member Ageton requested that this item be added to the 4th quarter of 2013. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page     37



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 8Packet Page     38



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  Aug. 6, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the summary of the July 23, 2013 
study session on Boulder’s Energy Future Municipalization Exploration project. 
 
 

 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Heather Bailey, Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development 
Jonathan Koehn, Regional Sustainability Coordinator 
Yael Gichon, Energy Sustainability Coordinator 
Kelly Crandall, Energy Sustainability Specialist II 
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Fiscal Services 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
Robert Harberg, Principal Engineer, Public Works - Utilities 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability   
Kara Mertz, Environmental Action Project Manager 
Sarah Huntley, Media Relations/Communications Manager 
Andrew Barth, Communications Specialist II 
Ruth McHeyser, Qualitative Analysis Coordinator 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This agenda item provides a summary of the July 23, 2013, City Council study session on 
Boulder’s Energy Future and the next steps in exploring municipalization. The purpose of the 
study session was to: 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page     39



 

 Update council and receive feedback on the ongoing modeling and analysis with respect 
to the Xcel Energy (Xcel) baseline and municipalization options, as presented on Feb. 26 
and April 16, 2013.  

 Present and receive council feedback on a qualitative analysis. This analysis supplements 
the quantitative evaluation, which was conducted to determine if the city could, based on 
charter requirements, form a local electric utility. Looking at the options qualitatively is 
intended to help answer the question about whether the city should proceed with such an 
action.  

 Receive direction regarding any recommendations by the third-party independent 
expert’s review of the city’s materials. 

 Describe the process and ideas generated by the City/Xcel Taskforce and receive council 
feedback on Xcel’s proposal.  

 Receive feedback from council on the Governance Working Group’s recommendations 
with respect to establishing an electric utility advisory board, including membership, 
skills and the role the board should play if a local electric utility is created. 

 Provide updates on regulatory, legal and financial steps taken to date related to 
municipalization. 

 Update council on public processes related to this issue. 
 Define or refine next steps. 

 
Attachment A is a summary of council’s discussion of the issues and the questions presented at 
the study session. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to accept the summary of the July 23, 2013, study session on Boulder’s Energy 
Future Municipalization Exploration project. 
 
 
NEXT STEPS 
 

 Responses to issues and City Council questions from the July 23 study session: 
Attachment B provides responses to a number of issues raised at the July 23 study 
session.  These responses and correspondence received since April 16 will also be posted 
to the City Council Hotline, the project website and circulated via the city’s listserv and 
social media outlets.  

 Aug. 6 City Council meeting: Second reading and consideration of an ordinance to 
authorize the acquisition of the electrical system serving Boulder residents under certain 
and specific circumstances. 

 Future Actions: 
      Develop Phase 3 of the work plan, depending on the direction council takes with 

respect to municipalization. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page     40



 

1) If council directs staff to move forward with municipalization: -        
a. Explore establishing (in the short-term) a Boulder Local Electric Utility 

(BLEU) that consolidates new and existing city-sponsored services related 
to demand side management and distributed generation. 

b. Explore specific resource options (i.e., issue requests for proposals, look at 
transmission access alternatives, perform distributed generation 
integration analysis). 

c. Issue a request for information from potential service providers for various 
outsourced services, such as system operation and maintenance, power 
resource contracting and scheduling services.  

d. Work with regional municipal utilities to identify partnership and mutual 
aid opportunities. 

e. Pursue legal and regulatory actions: 
i. Complete appraisal reports 

ii. Commence good faith negotiations with Xcel 
iii. If negotiations prove unsuccessful, file eminent domain action 
iv. Issue bonds when final acquisition price is revealed 
v. Take regulatory actions necessary for operation of new utility 

f. Work with city departments to develop shared service arrangements and 
identify resources (facilities, IT systems and staff) that could be leveraged 
to support a city-operated electric utility. 

g. Develop short- and long-term staffing plans. 
h. Begin financing action, such as developing offering documents and 

meeting with rating agencies. 
i. Develop transition plan. 

2) If council directs staff to move forward and continue to evaluate a partnership 
with Xcel: 

a. Perform all of the steps above plus next steps recommended by the 
City/Xcel Taskforce, which include: 

i. Meet with Xcel to identify primary areas of concern and key 
issues. 

ii. Identify information needs and how both parties can reach 
consensus on assumptions for analyzing options. 

iii. Establish the goals and ground rules for working together. 
iv. Continue working with the taskforce as a sounding board for ideas 

and recommendations. 
v. Formalize the scope and role of the taskforce. 

vi. Establish schedule and milestones for evaluating options for 
alternatives to municipalization. 

3) If council directs staff to not move forward with municipalization: 
a. Develop a plan to achieve as many of the energy future goals as possible 

without owning the utility assets. 
b. Explore establishing a Boulder Local Utility that provides services related 

to demand side management and distributed generation. 
c. Continue to work with Xcel to develop a relationship that could support 

the energy future goals. 
d. Explore regulatory and legislative options available for achieving energy 

future goals. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page     41



 

 
ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment A:  July 23, 2013, Study Session Summary 
Attachment B:  Responses to council questions and issues from July 23 Study Session 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Packet Page     42



 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

July 23, 2013 
City Council Study Session Summary 

Boulder’s Energy Future: Municipalization Exploration Project   
 

PRESENT:   
 
City Council: Council Members Ageton, Appelbaum, Becker, Cowles, Jones, Karakehian, 
Morzel, Plass, and Wilson. 

 
Staff Members: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager; David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney; Kathy 
Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney; Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney; Bob 
Eichem, Chief Financial Officer; Heather Bailey, Executive Director of Energy Strategy and 
Electric Utility Development; David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and 
Sustainability; Jonathan Koehn, Regional Sustainability Coordinator; Yael Gichon, Energy 
Sustainability Coordinator; Kelly Crandall, Energy Specialist II; Bob Harberg, Utilities Planning 
and Project Management Coordinator; Kara Mertz, Environmental Action Project Manager; 
Sarah Huntley, Media Relations/Communications Manager; Andrew Barth, Communication 
Specialist II; Heidi Joyce, Administrative Supervisor 
 
PURPOSE: 
 
The purpose of the study session was to discuss and seek council feedback on activities related to 
Boulder’s Energy Future Municipalization project, including: 

 Update council and receive feedback on the ongoing modeling and analysis with respect 
to the status quo and municipalization options, as presented on Feb. 26 and April 16, 
2013.  

 Present and receive council feedback on a qualitative analysis. This analysis supplements 
the quantitative evaluation, which was conducted to determine if the city could, based on 
charter requirements, form a local electric utility. Looking at the options qualitatively is 
intended to help answer the question about whether the city should proceed with such an 
action.  

 Receive direction regarding any recommendations by the third-party independent 
expert’s review of the city’s materials. 

 Describe the process and ideas generated by the City/Xcel Energy (Xcel) Taskforce and 
receive council feedback on ideas proposed by Xcel.  

 Receive feedback from council on the Governance Working Group’s recommendations 
with respect to establishing an electric utility advisory board, including membership, 
skills and the role the board should play if a local electric utility is created. 

 Provide updates on regulatory, legal and financial steps taken to date. 
 Update council on public processes related to this issue. 
 Define or refine next steps. 

 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 5Agenda Item 3D     Page 5Packet Page     43



 

OVERVIEW OF THE PRESENTATIONS: 
 
Municipalization Exploration Project Update  
Jane Brautigam provided an introduction of the study session purpose and introduced Heather 
Bailey. 

Heather Bailey reviewed the agenda and the purpose of the study session, and then thanked staff, 
consultants and working group members who dedicated their expertise and time to the project. 
She highlighted several items of updated information included in an errata sheet provided to 
council members.  She described the session’s agenda that included: 
 

1. Updates to modeling, risk mitigation 
2. Qualitative Analysis 
3. The Governance Working Group recommendations 
4. The City/Xcel Taskforce and Xcel proposal 
5. Separation and acquisition  
6. Next steps 

 
After introducing the session, Ms. Bailey reviewed the questions for council. 
 
Part 1: Updates to modeling, risk mitigation 
Ms. Bailey reviewed the key points from the city’s updated modeling effort. She discussed how 
the model was stress-tested and highlighted the key differences from earlier modeling efforts. 
She described specific concerns raised by council and the community about previous modeling 
assumptions, and provided details of how the new modeling incorporated specific changes 
related to carbon and wind pricing, capitalized interest, out-of-city customers and energy 
efficiency and solar incentives.  Ms. Bailey noted that the city’s modeling data and assumptions 
are available on the city’s website. 
 
Yael Gichon then discussed the distribution of a local utility’s costs related to power supply, 
operations and maintenance, debt service, taxes and annual capital improvements. She described 
the financial results of the modeling in terms of cost per kilowatt hours (kWh) to Boulder 
ratepayers.  Ms. Gichon reviewed the specific areas in the model that were revised and the 
financial impact of each over a 20-year period. 
 
Kelly Crandall discussed the modeling results for the charter metrics of emissions reductions and 
increased renewable energy, and looked at additional value in the form of 20-year cost savings. 
Ms. Crandall presented the results of the changes to the Xcel Baseline and described how the 
local utility options were “stressed” while the Xcel Baseline was treated more conservatively. 
She concluded by stating that while the modeling focused on risks, there were areas where 
favorable circumstances could lead to opportunities in the form of cost savings. 
 
Ms. Bailey reviewed a number of key risks associated with the creation of a local utility, and 
highlighted specific mitigation strategies that a utility would implement to reduce potential 
exposure. 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 6Agenda Item 3D     Page 6Packet Page     44



 

Council asked what would happen if Xcel would not enter into a Power Purchase Agreement 
(PPA) with Boulder to mitigate stranded costs. 
 
Ms. Bailey said under rules of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), in stranded 
cost cases, it is her understanding that if there is a stranded cost liability and the existing power 
provider declines to provide power to the newly formed utility, that then directly affects the 
stranded costs liability such that it could reduce or eliminate it.  
 
Council asked if staff included costs associated with replacing existing low-income energy 
assistance programs (LEAP).  

 
Ms. Crandall stated that there is a low-income component included in the modeling in the form 
of energy efficiency incentives. Staff did not quantify additional funding associated with LEAP 
because information was not available to the city to determine what portion is allotted to 
Boulder. Staff agreed to follow up with a calculation of a portion of the funding attributed to 
Boulder customers to determine the replacement cost. 

 
A council member stated that the $150 million acquisition number was an estimate based on city 
limits and did not include the expansion of service territory to unincorporated Boulder County.  
It also did not include the value of SmartGridCity™ or the buy-out of solar contracts.  In other 
words, it is not appropriate to state that staff is using Xcel’s numbers when additional items have 
been excluded. 

 
Ms. Bailey said she is comfortable with using the $150 million figure, as it is the best number 
staff has at this time from Xcel. It is also above the preliminary valuation determined by the city.  

 
Council asked if staff, from analysis to date, is comfortable that $150 million is a conservative 
number for acquisition costs.  

 
Kathy Haddock responded that staff is comfortable using that number, which is conservative 
even with the inclusion of the additional 115kv transmission loop. Ms. Haddock stated that the 
city’s engineers believe there is still plenty of head-room for acquisition. The city has asked Xcel 
what was included in the company’s $150 million estimate, but have not received a response. 

 
Council asked if all of that information will be available once condemnation begins. 
 
Ms. Haddock stated that the city’s numbers will be made public, but Xcel is not required to 
disclose information until a judge directs them to do so. 

 
Council asked about assumptions related to gas prices. 
 
Ms. Bailey said the model was run using high, low and median prices. It is important to note that 
the city’s probabilistic analysis conveys results that are weighted by the likelihood of underlying 
variables like gas prices (these results are called “expected values”).  
 
Council asked for an explanation of how distributed generation is a risk mitigation strategy. 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 7Agenda Item 3D     Page 7Packet Page     45



 

Ms. Bailey used local solar photovoltaic (PV) as an example to explain how distributed 
generation provides a hedge against rising fuel costs, along with transmission costs and 
constraints. A local utility could prioritize incentives to increase solar PV locally. 
 
Council asked about the mix in the local generation option and why there are more renewables in 
local generation option than in the no coal option. They further asked why the carbon intensity is 
higher in the local generation option rather than in the low coal option. 
 
Ms. Crandall stated that the results of the fuel mixes in the portfolio are a direct result of the 
modeling choosing the wholesale energy market over wind or natural gas.  Because the market is 
a blend of several resources, including some coal, it results in certain fluctuations in the 
percentages.  It is important to remember that the portfolios modeled are simply illustrative.  
Actual percentages of fuel sources will be determined by market conditions during resource 
planning. 
 
Council asked for clarification on Boulder’s load.  Reports that show large amounts of wind 
power are out of context and hard to grasp. Council asked staff to put in context how much 
power the city would need, at its peak, firmed with gas.  
 
Ms Bailey and Jonathan Koehn stated that Boulder’s peak load is approximately 265 megawatts, 
and its off-peak load is roughly 150 megawatts. 
 
Council mentioned that Attachment A of the council packet – risk analysis – was very helpful; 
however, there are no risks associated with protracted litigation. Staff noted this feedback and 
has included a response in the attached responses to council questions (Attachment B). 
   
Council mentioned that the best outcome would be a partnership with Xcel, but if it doesn’t 
happen, the city should have some ability to control the startup date. The city does not have to 
start the utility the day after the costs are known. Could it ramp up? 
 
Ms. Bailey stated that staff assumes there will be a transition period. Neither Xcel nor the city 
wants to do anything that would affect customers, and all would work together on the transition. 
 
David Gehr stated that the city could control the title acquisition date.  
 
Ms. Haddock said the city can set the trial date, and that all parties will work to protect the 
customers.  
 
Council stated that the new model runs are a large improvement and address many concerns. But 
that being said, noted that margins are much thinner now.  
 
Council responded by stating that while margins are thinner, focusing on different ranges of 
costs is good. Staff stress-tested the municipalization side of the equation and have created a 
worst case scenario. It is not clear how much staff has done that with Xcel side of the equation. 
Staff has focused on the 20-year analysis, and it’s not going to be perfect. Some council 
members believe that the Xcel Baseline was not stressed enough.  The large capital expenditures 
on rebuilding system over next 20 years is an example, where no comparable Xcel expense has 
been added. The city saddled the local utility with significant expense to ensure reliability. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 8Agenda Item 3D     Page 8Packet Page     46



 

Ms. Bailey agreed that the modeling was focused on the municipalization side. The city did not 
stress Xcel’s side because the necessary information isn’t available; the one benefit to this is that 
the modeling continues to be conservative.  
  
Council also mentioned that the modeling does not account for reduced costs (transmission and 
load) due to solar and demand-side management. The costs are not reduced because of that, but 
costs would go down because we would buy.  
 
Mr. Koehn stated that in this round of modeling staff wanted to increase the risk on the local 
electric utility side, without prejudging how Xcel would react to changing market conditions. 
Staff did not isolate a reasonable best case scenario, so it is unknown what the impact could be if 
all things went right. 
 
Council stated that the Xcel rate increases that staff showed happened during an extraordinary 
time of natural gas prices. That may be a little illusory, because we won’t see those prices move 
like that again. In terms of mitigation of risk – one can always increase the prices/increase the 
rates. Our bond consultants said you can always raise the rates.  
 
Council also appreciated staff’s description of designing a resource portfolio similar to a mutual 
fund of diversified options of power purchase agreements. Council asked what are staff’s 
assumptions about how to avoid long-term contracts that aren’t diversified enough? 
 
Mr. Koehn stated that there are a number of ways to maintain flexibility.  Purchasing some 
portion of resources through the wholesale market allows for flexibility. The utility could always 
increase that portion of the portfolio. Buy more short-term contracts – five to 10 years. The city 
would work with a resource manager to speculate on market forecasts.  
 
Council asked about peak load and the impact of shifting. Council asked if the peak loads could 
be shaved to save customers money. 
 
Mr. Koehn said staff did not model demand response and its impact on a portfolio. While staff 
could discuss an option to try and model those impacts, it is challenging. The plan is to do that 
when moving further into resource planning.  
 
In Xcel’s coal costs in the base case, council asked what price is Xcel paying now and what is 
the growth factor. Council further stated that staff used such a small amount of escalation in coal 
prices – $2.20 to $3.92. In 2008, Xcel was paying $1.17. Council indicated they believe Xcel is 
now paying around $1.70. 
 
Mr. Koehn stated that prices came from Xcel’s April 16, 2013 Energy Resource Plan (ERP) 
update (Attachment C, Page 6). Staff did not adjust based on historic projections for coal.  
 
Council further stated that staff used such a small amount of escalation – 2.20 to 3.92. In 2008, 
they were paying 1.17. Council indicated they believe Xcel is paying around 1.70 now.  
 
Council asked about Xcel’s Corporate Responsibility Report, and Xcel’s high carbon intensity. 
They specifically asked how this could occur with a #1-rated wind power utility in the country. 
How do they both exist? 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 9Agenda Item 3D     Page 9Packet Page     47



 

Ms. Bailey stated that this disconnect is a direct result of the rest of Xcel’s mix. Xcel has 
procured a lot of wind. This issue is how wind is dispatched. It’s not a priority resource. Coal is 
the company’s priority. This, along with other factors, is preventing a significant shift in carbon 
intensity. 
 
Council added that there is quite a difference between the absolute size of wind relative to 
amount of power used over the entire system. The number is big number, but it is part of a huge 
system.  
 
Council asked about the projections in the Xcel baseline. The modeling shows that in 2017, our 
coal use would be about 13 percent of the portfolio, but by 2022, that amount is increased. 
Council asked staff to explain the projections.  
 
Ms. Bailey stated that those projections are based on what was learned from Xcel and the market. 
She said those projections will change. 
 
Council asked about curtailment on wind and if there are discussions taking place with the Public 
Utility Commissions (PUC). 
 
Debra Kalish said in phase one of current ERP docket that if wind needed to be curtailed because 
coal couldn’t ramp up, that punishes wind. The PUC said that should be looked at in the future.  

 
Part II: Qualitative Analysis  
Mr. Koehn discussed the purpose of the Qualitative Analysis as a look at the merits of 
proceeding on different paths, not just feasibility.  It is intended to assess the benefits and 
concerns of various paths.  Mr. Koehn described the key take-a-ways from the analysis, and the 
key concerns and benefits of the Xcel status quo and the municipalization options.  The 
partnership section will be filled in at a later date.  He also talked about a number of local 
utilities that have established visions to dramatically cut emissions and increase renewables.  The 
city and Xcel would be in a much different place today if customers understood what Xcel’s 
vision is for the future. 
 
Council commented that the Qualitative Analysis was very good and extremely helpful.  
 
Council asked about what Boulder’s vision would look like in the future. What is 
groundbreaking that we don’t see?  
 
Mr. Koehn described how a local utility can be flexible and focuses on community priorities 
such as an emphasis on local generation. This benefits the community in specific ways. People 
think about energy as a limited resource, but renewable energy isn’t limited. We don’t have to 
use less and less if we change the conversation. A local utility is agile and competitive and could 
take advantage of technology in the marketplace. A large investor-owned utility (IOU) is 
different in how it must look at multiple cities. A local utility focuses on local problems. This is a 
tremendous advantage to Boulder.  
 
Council agreed that the economic vitality benefit is huge. Not all benefits come on day one. By 
sticking with Xcel, we’re losing out on our community’s brand of being a technology leader.  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 10Agenda Item 3D     Page 10Packet Page     48



 

Council stated that our community has done a lot to reduce greenhouse gases (GHGs). Is it even 
realistic with Xcel’s investment in coal for us to try and partner and merge our two visions? 
 
Council added that we should focus on innovation and economic vitality. What local tech and 
businesses would want us to move to a local electric utility? What might be possible? 
 
Mr. Koehn also added that a local utility could implement a number of progressive practices 
listed in the Qualitative Analysis: Part 2, such as feed-in tariffs. Dial-in energy needs and tailor 
incentives. Big companies already have experts on site, but small and medium businesses could 
benefit from the city’s assistance. Making sure they’re efficient.  
 
One council member stated that if the city had a local electric utility that was 70 years old, there 
would be disagreements about how to raise rates to meet our goals.  
 
Mr. Koehn clarified an earlier statement that the utility could prioritize economic vitality in 
terms of supporting expanded operations.  It is important for businesses to flourish rather than 
hear a message that the only way to achieve energy goals is to simply use less. Clean energy is a 
path to get there.  
 
Part III: Governance Working Group 
Carl Castillo opened by describing the purpose and background of the Governance Working 
Group.  He acknowledged the hard work of the group and thanked them for their service.  Mr. 
Castillo continued his presentation by outlining the groups’ recommendations for the design of a 
Utility Advisory Board.  He continued by outlining a number of remaining issues that the group 
did not address, but identified as items that would need future discussion. 
   
Council felt that the group provided very helpful information and indicated it is critical to 
address the non-city customer issue.  
 
Council asked about the recommended requirement of having one non-city resident customer on 
the board. Some council members are interested in exploring the option of giving out-of-city 
customers the choice to be served by the city or Xcel. In this case, the city would own poles and 
wires but customers could select their provider.  
 
David Gehr stated that particular issue will be discussed in the PUC proceedings. It is essentially 
a discussion of about the role the PUC might play vs. the decisions a city utility could make, and 
the CAO is still researching this issue.  
 
Council asked how that type of structure might be administered.  
 
Mr. Gehr stated that it would likely be an “either-or” issue. In other words, full “customer 
choice” is not permitted in Colorado, so it would be a scenario where all county residents in the 
service territory are served by the local utility or by Xcel, as opposed to individual customers 
getting a choice. Staff is researching the possibility that the city could own the distribution 
system and charge Xcel a tariff to use the lines to serve their customers. 
   
Council suggested the advisory board discussion might change under this scenario. Instead of a 
requirement to be served by the local utility, customers in the county areas could choose.  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 11Agenda Item 3D     Page 11Packet Page     49



 

As far as the recommended ordinances, council agreed that a sunset should be established on 
some of them. Council also indicated that there would be a need to consider how detailed to be 
when  defining large vs. small  business with regard to ensuring each had representation on the 
utility board.  
 
Council concluded by stating that a lot was learned from reading the group’s discussion notes. 
There were a lot of really good ideas.  
 
Part IV: City/Xcel Taskforce 
Debra Kalish discussed the history behind the Boulder-Xcel Partnership Taskforce, beginning 
with council’s decision not to place the franchise agreement on the ballot in 2011, continuing 
with the December 2012 staff paper, “Exploring Opportunities for Reaching Boulder’s Energy 
Future Goals,” and finally, the formation of a taskforce to explore possible partnership 
opportunities between the city and Xcel.  Members of the taskforce were identified and thanked 
for their efforts. 
 
The first meeting of the taskforce was held April 9, 2013.  The group met weekly for three 
months.  The taskforce began with discussions of the city’s goals, Xcel’s goals, and the meaning 
of partnership.  Over the following months, taskforce members developed six different 
partnership strategies.  On June 10, Xcel provided the taskforce with a letter advising that it was 
interested in products and services that could be provided to all customers in its service territory.  
It was not interested in a partnership with Boulder, but instead with “teaming” with the city to 
develop products and services.  In early July, Xcel presented its proposal, consisting of eight 
ideas, to the taskforce.  The proposal gave a rough estimate of the expected carbon reduction 
benefits by 2043 and the additional cost to customers over and above current rates that would be 
associated with those ideas. 
 
Ms. Kalish outlined the following staff recommendations: 
 

1. Staff agreed with the taskforce that the city should continue to work with Xcel to 
complete the analysis of the Xcel proposal. 

2. Staff would like to continue to work with taskforce members to consider alternatives to 
municipalization, including the possible formation of the Boulder Local Electric Utility 
(BLEU). 

3. This additional work should be done over the course of the next six months prior to the 
filing of the condemnation action.  Staff recommends that this additional work be on a 
parallel path with municipalization efforts, believing that negotiations are more likely to 
be fruitful if the city continues down the municipalization path at the same time. 

 
Council began by questioning why the carbon reduction strategies outlined in Xcel’s proposal 
are so far out, targeting 2043.  
 
Ms. Kalish stated that the analysis was provided by Xcel looking out at 2043. It was not a request 
by the taskforce. 
 
One council member remarked that Xcel wants everything on its terms and nothing on 
Boulder’s.  In order to be true “partners,” you must meet in the middle.  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 12Agenda Item 3D     Page 12Packet Page     50



 

Another council member remarked that the proposals put forth by Xcel are exciting possibilities, 
and we need to examine them further. A mention was made of an op-ed written by two of the 
taskforce members - Will Toor and John Tayer – that appeared in the Daily Camera. 
 
Ms. Kalish stated that staff agrees that additional consideration would be valuable. Boulder has 
been a leader in new program development, and Xcel could choose to implement this across a 
much larger service area. 
  
Council mentioned that there is a compelling reason to keep working with the taskforce as staff 
suggests.  If Xcel forms a larger taskforce, the city should participate but should continue 
working with local representatives. There are a number of people that voted in 2011 thinking that 
it provided time to work with Xcel. The partnership options are not any less important than 
exploring the municipalization option.  The city needs to see how these options perform.  The 
city committed to doing that. 
 
Ms. Bailey mentioned that the working group invested a lot of time and effort coming up with 
some great ideas. It is important to note that Xcel did not use the group’s ideas but developed its 
own proposal. Moving forward, the city can take Xcel’s ideas and continue to vet those.  
 
Mr. Koehn added that it was staff’s intention to continue to work with the taskforce, should they 
choose, to perform a quantitative modeling effort of the Xcel products.  Xcel’s proposal is 
currently a list of concepts that need a lot more information in order to model. 
 
Council said that it is understood that Xcel doesn’t want to explore an actual partnership with 
Boulder. 
 
Ms. Bailey replied that Xcel was clear that they are not interested in the partnership structures 
developed by the taskforce over the last few months. 
 
Council remarked that the representation on the taskforce is impressive, and the conversations 
need to continue.  
 
Ms. Kalish reviewed the staff recommendations including the continuation of the analysis of the 
Xcel proposal. 
 
Council supported the continuation of the taskforce if the individuals wish to participate. It is 
valuable to keep working with a great group of thinkers.  Most of council agreed it makes sense 
to continue on a parallel track.  
 
One council member mentioned that Xcel was the elephant in the room that doesn’t want to 
move forward. The company pulled out of discussions and then came back. Xcel officials keep 
bringing things forward at the last minute so the city can’t truly vet them. There were concerns 
about a larger more regional working group as it will likely only have Xcel people and won’t 
result in any true commitment. There was mention of a telephone poll being conducted by B&R 
interviewing out of Princeton, NJ. The caller wouldn’t say who sponsored the poll, but the 
questions seemed very biased. It is important to keep in mind that partnerships need two willing 
parties.  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 13Agenda Item 3D     Page 13Packet Page     51



 

Another council member mentioned that the taskforce members worked to figure out solutions to 
a complicated issue. There is not a lot of optimism about a successful outcome, given that the 
city has “seen this movie and the ending, twice.” Several council members expressed their 
unhappiness that Xcel wasn’t interested in true partnership arrangements. They said they were 
100 percent certain that if the city does not continue on the municipalization path in parallel, this 
will just go away and nothing will happen.   
 
A council member expressed disappointment in the outcome of the partnership process. Thanks 
was given to staff and individuals who met weekly, but the disappointment comes from some 
feeling that the timing wasn’t great on the report coming in at the same time as staff’s 
recommendation that council approve condemnation. The council member mentioned they are 
most disappointed with Xcel in this process. Xcel missed a real opportunity for partnership.  
 
A council member questioned why Xcel does last-minute items.  A lot of people were counting 
on the company to propose an alternative. If Xcel doesn’t step up, it is highly likely the city will 
form a municipal utility. The city did a lot of analysis without Xcel there.  
 
Council mentioned that the public needs to know that one of the partnership models discussed by 
the taskforce is mentioned in the in the Study Session materials. The creation of a sub-utility 
under Xcel should be extremely easy to design, and if Xcel truly wanted to support Boulder in 
achieving its goals, this is a simple structure to do that.  Unfortunately, Xcel put this option on 
the cutting room floor.  

 
Part V: Separation and Acquisition 
Ms. Haddock reviewed a number of issues related to the separation and acquisition plan as 
informed by the city’s engineering team. She discussed the criteria provided to the engineering 
team when designing the distribution system, and reviewed those added by the technical experts. 
A map was used to describe the addition of the transmission loop.  A separate map of the 
recommended service area showed the properties owned by the City of Boulder inside and 
outside of the city boundaries, and contiguous geographic boundaries and parcels. She concluded 
her presentation by mentioning that the agenda for the July 24 special City Council meeting was 
expected to allow for a more detailed discussion of acquisition, but it was important to provide 
the information to council as part of the study session’s discussion as well. 
 
Council asked about the Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric substation, which is on the transmission 
loop but not being acquired. 
 
Ms. Haddock replied that the city already owns that property and equipment which is part of the 
hydroelectric system.  However, that system is not connected to Boulder’s distribution system 
without the transmission loop.  One of the reasons staff wants to acquire the loop is to gain 
access to the city’s hydro power. 
 
Council also inquired why engineers are not suggesting that the city take Eldorado substation, 
and whom it serves. 
 
Ms. Haddock responded that the Eldorado substation does not serve any of the recommended 
city service area, but the transmission loop does go through that substation.  As a result, Boulder 
does not need the Eldorado substation. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 14Agenda Item 3D     Page 14Packet Page     52



 

Warren Wendling responded that the Eldorado substation has terminations and one 13kv feeder 
that comes out to 93 and comes back to the city where there’s a normal open. It supports NCAR 
and Xcel.  
 
Council asked how long the actual system configuration will take. 
 
Mr. Wendling replied that negotiation is the beginning. The engineers could easily conduct their 
work well quickly, but that does not account for legal proceedings, which can be expected to take 
significantly longer. 
 
Council acknowledged that the legal work will take time. However, given the technical work by 
the engineering team that has been performed, it is doable.  
 
Tom Ghidossi of Exponential Engineering Company mentioned that the boundary is created by 
metering. All utility interfaces occur between the low-side and high-side. The same is done for 
transmission scale and generation scale. Metering is done when electricity enters one point and 
leaves for the next.  
 
Council mentioned that the design and acquisition would go much more smoothly if the city 
were negotiating with a willing seller. 
 
Part VI: Next Steps and Questions for Council 
Council had a number of concluding remarks and questions. 
 
Because there were a number of attachments (including the communications plan), council 
members indicated they would send any questions or comments to staff and post on Hotline. 
 
Council asked about the date at which the city would need to go “dark” related to items that may 
be on the November ballot. 
 
Mr. Gehr responded that would occur after final reading on ordinances, likely Aug. 20. That said, 
council could do final readings on a different date.  That issue will be discussed on July 24. 
 
Council agreed that at least one ordinance will go to third reading, so there is time to discuss.  
 
Council concluded by acknowledging the impressive work by staff, and suggested the city’s 
website should list staff’s credentials.   

Agenda Item 3D     Page 15Agenda Item 3D     Page 15Packet Page     53



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 16Packet Page     54



 

ATTACHMENT B 
 

Responses to Council questions and issues from July 23 City Council Study Session 
 
The following provides answers to issues and questions put to staff by Council members at the 
July 23 and 24 Council meetings. 
 
Q: Please clarify what was “stress-tested” on the Xcel Energy (Xcel) Status Quo model 

option. 
 
A: The modeling analysis focuses on assessing the feasibility of forming a local utility. By 

design, the model treats a few key variables that are most impactful on the results with 
uncertainty, creating a range of inputs to test 80 percent of the reasonable prices the 
utility could see in the market. Because there is a charter requirement requiring that the 
local utility should “charge rates that do not exceed those rates charged by Xcel Energy at 
the time of acquisition,” the first part of staff’s analysis focused on whether the metrics 
could be met. Since April, much of the decision analysis process has been about using the 
model to identify additional financial risks—possible negative outcomes in the form of 
high costs or prices. Xcel produces little public quantitative information on risks it may 
face in the future, so the local utility has been modeled with more potential risks than 
Xcel. 

 
A rigorous process was designed to develop the cost ranges for the most sensitive 
variables. The process includes looking at historic data, reviewing industry projections, 
where available, and completing a thorough vetting process with community experts and 
consultants. Attachment H from the Feb 26 City Council Study Session has a complete 
discussion on the decision analysis process and determining which variables are most 
sensitive. Visit “the model” section at www.BoulderEnergyFuture.com for a display of 
the overall modeling process, the various components, and complete data assumptions. 

 
Where possible, the modeling looks for risks on the Xcel side too. However, this has only 
been done in cases where the data was clear (historic information, industry standards or 
projections released by the company). The modeling also does not presume to predict 
how Xcel would act in response to risks like changed market conditions. A complicating 
factor is that Xcel may not be fully incorporating some key risks in its publicly available 
resource planning or rate filings. For example, a variable with a significant impact on 
customers’ bills—the price Xcel pays for coal, which makes up over 50 percent of its 
resource mix—is only projected into the future with one low price trajectory for long-
term planning purposes. In contrast, the city has looked at the local utility’s major 
resources, wind and natural gas, with three price levels that have been developed to 
anticipate 80 percent of the possible prices the utility could see on the market. The city 
has not attempted to look at multiple price trajectories for coal on the Xcel side. 

 
As a result, the local utility options have been “stressed” more, i.e., exposed to more 
potential risks, than the Xcel Baseline option. Staff believes this is a conservative 
approach that errs on the side of caution and avoids speculating as to decisions that Xcel 
would make as new risks surface.  

 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 16Agenda Item 3D     Page 17Packet Page     55

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/DocView.aspx?id=121319&dbid=0
http://www.boulderenergyfuture.com/


 

The following variables were exposed to risk for both the local utility and Xcel: 
 Wind Prices 
 Natural Gas Prices 
 Carbon Tax 
 Interest Rates (on the Xcel side, this includes variation on return on equity) 

 
The following additional variables were exposed to risk for only the local utility: 

 Debt Service Coverage Ratio 
 Operations and Maintenance Costs 

 
The purpose of the city’s modeling efforts has been to test the feasibility of creating a 
local electric utility as it relates to the charter metrics. The modeling utilized a decision 
tree methodology intended to analyze combinations of high, median, and low costs for 
the most sensitive variables such as wind, gas, and carbon prices. The results of the 
modeling provide a weighted average of all the possible combinations of outcomes. As 
discussed in the study session, the focus of the modeling has been identifying and 
mitigating risk, and so staff has not isolated modeling scenarios that look at “best-case” 
conditions.  
 
The histogram chart below is a graphical representation of the distribution of the city’s 
modeling outputs. It presents the range of all of the outcomes of a particular model run, 
and so captures what could be worst- and best-case outcomes. The chart represents the 
distribution of outcomes of 729 runs of the Low Cost Option at $150 million in stranded 
and acquisition costs. The histogram shows that approximately 80% of the model runs 
produced some level of cost savings, as opposed to losses, compared to the cost of 
staying with Xcel over 20 years. To illustrate both the most and least favorable 
conditions, the focus would be on the extreme ends of this graph.  Under the most 
favorable conditions—for example, if natural gas prices, wind prices, and interest rates 
are low—savings could be between $701M and $750M over 20 years. Conversely, under 
the least favorable conditions, losses could be between $300M and $349M over 20 years.  
 
The city’s primary modeling has been probabilistic, i.e., it looks at whether outcomes are 
likely. Isolating deterministic model runs (locking in variables at certain prices) can help 
illustrate what happens if specific conditions are favorable. For example, looking at the 
Low Cost option with $150 million of initial debt and setting the wind price at the low 
price (comparable to today’s prices) and setting the other variables (natural gas, carbon 
tax) at the median level provides an additional $160 million of savings compared to 
staying with Xcel over 20 years (net present value or NPV). Setting the natural gas at the 
low price and all other variables at the median level provides an additional $198 million 
(NPV) over 20 years. 
 
The model was not run deterministically during this process since the probabilistic 
analysis tells the story of risk incorporating a range of outcomes, but it is important to 
recognize how sensitive these factors are and how favorable conditions have a significant 
impact on the savings over time. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 17Agenda Item 3D     Page 18Packet Page     56



 

 
 

Q: What level of funding was included in the modeling to replace the Low Income 
Energy Assistance Program (LEAP)? 

 
A: There are two types of low-income assistance. One is funded directly through federal and 

state agencies and administered through the county (LEAP), and provides funding for 
heating related expenses. This funding would still be available to Boulder customers 
under a local utility as it relates to natural gas, which would not be controlled by the local 
utility, and because the funding comes from federal and state agencies, not Xcel.  

 
Another set of programs is offered by Xcel and called the Electric Affordability Program 
(EAP). The funding for the EAP is currently recovered through an adder to the service 
and facility charge and, therefore, is not included in the revenue requirement. The current 
state-wide budget for the EAP is approximately $4 million.  
 
Assuming Boulder’s portion is approximately five percent ($200,000), staff is confident 
that model includes more than adequate replacement of these funds with the recent 
addition of an extra $900,000 in the DSM rebate budget. 

 
Q: What is Xcel’s current resource mix? What portion is wind power? 
 

Figure 3 (from page 22 of the July 23 Study Session packet) provides an estimate of 
Xcel’s historic generation mix as well as its generic forecasted generation mix from now 
through 2037. Interestingly, Xcel only includes a decrease in its fossil fuel proportion by 
roughly five percent. Notably, there is a jump in coal proportion from 2009 to 2013, 
which staff believes is due to Comanche 3 coming online. Historic data came from 
research presented in the 2011 Energy Baseline Report; specific information on Xcel’s 
actual historic and projected future dispatch is not readily available. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 18Agenda Item 3D     Page 19Packet Page     57

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/EnergyBaselineStudyRevisedFinalReport072811-1-201306171439.pdf


 

 
 
As described in its recent 2011 Electric Resource Plan (ERP), Xcel intends to primarily 
transition from a coal-based load to natural gas as their coal plants approach retirement. 
Although Xcel is acquiring wind, provided it is “least-cost”—a significant disclaimer—
its modeling does not demonstrate a strategic plan to utilize this resource in higher 
amounts from what is currently used and transition from a fossil fuel-based system. 
While Xcel may be adding some new renewables, the company’s portfolio will likely be 
over 70 percent fossil-fuel based until at least 2037.  

 
Take for example, Xcel’s recent announcement to potentially acquire 548 MW of 
additional wind to its portfolio between now and 2016 as part of the overall 2011 ERP 
Phase 2 process. Xcel issued a request for proposals (RFP) on March 15 of this year. The 
RFP was issued and evaluated on an expedited schedule in order to allow Xcel the 
opportunity to take advantage of the Production Tax Credit (PTC).  The RFP served as 
one of two resource acquisition processes associated with the 2011 ERP. The other 
process, which has been discussed with council, is the All-Source RFP, which will occur 
later this year. 

 
On April 30, Xcel received 25 bids offering a total of roughly 6,500 MW of new wind 
generation facilities.1 On May 10, Xcel provided bidders the opportunity to reduce their 
pricing.  In response, Xcel identified three bids totaling 548 MW and requested PUC 
approval to commence PPA negotiations immediately.  It is important to note that as part 

                                                           
1 Public Service Company of Colorado 2011 Electric Resource Plan, 2013 PTC Wind Bid Evaluation Report (CPUC 
Docket No. 11A-869E) May 30, 2013 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 19Agenda Item 3D     Page 20Packet Page     58



 

of the 2011 ERP, the commission approved a capacity credit2 for wind resources of 12.5 
percent of the nameplate rating.  So while Xcel may contract for 548 MW, the generation 
represents only approximately 68 MW of available capacity.  
 
As part of the 2011 ERP process and pursuant to the PUC rules and orders, the PUC 
submitted their order “Granting Initial Approval to Commence Contract Negotiations 
with Certain Production Tax Credit Wind Bids”3:  
 

We find it is unreasonable to approve 548 MW of new wind in this expedited 
framework.  Such a large acquisition of wind is particularly risky because Public 
Service admits that it is approaching the limits of its flexible reserves.  Further, if 
Public Service’s system is approaching the limits of its flexible reserves, we are 
concerned that we could be displacing future renewable opportunities by rushing 
to acquire bids. 

 
In other words, higher wind penetration levels on Xcel’s system may significantly impact 
the projected savings by increasing curtailment levels, integration costs and coal cycling.  
 
Ultimately, the Commission granted approval for Xcel to negotiate PPAs with wind 
developers for 200 MW of wind, with the remainder to be evaluated when Xcel responds 
to a number of concerns and issues in its 120-day report due on September 9, 2013.  One 
of the more important issues relates to the costs associated with coal cycling and 
curtailment. 
 
Coal Cycling and Wind Curtailment: 
 
As part of its 2011 ERP, a study titled Wind Induced Coal Plant Cycling Costs and the 
Implications of Wind Curtailment for Public Service Company of Colorado, was 
conducted to evaluate specific impacts as Xcel’s wind energy on its system increases.  
According to the report, “to date, wind induced cycling costs have not been considered in 
Xcel’s planning models or planning process. As the level of wind energy on Xcel’s 
system increases, however, the cost impacts of both unit cycling and wind curtailments 
will increase, thus warranting their consideration in future planning decisions.” These 
two important issues will specifically affect Xcel customers in the future.  

Some of Xcel’s generators (natural gas fired power plants or hydroelectric) were 
designed to cycle, or follow variations in load stemming from intermittent resources such 
as wind.  In contrast, the Xcel coal-fired generating units were designed to provide base-
load, or full output, non-varying operation. The inclusion of greater levels of variable 
energy sources such as wind has increased wear and costs on operating the coal units.  As 
an alternative to cycling coal-fired generators, Xcel can choose to reduce or curtail the 
amount of wind energy being generated on the system. Over the course of a year, it is 

                                                           
2 Capacity Credit is a measure of how much electricity any new plant can be depended upon to deliver. In the case 
of wind turbines, which cannot be dispatched, it is typically expressed as how much other generation wind can allow 
to be shut down. Capacity Credit must not be confused with Capacity Factor, which is what percentage of its 
“nameplate” capacity a plant actually generates. 
3 Decision No. C13-0759, Docket No. 11A-869E, at p. 8, para. 17. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 20Agenda Item 3D     Page 21Packet Page     59



 

possible for some wind farms to dump around five percent of their output through 
curtailment. But it could get much worse. The magnitude of curtailment has been steadily 
increasing over recent years. The present structure encourages the wasteful dumping of 
free renewable energy instead of utilizing it and reducing the corresponding fossil fuel 
consumption and emissions.  

To its credit, Xcel is evaluating an integrated approach to develop system operating 
protocols. While Xcel brings additional wind on to its system, presumably to meet the 
state required Renewable Energy Standard of 30 percent by 2020, it will likely be faced 
with having to cycle existing coal plants down to their economic minimum generation 
levels (shallow cycle) to accommodate wind, and curtail any excess wind generation.  
Xcel’s coal generation units will dramatically limit Xcel’s ability to continue its 
investment in renewables beyond what is currently required by Colorado state law, 
without incurring significant system repowering costs.  

Q: What happens if the new utility lost a large customer?  Doesn’t that loss of revenue 
hurt the utility? 

 
A: Given the emphasis a municipal utility would have on energy efficiency and increasing 

locally owned distributed generation, staff was asked to evaluate the impact to costs of 
reducing electric load.  Because approximately 70 percent of the utility’s costs are for 
power supply resources (see pie-chart below), there is a direct cost reduction in power 
supply (fuel) and transmission costs with loss of load. The remaining costs, 
approximately 30 percent, would be redistributed to the remaining customers.  

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In a situation where a customer chooses to self-generate, resulting in a loss of load, the 
customer would still rely on the local utility for back-up capacity and some distribution 
system functions, therefore, a portion of the non-resource costs would still be attributed 
to the customer. While the modeling effort to date has not included a complete analysis of 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 21Agenda Item 3D     Page 22Packet Page     60



 

the impact of this situation (the fuel mixes were not re-optimized with adjusted load 
scenarios), staff did complete a high-level analysis to illustrate the potential impacts. It is 
staff’s belief that a situation that results in reduced load would likely be phased in over 
time, allowing time for adequate planning. 
 
In the following table, results are shown for a sample year, 2020, representing the 
estimated costs associated with the loss of load. These results show a range of potential 
load reductions from two percent to 10 percent. The 10 percent situation is regarded as 
extreme and this would not likely happen all at once, probably being phased in over time. 
As a benchmark, Xcel’s proposal4 for increasing local distributed generation reflects a 
four to five percent demand reduction over twenty years.  
 

Load Scenario   
Sample Year: 2020 

Average 
Cents/kWh 

Average 
Monthly 

Residential* 
Bill Impact 

($) 

Average 
Monthly 

Commercial** 
Bill Impact ($) 

Full Modeled Load 12.21 - - 
2% reduction 12.25 $0.28  $0.50  
5% reduction 12.32 $0.72  $1.29  

10% reduction 12.45 $1.53  $2.72  
*   Based on 632 kWh/month 
average usage 

  ** Based on 1,123 kWh/month 
average usage 

   
The assumptions include a proportionate reduction in resource and transmission costs 
while the remaining costs are the same. If a customer moves to self-generation it is 
assumed they would pay half of their previous portion of the remaining (non-resource 
related) costs. This analysis does not reflect additional adjustments a local utility would 
make to costs resulting from operational savings nor the impact reduced load would have 
in lowering costs due to lowering peak demand when resources are most expensive. A 
two percent reduction has very little impact (about 30 cents/month on a residential bill). 
At five percent it is $0.72/month and at an extreme level of 10 percent it is $1.53/month 
on a residential bill. 

 
Additional Issues:  
 
Designing the new Utility Business Model 
As has been discussed previously with council, the ability to achieve Boulder’s Energy Future 
Goals relies heavily on the ability to implement a new electric utility business model. Aside from 
Boulder’s efforts, there are strong indications that a fundamental re-thinking of the utility 
business model is under way for energy utilities of the 21st century. This has been spurred by 
increasing resource constraints, rising costs for new generation and increasingly negative 
environmental impacts from production and use of energy from conventional sources. At its 

                                                           
4 https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/Energy_Future_SS_Memo_07232013-1-201307241011.pdf  page111 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 22Agenda Item 3D     Page 23Packet Page     61

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/Energy_Future_SS_Memo_07232013-1-201307241011.pdf


 

core, the new business model for Boulder will meet the community’s energy resource needs 
through a balanced, low-cost portfolio of both supply and demand options. This includes 
reducing energy use through improved customer energy efficiency. 
 
Energy efficiency is an example of a service that is not fully developed under the traditional 
utility business model. Under that model, providing energy efficiency programs to customers to 
help them use less energy at their homes, businesses, institutions, and industries creates 
fundamental conflicts with utility financial objectives. There are three primary financial concerns 
from a utility’s financial perspective under this traditional model: 
 
 Costs of providing programs must be recovered; 
 Reducing sales through customer energy efficiency savings or self-generation reduces utility 

revenues and thereby profits; and 
 Money spent by utilities on customer energy efficiency programs and distributed or onsite 

generation does not provide a return on investment as do other utility investments such as 
power plants and other capital assets (anything that goes into the utility’s ratebase). 

 
Changes in regulation are needed to create a new business model for energy utilities, a model 
that changes the fundamental financial motivations for utilities from commodity sales of energy 
(a focus on selling more units of energy—kilowatt-hours of electricity or therms of natural gas) 
to providing energy services at lowest cost to both customer and utilities. Providing energy 
“services” means meeting customer needs for the services energy provides, such as heating, 
cooling, lighting, powering electronics and electrified transportation.  
 
Boulder’s aggressive efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions through efficiency, 
conservation, and local generation must be aligned with a new utility business model to achieve 
multiple economic and environmental objectives. Energy efficiency and customer-owned 
generation both lower costs for energy customers and utility systems. They promote job growth 
and local economic development. Finally, both are increasingly important tools in addressing and 
maintaining electric system reliability. 
  
There is ample evidence that this new business model can be established and that a local electric 
utility can be financially successful operating in this new framework. Unless we, as a society, 
change the fundamental utility regulatory model to meet 21st century needs, we are destined to 
continue to achieve 20th century results—more fossil-fueled power plants at higher and higher 
costs. The business model of the utility that will serve Boulder must respond to the risks and  
opportunities from climate change, carbon costs, volatile fuel prices, emerging clean 
technologies, expanding energy efficiency programs, increasing customer expectations and 
competing third party energy providers.  
 
A few months ago, several city staff members, community members and consultants came 
together to begin discussing what an electric utility might look like in Boulder, should the 
community decide to form its own local electric utility. Participants were asked to share their 
vision of an ideal electric utility—from the resources used to provide the power at the generation 
station all the way through the distribution system and how the community would use and 
manage energy in our own homes and offices.  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 23Agenda Item 3D     Page 24Packet Page     62



 

During that first session, numerous ideas were shared about how the new utility should be 
operated, what it can do to start treating electricity as a service rather than a commodity, and how 
the city and community can work together to achieve this paradigm shift. Several questions 
emerged that will help Boulder determine the best ways to power our future: 
 

1. How can Boulder be positioned for a low-carbon future? 
2. How can Boulder focus on customer choice? 
3. How can Boulder become a hub of innovation and technological advances? 
4. How can Boulder leverage infrastructure and ensure reliability? 
5. How can Boulder change the business model to reflect values and economics of the 21st 

century?  
 
Meeting attendees generally agreed that the “Electric Utility of the Future” (EUF) would be more 
of a partnership between the community and the utility and that communication would become a 
two-way street. The EUF will be “consumer-centric,” which means that customers will have a 
direct voice in their utility’s operations. In addition, the EUF should focus on selling electricity 
services rather than electricity, because the cleanest power is the power that isn’t produced.  
 
The EUF would be a provider of energy services, not just energy itself. Specifically, the EUF 
would be the unifying entity that connects the needs and wants of its users with the core values 
of the community in the most efficient and sustainable way possible.  
 
During a second session, participants built on the themes of the first session and focused on how 
the utility of the future would function.  The first exercise was what we should look like. 
Additional questions included:  
 

1. How does one city facilitate the transition of a new business model? 
2. What are the services and programs that a utility would offer to customers?  
3. In the past, BEF goals have driven the process. What do we need to achieve this?  
4. Many of our goals are outside of the current box. How do we get there? 
5. What is the role of a utility, particularly it’s relationship with it’s customers? 

 
Many of the examples brainstormed by the group were utilized in the City’s Qualitative Analysis 
presented to City Council on July 23.  The group agreed that electric utilities cannot achieve the 
new business model on their own – it requires the support of customers and other stakeholders 
and supportive policies such as federal climate change legislation, revenue decoupling and 
renewable energy and energy efficiency portfolio standards. However, it is incumbent on us to 
lead the transformation of our industry, and Boulder hopes to develop the blueprint for making 
the transition a success.  
 
Probability Distribution in the City’s Modeling  
Probability distributions assign probabilities to the outcomes of a process. Working with a 
decision analysis consultant, the city looked at two methods for developing probability 
distributions: decision trees and the Monte Carlo method. A decision tree is like a flow chart, 
with each branch representing a possible decision or occurrence. The branches can be assigned 
probabilities to determine the likelihood of the results. The Monte Carlo method is based on a 
series of random samples to calculate the distribution of results. Both approaches are useful for 
modeling uncertainty, i.e., identifying risks. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 24Agenda Item 3D     Page 25Packet Page     63



 

Decision trees and Monte Carlo simulation would produce similar results and require similar 
levels of effort to implement for the current uses by Boulder. The decision analysis consultant 
recommended that the city use a decision tree approach, rather than a Monte Carlo approach, 
based on the following advantages of decision analysis (and upon discussion with the Decision 
Analysis Working Group): 
 

1. Research indicates that well-developed decision trees provide the same or better 
distributions as Monte Carlo analysis while being somewhat less labor intensive (i.e., 
information is not necessarily sacrificed by not performing random draws). 

2. The financial model is robust and although Monte Carlo analysis could be implemented 
within it, it would be prohibitively time-consuming to run. Usually, decision trees can 
achieve better results with fewer model iterations. 

3. Data gathering for Monte Carlo analysis can be more complex and expensive, and so is 
premature for this stage of feasibility analysis. Decision trees use discrete distributions, 
which are more straightforward to identify than continuous distributions. 

4. The city can evaluate transitioning to a Monte Carlo or similar approach for full 
integrated resource planning should it move toward utility formation.5 However, if the 
city wants to model decisions that occur in different periods (“real options” analysis), 
decision trees have significant advantages over Monte Carlo simulation. 

 
There were several steps in creating the decision tree: 
 

1. The team identified the uncertainties likely to have the highest impact. The list started out 
with 13 uncertainties that were narrowed to six using sensitivity analysis.6 

2. The decision analysis consultant worked with staff and the working groups to identify 
values (i.e., prices) for those six uncertainties that corresponded to a range in which 80 
percent of outcomes would reasonably fall. More specifically, when looking at an 
uncertainty like wind prices, the team looked for prices for which 10 percent of the wind 
contracts would be lower, 50 percent would be lower, and 90 percent would be lower. 

3. Each of the three values for each uncertainty is assigned a probability: the 10 percent 
value is 30 percent likely to occur; the 50 percent value is 40 percent likely; and the 90 
percent value is 30 percent likely. This is based on a statistical approach called Gaussian 
Quadrature. Therefore, not all of the branches of the decision tree would mathematically 
be considered equally likely—a result that is based on all six uncertainties being valued at 
the median point will be mathematically more likely. The results from all of these 
permutations are weighted by their likelihood and averaged to create the numbers shown 
in the memos. 

 
The team did not develop what statistics labels “normal” distributions for all of the uncertainties. 
The wind price distribution is the best example. 
 

                                                           
5 Staff attended a recent resource planning conference that included diverse investor-owned and public power 
utilities and consultants. The consensus appeared to be that although probabilistic modeling is becoming a best 
practice for long-term resource planning (for example, the work by Southern California Edison and Tennessee 
Valley Authority), it is not widely practiced. 
6 Technically, 8 uncertainties were sensitive. However, stranded costs and acquisition costs were not treated 
probabilistically. Results were shown for high, middle, and low values without likelihoods attached. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 25Agenda Item 3D     Page 26Packet Page     64



 

February 26, 2013 Analysis. In the first round of analysis, the team looked at a distribution of 
wind contract prices in the “wind belt,” gathered by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory 
(LBNL) staff. Because these prices were from the last several years, they included the 
Production Tax Credit (PTC) of approximately $22-23/MWh. Therefore, building a median and 
range from those figures led to a lower median. The high (90 percent) value removed the PTC. 
This was based on the policy perspective that the PTC may not be continued, but that was less 
likely than the continuation of some form of subsidy that would keep wind prices lower. 
 
July 23, 2013, Analysis. In the second round of analysis, the team revisited the distribution of 
wind prices and discussed the assumptions with the working groups. The working groups 
broadly agreed that a subsidy level comparable to the PTC was not likely for the period modeled, 
starting in 2017. They had wider perspectives on whether technological change would lead to 
lower wind prices. Therefore, the median price was based on removing the PTC (adding 
$23/MWh) but incorporating a flat price reduction of 15 percent based on research reported by 
NREL and IEA indicating that technological advances will continue to outpace conflicting issues 
like access to land. 
 
The figure below shows the range of wind prices that were modeled for the study session 
memos. It demonstrates that the median shifted based on an underlying decision about future 
federal or state policy approaches to renewable energy. 
 

Probability Distributions for Wind Prices Modeled in Study Session Memos 

 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 26Agenda Item 3D     Page 27Packet Page     65



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 28Packet Page     66



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

MEETING DATE: August 6, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of a motion to adopt a Resolution appointing the firm 
of BKD, LLP to examine the financial accounts of the city of Boulder for the year ended 
December 31, 2013. 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Fiscal Services 
Sharon Danson, Financial Accounting Manager 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
Under Colorado law, the City Charter and various ordinances of the city of Boulder the 
City Council is required to appoint an auditor to make a thorough and complete annual 
examination and audit of all the financial accounts of the city, as summarized in the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  This “Independent Auditor” also 
reports and makes recommendations regarding the results of that examination, as 
communicated in an audit management letter. 
 
During 2011, audit services were rebid for the five-year period beginning with the 2011 
audit and ending with the 2015 audit.  At the conclusion of the selection process in 2011, 
the City Audit Committee recommended appointment of the firm of BKD, LLP as the 
city’s auditor for the next five years subject to annual appropriation and approval. 
 
During both the 2011 and 2012 audits, BKD, LLP proved that they were well qualified as 
governmental accountants and auditors, exercising due care and diligence in the 
execution of their duties in an effective and efficient manner. 
 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page     67



 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 

Suggested Motion Language:  
 
The 2013 City Audit Committee recommends that City Council officially appoint the 
firm of BKD, LLP as the city’s independent auditors for fiscal year ended December 31, 
2013 in the form of the following motion: 
 
Motion to adopt a Resolution appointing the Firm of BKD, LLP to examine the financial 
accounts of the city of Boulder for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013. 
 
 

 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
  

 Economic: The city is required by the city’s bond ordinances and many different 
governmental agencies to have annual audits of the city’s financial statements and its 
various grant programs.  The proposed audits are planned as a combined “single audit” 
designed to satisfy all of those requirements.  Failure to have an audit would be a 
violation of the bond requirements and could also negatively impact future grant 
eligibility of the city. 

 Environmental: BKD, LLP, a national firm with offices in many locations.  The 
office that is servicing the city audit is out of the Denver area and the staff and 
partners are all from local offices.  This reduces the carbon footprint because it 
uses local resources. 

 Social: There are no direct social implications of accepting the firm of BKD, LLP 
as the city’s auditors.   

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

 Fiscal – The proposed fee by BKD, LLP for the 2013 audit is $66,425 (this 
includes four major grant programs) and has already been factored into the city 
budget. 

 Staff time – Staff time for this process is included within the Finance 
Department’s regular annual work plan. 

 
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
 
In 2011, after discussion and consideration of the proposals and input from the auditor 
interview committee, BKD, LLP was recommended as the city’s independent auditors for 
the five year engagement ending December 31, 2015, subject to annual appropriation and 
approval. 
 
The City Council Audit Committee for 2013 consists of Lisa Morzel, Macon Cowles, and 
KC Becker and University of Colorado Professor David Frederick.  The Council Audit 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page     68



 

Committee met with the auditors on July 25, 2013 to review and discuss the 2012 audit 
for the year ended December 31, 2012. The City Council audit Committee unanimously 
recommended the appointment of BKD, LLP as the city’s independent auditors for the 
year ended December 31, 2013. 
 
 

ANALYSIS 

 
BKD, LLP has performed the city’s audit for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2011 
and 2012.  During performance of those services, the audit firm has demonstrated a 
thorough understanding of governmental accounting and auditing standards.  They have 
sought and provided appropriate communication with the City Council Audit Committee 
and have executed their duties in a responsible and professional manner. 
 
During the July 25, 2013 City Council Audit Committee meeting and after considerable 
discussion, the City Council Audit Committee unanimously agreed to recommend that 
City Council officially appoint the firm of BKD, LLP as the city’s independent auditors 
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013, the third year of the five year audit services 
engagement ending December 31, 2015. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
 
ATTACHMENT A Proposed Resolution  

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page     69



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page     70



 

ATTACHMENT A 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION  NO.  _______ 

 
 

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING THE FIRM OF BKD, LLP 

TO EXAMINE THE FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS OF THE 

CITY OF BOULDER FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED 

DECEMBER 31, 2013. 

 

 

 

WHEREAS,  Sections 12 and 105 of the Charter and Chapter 2-2-7 B.R.C., 1981, require 

the City Council, by resolution, to appoint an auditor, who is a certified public accountant 

licensed to practice in the State of Colorado and is well informed regarding governmental 

accounting and auditing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the auditor is required to make a thorough and complete examination and 

audit of all the financial accounts of the city and report and make recommendations regarding the 

results of that examination; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council Audit Committee has recommended the firm of BKD, 

LLP. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, HEREBY APPOINTS THE FIRM BKD, LLP TO 

PERFORM THE ANNUAL AUDIT OF THE CITY RECORDS FOR THE 2013 FISCAL 

YEAR. 

 
 
  APPROVED this 6th day of August 2013. 
 

 _______________________________ 

                         Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
                                                                       

City Clerk on behalf of the 
Director of Finance and Record 
 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 5Packet Page     71



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 6Packet Page     72



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: August 6, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to adopt a Resolution accepting the 
City of Boulder’s 2012 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and Independent 
Auditor’s Reports 
 

 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Fiscal Services 
Sharon Danson, Financial Accounting Manager 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This agenda item provides council the ability to consider a motion to adopt a resolution 
(Attachment A) accepting the City of Boulder’s 2012 Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report (CAFR) and Independent Auditor’s Reports.  As described below, the auditors 
expressed a clean opinion on the CAFR indicating that the financial statements accurately 
reported the financial position and operations of the city for the year ended December 31, 
2012.  In addition, City Council’s Audit Committee met with the Auditors on July 25, 
2013 and forwarded the CAFR on to the full City Council for consideration.  For ease of 
review of auditor comments, a single document has been compiled listing the entire 
comments and managements responses.  This management response letter is included as 
Attachment D. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
The 2013 City Council Audit Committee recommended that the 2012 CAFR be 
forwarded to the full City Council for official consideration and acceptance in the form of 
the following motion: 
 
Motion to adopt a Resolution accepting the City of Boulder’s 2012 Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report and Independent Auditor’s Reports. 

Packet Page     73



 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 

 Economic: The city is required by Sections 12 and 105 of the City Charter and 
Chapter 2-2-7 B.R.C., 1981, the city’s bond ordinances and many different 
governmental agencies to have an annual audit of the city’s financial statements 
and various grant programs.  This audit is a combined “single audit” designed to 
satisfy all of those requirements.  Failure to have an audit would be a violation of 
these requirements and can negatively impact future interest rates on city 
borrowings, as well as grant eligibility of the city.   

 Environmental: Each year, the Finance Department encourages individuals and 
entities to access the CAFR through the city’s web site and provides hard copies 
of the report only as needed.  Over the last few years, this effort has succeeded in 
reducing the number of hard copy reports printed, saving thousands of sheets of 
paper.  In addition, the actual bound financial report is prepared using recycled 
paper to help minimize the impact on the environment.  There are no other direct 
environmental implications of accepting the CAFR and the auditor’s reports. 

 Social: The users of the financial statements of the city have a variety of purposes 
and needs.  These users include the public, legislative and oversight bodies, 
grantor agencies, investors and creditors, and management.  Because of the 
specialized needs of these report users, the financial statements include a variety 
of financial information and extensive note disclosures.  This detailed information 
is provided to increase transparency of the use and stewardship of the financial 
resources of the city.   

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
 

 Fiscal:  The BLD, LLP fees for the 2012 audit are $64,450.  The appropriation for 
these costs is included within the annual operating budget of the Finance 
Department. 

 Staff time: Staff time for this process is included within the Finance Department’s 
regular annual work plan. 

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
 
The auditors met with the City Council Audit Committee on July 25, 2013.  Present were 
committee members Lisa Morzel, Macon Cowles, KC Becker, and University of 
Colorado Professor David Frederick.  By unanimous consent, the committee 
recommended the 2012 audit be accepted and forwarded the recommendation for 
acceptance of the audit to the full council.   
 

Packet Page     74



 

BACKGROUND 
 
Based on the city charter the City Council is required to appoint an independent auditor 
to make a thorough and complete annual examination and audit of all the financial 
accounts of the city, as summarized in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
(CAFR).  This independent auditor also reports and makes recommendations regarding 
the results of that examination, as communicated in the “Compliance Section” of the 
CAFR.  The 2012 audit has been completed and the City Council Audit Committee met 
with the city’s independent auditors, BKD, LLP, and city staff to discuss the CAFR. 
 
This is the second year that BKD, LLP has performed the audit of the city.  BKD, LLP 
was appointed by the City Council in October 2011, after a lengthy and detailed selection 
process, to perform the annual audit of the city records for the year ended December 31, 
2011, with four optional renewals for subsequent years.  The auditors expressed a clean 
opinion on the comprehensive annual financial report, indicating that the financial 
statements accurately reported the financial position and operations of the city for the 
year ended December 31, 2012.  The auditors also issued reports on internal controls and 
compliance with laws and regulations as required by various grant programs, laws and 
regulations.  These reports are found in the “Compliance Section” of the CAFR, starting 
on page 247.  
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) is prepared annually to meet 
certain legal and regulatory requirements including the City Charter and various State 
Statutes.  In order to satisfy these requirements, the document becomes rather long and 
very detailed.   
 
The CAFR for fiscal year ending December 31, 2012 is 268 pages long and broken into 
five distinct sections.  With such a large document, it can be difficult to know where to 
start.  The following provides a brief overview of the sections and identifies areas of 
particular interest within each section the user may wish to review. 
 

Introductory Section: 

The Introductory Section includes the Letter of Transmittal starting on 
page 5 which is a very useful document to read.  This letter provides 
general information on the city as well as information useful in assessing 
the current and future financial position of the city.   
 
Financial Section: 

The Financial Section includes the audit opinion, management’s 
discussion and analysis of the financial statements, the basic financial 
statements for the city, and the notes to the financial statements.   
 
The Auditor’s Opinion found on pages 17 and 18 is a “clean” opinion, 
indicating that the financial statements included in the 2012 CAFR are 
properly and fairly presented in all material respects. 
 

Packet Page     75



 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis, pages 19 to 34, provides a broad 
analysis of the city’s finances.  It includes discussion and analysis of 
changes from 2011 to 2012 for the government wide financial statements, 
as well as General Fund budgetary highlights, changes in capital assets 
and the debt of the city, and various other significant matters.  
 
The basic financial statements, pages 37 to 67, provide information on 
specific funds or groups of funds.  Budget to actual reports for the five 
largest governmental funds (General Fund, Open Space and Mountain 
Parks Fund, Transportation Fund, and 2011 Capital Improvement Fund) 
are presented on pages 46 to 50.  Budget to actual reports for the other 
governmental funds are included in a subsequent section.   
 
The Enterprise Fund financial statements, including the utility funds, 
Boulder Municipal Property Authority, Downtown Commercial District 
(formerly CAGID), and other non-major enterprise funds are presented on 
pages 52 to 63. 
 
The Pension Trust Fund financial statements which include the “Old Hire” 
Police Defined Benefit Plan and the “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan 
are presented on pages 66 to 67.  Details by individual plan are included in 
Note U in the Notes to the Financial Statements, pages 119 to 132.  
Additional information is included as required supplementary information 
on pages 142 to 145. 
 
The Notes to the Financial Statements, pages 71 to 139, contain detailed 
information on the various accounts, activities, and policies of the city.  Of 
particular interest is Note A – Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies.  This note includes a wealth of information about the city’s 
reporting entity, why some organizations are included within the financial 
statements and others are not, various policies and practices used to 
account for city operations, and definitions for some of the accounting 
terms used within the report.  The other notes provide additional 
disclosures about specific accounts or occurrences during the year.  A 
table of contents for the notes is provided on page 71 for ease of reference. 
 
Combining and Individual Statements: 

This section provides detailed financial statements for funds not separately 
included within the Basic Financial Statements in the previous section.  
Balance sheets, operating statements and budget to actual statements are  
included on a fund by fund basis.  Also included on pages 208 and 209 is a 
detailed schedule of the outstanding long term debt of the city by 
governmental or business type activity. 
 
Statistical Section: 

The statistical section provides information on how the city’s financial 
position has changed over time, the city’s ability to generate its own 
revenues, the current debt burden and the ability to issue additional debt, 

Packet Page     76



 

various demographic and economic information and operating information 
to help assess the size of city operations.  A detailed table of contents on 
page 213 further explains the schedules included in this section. 
 
Compliance Section: 

The final section of the CAFR starting on page 247 presents information 
on the city’s federal grants and awards and the state highway finance 
report.  Included within this section are the auditors’ reports on internal 
controls and compliance with the various grant requirements. 
 
The city received a finding related to “weaknesses in the review process 
over financial reporting” that was considered a material weakness.  A 
material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the city’s financial statements will not be prevented or 
detected and corrected on a timely basis.  The cause of the finding related 
to the fact that the city does not have a policy requiring journal entries to 
be reviewed prior to posting.  The city discovered late in the audit several 
material errors in the posting of fixed asset journal entries.  The city fixed 
these errors prior to the completion of the CAFR. 
 
The city took action immediately to address and correct the material 
weakness.  In June 2013 the Finance Department implemented review 
processes for journal entries created both inside and outside of the Finance 
Department.  The current financial system does not allow for an automated 
workflow approval process; therefore, the process will be manual until the 
new financial system is implemented in 2014.  For more detail on this 
finding and the city’s response, please refer to page 259 of the CAFR. 
 

 
By reading the Letter of Transmittal, Management’s Discussion and Analysis, and Note 
A of the Notes to the Financial Statements, the user will have a good overview of city 
operations for 2012 and a basic understanding of the statements.  The user can then delve 
more deeply into specific funds or operations as desired. 
 
As part of the year end process, an audit is preformed of the CAFR and city financial 
operations.  The 2012 audit has been completed and the City Council Audit Committee 
has met with the city’s independent auditor, BKD, LLP, and city staff to discuss the 
CAFR, including the auditor compliance reports and management responses.   
 
When findings or other recommendations are made by the auditors, management is given 
the opportunity to respond to each finding or recommendation.  The findings and 
recommendations of the 2012 audit, found within the compliance reports, is about 
compliance with specific grant requirements, internal controls (processing controls that 
safeguard the assets of the city or help maintain compliance with laws or regulations) and 
the adequacy of the controls.  A primary attribute of any control is that the cost of the 
control should not exceed the benefit of the control.  Therefore, management always 

Packet Page     77



 

takes into consideration the extent of the risk of the internal control not doing what it 
should and the cost of implementing more stringent controls.  
 
Representatives of BKD, LLP presented their audit results to the City Council Audit 
Committee.  The compliance and internal control findings, recommendations, and city 
responses thereto are included as Attachment B to this memorandum.  These will be 
evaluated again during the 2013 audit for any continuing concerns or problems. In 
addition to formal findings, the auditors made other formal comments and suggestions in 
a separate management letter, which includes city responses, included as Attachment C.  
 
After due discussion and consideration, the City Council Audit Committee forwarded the 
CAFR, including the compliance reports to the full City Council for consideration at the 
August 6th council meeting. 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
 
ATTACHMENT A Proposed Resolution  
 
ATTACHMENT B Independent Auditor’s 2012 Schedule of Findings and 

Questioned Costs  
 
ATTACHMENT C Independent Auditor’s 2012 Management Letter with City 

Responses 
 
ATTACHMENT D 2012 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
 (Available in City Council Office, Central Records,  
 Central Library Reference Desk, and online at 

www.bouldercolorado.gov under Finance Department, 
Financial Reporting) 

Packet Page     78

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  _______ 
 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE CITY OF 
BOULDER’S 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL REPORT AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORTS  

 
 

WHEREAS,  Sections 12 and 105 of the Charter and Chapter 2-2-7 B.R.C., 1981, require 

the City Council, by resolution, to appoint an auditor, who is a certified public accountant 

licensed to practice in the State of Colorado and is well informed regarding governmental 

accounting and auditing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the auditor is required to make a thorough and complete examination and 

audit of all the financial accounts of the City, report thereon and make recommendations 

regarding the results of that examination; and 

 

WHEREAS, based upon review of the 2012 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, 

Independent Auditor’s Reports and discussions with city staff and BKD, LLP, the City’s 

Independent Auditor, the City Council Audit Committee recommends that City Council officially 

accept the: 

 
 2012 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, and 
 2012 Independent Auditor’s Reports  

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, HEREBY ACCEPTS THE 2012 COMPREHENSIVE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORTS. 
 
 
  APPROVED this 6th day of August, 2013. 
 
  
 _______________________________ 

                         Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
                                                                       
City Clerk on behalf of the 
Director of Finance and Record 

Packet Page     79



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     80



Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council,  
   and Audit Committee 
City of Boulder 
Boulder, Colorado 
 
 
As part of our audits of the financial statements and compliance of City of Boulder, Colorado 
(the city) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012, we wish to communicate the 
following to you. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility Under Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the United 
States of America and the Standards Applicable to Financial Audits Contained in 
Government Auditing Standards Issued by the Comptroller General of the United States 
and U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Governments, and Non-profit Organizations  
 
An audit performed in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-
profit Organizations is designed to obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about the 
financial statements and about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance 
requirements described in OMB Circular A-133 that could have a direct and material effect on a 
major federal program occurred.  In performing auditing procedures, we establish scopes of audit 
tests in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.  Our engagement does not include a 
detailed audit of every transaction.  Our engagement letter more specifically describes our 
responsibilities. 
 
These standards require communication of significant matters related to the financial statement 
and compliance audits that are relevant to the responsibilities of those charged with governance 
in overseeing the financial reporting process.  Such matters are communicated in the remainder 
of this letter or have previously been communicated during other phases of the audit.  The 
standards do not require the auditor to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other 
matters to be communicated with those charged with governance. 
 
Audits of the financial statements and compliance do not relieve management or those charged 
with governance of their responsibilities.  Our engagement letter more specifically describes 
your responsibilities. 
 

ATTACHMENT B

1Packet Page     81



Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council,  
   and Audit Committee 
City of Boulder 
Page 2 
 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Significant Accounting Policies and Practices 
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The city’s significant accounting policies are described in Note A of the audited financial 
statements.   
 
Alternative Accounting Treatments 
 
We had discussions with management regarding alternative accounting treatments within 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for policies and 
practices for material items, including recognition, measurement and disclosure considerations 
related to the accounting for specific transactions as well as general accounting policies, as 
follows: 
 

 No matters are reportable 
 
Management Judgments and Accounting Estimates 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of financial statement preparation by management, 
based on its judgments.  The following areas involve significant areas of such estimates for 
which we are prepared to discuss management’s estimation process and our procedures for 
testing the reasonableness of those estimates: 
 

 Pension asset 
 Liability for other postemployment benefits 
 Liability for claims incurred but not reported 
 Liability for pollution remediation obligation 
 Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts 
 Useful lives of capital assets 
 Compensated absences 

 
Financial Statement Disclosures 
 
The following areas involve particularly sensitive financial statement disclosures for which we 
are prepared to discuss the issues involved and related judgments made in formulating those 
disclosures: 
 

 Pension and other postemployment benefit liability—implicit rate subsidy 
 Deferred credit-future water rights 

ATTACHMENT B

2Packet Page     82



Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council,  
   and Audit Committee 
City of Boulder 
Page 3 
 
 
Audit Adjustments 
 
During the course of any audit, an auditor may propose adjustments to financial statement 
amounts.  Management evaluates our proposals and records those adjustments which, in its 
judgment, are required to prevent the financial statements from being materially misstated.  
Some adjustments proposed were not recorded because their aggregate effect is not currently 
material; however, they involve areas in which adjustments in the future could be material, 
individually or in the aggregate.   
 
Areas in which adjustments were proposed include: 
 

Proposed Audit Adjustments Recorded 
 Notes receivable  
 Notes payable 
 Occupational tax revenue 
 Capital contributions 
 Transfers and due to/from 
 Pollution remediation 
 Capital lease 

 
Proposed Audit Adjustments Not Recorded 
 Attached is a summary of uncorrected misstatements we aggregated during the current 

engagement and pertaining to the latest period presented that were determined by 
management to be immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial 
statements as a whole 

 
 
Auditor’s Judgments About the Quality of the city’s Accounting Principles 
 
During the course of the audit, we made the following observations regarding the city’s 
application of accounting principles: 
 

 No matters are reportable 
 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
The following matters involved disagreements which if not satisfactorily resolved would have 
caused a modified auditor’s opinion on the financial statements: 
 

 No matters are reportable 

ATTACHMENT B

3Packet Page     83



Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council,  
   and Audit Committee 
City of Boulder 
Page 4 
 
 
Consultation with Other Accountants 
 
During our audit, we became aware that management had consulted with other accountants about 
the following auditing or accounting matters: 
 

 No matters are reportable 
 
 
Significant Issues Discussed with Management 
 
Prior to Retention 
 
During our discussion with management prior to our engagement, the following issues regarding 
application of accounting principles or auditing standards were discussed: 
 

 No matters are reportable 
 
During the Audit Process 
 
During the audit process, the following issues were discussed or were the subject of 
correspondence with management: 
 

 Existence of a nepotism policy 
 Increase in currency included in receipts and related controls 
 Capital lease refinancing in accordance with GASB 62 
 Capital asset recognition 

 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
Our audit requires cooperative effort between management and the audit team.  During our audit, 
we found significant difficulties in working effectively on the following matters: 
 

 The number of journal entries recorded, both proposed entries and entries from 
management, created some difficulties in completing fieldwork. Furthermore, a late 
adjustment to capital assets created some delays and inefficiencies during the audit 
process. Management was cooperative and forthcoming in both of these issues and we 
worked collaboratively to resolve the issues.  

 
 

ATTACHMENT B

4Packet Page     84



Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council,  
   and Audit Committee 
City of Boulder 
Page 5 
 
 
Other Material Written Communications 
 
Listed below are other material written communications between management and us related to 
the audit: 
 

 Management representation letter (attached) 
 SAS 115 report (management letter) 

 
 

* * * * * 
 
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the Audit Committee, the 
Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council and others within the city and is not intended to be 
and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

 
 
July 2, 2013 
 

ATTACHMENT B

5Packet Page     85



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     86



Before Subsequent to
Misstatements Misstatements Misstatements % Change

Total Assets 771,702,000 771,702,000

Total Liabilities (175,715,000) (175,715,000)

Net Investment in Capital Assets (401,272,000) (401,272,000)

Restricted Net Position (81,324,000) (81,324,000)

Unrestricted Net Position (113,391,000) (113,391,000)

Total Net Assets (595,987,000) (595,987,000)

General Revenues & Transfers (168,784,000) 824,931 (167,959,069) -0.49%

Net Program Revenues/ Expenses 108,183,000 108,183,000

Change in Net Position (60,601,000) 824,931 (59,776,069) -1.36%

QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

ATTACHMENT

This analysis and the attached "Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements (Adjustments Passed)" reflects the effects on the 
financial statements if the uncorrected misstatements identified were corrected.

City of Boulder

Governmental Activities (Government-Wide Statements)

ATTACHMENT B

6Packet Page     87



SCHEDULE OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (ADJUSTMENTS PASSED)

Factual (F), 
Judgmental (J) Assets Liabilities (Beg. of year) Change in Net Positio Net Assets

Description Financial Statement Line Item Projected (P) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR)

Prior Year passed adjustments - none 
over pass scope 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
To record the prior period effect of the 
error in overcapitalization of capital 
assets at December 31, 2011

F

0 0 1,283,134 0 (1,283,134) 0 0 0 0 0
beginning net position (1,283,134)
expense 1,283,134

FORMAT
To record prior period effect of capital 
assets which should have been placed 
in service during 2011.

F

0 0 (458,203) 0 458,203 0 0 0 0 0
Beginning net position 458,203
Expense (458,203)

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Total passed adjustments 0 0 824,931 0 (824,931) 0 0 0 0 0

824,931

0

Impact on Change in Net Position

Impact on Net Assets

Restricted Net 
Position

Unrestricted Net 
Position

Net Investment 
in Capital 

Assets

Client:  City of Boulder
Period Ending:  December 31, 2012

Net AssetsGeneral 
Revenues & 

Net Program 
Revenues/ 

Net Effect on Following Year

ATTACHMENT B

7Packet Page     88



Before Subsequent to
Misstatements Misstatements Misstatements % Change

Total Assets 494,307,000 1,539,312 495,846,312 0.31%

Total Liabilities (106,584,000) (106,584,000)

Net Investment in Captial Assets (325,883,000) (325,883,000)

Restricted Net Position (257,000) (257,000)

Unrestricted Net Position (61,583,000) (61,583,000)

Total Net Assets (387,723,000) (387,723,000)

General Revenues & Transfers 12,499,000 (11,240) 12,487,760 -0.09%

Net Program Revenues/ Expenses (6,941,000) (6,941,000)

Change in Net Position 5,558,000 (11,240) 5,546,760 -0.20%

City of Boulder
ATTACHMENT

This analysis and the attached "Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements (Adjustments Passed)" reflects the effects on the 
financial statements if the uncorrected misstatements identified were corrected.

Business-Type Activities (Government-Wide Statements)
QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

ATTACHMENT B

8Packet Page     89



SCHEDULE OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (ADJUSTMENTS PASSED)

Factual (F), 
Judgmental (J) Assets Liabilities (Beg. of year) Change in Net Positio Net Assets

Description Financial Statement Line Item Projected (P) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR)

prior year passed adjustments - To 
record net unbilled revenue - beginning 
and end of year cutoff

F

0 0 1,270,557 0 (1,270,557) 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue 1,270,557
Asset (1,270,557)

FORMAT
current year passed adjustments-to 
record unbilled revenue/receivable for 
end of year cutoff 1,539,312 0 (1,281,797) 0 (257,515) 0 0 0 0 0

Asset-receivable 1,539,312 (1,281,797)
Revenue (257,515)
beg net assts (Stormwater)

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Total passed adjustments 1,539,312 0 (11,240) 0 (1,528,072) 0 0 0 0 0

(11,240)

0

Client:  City of Boulder
Period Ending:  December 31, 2012

Net Assets

Net Investment 
in Captial 

Assets
General 

Revenues & 
Net Program 
Revenues/ 

Restricted Net 
Position

Unrestricted Net 
Position

Net Effect on Following Year

Impact on Change in Net Position

Impact on Net Assets

ATTACHMENT B

9Packet Page     90



Before Subsequent to
Misstatements Misstatements Misstatements % Change

Total Assets 74,338,000 74,338,000

Total Liabilities (36,083,000) (36,083,000)

Reserved Fund Balance (12,784,000) (12,784,000)

Unreserved Fund Balance (25,471,000) (25,471,000)

Total Fund Balance (38,255,000) (38,255,000)

Revenues (106,558,000) (106,558,000)

Expenditures 103,235,000 (126,036) 103,108,964 -0.12%

Change in Fund Balance (4,348,000) (126,036) (4,474,036) 2.90%

City of Boulder
ATTACHMENT

This analysis and the attached "Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements (Adjustments Passed)" reflects the effects on the 
financial statements if the uncorrected misstatements identified were corrected.

General Fund
QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

ATTACHMENT B

10Packet Page     91



SCHEDULE OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (ADJUSTMENTS PASSED)

Factual (F), 
Judgmental (J) Assets Liabilities (Beg. of year) Change in Fund Balan Fund Balance

Description Financial Statement Line Item Projected (P) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR)

prior year passed adjustment - To 
properly state the general fund payroll 
liability (Acct 2044)

F

0 0 0 (126,036) 126,036 0 0 0 0 0
Expense (126,036)
Liability 126,036

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Total passed adjustments 0 0 0 (126,036) 126,036 0 0 0 0 0

(126,036)

0

Impact on Change in Fund Balance

Impact on Net Assets

Client:  City of Boulder
Period Ending:  December 31, 2012

Fund Balance Reserved Fund 
BalanceRevenues Expenditures

Unreserved 
Fund Balance

Total Fund 
Balance

Net Effect on Following Year

ATTACHMENT B

11Packet Page     92



Before Subsequent to
Misstatements Misstatements Misstatements % Change

Total Assets 13,548,000 13,548,000

Total Liabilities (3,778,000) (3,778,000)

Reserved Fund Balance (1,154,000) (1,154,000)

Unreserved Fund Balance (8,616,000) (8,616,000)

Total Fund Balance (9,770,000) (9,770,000)

Revenues (27,677,000) (27,677,000)

Expenditures 25,249,000 (170,578) 25,078,422 -0.68%

Change in Fund Balance (1,361,000) (170,578) (1,531,578) 12.53%

City of Boulder
ATTACHMENT

This analysis and the attached "Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements (Adjustments Passed)" reflects the effects on the 
financial statements if the uncorrected misstatements identified were corrected.

Transportation
QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

ATTACHMENT B

12Packet Page     93



SCHEDULE OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (ADJUSTMENTS PASSED)

Factual (F), 
Judgmental (J) Assets Liabilities (Beg. of year) Change in Fund Balan Fund Balance

Description Financial Statement Line Item Projected (P) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR)

prior year passed adjustment - To 
record RTD payable which was 
excluded from the year-end accrual

K

0 0 0 (170,578) 170,578 0 0 0 0 0
Expense (170,578)
Liability 170,578

FORMAT
current year - None 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Total passed adjustments 0 0 0 (170,578) 170,578 0 0 0 0 0

(170,578)

0

Expenditures
Unreserved 

Fund Balance
Total Fund 

Balance
Net Effect on Following Year

Impact on Change in Fund Balance

Impact on Net Assets

Client:  City of Boulder
Period Ending:  December 31, 2012

Fund Balance Reserved Fund 
BalanceRevenues

ATTACHMENT B

13Packet Page     94



Before Subsequent to
Misstatements Misstatements Misstatements % Change

Current Assets 33,658,000 679,999 34,337,999 2.02%

Non-Current Assets 207,107,000 207,107,000

Current Liabilities (6,514,000) (6,514,000)

Non-Current Liabilities (31,783,000) (31,783,000)

Current Ratio 5.167 5.271 2.01%

Total Assets 240,765,000 679,999 241,444,999 0.28%

Net Investment in Capital Assets (173,391,000) (173,391,000)

Restricted Net Position (100,000) (100,000)

Unrestricted Net Position (28,977,000) (28,977,000)

Total Net Assets (202,468,000) (202,468,000)

Operating Revenues (24,558,000) 11,119 (24,546,881) -0.05%

Operating Expenses 17,831,000 (53,128) 17,777,872 -0.30%

Nonoperating Revenues (Exp) 2,425,000 2,425,000

Change in Net Position (6,534,000) (42,009) (6,576,009) 0.64%

City of Boulder
ATTACHMENT

This analysis and the attached "Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements (Adjustments Passed)" reflects the effects on the 
financial statements if the uncorrected misstatements identified were corrected.

Water Utility
QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

ATTACHMENT B

14Packet Page     95



SCHEDULE OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (ADJUSTMENTS PASSED)

Factual (F), 
Judgmental (J) Current Non-Current Current Non-Current (Beg. of year) Change in Net Positio Net Assets

Description Financial Statement Line Item Projected (P) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR)

Prior year passed adjustment - To 
record net unbilled revenue - beginning 
of year cutoff

F

0 0 0 0 691,118 0 0 (691,118) 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue 691,118
Asset (691,118)

FORMAT
Prior year passed adjustment - To 
record correction for trade-in of vehicles

F

0 0 0 0 0 (53,128) 0 53,128 0 0 0 0 0
Expense (53,128)
Liability 53,128

FORMAT
Current year passed adjustment-to 
record unbilled reveneue in the correct 
period-end of year cutoff

F

679,999 0 0 0 (679,999) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Asset-receivable 679,999
Revenue -679,999

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Total passed adjustments 679,999 0 0 0 11,119 (53,128) 0 (637,990) 0 0 0 0 0

(42,009)

0

Unrestricted Net 
Position

Net Effect on Following Year

Impact on Change in Net Position

Impact on Net Assets

Operating 
Expenses

Client:  City of Boulder
Period Ending:  December 31, 2012

Net Assets

Net Investment 
in Capital 

Assets
Operating 
Revenues

Nonoperating 
Revenues (Exp)

Restricted Net 
Position

LiabilitiesAssets

ATTACHMENT B

15Packet Page     96



Before Subsequent to
Misstatements Misstatements Misstatements % Change

Current Assets 13,638,000 597,739 14,235,739 4.38%

Non-Current Assets 98,323,000 98,323,000

Current Liabilities (3,950,000) (3,950,000)

Non-Current Liabilities (44,022,000) (44,022,000)

Current Ratio 3.453 3.604 4.37%

Total Assets 111,961,000 597,739 112,558,739 0.53%

Net Investment in Capital Assets (54,527,000) (54,527,000)

Restricted Net Position

Unrestricted Net Position (9,462,000) (9,462,000)

Total Net Assets (63,989,000) (63,989,000)

Operating Revenues (12,982,000) (18,300) (13,000,300) 0.14%

Operating Expenses 11,592,000 (37,128) 11,554,872 -0.32%

Nonoperating Revenues (Exp) 1,373,000 1,373,000

Change in Net Position (294,000) (55,428) (349,428) 18.85%

City of Boulder
ATTACHMENT

This analysis and the attached "Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements (Adjustments Passed)" reflects the effects on the 
financial statements if the uncorrected misstatements identified were corrected.

Wastewater
QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

ATTACHMENT B

16Packet Page     97



SCHEDULE OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (ADJUSTMENTS PASSED)

Factual (F), 
Judgmental (J) Current Non-Current Current Non-Current (Beg. of year) Change in Net Positio Net Assets

Description Financial Statement Line Item Projected (P) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR)

Prior year passed adjustment - To 
record net unbilled revenue - beginning 
of year cutoff (turnaround effect)

F

0 0 0 0 579,439 0 0 (579,439) 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue 579,439
Asset (579,439)

FORMAT
Prior year passed adjustment - To 
record correction for trade-in of vehicles

F

0 0 0 0 0 (37,128) 0 37,128 0 0 0 0 0
Expense (37,128)
Liability 37,128

FORMAT
Current year passed adjustment- To 
record unbilled revenue/receivable for 
end of year cutoff

F

597,739 0 0 0 (597,739) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Asset-receivable 597,739
Revenue (597,739)

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Total passed adjustments 597,739 0 0 0 (18,300) (37,128) 0 (542,311) 0 0 0 0 0

(55,428)

0

Restricted Net 
Position

Unrestricted Net 
Position

Net Effect on Following Year

Impact on Change in Net Position

Impact on Net Assets

Client:  City of Boulder
Period Ending:  December 31, 2012

Net Assets

Net Investment 
in Capital 

Assets
Operating 
Revenues

Operating 
Expenses

Nonoperating 
Revenues (Exp)

LiabilitiesAssets

ATTACHMENT B

17Packet Page     98



Before Subsequent to
Misstatements Misstatements Misstatements % Change

Current Assets 15,276,000 261,574 15,537,574 1.71%

Non-Current Assets 70,108,000 70,108,000

Current Liabilities (577,000) (577,000)

Non-Current Liabilities (1,844,000) (1,844,000)

Current Ratio 26.475 26.928 1.71%

Total Assets 85,384,000 261,574 85,645,574 0.31%

Net Investment in Capital Assets (67,936,000) (67,936,000)

Restricted Net Position

Unrestricted Net Position (15,027,000) (15,027,000)

Total Net Assets (82,963,000) (82,963,000)

Operating Revenues (5,133,000) (4,059) (5,137,059) 0.08%

Operating Expenses 4,174,000 4,174,000

Nonoperating Revenues (Exp) (227,000) (227,000)

Change in Net Position (1,758,000) (4,059) (1,762,059) 0.23%

City of Boulder
ATTACHMENT

This analysis and the attached "Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements (Adjustments Passed)" reflects the effects on the 
financial statements if the uncorrected misstatements identified were corrected.

Stormwater & Flood Mgmt
QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

ATTACHMENT B

18Packet Page     99



SCHEDULE OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (ADJUSTMENTS PASSED)

Factual (F), 
Judgmental (J) Current Non-Current Current Non-Current (Beg. of year) Change in Net Positio Net Assets

Description Financial Statement Line Item Projected (P) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR)

Prior year passed adjustment - None 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Current year passed adjustment-to 
record unbilled revenue/receivable for 
end of year cut-off

F

261,574 0 0 0 (261,574) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Asset-receivable 261,574 (261,574)
Revenue

FORMAT
Current year passed adjustment-to 
record unbilled revenue/receivable for 
beginning of year cut-off

F

0 0 0 0 257,515 0 0 (257,515) 0 0 0 0 0
257,515 (257,515)

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Total passed adjustments 261,574 0 0 0 (4,059) 0 0 (257,515) 0 0 0 0 0

(4,059)

0

Restricted Net 
Position

Unrestricted Net 
Position

Net Effect on Following Year

Impact on Change in Net Position

Impact on Net Assets

Client:  City of Boulder
Period Ending:  December 31, 2012

Net Assets

Net Investment 
in Capital 

Assets
Assets Liabilities Operating 

Revenues
Operating 
Expenses

Nonoperating 
Revenues (Exp)

ATTACHMENT B

19Packet Page     100



Before Subsequent to
Misstatements Misstatements Misstatements % Change

Current Assets 6,217,000 6,217,000

Non-Current Assets 28,544,000 26,773 28,570,773 0.09%

Current Liabilities (3,698,000) (3,698,000)

Non-Current Liabilities (12,092,000) (12,092,000)

Current Ratio 1.681 1.681

Total Assets 34,761,000 26,773 34,787,773 0.08%

Invest in CA, net of Debt (14,546,000) (14,546,000)

Restricted Net Assets

Unrestricted Net Assets (4,425,000) (4,425,000)

Total Net Assets (18,971,000) (18,971,000)

Operating Revenues (4,187,000) (4,187,000)

Operating Expenses 7,167,000 7,167,000

Nonoperating Revenues (Exp) 2,356,000 (26,773) 2,329,227 -1.14%

Change in Net Assets (655,000) (26,773) (681,773) 4.09%

City of Boulder
ATTACHMENT

This analysis and the attached "Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements (Adjustments Passed)" reflects the effects on the 
financial statements if the uncorrected misstatements identified were corrected.

CAGID
QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

ATTACHMENT B

20Packet Page     101



SCHEDULE OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (ADJUSTMENTS PASSED)

Factual (F), 
Judgmental (J) Current Non-Current Current Non-Current (Beg. of year) Change in Net Asset Net Assets

Description Financial Statement Line Item Projected (P) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR)

Prior year - None  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Current year passed adjustment-
Reverse disposal double booked

F
0 26,773 0 0 0 0 (26,773) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Assets 26,773
non-operating expenses (26,773)

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Total passed adjustments 0 26,773 0 0 0 0 (26,773) 0 0 0 0 0 0

(26,773)

0

Client:  City of Boulder
Period Ending:  December 31, 2012

Net Assets Invest in CA, net 
of Debt

Operating 
Revenues

Operating 
Expenses

Nonoperating 
Revenues (Exp)

LiabilitiesAssets Restricted Net 
Assets

Unrestricted Net 
Assets

Net Effect on Following Year

Impact on Change in Net Assets

Impact on Net Assets

ATTACHMENT B

21Packet Page     102



Before Subsequent to
Misstatements Misstatements Misstatements % Change

Total Assets 183,867,000 183,867,000

Total Liabilities (23,151,000) (23,151,000)

Reserved Fund Balance (106,177,000) (106,177,000)

Unreserved Fund Balance (54,539,000) (54,539,000)

Total Fund Balance (160,716,000) (160,716,000)

Revenues (71,784,000) (71,784,000)

Expenditures 56,579,000 1,482,265 58,061,265 2.62%

Change in Fund Balance (15,284,000) 1,482,265 (13,801,735) -9.70%

City of Boulder
ATTACHMENT

This analysis and the attached "Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements (Adjustments Passed)" reflects the effects on the 
financial statements if the uncorrected misstatements identified were corrected.

Aggregate Remaining Fund Information
QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

ATTACHMENT B

22Packet Page     103



SCHEDULE OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (ADJUSTMENTS PASSED)

Factual (F), 
Judgmental (J) Assets Liabilities (Beg. of year) Change in Fund Balan Fund Balance

Description Financial Statement Line Item Projected (P) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR) DR     (CR)

Prior year - None 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Current year passed adjustment-To 
record the prior year effect of an error in 
capital asset recognition

F

0 0 0 1,482,265 (1,482,265) 0 0 0 0 0
beginning net position (1,482,265)
expenses 1,482,265

FORMAT
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

FORMAT
Total passed adjustments 0 0 0 1,482,265 (1,482,265) 0 0 0 0 0

1,482,265

0

Client:  City of Boulder
Period Ending:  December 31, 2012

Fund Balance Reserved Fund 
BalanceRevenues Expenditures

Unreserved 
Fund Balance

Total Fund 
Balance

Net Effect on Following Year

Impact on Change in Fund Balance

Impact on Net Assets

ATTACHMENT B

23Packet Page     104



ATTACHMENT B

Packet Page     105



ATTACHMENT B

Packet Page     106



ATTACHMENT B

Packet Page     107



ATTACHMENT B

Packet Page     108



ATTACHMENT B

Packet Page     109



ATTACHMENT B

Packet Page     110



ATTACHMENT B

Packet Page     111



ATTACHMENT B

Packet Page     112



Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council,  
   Audit Committee, and Management 
City of Boulder 
Boulder, Colorado 
 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the CITY OF BOULDER 
(the city) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012, in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered the city’s internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the 
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the city’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the city’s internal control.   
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding 
paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses and, therefore, there can be no assurance that all 
deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material weaknesses have been identified.  However, as 
discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent or detect and correct misstatements of the city’s financial statements on a timely basis.  
A deficiency in design exists when a control necessary to meet a control objective is missing or 
an existing control is not properly designed so that, even if the control operates as designed, a 
control objective would not be met.  A deficiency in operation exists when a properly designed 
control does not operate as designed or when the person performing the control does not possess 
the necessary authority or competence to perform the control effectively. 
 
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the city’s financial 
statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 
 
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is 
less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 

ATTACHMENT C

Packet Page     113



Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council,  
   Audit Committee, and Management 
City of Boulder 
Page 2 
 
 
We observed the following matters that we consider to be deficiencies or material weaknesses. 
 
 
Material Weaknesses 
 
Refer to the Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 
 
 
Deficiencies 

 
2012 D-1 – Proposed Audit Adjustments 
 
2012 D-1(a) Accrual of Unbilled Utility Revenue 
 
Comment:  During the testing of utility accounts receivable, we noted that the December 
unbilled utility receivable and revenue was not accrued at year-end.  This is consistent with prior 
years and the city historically records the revenue as received. The net effect of recognizing the 
revenue in this manner is not material, however, this results in a cutoff error at year-end in the 
proprietary funds’ receivable and revenue.  
 
Recommendation:  As an adjustment will be necessary each year to correct the cutoff effect of 
recognizing the unbilled revenue in this manner, we recommend that the city correct the cutoff of 
the unbilled revenue and properly accrue the December unbilled receivable at year-end.  
 
Response:  This is an area that we have carefully monitored for several years.  While we believe 
the effect of the entry overall is immaterial, we understand the underlying issue of accruing 
receivables and revenue to the appropriate year.  We will make this change to our financial 
statements for the December 31, 2013 year-end.   
 
 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
Although not considered material weaknesses, significant deficiencies or deficiencies in internal 
control over financial reporting, we observed the following matters and offer these comments 
and suggestions with respect to matters which came to our attention during the course of the 
audit of the financial statements.  Our audit procedures are designed primarily to enable us to 
form an opinion on the financial statements and, therefore, may not bring to light all weaknesses 
in policies and procedures that may exist.  However, these matters are offered as constructive  

ATTACHMENT C

Packet Page     114



Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council,  
   Audit Committee, and Management 
City of Boulder 
Page 3 
 
 
suggestions for the consideration of management as part of the ongoing process of modifying 
and improving accounting controls and the financial and administrative practices and procedures.  
We can discuss these matters further at your convenience and may provide implementation 
assistance for changes or improvements. 
 
 
2012 OM-1 – Single Audit – Subrecipient Cash Management 
 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), Home Investment Partnership Act (HOME) 
 
Comment:  When entities are funded on a reimbursement basis, requests for funding should 
support the fact that subrecipients funds have already been expended before reimbursement is 
requested from the Federal government.  Additionally, costs charged to the grant should be based 
on actual costs incurred.  All expenditures charged to the grant should be determined in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 
 
Recommendation:  We recommend that when allowing subrecipients to request reimbursement 
for administrative funds, subrecipients should either submit certification of actual costs incurred 
or provide supporting documentation for amount requested.  Additionally, the city should 
consider amending policies in order to accrue for year-end expenditures to help ensure 
expenditures are recorded in accordance with GAAP. 
 
Response:  The Finance Department will check in with the departments quarterly to verify that 
the sub-recipient documentation and monitoring is properly done with respect to cash 
management.  In addition, the Finance Department will work with the housing department to 
develop a process for accruing year-end expenditures on grants.  
 
 
2012 OM-2 – Single Audit –Reporting 
 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), Home Investment Partnership Act (HOME) 
 
Comment:  Reports required under the Federal Financial Accountability and Transparency Act 
(FFATA) were not submitted timely.  Three contracts were not reported timely, including two 
contracts that were not properly identified as requiring reporting.  We note that the Housing 
Department has had significant issues in being able to report timely due to difficulties with the 
FFATA reporting system itself.  The Housing Department appeared to have made a good faith 
effort by contacting local HUD support. 
 
Recommendation:  We recommend that the Housing Department implement a report tracking 
mechanism to ensure that all award obligations/awards/modifications in excess of $25,000 are 
properly identified and reported in a timely manner, in accordance with FFATA guidelines. 

ATTACHMENT C

Packet Page     115



Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council,  
   Audit Committee, and Management 
City of Boulder 
Page 4 
 
 
Response:  The Finance Department will check in with the departments quarterly to verify that 
the sub-recipients are properly reported in accordance with FFATA.  Since receiving this 
comment in January 2013, the Housing Department has developed a tracking mechanism 
utilizing their local database, HAL.   
 
 
2012 OM-3 – Single Audit – Procurement, Suspension, and Debarment 
 
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster 
 
Comment:  The Department is aware of procurement requirements including city policy 
requiring the review of the Excluded Party Listing Service (EPLS) website prior to entering into 
a contract and to keep documentation of that review within the contract file.  However, the 
Department improperly relied on the awarding agency approval of primary contractors and 
certain short-term annual contracts, which do not require awarding agency approval, were not 
verified at all. 
 
Recommendation:  We recommend that the city clarify and formally remind departments of the 
procurement policies and procedures and to emphasize that the “Excluded Parties List” should be 
reviewed on an annual basis and prior to awarding a contract, purchase order or contract 
extension and that such review should be documented by including supporting documentation in 
the contract file.  Additionally, the city should consider standardizing procurement contracts 
requiring contractors to certify suspension and debarment status when signing the contract as a 
backup to the EPLS verification as well as revising thresholds to bring them in line with the 
federal requirements. 
 
Response:  The Finance Department will check in with the departments quarterly to verify that 
EPLS checks are properly done with respect to procurement.  The following suspension and 
debarment language was added to nonfederal entity contracts of the department:  “The 
Contractor/grantee represents and warrants that it and its principals are not presently debarred, 
suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from covered 
transactions by any Federal department or agency.  The Contractor represents and warrants that 
to its knowledge, the Owner and the Owner’s principals are not presently debarred, suspended, 
proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from covered transactions 
by any Federal department or agency”.  The city will review thresholds for EPLS checks and 
consider revisions, as necessary. 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT C

Packet Page     116



Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council,  
   Audit Committee, and Management 
City of Boulder 
Page 5 
 
 
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the Mayor, City Council, 
the Audit Committee, and management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

 
 
July 2, 2013 
 

ATTACHMENT C

Packet Page     117



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     118



 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

 
 

For the fiscal year ended 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by the Department of Finance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contents printed on recycled paper. 

 

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     119



(This page left blank intentionally) 

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     120



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
 

December 31, 2012 
 

Table of Contents 
 
       Page 
 
INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

 
Table of Contents  1 
Letter of Transmittal 5 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 13 
Principal Elected and Administrative Officials 14 
Organizational Chart 15 
 
 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 17 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 19 
Basic Financial Statements: 

Government-wide Financial Statements: 
Statement of Net Position 37 
Statement of Activities 38 

  Fund Financial Statements: 
   Governmental Funds: 
    Balance Sheet 40 

 Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet  
  to the Government-wide Statement of Net Position 42 

    Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 43 
    Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, 
     Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances to the Government-wide 
     Statement of Activities 44 
    Statements of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –  
     Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis): 
      General Fund 46 
      Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund 48 
      Transportation Fund 49 
      2011 Capital Improvement Fund 50 
   Proprietary Funds: 

 Statement of Net Position 52 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 56 
 Statement of Cash Flows 58 
Pension Trust Funds: 
 Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 66 
 Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 67 

  Notes to the Financial Statements 69 
 Required Supplementary Information: 
  Schedule of Funding Progress – Police Pension Fund 142 
  Schedule of Funding Progress – Fire Pension Fund  143 
  Schedule of Employer Contributions – Police and Fire Pension Funds 144 
  Schedule of Funding Progress – Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan 145 

1

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     121



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
 

December 31, 2012 
 

Table of Contents 
(continued) 

 
       Page 

Other Schedules: 
 Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules: 
  Combining General Fund Statements 
   Combining Balance Sheet 148 
   Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 150 

    Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances –  
     Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis): 

     Core General Fund 152 
     Library Fund 154 
     CHAP Fund 155 
  Nonmajor Governmental Funds: 
   Combining Balance Sheet 159 
   Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 160 

   Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds: 
    Combining Balance Sheet 162 
    Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 165 
    Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances –  
     Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis): 
      Capital Development Fund 168 
      Lottery Fund 169 
      Planning & Development Services Fund 170 
      Affordable Housing Fund 171 
      .15 Cent Sales Tax Fund 172 
      .25 Cent Sales Tax Fund 173 
      Recreation Activity Fund 174 
      Climate Action Plan Tax Fund 175 
      Airport Fund 176 
      Transportation Development Fund 177 
      Transit Pass General Improvement District 178 
      Boulder Junction Access GID – TDM 179 
      Community Development Fund 180 
      HOME Fund 181 
   Nonmajor Debt Service Fund: 
    Balance Sheet 182 
    Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 183 
    Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances –  
     Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis): 
      .15 Cent Sales Tax Debt Service Fund 184 
   Nonmajor Capital Project Funds: 
    Combining Balance Sheet 185 
    Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 186 
    Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances –  
     Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis): 
      Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund 187 
      Fire Training Center Construction Fund 188 
      Boulder Junction Improvement Fund 189 
 
 

2

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     122



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
 

December 31, 2012 
 

Table of Contents 
(continued) 

 
       Page 
 
   Nonmajor Enterprise Funds: 
    Combining Statement of Net Position 192 

 Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 193 
 Combining Statement of Cash Flows 194 

   Internal Service Funds: 
    Combining Statement of Net Position 198 
    Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 200 
    Combining Statement of Cash Flows 202 

 Supplementary Schedule: 
    Combined Schedule of Long-Term Debt Payable 208 

 
 
STATISTICAL SECTION 
 
 Index - Statistical Section 213 

Financial Trends: 
 Net Position by Component 214 
 Changes in Net Position 216 
 Fund Balances – Governmental Funds 220 
 Changes in Fund Balances – Governmental Funds 222 
Revenue Capacity: 
 Taxable Sales by Market Sector 224 
 Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates 226 
 Largest Sales Tax Remitters by Market Sector 228 
Debt Capacity: 
 Ratios of Net Outstanding Debt by Type 230 
 Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 232 
 Direct and Overlapping Debt 233 
 Legal Debt Margin Information 234 
 Pledged Revenue Coverage 236 
Demographic and Economic Information: 
 Demographic and Economic Statistics 238 
 Principal Employers 239 
Operating Information: 
 Full-Time Equivalent City Employees by Functions/Programs 240 
 Operating Indicators by Function/Program 242 
 Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program 244 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

3

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     123



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
 

December 31, 2012 
 

Table of Contents 
(continued) 

 
       Page 
 
COMPLIANCE SECTION 
 

Single Audit Reports: 
 Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 247 
 Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 249 
 Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over  
  Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an  
  Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with  
  Governmental Auditing Standards 251 
 Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance with  
  Requirements That Could Have a Direct and Material Effect on  
  Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance in 
  Accordance with OMB Circular A-133 253 
 Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 257 
 Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 265 

 Local Highway Finance Report 267 

4

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     124



 
 

 

   City of Boulder 
Finance Department 

1777 Broadway 
Boulder CO 80301 

303-441-3057 
 

 
 
 
 
July 2, 2013 
 
 
To: Members of the City Council, 
 City Manager Jane Brautigam and the Residents of the City of Boulder 
 
 
Both the City of Boulder Charter and State law require that an audit of city financial records be 
conducted each year by an independent certified public accountant.  Such an audit has been 
performed and this report is being published as part of the requirement for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2012.  
 
Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information 
contained in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal controls that has been 
established for this purpose.  Because the cost of internal controls should not exceed anticipated 
benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial 
statements are free from any material misstatements. 
 
BKD, LLP has issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on the City of Boulder’s financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2012.  The independent auditor’s report is located at 
the front of the financial section of this report. 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s 
report and provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial 
statements.  The MD&A complements this letter and should be read in conjunction with it.   
 
 

PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT 
 

The City of Boulder is located in north central Colorado, approximately 25 miles northwest of 
Denver via the Denver-Boulder Turnpike (U.S. 36).  The city is located at the base of the 
foothills of the Front Range of the Rocky Mountains at an altitude of 5,354 feet.  Nestled at the 
foot of the Rockies, Boulder has a special beauty that is complemented by its diverse culture. 
Boulder has a diverse economy that is supported by computer, aerospace, scientific and research 
firms, the University of Colorado, and several federal laboratories.  
 
  

5

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     125



 
 

Superior educational and cultural resources make Boulder a fulfilling place to live, work, and 
play.  The city encompasses approximately 25.4 square miles and is the county seat of Boulder 
County.  The population of the city according to a 2012 estimate made by the City of Boulder is 
99,070.   
 
The City of Boulder is a municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the 
State of Colorado.  In particular, the city is a home rule city and adopted a charter pursuant to 
Article XX of the Constitution of the State of Colorado by vote of the electorate on October 30, 
1917. 
 
The council/manager form of government was adopted in the city’s charter and has been in 
operation since January 1918.  The City Council, an elected body of nine members, is the policy-
making arm of the government.  Eight of the members of the City Council are elected for 
staggered four-year terms and one is elected for a two-year term, with five council members 
elected in November of each odd-numbered year.  A City Manager, appointed by the City 
Council, serves as the City’s Chief Administrative Officer. 
 
The city provides a full range of services.  These services include police and fire protection; 
cultural and recreational facilities and events; open space and mountain parks acquisition and 
maintenance; environmental services, housing and human services; construction and 
maintenance of highways, streets and infrastructure; water, wastewater, and stormwater/flood 
control utilities; and parking facilities and services.   
 
Certain parking facilities and services are provided through two legally separate entities, 
Downtown Commercial District and University Hill Commercial District.  In addition, 
acquisition and construction of certain city properties and facilities is provided by Boulder 
Municipal Property Authority.  These separate entities function, in essence, as separate 
departments of the City of Boulder and have therefore been included as an integral part of the 
City of Boulder’s financial statements. 
 
Budgetary Process 
 
The City Charter includes provisions for proper budgeting, fiscal control, and auditing.  It 
requires the establishment and maintenance of a budgetary control system for general operations.  
The objective of budgetary control is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the 
annual appropriated budget, approved by the City Council, which serves as the foundation of the 
city’s financial planning and control.  The level of budgetary control (that is, the level at which 
expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriated amount) is established at the fund level.  
The city budgets revenues and expenditures/expenses for all funds except the Pension Trust 
Fiduciary Funds and the Gifts and Contributions Fund.   
 
The city has implemented an annual budget process and adopts the coming year’s budget by 
December 1, as provided by state law.  The City of Boulder Charter established the time limits 
pertaining to the adoption of the budget.  The budget process and schedule of development is 
designed to fit within the Charter mandate and to allow for active and early participation by the  
  

6

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     126



 
 

City Council, with an emphasis on public input.  The city’s budget is developed throughout the 
year, but the bulk of the effort occurs during a nine month period beginning in February and 
ending in October.  The budget and annual Appropriation Ordinances for the ensuing term are 
generally adopted in October during public hearings. 
 
Any budget revisions affecting fund totals are adopted in a supplemental appropriation ordinance 
approved by the City Council.  The City Council may make additional appropriations or 
budgetary transfers during the fiscal year for unanticipated revenues received by the city.  City 
management, with the approval of the Central Budget Office, may also transfer budgeted 
amounts within a fund without City Council approval.  All appropriations lapse at year-end.   
 
Detailed budget to actual comparisons are provided in this report for the General Fund and all 
annually budgeted special revenue, debt service and capital project funds.   
 
 

FACTORS AFFECTING FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
Original projections for sales and use tax revenues for 2012 expected a 4.5% increase from 2011. 
Actual sales and use tax revenues for the city increased by 3.97% over 2011.  If Boulder Junction 
is excluded, actual sales and use tax revenue increased 3.00% over 2011.  During 2012, retail 
receipts were up 3.71%, Business/Consumer Use Tax was up 2.33%, Construction Use Tax was 
up 5.27% and Motor Vehicle Use Tax was up 8.04%.  Significant audit revenue collected during 
the months of October and December contributed to the 2.33% increase in Business/Consumer 
Use Tax.  Construction Use Tax is up due to the Boulder Junction area and is considered one-
time revenue.  Excluding the Boulder Junction area would result in a 9.23% decrease in 
Construction Use Tax.   
 
Sales and use tax revenues in 2012 made up approximately 43% of the General Fund, 97% of the 
Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund and 61% of the Transportation Fund total revenues.   
 
The property tax base slightly increased in 2012.  The assessed valuation for property within the 
City of Boulder increased from $2.498 billion in 2011 to $2.501 billion in 2012, or by 0.1%.  
The increase in 2012 will not recover the 2.65% decrease which occurred in 2011.  Taxes levied 
against the 2012 assessed valuation will be collected in 2013.  Much of the resulting decrease 
from 2011 will be offset by an increase in the property tax levy retained by the city.  In 
November 2008, the voters within the City of Boulder approved a ballot question which removed 
the remaining TABOR restriction on property tax revenues for 2009 and beyond.  This increase 
in retained taxes was limited to .5 mills per year until the full amount of the existing tax levy of 
11.981 mills was restored and retained.  During 2012, the remaining TABOR limitation was 
fully eliminated.  
 
Projections for the Future 
 
According to The Colorado Outlook Report, released March 18, 2013, economic growth is 
expected to be moderate, but downside risks remain, as noted by the Office of State Planning and 
Budgeting (OSPB).  
 
  

7

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     127



 
 

The economy continues to live with the legacies of the debt-fueled boom and bust over the past 
decade that produced massive disruptions in fundamental economic activities.  It is still not 
apparent that the nation as a whole has a strong foundation to support more robust growth.  This 
is evident in the continued elevated level of unemployment and the uneven pattern of economic 
activity over the past couple years.  Moreover, the recent growth is coincident with substantial 
monetary expansion by the Federal Reserve.  The lack of a more robust foundation leaves the 
economy more vulnerable to negative forces and events as well as the eventual cessation of 
monetary easing.  
 
The change in March 2013 year-to-date sales and use tax revenue, including use tax revenues 
from Boulder Junction Construction Projects, compared to March 2012 is as follows: 
 

March YTD 2013 versus 2012 
Tax Category % Change % of Total 
Retail Sales Tax  7.59% 79.29% 
Business / Consumer Use Tax 23.95% 9.44% 
Construction Use Tax (17.76%) 8.43% 
Motor Vehicle Use Tax 9.11% 2.84% 
Total YTD Sales/Use Tax 6.19% 100.00% 

 
The following information analyzes the results of the above sales and use tax chart: 
 

 Retail Sales Tax – Actual retail receipts are up by 7.59%.  A significant portion of this 
increase is due to business-to-business sales that are one-time related (not use tax) and 
will not reoccur on a monthly basis. 

 Business/Consumer Use Tax – Revenues are up by 23.95%.  Strength in business-to-
business sales makes up the majority of this increase.  There was also significant audit 
revenue collected during the months of January and February.   

 Construction Use Tax – This category is down by 17.76% year-to-date as of March 2013.  
Excluding Boulder Junction construction projects, construction use tax is up by 30.77%.  
This increase is due primarily to construction use tax paid in February for large projects 
(CU and a large private sector multi-family development).  

 Motor Vehicle Use Tax is up by 9.11%.  Vehicles purchased by Boulder citizens, 
regardless of where in the state the vehicle is purchased, generate use tax revenues for the 
city. 

 
In the future, as revenues continue to recover, any proposed increases in expenditures will be 
evaluated based on Priority Based Budgeting (PBB), a decision making tool which helps the city 
make strategic recommendations regarding priorities for current and future funding changes.   By 
using  the PBB process, existing financial policies and the six-year planning model for 
operations, the city will  be able to maintain targeted fund balances, redirect any funding 
increases to the highest priority areas and ensure that operating revenues exceed ongoing 
operating expenditures each year. 
 
  

8

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     128



 
 

The actual percentages for 2011 and 2012, along with the 2013 sales tax projections for the City 
of Boulder and statewide forecasts from the Colorado Office of State Planning and Budgeting are 
as follows: 
 

Forecast 
2011 

Actual 
2012 

Actual 
2013 

Projected
Base Sales/Use Tax - City of Boulder 5.73% 3.97% 3.40% 
Denver-Boulder CPI-U  3.69% 1.94% 2.80% 
Projected Statewide Retail Sales Trade Growth 7.70% 5.40% 4.30% 
Projected Statewide Personal Income Growth 6.10% 4.50% 3.60% 

 
 

THE IMPORTANCE OF SOUND FINANCIAL PLANNING, 
DOWNSIZING STRATEGY AND ACTIONS 

 
The following narrative was extracted from the City Manager’s message found in the 2013 
Annual Budget, Volume I: 
 
The budget continues to be guided by recommendations made by the Blue Ribbon Commissions 
(BRC) I and II.  Major long-term recommendations included: 
 

 Establish a long-term balanced revenue steam for the City of Boulder 
 Enhance the city’s budget process by using Priority Based Budgeting 
 Update compensation policies 
 Use efficiency studies to determine if current resources are being maximized 
 Update and continue the use of cost recovery strategies 
 Maintain current infrastructure 
 Implement performance measures for city services 

 
Each of these recommendations has been, or is being, implemented and has helped the city 
maintain the appropriate balance of revenues and expenditures.  Current projections are the $135 
million structural gap (determined BRC I) between revenues and expenditures has been reduced 
to $75 million annually by 2030.  The analysis will be updated in 2014.  
 
 

MAJOR INITIATIVES 
 
Current economic conditions and the long-term structural budget problems require that the City 
of Boulder conduct business in a new way, evaluate what services and programs can be 
provided, continue to focus on being as efficient as possible and refine processes and systems to 
work with staffing levels that can be sustained over time.  In order to address these economic and 
structural realities, a PBB approach was implemented as part of the 2011 budget process and was 
continued in 2012 and 2013.  PBB will be increasingly useful to determine the set of services and 
programs that will be provided to the community. 
 
  

9

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     129



 
 

The 2013 Capital Improvements Program (CIP) includes proposed funding of $33.8 million for 
61 projects.  The entire six-year (2013-18) CIP includes proposed funding of $217.8 million for 
140 projects.  When other funding is included, the six-year total is $266.8.  The increase was a 
voter approved measure which involved a bond issue of $49.0 million, which occurred in March 
2012.  CIP funding varies year-to-year depending on the type and cost of projects recommended 
for funding in that year and the amount of external funding received.  Some of the most 
significant capital expenditures included within the six-year plan are as follow:  (i) acquisition 
and development of open space lands totaling $32.1 million; (ii) parks and recreation projects 
totaling $13.1 million including development of new community parks, repairs and deficiency 
corrections, and renovation of existing facilities; (iii) $39.0 million in transportation system 
improvements including improvements to 28th Street, 30th Street access improvements for the 
Boulder Transit Village Station and FasTracks commuter rail development; (iv) $85.0 million for 
water utility fund capital projects including new construction for the Barker Dam, Carter Lake 
Pipeline and Carter Lake Hydroelectric (projects beginning in 2016 and continuing into 2018), 
(v) $11.8 million for wastewater utility fund projects including wastewater treatment plant 
rehabilitation projects and expansion of the bio-solids digester at the wastewater treatment plant; 
(vi) $25.0 million for stormwater and flood management utility fund projects including Fourmile 
Canyon Creek and Wonderland Creek flood mitigation projects.   
 
Planned capital expenditures will be financed using revenues from current rates and charges, 
plant investment and connection fees, bond proceeds from a $49.0 million bond sale in March 
2012, and future rate and fee increases. 
 
The City of Boulder capital improvement program is available online on the city’s website 
(www.bouldercolorago.gov) under the Finance Department budget page.   
 
 

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Debt Ratings 
 
During 2012, the city’s general obligation credit ratings were established as Aa1 by Moody’s 
Investors Service and AAA by Standard & Poor’s.  The primary reasons cited in the past for 
these high rating levels have been the general strength of the Boulder economy, its 
distinctiveness from the general Denver metropolitan economy and less reliance of the city’s 
General Fund on sales taxes when compared with other Colorado municipalities. 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) 
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the city for its 
CAFR for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.  This was the twenty-third consecutive year 
that the city has achieved this prestigious award and the thirty-first year in total.  In order to be 
awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and 
efficiently organized CAFR.  This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting 
principles and applicable legal requirements. 
 

10

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     130



 
 

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only.  We believe our current 
CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and we are 
submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 
 
In addition, the city also received the GFOA’s Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for its 
2012 budget document.  In order to qualify for the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award, the 
government’s budget document had to be judged proficient as a policy document, a financial 
plan, an operations guide, and a communications device. 
 
The City of Boulder’s most recent accomplishment is the Award for Outstanding Achievement 
for producing a Popular Annual Financial Report (PAFR) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2011.  This is again only valid for a period of one year and is awarded by the GFOA.  This report 
is a useful tool for residents to obtain a greater understanding of the role of the city’s 
government.  The intent is to provide a report that is informative and easy to understand.   
 
We are proud of this continuing commitment to provide complete and reliable information to the 
residents of the City of Boulder. 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
 
The preparation of this report could not be accomplished without the efficient and dedicated 
services of the entire Finance Department staff.  We would like to express our appreciation to all 
members of the department who assisted and contributed in its preparation.  We also thank the 
Mayor, City Council Members, City Council Audit Committee Members, and the City Manager 
for their interest and support in planning and conducting the financial operations of the city in a 
responsible and progressive manner.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Cheryl Pattelli, CPA 
Director of Fiscal Services 
 

11

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     131



(This page left blank intentionally) 

12

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     132



13

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     133



Mayor: Matthew Appelbaum

Deputy Mayor: Lisa Morzel

Council Members: Suzy Ageton
KC Becker
Macon Cowles
Suzanne Jones
George Karakehian
Tim Plass
Ken Wilson

City Manager: Jane Brautigam

Deputy City Manager: Paul Fetherston

Chief Financial Officer: Bob Eichem

Director of Fiscal Services: Cheryl Pattelli

Controller: Duane Hudson

Financial Reporting Manager: Sharon Danson

Financial Reporting Accountants: Kim Carpentier
Juciene Azevedo-Wilk
Michael Skoff

Accounts Payable/Receivable: Debbie Stringham
Rehnay Bradford

Administrative

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Principal Elected and Administrative Officials

At December 31, 2012

Mayor and City Council

Contributing Finance Staff

14

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     134



 

 

City of Boulder
Organizational 
Chart
12/31/2012

Community City 
Council

Municipal Judge
Linda Cooke

City Manager
Jane S. 

Brautigam

City Attorney
Thomas Carr

Chief Financial Officer
Bob Eichem

Interim Human Resources Director 
Mary Ann Weideman

Information 
Technology

Director
Donald Ingle

Director of Fiscal 
Services

Cheryl Pattelli

Public Safety

Deputy City Manager
Paul J. Fetherston

Library & the Arts
Director

Valerie Maginnis

Community Planning 
and Sustainability 
Executive Director 

David Driskell

Open Space/
Mountain Parks

Director
Michael Patton

Public Works
Executive Director

Maureen Rait

Parks & Recreation
Director

Kirk Kincannon

Fire/Rescue Chief    
Larry Donner

Police Chief
Mark Beckner

Housing &
Human Services

Director
Karen Rahn

Budget Director
Vacant

Risk Manager
Stewart Ellenberg

15

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     135



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     136



Independent Auditor’s Report on Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Information 

 
 
 
Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council 
City of Boulder, Colorado 
Boulder, Colorado 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Boulder, Colorado (the city), as of and 
for the year ended December 31, 2012, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
city’s basic financial statements listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the city’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the city’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.   
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Boulder, Colorado as of December 31, 2012, and the respective changes 
in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof and the respective budgetary comparisons for the 
General Fund, Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund, Transportation Fund and 2011 Capital Improvement Fund for 
the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

17

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     137



Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council 
City of Boulder, Colorado 
 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion 
and analysis, pension information and other postemployment benefits listed in the table of contents be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context.  
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses 
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the city’s basic financial statements.  The combining and individual fund statements and schedules and other 
supplementary information, including the schedule of expenditures of federal awards required by U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-profit Organizations, and 
Local Highway Finance Report as listed in the table of contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and 
is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and 
was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the basic financial statements as a whole.  The 
introductory and statistical sections listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such information has not been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on it. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 2, 2013, on our 
consideration of the city’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to 
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report 
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be 
considered in assessing the results of our audit. 
 

 
 
Denver, Colorado 
July 2, 2013 

18

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     138



 

City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 

 
December 31, 2012 

 
 

This section of the City of Boulder’s (the city) financial statements provides a narrative overview 
and analysis of its financial activities for the year ended December 31, 2012.  We encourage 
readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information 
that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal at the front of this report and the city’s 
financial statements, which follow this section.  All amounts within this Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report are expressed in thousands of dollars unless otherwise indicated.  
 
Financial Highlights 
 
 The assets of the city exceeded its liabilities at the close of 2012 by $983.7 million ($596.0 

million in governmental activities net position and $387.7 million in business-type activities 
net position).  Of the governmental activities net position total, $113.4 million, or 19%, is 
unrestricted and may be used to meet the city’s ongoing obligations to the public and 
creditors. Similarly, $61.6 million, or 16%, of business-type activities net position are 
unrestricted. 

 
 Total net position of the city increased $55.0 million, or 6%, compared to 2011. Net position 

of the city’s governmental activities increased $60.6 million, which represents an increase of 
11% from 2011. Net position of the city’s business-type activities decreased $5.6 million, or 
1%, from 2011. 

 
 Total revenues, excluding transfers and extraordinary items, increased $22.3 million, or 9%, 

compared to 2011. Governmental activities revenues increased $25.8 million, or 14%, to 
$210.0 million, while revenues of business-type activities decreased $3.5 million, or 6%, to 
$59.2 million compared to 2011. 

 
 The total expenses of all the city’s programs, excluding transfers and extraordinary items, 

and indirect expenses allocated increased $3.3 million, or 2%, to $214.2 million compared to 
2011. The expenses of governmental activities programs increased $2.5 million, or 2%, to 
$168.5 million, while the expenses of business-type activities increased $0.8 million, or 2%, 
from 2011 to $45.6 million. 

 
As of December 31, 2012, the city’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund 
balance of $154.4 million. Approximately 47%, or $72.9 million, is unrestricted fund balance 
and, therefore, available for spending at the city’s discretion within the purposes specified for the 
city’s funds.  
 

19

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     139



 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the city’s basic financial 
statements. The city’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components; (1) 
government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements, and (3) notes to the 
financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the 
basic financial statements. 
 
Government-wide financial statements – The government-wide financial statements are designed 
to provide readers with a broad overview of the city’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-
sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the city’s assets and liabilities, with 
the difference between the two reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net 
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the city is improving 
or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the city’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the 
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 
Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in 
cash flows in future fiscal periods (for example, uncollected taxes and earned, but unused, 
vacation leave). 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the city that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from 
other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user 
fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the city include 
general government, administrative services, public safety, public works including streets and 
transportation, planning and development services, culture and recreation, open space and 
mountain parks, housing and human services, and interest on long-term debt. The business-type 
activities of the city include water utility, wastewater utility, stormwater and flood management, 
parking facilities and services, and the Boulder Municipal Property Authority’s acquisition of 
open space and parks property. 
 
Fund financial statements – A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain 
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The city, 
like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the city can be divided 
into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary (Pension Trust) funds. 
 
Governmental funds.  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, 
unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus 
on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable 
resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the 
city’s near-term financing requirements. 

20

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     140



 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  
By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the city’s near-term financial 
decisions. Both the governmental funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of 
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this 
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
Proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are generally used to account for services for which the city 
charges customers – either outside customers or internal units or departments of the city. 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as shown in the government-wide 
financial statements, only in more detail. The city maintains the following two types of 
proprietary funds: 
 

 Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. The city uses enterprise funds to 
account for the operations of the Water Utility, Wastewater Utility, Stormwater and 
Flood Management, Boulder Municipal Property Authority and Downtown Commercial 
District funds.  These are considered to be major funds of the city. In addition, the 
University Hill Commercial District and Boulder Junction GID are accounted for as 
nonmajor enterprise funds. 

 
 Internal Service funds are used by the city to account for the costs of acquiring, 

operating and maintaining certain types of equipment and facilities, costs for city-wide 
insurance programs and funding for certain governmental fund compensated absences 
liabilities. Because these services predominantly benefit governmental rather than 
business-type functions, the assets and liabilities of the internal service funds have been 
included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. 
Internal service funds are combined into a single, aggregated memo presentation in the 
proprietary fund financial statements. The internal service funds consist of 
Telecommunications, Property and Casualty Insurance, Workers’ Compensation 
Insurance, Compensated Absences, Fleet, Computer Replacement, Equipment 
Replacement and Facility Renovation and Replacement.   Individual fund data for the 
internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements in the “Combining 
and Individual Statements” section. 
 

 Fiduciary funds are used to account for the accumulation of resources to be used for 
retirement annuity payments at appropriate amounts and times in the future.  Resources 
are contributed by employees and the city at amounts determined by biennial actuarial 
studies and by State law. 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a 
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other information – In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this 
report also presents certain required supplementary information concerning the city’s progress in 
funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its police and firefighters and provide 
healthcare benefits for retirees.  

21

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     141



 

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds 
and internal service funds are presented immediately following the required supplementary 
information on pensions.  Included are budgetary comparison schedules for all annually 
budgeted nonmajor special revenue, debt service and capital project funds.   
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the city’s financial 
position. Our analysis below focuses on the net position and changes in net position of the city’s 
governmental and business-type activities. 
 

Table 1 - Net Position (dollars in thousands)

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Current and other assets 257,795$      186,355$      75,285$        81,719$        333,080$      268,074$      
Capital assets 513,907        478,204        419,022        428,938        932,929        907,142        
    Total assets 771,702        664,559        494,307        510,657        1,266,009     1,175,216     

Noncurrent liabilities 123,691        76,861          98,760          108,963        222,451        185,824        
Other liabilities 52,024          52,312          7,824            8,413            59,848          60,725          
    Total liabilities 175,715        129,173        106,584        117,376        282,299        246,549        

Net position:
    Net investment in capital assets 401,272        418,691        325,883        325,861        727,155        744,552        
    Restricted 81,324          30,256          257               254               81,581          30,510          
    Unrestricted 113,391        86,439          61,583          67,166          174,974        153,605        
    Total net position 595,987$      535,386$      387,723$      393,281$      983,710$      928,667$      

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Primary Government

 
Table 1 presents an analysis of the city’s net position as of December 31, 2012.  The city’s assets 
exceeded its liabilities by $983.7 million at the close of the current fiscal year. By far the largest 
portion of the city’s net position (74%) reflects its investment of $727.2 million in capital assets 
(for example, land, buildings, transportation infrastructure, machinery and equipment, utility 
plant in service and underground drainage facilities), less any related debt used to acquire those 
assets that is still outstanding. The city uses these capital assets to provide services to the public; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the city’s investment 
in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to 
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot 
be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
 
An additional portion of the city’s net position, $81.6 million (8%), represents resources that are 
subject to restrictions as to how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net 
position, $175.0 million (18%), may be used to meet the city’s on-going obligations to the public 
and creditors. The unrestricted net position of the city’s business-type activities in the amount of 
$61.6 million are not available to fund the city’s governmental activities. 
 
  

22

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     142



 

At the end of the current fiscal year, the city is able to report positive balances in all three 
categories of net position, both for the government as a whole as well as for its separate 
governmental and business-type activities. Net investment in capital assets decreased $17.4 
million, or 2%, compared to 2011. This decrease is partially the result of related debt of $49 
million that was issued in March 2012.  This is discussed in the “Capital Assets” section below 
in more detail.  Restricted net position increased $51.0 million, or 167%, compared to 2011. This 
increase is primarily due to the new construction projects that have been undertaken and not 
completed in 2012.  The $21.3 million, or 14%, increase in unrestricted net position is a result of 
an increase in both unrestricted program and general revenues such as charges for services and 
taxes.  
 
It is important to note that approximately $40.5 million in governmental unrestricted net position 
arises from the net position of the city’s internal service funds, discussed above in “Overview of 
the Financial Statements – Proprietary Funds.” Although it is highly unlikely that these funds 
will be liquidated, in the event that they are, the distribution of the net position of these funds 
would result in a portion of these unrestricted net position being allocated to unrestricted net 
position of governmental activities and unrestricted net position of business-type activities. 
 
Analysis of Changes in Net Position 
 
As can be seen from Table 2, the city’s net position increased by $55.0 million during 2012. This 
increase is explained in the governmental and business-type activities discussion below.   
 
Governmental Activities 
 
Net position of governmental activities increased by $60.6 million during 2012, accounting for 
the total increase in the city’s net position.  This increase was $41.2 million more than the $19.4 
million increase in net position in 2011. 
 
Revenues during 2012 increased by $25.8 million compared to 2011.  Charges for services grew 
$18.8 million primarily due to an increase in developer payments made to the city in lieu of 
building affordable housing.  Sales and use taxes increased $4.8 million from 2011 primarily due 
to an increase in general retail sales activity resulting from the economic recovery.  Property 
taxes increased by $2.0 million partially due to the continued removal of property tax limitations 
as explained in Note D to the Financial Statements.  Other taxes increased by $1.8 million 
largely due to an increase in the $1.9 increase in utility occupation taxes.  
 
Expenses increased $2.5 million in 2012 compared to 2011.  General Government expenses fell 
by $2.9 million, largely due to Education Excise tax projects in 2011 and none in 2012.  Public 
safety expense increased by $2.3 million due to unexpected overtime required during 2012 for 
fighting fires.  Public Works increased by $2.3 million primarily due to new construction 
projects started in 2012. 
  

23

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     143



 

Table 2 - Changes in Net Position (dollars in thousands)

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Program revenues:

Charges for services 41,823$      23,054$      49,591$      50,293$      91,414$        73,347$        
Operating grants and contributions 6,911          6,154          181             151             7,092            6,305            
Capital grants and contributions 9,260          7,679          5,175          8,411          14,435          16,090          

General revenue:  
Sales and use taxes 97,397        92,627        119             94               97,516          92,721          
Property taxes 29,474        27,462        1,952          1,782          31,426          29,244          
Other taxes 20,279        18,455        836             766             21,115          19,221          
Interest and investment earnings 1,052          1,895          384             1,156          1,436            3,051            
Miscellaneous revenue 1,645          6,418          974             64               2,619            6,482            
Gain on sale of capital assets 2,173          456             -                  -                  2,173            456               

Total revenues 210,014      184,200      59,212        62,717        269,226        246,917        

Program expenses (includes indirect expenses allocation):
Governmental activities:

General Government 16,625        19,509        -                  -                  16,625          19,509          
Administrative Services 2,627          1,892          -                  -                  2,627            1,892            
Public Safety 49,693        47,391        -                  -                  49,693          47,391          
Public Works 33,110        30,844        -                  -                  33,110          30,844          
Planning and Development Services 5,555          5,665          -                  -                  5,555            5,665            
Culture and Recreation 28,112        28,140        -                  -                  28,112          28,140          
Open Space and Mountain Parks 13,040        14,863        -                  -                  13,040          14,863          
Housing and Human Services 14,431        13,060        -                  -                  14,431          13,060          
Interest on long-term debt 2,984          2,290          -                  -                  2,984            2,290            

Business-type activities:
Water Utility -                  -                  21,925        21,223        21,925          21,223          
Wastewater Utility -                  -                  13,776        13,948        13,776          13,948          
Stormwater and Flood Management -                  -                  4,523          4,790          4,523            4,790            
Parking Services -                  -                  7,303          6,570          7,303            6,570            
Property and Facility Acquisition -                  -                  479             724             479               724               

Total expenses 166,177      163,654      48,006        47,255        214,183        210,909        

Excess before extraordinary 
items and transfers: 43,837        20,546        11,206        15,462        55,043          36,008          

Extraordinary items -                  35               -                  24               -                    59                 
Transfers 16,764        (1,208)         (16,764)       1,208          -                    -                    

Increase (decrease) in net position 60,601        19,373        (5,558)         16,694        55,043          36,067          
Net position, beginning of year 535,386      516,013      393,281      376,587      928,667        892,600        
Net position, end of year 595,987$    535,386$    387,723$    393,281$    983,710$      928,667$      

Total Primary GovernmentGovernmental Activities Business-type 

 
Charts 1 and 2 illustrate the city’s governmental expenses and revenues by function and its 
revenues by source. As can be seen in Chart 1, Public Safety is the largest function based on 
expenses (30%), followed by Public Works (20%) and Culture and Recreation (17%). General 
revenues such as sales and use taxes, property and other taxes are not shown in Chart 1 by 
program, but are used to support program activities citywide and included in Chart 2. For 
governmental activities overall, without regard to program, sales and use taxes are the largest 
single source (46%), followed by charges for services (20%) and property taxes (14%). 

24

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     144



 

 

 
 

 
  

$0

$5

$10

$15

$20

$25

$30

$35

$40

$45

$50

General
Govt.

Admin Svcs Public
Safety

Public
Works

Planning &
Dev Svc

Culture &
Recreation

Open
Space &

Mtn Parks

Housing &
Human Svc

Interest on
LT Debt

(in
 M

illi
on

s)

Chart 1: 2012 Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities

Expenditures

Program Revenues

Charges for services
19.9%

Operating grants and 
contributions

3.3%

Capital grants and 
contributions

4.4%

Sales and use taxes
46.4%

Property taxes
14.0%

Other taxes
9.7%

Interest and invest. earnings
0.5%

Miscellaneous
0.8%

Gain on sale of capital 
assets
1.0%

Chart 2: 2012 Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities

25

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     145



 

Business-type Activities 
 
Net position in business-type activities decreased $5.6 million for 2012. This decrease was $22.3 
million less than the $16.7 million increase in net position in 2011.  
 
Total business-type revenues decreased $3.5 million, or 6%, compared to 2011. Charges for 
services declined $0.7 million in 2012 because Boulder Municipal Property Authority (BMPA) 
collected less revenue than the prior year.  A portion of BMPA bonds were paid off in 2011 and, 
therefore, not as much revenue was needed to cover existing bonds in 2012.  Capital grants and 
contributions fell by $3.2 million in 2012 since developers donated less infrastructure to the city 
in 2012 compared to 2011.  
 
Expenses of business-type activities increased by $0.8 million, or approximately 2% compared to 
2011.  Parking services rose by $0.7 million due to significant maintenance projects in 2012.  
 
As can be seen from Charts 3 and 4, the city’s water utility and wastewater utility activities 
account for the majority of its business-type activities, representing 74% of total business-type 
activities expenses. Charges for services provide the largest share of revenues (84%), followed 
by capital grants and contributions (9%) and property taxes (3%). 

 

$0

$5

$10

$15

$20

$25

$30

Water utility Wastewater
utility

Stormwater
and flood

mgmt

Parking
facilities and

svc

Property and
facility acq

(in
 M

ill
io

ns
)

Chart 3: 2012 Expenses and Program Revenues - Business-type Activities

Expenses

Revenues

26

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     146



 

Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds 
 
As noted earlier, the city uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
The focus of the city’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows and balances of resources that are available for spending. Such information is useful in 
assessing the city’s financing requirements. In particular, unrestricted fund balance may serve as 
a useful measure of the city’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
Types of governmental funds reported by the city include the General Fund, Special Revenue 
Funds, Debt Service Funds and Capital Project Funds. 
 
As of December 31, 2012, the city’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $154.4 million, an increase of $69.8 million, an 83% increase from prior year.  The 
fund balance of the General Fund increased by $4.3 million to $38.2 million at December 31, 
2012 year-end.  In 2012, the .15 Cent Sales Tax Fund, previously a special revenue fund, was 
closed and $2.2 million was transferred to the General Fund.  This led to a portion of the growth 
in the General Fund fund balance.  General Fund revenues grew by $10.5 million, primarily 
because of overall improvements in the economy.  Increased consumer spending led to the $4.6 
million rise in sales and use taxes.  Higher assessed values, along with the removal of property 

Charges for services
83.8%

Operating grants and 
contributions

0.3%

Capital grants and 
contributions

8.7%

Sales and use taxes
0.2%

Property taxes
3.3%

Other taxes
1.4%

Interest and invest. 
earnings

0.7%

Miscellaneous
1.6%

Chart 4: 2012 Revenues by Source - Business-type Activities

27

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     147



 

tax limitations as explained in Note D to the Financial Statements, caused general property tax 
revenue to increase by $1.8 million.  Occupation taxes grew $2.0 million due to a voter initiated 
increase to explore the city’s clean energy options.  General Fund expenditures increased by $7.7 
million for a variety of reasons.  Public Safety costs rose $2.7 million because of the extra 
personnel costs needed to help fight the fires that broke out during 2012.  Culture and Recreation 
increased $1.0 million due to additional grants being awarded and higher maintenance and 
information technology charges.  The increase in grant awards led to the $2.2 million growth in 
Housing and Human Services expenditures. 
 
Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund had a fund balance increase of $5.6 million in 2012.  
Revenues increased slightly due to a $1.2 million increase in sales and use tax revenues from 
recovering economic activity.   Expenditures decreased by $6.1 million because of two real 
estate acquisitions in 2011 totaling $5.9 million and no major purchases in 2012.  
 
The Transportation Fund’s fund balance rose by $1.4 million in 2012.  Revenues increased by 
$3.7 million, mainly because of the additional $3.2 million of intergovernmental revenues 
collected from Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT).  Expenditures grew by $3.8 
million as a result of capital project expenditures funded through the increased CDOT 
collections.  
 
The 2011 Capital Improvement Fund became a major fund in 2012 and its fund balance grew by 
$46.3 million over 2011.  This is largely due to $54.8 million of bond proceeds followed by 
expenditures of $9.5 million spent on voter approved capital projects.  
 
Other governmental fund balances increased by $12.2 million.  The most significant portion of 
this increase is $10.5 million received from developers for payments made in lieu of affordable 
housing. 
 
Approximately $72.9 million or 47% of the combined ending fund balance in the governmental 
funds constitutes unrestricted fund balance available for spending at the city’s discretion within 
the purposes specified for each of the funds. The remainder of fund balance is either 
nonspendable or restricted to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has 
already been committed for specific purposes. This nonspendable or restricted fund balance is 
comprised of: (1) fund balance not in spendable form such as prepaid expenses, inventory for 
consumption, and permanent endowments - $0.3 million; (2) limitations imposed on use of funds 
by external laws and regulations - $6.7 million; (3) restrictions for debt service - $1.3 million; (4) 
restrictions for capital projects - $49.2 million; (5) restrictions for future development - $22.2 
million; (6) restricted for expenditure on lottery authorized parks and recreation projects - $1.2 
million and (7) restrictions placed on the funds by donors - $0.6 million. 
 
The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the city.  At the end of 2012 the unrestricted 
fund balance of the General Fund was $35.5 million, while total fund balance was $38.3 million.  
Unrestricted fund balance includes fund balance committed by City Council, assigned by city 
management, and unassigned fund balance as disclosed in the Governmental Funds Balance 
Sheet.  As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it is useful to compare unassigned fund 
balance to total fund expenditures and transfers out. For 2012, unassigned fund balance of $25.5 
million represents 23% of total general fund expenditures and transfers out of $110.4 million. 
For 2011, unassigned fund balance of $20.2 million represents 18% of total general fund 

28

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     148



 

expenditures and transfers out of $109.2 million. General Fund unrestricted fund balance – 
including assigned and unassigned fund balance – as a percentage of total expenditures and 
transfers out was 32% and 26% for 2012 and 2011, respectively.  
 
The Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund and the Transportation Fund are special revenue 
funds, with 100% of their fund balance either restricted or assigned.  Special revenue funds do 
not have unassigned fund balances since the act of accounting for the revenues within a special 
revenue fund assigns them to that fund’s purpose.  The Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund 
revenues are derived from sales taxes approved by the voters and other restricted revenue 
sources.  100% of the fund balance for Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund is restricted for 
acquisition and maintenance of the city’s open space.  The total fund balance of Open Space and 
Mountain Parks Fund of $18.6 million represents 83% of total expenditures and transfers out of 
$22.4 million. The Transportation Fund’s revenue sources are generally restricted except for 
investment income.  As of December 31, 2012, the Transportation Fund restricted fund balance 
was $1.2 million and $8.6 million is assigned to the fund’s purpose.  The total Transportation 
Fund balance of $9.8 million represents 36% of total expenditures and transfers out of $27.0 
million for 2012. 
 
The 2011 Capital Improvement Fund is a capital project fund type.  The fund balance is 
restricted to capital projects.  Capital project funds do not have unassigned fund balances, similar 
to special revenue funds.  The majority of 2011 Capital Improvement Fund revenues for 2012 
were derived from a bond sale that occurred in March 2012.  The total fund balance of the 2011 
Capital Improvement Fund of $46.3 million represents 487% of total expenditures and transfers 
out of $9.5 million.   
 
It should also be noted that for the 2012 budget year the City Council established a minimum 
target for unassigned General Fund balance of 10% of expenditures and transfers out, excluding 
expenditures funded by grants. City Council has approved a range of 10-15% for this target by 
policy. This minimum undesignated fund balance is available for emergency purposes, 
stabilization of funding of programs during periods of temporary revenue declines or temporary 
funding of programs to allow for controlled reductions in expenditures in periods of extended or 
permanent revenue reductions. This target was achieved for 2012. The target for 2011 was also 
10%, and although City Council would like the target to increase, competing demands on the 
city’s resources will probably keep the target at the current level for the near future. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
As already discussed, the city’s proprietary fund statements provide the same type of information 
found in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
As of December 31, 2012, the unrestricted net position of the Water Utility Fund were $28.9 
million, the Wastewater Utility Fund were $9.5 million, the Stormwater and Flood Management 
Fund were $15.0 million, the Boulder Municipal Property Authority were $0.7 million, the 
Downtown Commercial District were $4.0 million, the nonmajor enterprise funds were $0.7 
million. The total decrease in net position for the proprietary funds was $5.6 million. Factors 
concerning these funds have already been addressed in the discussion of the city’s business-type 
activities. 
  

29

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     149



 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
The city’s final budget differs from the original budget in that it contains carry-forward 
appropriations for various programs and projects and supplemental appropriations approved 
during the fiscal year. The final budget for General Fund appropriations including transfers out 
for 2012 was $15.0 million greater than the original budget. The primary reasons for this 
difference are related to the following increases: 
 

 $1.4 million for additional costs related to the recycling center project at 6400 Arapahoe 
Road; 

 $2.2 million for the energy future study; 
 $0.8 million for the Transforming Boulder Business Initiative (TBBI) project which 

includes new software and implementing new policies and procedures required to 
successfully complete the full project; 

 $1.6 million to public safety for DNA lab construction, federal asset forfeiture, and 
additional grant money expenditures; 

 $0.5 million for economic vitality; 
 $0.5 million for additional grant money expenditures; 
 $2.7 million for affordable housing projects; 
 $0.8 million for encumbrance carryover; 
 $2.8 million for operating carryovers from various programs and departments; and 
 Various smaller increases and changes accounted for the other budget amendments. 

 
On a basis consistent with the adopted budget, actual revenues and transfers in were $3.1 million, 
or 3%, more than the final budget. Actual expenditures and transfers out were $9.6 million, or 
8%, less than the final budget. The net effect of these differences was a favorable variance in 
actual revenues and expenditures to the fiscal year-end budgeted fund balance of $12.7 million. 
The primary factors contributing to this favorable variance included the following: 
 

 $1.1 million more in intergovernmental and licenses, permits and fines than budgeted due 
to economic activity and significant construction projects; 

 $0.5 million more in accommodations taxes than budgeted due to a rate increase; 
 $0.7 million less in expenditures for outside consultants; 
 $2.2 million less in expenditures related to software consulting; 
 $4.6 million of unspent money related to the following projects or programs: TBBI ($1.1 

million), economic vitality rebates ($0.8 million), 6400 Arapahoe project ($0.3 million), 
affordable housing projects ($2.0 million), and Education Access funding ($0.4 million); 

 $0.5 million in carryover requests for equipment that was not used in 2012; and 
 Various smaller variances in both revenue and expenditures. 

 
  

30

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     150



 

Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets 
 
As can be seen from Table 3, the city’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and 
business-type activities as of December 31, 2012 amounts to $933.0 million (net of accumulated 
depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, improvements, park 
facilities, transportation infrastructure, utility plant in service and undergrounds, water rights, 
underground drainage facilities, machinery, equipment and vehicles. The net increase in the 
city’s investment in capital assets was $25.8 million (3%) from 2011. Net capital assets of 
governmental activities increased $35.7 million (7%) and those of business-type activities 
decreased $9.9 million (2%). 
 

Table 3 - Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation (dollars in thousands)

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Land and easements 267,106$      248,597$      58,191$        74,549$        325,297$      323,146$      
Buildings 54,189          45,676          28,510          29,764          82,699          75,440          
Improvements other than buildings 41,827          43,688          3,344            3,654            45,171          47,342          
Infrastructure 92,599          96,929          -                    -                    92,599          96,929          
Utility plant in service

and undergrounds -                    -                    310,547        305,858        310,547        305,858        
Machinery, equipment

and vehicles 17,839          16,361          6,508            6,655            24,347          23,016          
Construction-in-progress 40,347          26,953          11,922          8,459            52,269          35,412          
     Total 513,907$      478,204$      419,022$      428,939$      932,929$      907,143$      

Business-type Activities Total Primary GovernmentGovernmental Activities

 
 

Some of the major capital asset activities during 2012 included the following:  
 
Governmental activities: 
 

 Construction-in-progress of several transportation infrastructure projects, including: 
Foothills Parkway Paths, Arapahoe Road paths and traffic signals, Pearl Parkway multi-
use path, 28th Street-Baseline to Iris, and Broadway to Euclid multimodal – $7.9 million; 

 Completion of city buildings energy improvements – $9.4 million; 
 Construction in progress of energy performance projects – $3.6 million; 
 Land additions from Boulder Municipal Property Authority – $17.3 million; 
 Land acquisitions – Schnell Property @ 38474 Canyon Drive – $1.2 million; 
 Two irrigation Systems – $.6 million; 
 Completion of several transportation infrastructure projects, including Arapahoe multi-

use path – Folsom to 30th Street – $1.9 million; 
  

31

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     151



 

 Valmont City Park, Palo East Park, Columbine Park, Urban Parks, Canyon Park, Park 
Shelter & Flatirons Golf Course improvements – $4 million; 

 Recreation facility renovations – $0.8 million; 
 Reservoir improvements – $1.4 million; 
 New vehicle purchases – $4 million; and 
 Recognition of $17.5 million in depreciation expense. 

 
Business-type activities: 
 

 Waterline rehabilitation – $2.6 million; 
 Completion of Boulder Canyon Hydro Plant – $3.6 million; 
 Wastewater Biosolids Digester & Disinfection System – $1.5 million; 
 Automated meter reading project, $0.6 million; 
 Water Systems – pipelines, reservoir and lake dam – $1.2 million; 
 810 Marine Street – $0.3 million; 
 New vehicle purchases – $0.9 million; and 
 Recognition of $11.4 million in depreciation expense. 

 
Additional information on the city’s capital assets can be found in Note I to the Financial 
Statements. 
 
Debt Administration 
 
Table 4 summarizes the city’s bonded debt as of the end of 2012 and 2011. At December 31, 
2012, the city had total bonded debt (including certificates of participation) of $190.4 million. Of 
this amount, $101.0 million consisted of general obligation debt backed by the full faith and 
credit of the city. Another $80.9 million represents bonds secured solely by specified revenue 
sources (revenue bonds and certificates of participation).  The remaining $8.5 million relates to 
pension obligation bonds.  The pension obligation bonds are not backed by either specified 
revenue sources or taxes.  During 2012, the city issued one new bond for capital improvements 
and two refunding bonds as detailed out in Note O to the Financial Statements.  
 

  and Certificates of Participation Outstanding (dollars in thousands)

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

General obligation bonds 87,242$       41,746$       13,751$       15,350$       100,993$     57,096$       
Revenue bonds 2,733           4,054           78,176         84,861         80,909         88,915         
Pension obligation bonds 8,531           8,881           -                   -                   8,531           8,881           
Certificates of participation -                   -                   -                   575              -                   575              
     Total bonded debt 98,506$       54,681$      91,927$      100,786$    190,433$     155,467$    

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Primary Government

Table 4 - General Obligation Bonds, Revenue Bonds, Pension Obligation Bonds, 

 
  

32

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     152



 

The city’s general obligation credit rating is Aa1 by Moody’s Investor Services, Inc. and AAA 
by Standard & Poor’s Corporation. Under the City Charter, the city’s general obligation debt 
issuances are subject to a legal limitation based on 3% of total assessed value of real and 
personal property. The city’s general obligation debt is issued as sales tax revenue bonds 
enhanced by a general obligation pledge of the full faith and credit of the city.  The city does not 
currently levy an ad valorem property tax for debt service even though authorized to do so.  As a 
result, all bonded debt is considered to be self-supporting and the ratio of net bonded debt 
supported solely by property taxes to assessed valuation is zero. 
 
Additional information on the city’s bonded debt can be found in Note O to the Financial 
Statements. 
 
Other Significant Matters 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
The city completed a $9.6 million lease agreement with Suntrust Equipment Finance & Leasing 
Corporation on January 25, 2012 to refund the Phase II Energy Efficiency Project Lease balance 
of $6.4 million and to fund Phase III of this project for $3.2 million.  The lease proceeds will be 
used to make various energy efficiency improvements to several different city buildings. There 
were $2.6 million expenditures in 2012 on Phase III of Energy Efficiency Project Lease. These 
expenditures were for energy efficiency improvements to several city buildings.   
 
The city issued $49 million in General Obligation Bonds for Capital Improvement Projects on 
March 22, 2012.  There was an additional $5.8 million of bond premium collected on the bonds.  
An important requirement of the bonds is that at least $46.6 million, or 85%, be spent in the next 
three years, or by March 2015. There were $9.5 million of expenditures paid from the General 
Obligation Bonds proceeds. The primary expenditures were for Park and Recreation facility 
renovations, road reconstruction, and road pavement repair.   
 
In 2011, there was an extraordinary expense for the voluntary cleanup at Valmont Butte Allied 
Piles Site.  The city presented a voluntary clean-up plan to the Colorado Department of Public 
Health and Environment (CDPHE).  This plan was approved under the Colorado Voluntary 
Cleanup Program (VCUP).  As required by CDPHE, site remediation actions in the VCUP had to 
start by August 31, 2011 with an extended completion date of December 31, 2013.  As of 
December 31, 2012, the city has expended $1.9 million on Valmont Butte Allied Piles Site 
cleanup with an additional $0.6 million still held in a liability account for continued cleanup 
responsibilities.  Additional information can be found in Note T to the Financial Statements. 
 
Beginning in 2012, the city established the new Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 
Development Department in the General Fund to create both short- and long-term energy 
strategies and guide the city in the implementation of new methods of energy management.  This 
includes pursuing the next steps in the analysis of potential municipalization of Boulder’s 
electric distribution system.  During 2012, the city incurred $1.0 million of expenditures.  This 
amount was from the initial $1.9 million that the city had set aside for the initial phase of this 
study.  In November 2011, voters approved a tax that that will continue to fund this initiative for 
five years.  
 

33

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     153



 

Business-type Activities 
 
On November 20, 2012, the city issued $24.3 million in Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding 
Bonds to advance refund a portion of the Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds issued in late 2005.  
The remaining principal outstanding on the original bonds is $6.2 million. 
 
On November 28, 2012, the city issued $7.3 million in Central Area General Improvement 
District (CAGID) General Obligation Refunding Bonds.  These bonds advance refunded most of 
the CAGID bonds issued in 2003.  The remaining principal outstanding on the original bonds is 
$.6 million.  More details on these refunding can be found in Footnote O – Long-term Debt. 
 
Contacting the City’s Financial Management 
 
This financial report is designed to provide the public, taxpayers, customers, investors and 
creditors with a general overview of the city’s finances and to show the city’s accountability for 
the funds and assets it receives. If you have questions about this report, or need additional 
financial information, contact the Financial Reporting Manager of the City of Boulder Finance 
Department at 1777 Broadway, Boulder, Colorado, 80302. 
 

34

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     154



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

35

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     155



(This page left blank intentionally) 

36

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     156



Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

Assets:
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 3,664          $ 1,595          $ 5,259            
Investments 144,721      63,348        208,069        
General property tax receivable 29,800        2,002          31,802          
Sales tax receivable 11,483        -                 11,483          
Notes receivable 1,279          570             1,849            
Other receivables (see Note H) 5,419          2,370          7,789            
Restricted investments 50,873        4,269          55,142          
Inventory of materials and supplies 53               204             257               
Other assets 1,134          927             2,061            
Prepaid net pension obligation 9,369 -                 9,369            
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):
    Land and easements 267,106 58,191        325,297        
    Buildings 54,189 28,510        82,699          
    Improvements other than buildings 41,827 3,344          45,171          
    Infrastructure 92,599 -                 92,599          
    Utility plant in service and undergrounds -                 310,547      310,547        
    Machinery, equipment and vehicles 17,839 6,508          24,347          
    Construction-in-progress 40,347 11,922        52,269          
        Total assets 771,702      494,307      1,266,009     

Liabilities:
Accounts and accrued liabilities:
    Vouchers and accounts payable 6,405          1,520          7,925            
    Contracts and retainage payable 1,953          721             2,674            
    Accrued liabilities 7,100          3,829          10,929          
Internal balances 3,801          (3,801)         -                   
Other liabilities 2,065          735             2,800            
Unearned revenue:
    General property taxes 29,800        2,002          31,802          
    Other 900             -                 900               
Deferred credit -                 2,818          2,818            
Noncurrent liabilities:
    Due within one year 13,128        9,988          23,116          
    Due in more than one year 110,563      88,772        199,335        
        Total liabilities 175,715      106,584      282,299        

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 401,272      325,883      727,155        
Restricted for:
    Legally restricted 6,740          157             6,897            
    Debt service 1,325          -                 1,325            
    Capital projects 49,157        100             49,257          
    Development 22,245        -                 22,245          
    Lottery funds 1,161          -                 1,161            
    Donor restrictions 596             -                 596               
    Endowment 100             -                 100               
Unrestricted 113,391      61,583        174,974        

Total net position $ 595,987    $ 387,723    $ 983,710       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

37

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     157



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Activities

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

Indirect Operating Capital
Expenses Charges for Grants and Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses Allocation Services Contributions Contributions

Governmental activities:
General Government $ 17,972       $ (1,347)         $ 7,593             $ 59                      $ -                        
Administrative Services 9,360         (6,733)         548                -                        -                        
Public Safety 47,079       2,614          1,629             799                    -                        
Public Works 33,945       (835)            1,730             3,268                 8,145                 

4,322         1,233          7,473             -                        -                        
Culture and Recreation 27,062       1,050          9,041             195                    990                    
Open Space and Mountain Parks 12,267       773             506                44                      125                    
Housing and Human Services 13,558       873             13,303           2,546                 -                        
Interest on long-term debt 2,984         -                  -                     -                        -                        

Total governmental activities 168,549     (2,372)         41,823           6,911                 9,260                 
Business-type activities:

Water utility 20,807       1,118          24,592           -                        3,384                 
Wastewater utility 12,974       802             13,013           -                        929                    
Stormwater and flood management 4,328         195             5,167             181                    819                    
Parking facilities and services 7,046         257             4,483             -                        43                      
Property and facility acquisition 479            -                  2,336             -                        -                        

Total business-type activities 45,634       2,372          49,591           181                    5,175                 
Total government $ 214,183     $ -                  $ 91,414           $ 7,092                 $ 14,435               

General revenues:
    Taxes:
        Sales and use taxes
        General property taxes
        Accommodation taxes
        Franchise and occupation taxes
        Specific Ownership & Tobacco taxes
        Excise taxes
    Interest and investment earnings
    Miscellaneous
    Gain on sale of capital assets
Transfers
    Total general revenues and transfers
            Change in net position
Net position, beginning of year
Net position, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Program Revenues

Planning & Development Services

38

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     158



Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ (8,973)             $ -                         $ (8,973)             
(2,079)             -                         (2,079)             

(47,265)           -                         (47,265)           
(19,967)           -                         (19,967)           

1,918              -                         1,918               
(17,886)           -                         (17,886)           
(12,365)           -                         (12,365)           

1,418              -                         1,418               
(2,984)             -                         (2,984)             

(108,183)         -                         (108,183)         

-                      6,051                 6,051               
-                      166                    166                  
-                      1,644                 1,644               
-                      (2,777)                (2,777)             
-                      1,857                 1,857               
-                      6,941                 6,941               

(108,183)         6,941                 (101,242)         

97,397            119                    97,516             
29,474            1,952                 31,426             

4,890              781                    5,671               
12,310            -                         12,310             

1,789              55                      1,844               
1,290              -                         1,290               
1,052              384                    1,436               
1,645              974                    2,619               
2,173              -                         2,173               

16,764            (16,764)              -                       
168,784          (12,499)              156,285           

60,601            (5,558)                55,043             
535,386          393,281             928,667           

$ 595,987          $ 387,723             $ 983,710           

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position

39

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     159



Open Space 2011
& Mountain Trans- Capital Other Total

General Parks portation Improvement Governmental Governmental
Assets Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 873             $ 385           $ 235           $ 11                      $ 1,010            $ 2,514            
Investments 34,010        15,324      9,342        439                    40,092          99,207          
Receivables:
    General property taxes 27,533        -                -                -                         2,266            29,799          
    Sales and use taxes 5,682          2,953        2,009        -                         839               11,483          
    Accounts 1,929          16             376           -                         315               2,636            
    Notes 1,155          -                -                -                         124               1,279            
    Accrued interest 122             52             32             108                    133               447               
    Intergovernmental 505             -                1,539        1                        35                 2,080            
    Other 8                 -                15             -                         -                    23                 

36,934        3,021        3,971        109                    3,712            47,747          
Due from other funds 186             -                -                -                         59                 245               
Inventory of materials and supplies 6                 -                -                -                         47                 53                 
Restricted assets:
    Investments for special purposes 1,414          -                -                -                         920               2,334            
    Investments for capital  projects 745             -                -                46,228               -                    46,973          
    Investments for debt service -                  687           -                -                         -                    687               
        Total restricted assets 2,159          687           -                46,228               920               49,994          
Other assets 170             -                -                -                         -                    170               

        Total assets $ 74,338        $ 19,417      $ 13,548      $ 46,787               $ 45,840          $ 199,930        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

40

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     160



Open Space 2011
& Mountain Trans- Capital Other Total

General Parks portation Improvement Governmental Governmental
Liabilities and Fund Balances Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

Liabilities:
    Accounts and accrued liabilities:
        Vouchers and accounts payable $ 1,878          $ 242           $ 980           $ 284                    $ 1,111            $ 4,495            
        Contracts and retainage payable 117             -                573           124                    79                 893               
        Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
            withheld from employees 3,712          386           308           35                      862               5,303            
    Due to other funds 59               163           -                -                         -                    222               
    Advances from other funds 2,036          -                -                -                         -                    2,036            
    Other liabilities -                  2               710           -                         87                 799               
    Deferred revenue:
        General property taxes 27,533        -                -                -                         2,266            29,799          
        Other 748             -                1,207        -                         31                 1,986            
            Total liabilities 36,083        793           3,778        443                    4,436            45,533          
  
Fund balances:
    Nonspendable:
        Prepaid 170             -                -                -                         -                    170               
        Inventory 6                 -                -                -                         47                 53                 
        Endowment 100             -                -                -                         -                    100               
    Restricted for:
        Legally restricted 1,180          -                1,154        -                         4,406            6,740            
        Debt service 433             649           -                -                         243               1,325            
        Capital projects 744             -                -                46,344               2,069            49,157          
        Development -                  17,937      -                -                         4,308            22,245          
        Lottery funds -                  -                -                -                         1,161            1,161            
        Donor restrictions 135             38             -                -                         423               596               
    Committed:
       Affordable housing -                  -                -                -                         15,399          15,399          
    Assigned:
        Special purposes 8,596          -                8,616        -                         13,348          30,560          
        Contractual obligations 1,420          -                -                -                         -                    1,420            
    Unassigned 25,471        -                -                         -                    25,471          
            Total fund balances 38,255        18,624      9,770        46,344               41,404          154,397        

        Total liabilities and fund balances $ 74,338        $ 19,417      $ 13,548      $ 46,787               $ 45,840          $ 199,930        

41

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     161



Total governmental fund balances $ 154,397       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and are not
reported in the funds.

Capital assets - governmental funds 765,597       
Accumulated depreciation - governmental funds (313,186)      
Net book value of capital assets in governmental funds 452,411       

Other long-term assets (bond issuance costs) are reported as current period expenditures
during the period incurred in the funds.  The costs are deferred, net of amortization, in
the government-wide statement of net position 760              

Accumulated difference between the actual pension contributions expensed in the
governmental funds and the actuarially determined annual pension cost expensed
in the government-wide statements.

Police prepaid net pension obligation 5,404           
Fire prepaid net pension obligation 3,965           9,369           

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of insurance, capital
asset replacement and other activities to individual funds.  The assets and liabilities of the 
internal service funds are included in governmental activities in the statement of net position 89,745         

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable and bonds interest payable, are not due and
payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds. (112,014)      

Because the focus of governmental funds is on short-term financing, some assets will
not be available to pay for current-period expenditures.  Those assets (for example,
receivables) are offset by deferred revenues in the governmental funds and thus are
not included in fund balance.

Special assessments receivable 26                
Intergovernmental revenues 1,293           1,319           

Net position of governmental activities $ 595,987      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet
to the Government-wide Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

42

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     162



Open Space 2011
 & Mountain Trans- Capital Other Total

General Parks portation Improvement Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 46,314       $ 25,029            $ 16,854         $ -                         $ 9,200                  $ 97,397                
General property taxes 27,234       -                      -                   -                         2,240                  29,474                
Accommodation taxes 4,890         -                      -                   -                         -                          4,890                  
Franchise taxes 10,460       -                      -                   -                         1,850                  12,310                
Specific Ownership & Tobacco taxes 1,788         -                      -                   -                         -                          1,788                  
Excise taxes 361            -                      -                   -                         929                     1,290                  

Charges for services 4,264         132                 -                   -                         22,634                27,030                
 Sale of goods 423            -                      6                  -                         199                     628                     

Licenses, permits and fines 6,339         63                   -                   -                         5,516                  11,918                
Intergovernmental 3,132         222                 10,254         -                         2,812                  16,420                
Leases, rents and royalties 221            325                 100              -                         1,787                  2,433                  
Interest and investment earnings 257            91                   71                123                    337                     879                     
Other 875            53                   392              -                         472                     1,792                  

    Total revenues 106,558     25,915            27,677         123                    47,976                208,249              

Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 13,390       -                      -                   -                         5,178                  18,568                
Administrative Services 9,149         -                      -                   -                         -                          9,149                  
Public Safety 47,744       81                   -                   -                         -                          47,825                
Public Works 5,196         -                      16,165         -                         817                     22,178                
Planning & Development Services 43              -                      -                   -                         4,327                  4,370                  
Culture and Recreation 12,474       -                      -                   -                         13,203                25,677                
Open Space and Mountain Parks 186            11,734            -                   -                         135                     12,055                
Housing and Human Services 9,614         -                      -                   -                         3,770                  13,384                

Capital outlay 1,467         2,158              9,084           9,500                 6,902                  29,111                
Debt service payments:  

Principal 2,420         5,650              -                   -                         2,479                  10,549                
Interest 1,546         1,211              -                   -                         268                     3,025                  
        Total expenditures 103,229     20,834            25,249         9,500                 37,079                195,891              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 3,329         5,081              2,428           (9,377)                10,897                12,358                

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of capital assets -                 894                 567              -                         -                          1,461                  
Base rentals to Boulder Municipal
    Property Authority Debt Service Fund (601)           -                      -                   -                         -                          (601)                    
Proceeds from bonds payable -                 -                      -                   54,830               -                          54,830                
Transfers in 11,026       1,187              106              919                    4,930                  18,168                
Transfers out (7,184)        (1,558)             (1,740)          (43)                     (5,853)                 (16,378)              

Total other financing  
sources (uses) 3,241         523                 (1,067)          55,706               (923)                    57,480                

Net change in fund balances 6,570         5,604              1,361           46,329               9,974                  69,838                

Fund balances, beginning of year 31,685       13,020            8,409           15                      31,430                84,559                

Fund balances, end of year $ 38,255       $ 18,624          $ 9,770         $ 46,344             $ 41,404                $ 154,397            

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

43

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     163



Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 69,838         

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of
activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported
as depreciation expense.

Governmental funds capital asset additions 49,589         
Governmental funds CIP placed in service (2,633)          
Governmental funds capital asset deletions (3,945)          
Governmental funds capital asset depreciation expense (10,687)        32,324         

Debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt
increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.  Repayment of debt principal
is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities
in the statement of net position.  This amount is the net effect of these differences in the 
treatment of long-term debt and related items. (44,169)        

Some revenues reported in the statement of activities are not available as current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as revenues in governmental funds.
Negative amounts indicate an increase in deferred revenue between fiscal years.
Examples are revenues from special assessments, property taxes and notes receivable.

Interest on notes receivable (46)              
Special assessments - Public Works 13                
Intergovernmental revenue - Public Works 772              739              

 
Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of insurance, capital
asset replacement and other activities to individual funds.  The net revenue of the 
internal service funds is reported with governmental activities. 2,349           

The decrease in the prepaid net pension obligation resulting from contributions greater than
the annual required contribution is not a financial resource and is not reported in the funds. (480)            

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 60,601       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances to the Government-wide Statement of Activities

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

44

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     164



(This page left blank intentionally) 

45

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     165



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 46,174           $ 46,174           $ 46,314           $ 140                
General property taxes 26,866           26,879           27,234           355                
Accommodations taxes 4,274             4,402             4,890             488                
Franchise taxes 8,312             10,285           10,460           175                
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 1,584             1,584             1,788             204                
Excise taxes 100                100                361                261                

Charges for services 3,727             3,931             4,264             333                
 Sale of goods 137                192                1,013             821                

Licenses, permits and fines 5,824             5,824             6,339             515                
Intergovernmental 1,503             2,554             3,157             603                
Leases, rents and royalties 228                228                221                (7)                   
Interest and investment earnings 763                763                405                (358)               
Other 429                1,318             851                (467)               

    Total revenues 99,921           104,234         107,297         3,063             
Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 10,355           11,573           10,055           1,518             
Administrative Services 9,415             11,597           9,357             2,240             
Public Safety 46,369           48,398           47,764           634                
Public Works 5,256             5,453             5,453             -                     
Planning & Development Services 43                  43                  43                  -                     
Culture and Recreation 12,602           13,222           12,580           642                
Open Space and Mountain Parks 186                186                187                (1)                   
Housing and Human Services 8,746             12,433           9,493             2,940             
Others 2,424             7,414             5,284             2,130             

Debt service payments:
Principal 2,425             2,425             2,420             5                    
Interest 1,461             1,461             1,461             -                     
        Total expenditures 99,282           114,205         104,097         10,108           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 639                (9,971)            3,200             13,171           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. (continued)

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes 
in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

(Budgetary Basis)

General Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

46

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     166



Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of capital assets -                     -                     16                  16                  
Base rentals to Boulder Municipal Property
  Authority Debt Service Fund (601)               (601)               (601)               -                     
Transfers in 13,902           15,175           17,385           2,210             
Transfers out (13,314)          (13,314)          (13,865)          (551)               

Total other financing sources (uses) (13)                 1,260             2,935             1,675             

Net change in fund balance $ 626              $ (8,711)          6,135            $ 14,846         

Encumbrances, end of year 1,482             
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 34,176           
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 41,793           

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (106)               
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (3,781)            
Due to other funds (59)                 
Due from other funds (3)                   
Notes receivable 1,115             
Advances from other funds (1,011)            
Transfers 307                

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 38,255          

47

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     167



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 23,758        $ 23,758       $ 25,029       $ 1,271             
Charges for services -                  -                 132            132                
Licenses, permits and fines -                  -                 63              63                  
Intergovernmental -                  82              222            140                
Leases, rents and royalties 325             325            325            -                     
Interest and investment earnings 325             325            139            (186)               
Other -                  1                53              52                  

    Total revenues 24,408        24,491       25,963       1,472             
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Safety 81               81              81              -                     
Open Space and Mountain Parks 16,391        20,293       12,291       8,002             

Debt service payments:
Principal 5,650          5,650         5,650         -                     
Interest 1,211          1,211         1,211         -                     
        Total expenditures 23,333        27,235       19,233       8,002             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 1,075          (2,744)        6,730         9,474             

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of capital assets -                  894            894            -                     
Base rentals to Boulder Municipal Property
    Authority Debt Service Fund (1,734)         (1,734)        (1,734)        -                     
Transfers in 1,187          1,187         1,187         -                     
Transfers out (1,071)         (1,158)        (1,558)        (400)               

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,618)         (811)           (1,211)        (400)               

Net change in fund balance $ (543)            $ (3,555)        5,519         $ 9,074             

Encumbrances, end of year 180            
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 13,226       
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 18,925       

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 90              
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (391)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 18,624       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

48

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     168



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 16,155        $ 16,155       $ 16,854       $ 699                 
 Sale of goods -                  -                 6                6                     

Intergovernmental 5,767          14,905       10,254       (4,651)            
Leases, rents and royalties 97               97              100            3                     
Interest and investment earnings 80               80              58              (22)                 
Other 261             482            392            (90)                 

    Total revenues 22,360        31,719       27,664       (4,055)            
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 20,428        35,015       28,638       6,377              
        Total expenditures 20,428        35,015       28,638       6,377              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 1,932          (3,296)        (974)           2,322              

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of capital assets 393             393            567            174                 
Transfers in -                  2,724         106            (2,618)            
Transfers out (1,740)         (1,740)        (1,740)        -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,347)         1,377         (1,067)        (2,444)            

Net change in fund balance $ 585           $ (1,919)      (2,041)      $ (122)              

Encumbrances, end of year 3,417       
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 6,033         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 7,409         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 55              
Due from other funds 2,618         
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (312)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 9,770       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Transportation Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

49

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     169



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Interest and investment earnings -$                -$                124$          124$              
Other -                  -                  (4)               (4)                   

    Total revenues -                  -                  120            120                
Expenditures:
 Capital Outlay -                  55,733         13,540       42,193           

Debt service payments:
Real estate rentals & leases -                  -                  4                (4)                   
        Total expenditures -                  55,733         13,544       42,189           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures -                  (55,733)       (13,424)      42,309           

Other financing sources (uses):
Proceeds from bonds -                  54,830         54,830       -                     
Transfers in -                  919              919            -                     
Transfers out -                  (3,191)         -                 3,191             

Total other financing sources (uses) -                  52,558         55,749       3,191             

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ (3,175)       42,325      $ 45,500          

Encumbrances, end of year 4,033         
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 3,178        
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 49,536       

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 5                
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (6)               
Due to other funds (3,191)       

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 46,344      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

2011 Capital Improvement Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

50

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     170



(This page left blank intentionally) 

51

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     171



Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Assets:
Current assets:

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 791 $ 318 $ 360
Investments 31,490 12,655 14,342
Receivables:
    General property taxes -                  -                     -                 
    Accounts 328 128 198
    Charges for services 620 453 214
    Notes - current installments -                  -                     -                 
    Accrued interest 111 43 47
    Intergovernmental 60 -                     71
    Other -                  -                     -                 
Total receivables 1,119           624                 530             
Due from other funds -                  41 43
Advances to other funds 55 -                 
Inventory of materials and supplies 203 -                     1
Other assets - prepaid expenses -                -                    -                

Total current assets 33,658         13,638            15,276        

Noncurrent assets:
Advances to other funds 714 -                     -                 

 Notes receivable - less current installments -                  -                     -                 
Restricted assets:
    Investments for bond reserves 2,935 670 325
    Investments for capital projects 100              -                 
        Total restricted assets 3,035           670                 325             
Other assets:
    Deferred charges 204 444 48
Capital assets:
    Land and easements 20,970 1,633 16,088
    Buildings 1,382 2,192 764
    Improvements other than buildings 79 392 965
    Utility plant in service 272,496 129,589 -                 
    Undergrounds - drainage facilities -                  -                     69,208
    Vehicles -                  -                     -                 
    Machinery and equipment 4,864 3,065 1,591

299,791       136,871          88,616        
        Less accumulated depreciation (97,813) (49,775) (19,514)

201,978       87,096            69,102        
    Construction-in-progress 1,176 10,113 633
Total capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 203,154       97,209            69,735        

Total noncurrent assets 207,107       98,323            70,108        

Total assets 240,765       111,961          85,384        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

52

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     172



Boulder Governmental
Municipal Downtown Nonmajor Total Activities -
Property Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Internal
Authority District Funds Funds Service Funds

$ -                $ 107 $ 19             $ 1,595         $ 1,145            
-                4,085 776           63,348       45,514          

-                1,944 58             2,002         -                    
-                51 -                705            93                 
-                -                    -                1,287         -                    

132 -                    -                132            -                    
16 14 2               233            146               

-                4 -                135            -                    
-                10 -                10              -                    

148            2,023            60             4,504         239               
163 -                    -                247            -                    

-                2 -                57              135               
-                -                    -                204            -                    
-                -                   -              -               204             

311            6,217            855           69,955       47,237          

-                16 -                730            1,132            
438 -                    -                438            -                    

-                239 -                4,169         -                    
-                -                    -                100            879               
-                239               -                4,269         879               

-                231 -                927            -                    

16,723 2,333 444           58,191       102               
6,433 38,373 -                49,144       81,683          

-                5,205 58             6,699         8,464            
-                -                    -                402,085     -                    
-                -                    -                69,208       -                    
-                -                    -                -                 27,596          
-                1,463 326           11,309       9,196            

23,156       47,374          828           596,636     127,041         
(2,931) (19,316) (187)          (189,536)    (69,616)         
20,225       28,058          641           407,100     57,425          

-                -                    -                11,922       4,071            
20,225       28,058          641           419,022     61,496          
20,663       28,544          641           425,386     63,507          

20,974       34,761          1,496        495,341     110,744         

(continued)

53

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     173



Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts and accrued liabilities:
    Vouchers and accounts payable $ 839 $ 567 $ 68
    Contracts and retainage payable 243 458 20
    Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
        withheld from employees 359 256 83
    Accrued interest 102 146 5
Accrued cleanup liability -                  -                     -                 
Accrued claims liability -                  -                     -                 
Due to other funds -                  43 41
Advances from other funds -                  -                     -                 
Other liabilities 699 18 -                 
Deferred revenue:
    General property taxes -                -                    -                
General obligation bonds payable -                  -                     -                 
Revenue bonds payable 4,210           2,390 335
Lease purchase revenue notes payable -                  -                     -                 
Capitalized lease obligations -                  -                     -                 
Compensated absences payable 62 72 25

Total current liabilities 6,514           3,950              577             

Noncurrent liabilities:
Accounts and accrued liabilities:
    Accrued landfill cleanup liability -                  2,531 -                 
    Accrued claims liability -                  -                     -                 
Deferred credit - future water rights 2,818 -                     -                 
Advances from other funds -                  -                     -                 
General obligation bonds payable
    (net of premium and refunding bond charges) -                  -                     -                 
Revenue bonds payable
    (net of premium and refunding bond charges) 28,487 40,964 1,790
Lease purchase revenue notes payable -                  -                     -                 
Capitalized lease obligations -                  -                     -                 
Compensated absences payable 496 463 32
Retiree health care benefit 82 64 22

Total noncurrent liabilities 31,883         44,022            1,844          

Total liabilities 38,397         47,972            2,421          
 

Net  position:
Net investment in capital assets 173,391 54,527 67,936
Restricted for:
    Legally restricted - emergency reserve -                  -                     -                 
    Capital projects 100              -                     -                 
Unrestricted 28,877 9,462 15,027

Total net position $ 202,368     $ 63,989          $ 82,963        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Statement of Net Position (Continued)

Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

54

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     174



Boulder Governmental
Municipal Downtown Nonmajor Total Activities -
Property Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Internal
Authority District Funds Funds Service Funds

$ -                $ 42 $ 4               $ 1,520         $ 1,910            
-                -                    -                721            1,060            

 
-                74 13             785            208               

163 97 -                513            59                 
-                -                    -                -                 594               
-                -                    -                -                 878               
-                -                    -                84              186               
-                -                    2               2                -                    
-                11 6               734            1,266            

-                1,944 58           2,002       238             
-                1,530 -                1,530         -                    
-                -                    -                6,935         -                    

1,364 -                    -                1,364         -                    
-                -                    -                -                 503               
-                -                    -                159            -                    

1,527         3,698            83             16,349       6,902            

 

-                -                    -                2,531         -                    
-                -                    -                -                 1,294            
-                -                    -                2,818         -                    
-                -                    16             16              -                    

-                12,221 -                12,221       -                    

-                -                    -                71,241       -                    
3,949 -                    -                3,949         -                    

-                -                    -                -                 9,730            
-                132 27             1,150         194               
-                39 4               211            11                 

3,949         12,392          47             94,137       11,229          

5,476         16,090          130           110,486     18,131          
 
 

14,842 14,546 641           325,883     52,142          

-                152               5               157            -                    
-                -                    -                100            -                    

656 3,973 720           58,715       40,471          

$ 15,498       $ 18,671          $ 1,366      384,855   $ 92,613        

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service
    fund activities related to enterprise funds 2,868         
Net position of business-type activities $ 387,723   

 

55

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     175



 
Stormwater

Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Operating revenues:
    Charges for services $ 24,558 $ 12,982 $ 5,133
    Leases, rents and royalties -                   -               -                  
        Total operating revenues 24,558         12,982     5,133          

Operating expenses:
    Personnel 6,419 4,581 1,565
    Non-personnel 6,027 3,754 1,480
    Depreciation and amortization 5,385 3,257 1,129
        Total operating expenses 17,831         11,592     4,174          

            Operating income (loss) 6,727           1,390       959             

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):  
    Interest and investment earnings 196 35 88
    Leases, rents and royalties 32 31 35
    Intergovernmental revenue 283 -               182
    Sales and use tax -                   -               -                  
    General property taxes -                   -               -                  
    Accommodations taxes -                   -               -                  
    Specific ownership & tobacco taxes -                   -               -                  
    Interest expense (1,394) (1,539) (45)
    Contribution expense - future water rights (1,777) -               -                  
    Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets 201 79 (42)
    Other, net 34 21 9
        Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (2,425)          (1,373)      227             

        Income (loss) before capital contributions
            transfers and extraordinary item 4,302           17            1,186          

Capital contributions 3,102 925 745
Transfers in 529 795 161
Transfers out (1,399) (1,443) (334)

        Changes in net position 6,534           294          1,758          

Total net position, beginning of year 195,834       63,695     81,205        

Total net position, end of year $ 202,368     $ 63,989   $ 82,963        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

56

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     176



 
Boulder Governmental

Municipal Downtown Nonmajor Total Activities -
Property Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Internal
Authority District Funds Funds Service Funds

$ -                     $ 4,187 $ 122            $ 46,982        $ 18,165           
2,336 -                 -                 2,336          -                    
2,336              4,187          122            49,318        18,165           

-                     1,372 263            14,200        2,646             
-                     4,264 211            15,736        5,814             

144 1,531 39              11,485        6,795             
144                 7,167          513            41,421        15,255           

2,192              (2,980)        (391)           7,897          2,910             

 
31 35 4                389             -                    

-                     173 -                 271             265                
-                     -                 -                 465             20                  
-                     119 -                 119             75                  
-                     1,913 40              1,953          -                    
-                     781 -                 781             -                    
-                     53 2                55               -                    

(335) (474) (1)               (3,788)        (376)              
-                     -                 -                 (1,777)        -                    
-                     (234) (55)             (51)             23                  
-                     (10)             2                56               1,557             

(304)               2,356          (8)               (1,527)        1,564             

1,888              (624)           (399)           6,370          4,474             

-                     24 19              4,815          235                
-                     1,486 432            3,403          748                

(17,435) (231) (48)             (20,890)      (2,364)           

(15,547)          655             4                (6,302)        3,093             

31,045            18,016        1,362         89,520           

$ 15,498            $ 18,671        $ 1,366       $ 92,613           

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service
    fund activities related to enterprise funds 744             
Change in net position of business-type activities $ (5,558)      

57

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     177



Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Cash flows from operating activities:
    Receipts from customers and users $ 24,525        $ 13,041         $ 4,944           
    Receipts from interfund services provided -                  -                   -                   
    Other receipts (payments) 34               21                9                  
    Refundable deposits receipts (payments) 466             (33)               (2)                 
    Payments to suppliers (6,280)        (4,062)         (1,495)          
    Payments to employees (6,366)        (4,590)         (1,569)          
    Payment for interfund services used -                  -                   -                   
Net cash provided (used) by
    operating activities 12,379        4,377           1,887           

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
    Payments (receipts) from (to) other funds 

on due from (due to) balances (870)            1                  (2)                 
    Payments from (to) other funds on advances 53               -                   -                   
    Leases, rents and royalties 32               31                35                
    Intergovernmental revenue 373             -                   148              
    Sales and use tax -                  -                   -                   
    General property taxes -                  -                   -                   
    Accommodations taxes -                  -                   -                   
    Specific ownership & tobacco taxes -                  -                   -                   

Interest on long-term debt -                  -                   -                   
    Transfers in -                  -                   -                   
    Transfers out -                  (648)             (173)             
Net cash provided (used) by
    noncapital financing activities (412)            (616)             8                  

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
    Acquisition and construction of capital assets (6,530)        (7,121)         (237)             
     Proceeds from sale or transfer

of property and equipment 300             142              139              
    Contractual payment - future water rights (2,340)        -                   -                   
    Proceeds from issuance of capital lease -                  -                   -                   
    Proceeds on long-term bonds issued -                  30,915         -                   
    Payment to refunded bond escrow agent -                  (30,618)       -                   
    Cost of issuance paid -                  (330)             -                   
    Principal paid on notes payable, bonds payable

and capitalized lease obligations (4,070)        (2,475)         (325)             
Payments on lease purchase obligations

    Interest paid on notes payable, bonds payable,
and capitalized lease obligations (1,297)        (1,685)         (53)               

    Payment received on note receivable due from
County for sale of land -                  -                   -                   

Net cash provided (used) for capital
    related financing activities (13,937)      (11,172)       (476)             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

58

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     178



Governmental
Boulder Activities

Municipal Downtown Nonmajor Total Internal
Property Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Service
Authority District Funds Funds Funds

$ 2,336           $ 4,137           $ 122         $ 49,105            $ 111                 
-                   -                   -               -                      18,138            
-                   (25)               2              41                   127                 
-                   -                   -               431                 (738)                
-                   (4,269)         (162)        (16,268)           (4,968)             
-                   (1,356)         (253)        (14,134)           (2,441)             
-                   -                   (48)          (48)                  -                      

2,336           (1,513)         (339)        19,127            10,229            

46                300              -               (525)                10                   
-                   2                  (2)            53                   1,327              
-                   173              -               271                 20                   
-                   -                   -               521                 284                 
-                   109              -               109                 -                      
-                   1,913           40            1,953              -                      
-                   781              -               781                 -                      
-                   53                2              55                   -                      
-                   -                   -               -                      -                      
-                   1,486           432         1,918              747                 

(161)             (231)             (48)          (1,261)             (1,368)             
  

(115)             4,586           424         3,875              1,020              

-                   (36)               23            (13,901)           (10,989)           

-                   -                   (55)          526                 (202)                
-                   -                   -               (2,340)             -                      
-                   -                   -               -                      3,241              
-                   7,819           -               38,734            -                      
-                   (7,856)         -               (38,474)           -                      
-                   (161)             -               (491)                -                      

(2,001)          (1,390)         -               (10,261)           (346)                
(347)                

(381)             (643)             (1)            (4,060)             -                      

127              -                   -               127                 -                      
  

(2,255)          (2,267)         (33)          (30,140)           (8,643)             

 (continued)

59

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     179



Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Cash flows from investing activities:
    Purchase of investment securities $ (14,885)      $ (5,981)         $ (6,931)          
    Proceeds from sale and maturities of

investment securities 15,371        12,426         4,974           
    Interest on investments 267             95                120              
Net cash provided (used) in
   investing activities 753             6,540           (1,837)          

Net increase in cash
    and cash equivalents (1,217)        (871)             (418)             

Cash and cash equivalents,
    January 1 2,008          1,189           778              

Cash and cash equivalents, 
    December 31 $ 791             $ 318              $ 360              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

Proprietary Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

60

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     180



Governmental
Boulder Activities

Municipal Downtown Nonmajor Total Internal
Property Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Service
Authority District Funds Funds Funds

 
$ -                   $ (2,056)         $ (440)        $ (30,293)           $ (23,222)           

-                   1,112           286         34,169            16,632            
34                51                77            644                 2,490              

  
34                (893)             (77)          4,520              (4,100)             

  
  

-                   (87)               (25)          (2,618)             (1,494)             
  
  

-                   194              44            4,213              2,639              
  
  

$ -                   $ 107              $ 19            $ 1,595              $ 1,145              

(continued)

61

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     181



Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 
    provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) $ 6,727          $ 1,390           $ 959              
Adjustments to reconcile net operating income
    (loss) to net cash provided (used)
    by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
    of deferred charges 5,337          3,257           1,115           
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses) -                  21                9                  
Change in assets and liabilities:
    (Increase) decrease in assets:

Accounts receivable -                  (39)               (189)             
Intergovernmental receivables -                  -                   -                   
Charges for services receivable -                  98                -                   
Inventory of materials and supplies 4                 -                   -                   
Other assets - prepaid expenses 47               -                   14                

    Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Vouchers and accounts payable (255)            (308)             (19)               
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
    withheld from employees -                  (2)                 -                   
Accrued claims liability -                  -                   -                   
Other liabilities -                  -                   -                   
Other liabilities - refundable deposits 466             (33)               (2)                 
Deferred revenue -                  -                   -                   
Compensated absences -                  (7)                 -                   
Retiree health care benefit 53               -                   -                   
        Total adjustments 5,652          2,987           928              

Net cash provided (used) by 
    operating activities $ 12,379        $ 4,377           $ 1,887           

Noncash investing, capital and financing activities:
  Assets acquired through:
        Capital contributions $ 3,102          $ 925              $ 745              
        Financed through accounts, contracts and retainage payable 243             458              20                
  Amortization of bond premium and issuance costs 115             171              14                
  Amortization of deferred loss on bond refundings 223             40                6                  
  Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments (181)            (142)             (68)               

$ 3,502          $ 1,452           $ 717              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Proprietary Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

62

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     182



Governmental
Boulder Activities

Municipal Downtown Nonmajor Total Internal
Property Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Service
Authority District Funds Funds Funds

$ 2,192           $ (2,980)         $ (391)        $ 7,897              $ 2,910              

144              1,531           43            11,427            6,760              
-                   (37)               (2)            (9)                    1,567              

-                   (50)               -               (278)                81                   
-                   -                   -               -                      (11)                  
-                   -                   -               98                   -                      
-                   -                   -               4                     -                      
-                   -                   -               61                   3                     

-                   22                2              (558)                (1,838)             

-                   (15)               9              (8)                    93                   
-                   -                   -               -                      95                   
-                   (15)               -               (15)                  84                   
-                   -                   -               431                 738                 
-                   -                   -               -                      (238)                
-                   25                -               18                   -                      
-                   6                  -               59                   (15)                  

144              1,467           52            11,230            7,319              

$ 2,336           $ (1,513)         $ (339)        $ 19,127            $ 10,229            

$ 17,274         $ -                   $ -               $ 22,046            $ -                      
-                   -                   -               721                 116                 
-                   42                -               342                 6                     
-                   13                -               282                 -                      
-                   13                (5)            (383)                (101)                

$ 17,274         $ 68                $ (5)            $ 23,008            $ 21                   

63

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     183



(This page left blank intentionally) 

64

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     184



FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
 
 

Pension Trust Funds account for the accumulation of resources to be used for retirement annuity payments at 
appropriate amounts and times in the future.  Resources are contributed by employees and the city at amounts 
determined by biennial actuarial studies and by State law. 
 
The City of Boulder has the following pension trust funds: 
 
Police Pension Fund – to account for retirement annuity payments for the city’s police officers. 
 
Fire Pension Fund – to account for retirement annuity payments for the city’s fire fighters. 

 
 

65

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     185



Assets:
    Equity in pooled cash and
        cash equivalents $ 8                
    Investments:
        U.S. Treasuries 281            
        U.S. Agencies & Instrumentalities 864            
        Mutual Funds 18,297       
        Equity Securities 4,594         
        Local Government Investment Pools 31              
        Money Market Funds 553            
        Real Estate Investment Trust 514            
        Corporate Bonds 343            
        Other 277            

Time Deposits 16              
    Receivables:
        Accrued interest 9                
Total assets 25,787       

Liabilities:
    Accounts and accrued liabilities:
        Accrued pensions payable 454            
Total liabilities 454            

Net position held in trust for
    pension benefits (a schedule of
    funding progress for each plan
    is presented in the Required
    Supplementary Information
    located after the Notes to
    the Financial Statements) $ 25,333       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Pension Trust Funds

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

66

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     186



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Pension Trust Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

Additions:  
    Pension contributions:
        City of Boulder $ 384          
        Employees 19            
            Total contributions 403          

    Investment earnings 2,962       
    Less investment expense (67)          
        Net investment loss 2,895       

            Total additions 3,298       
  
Deductions:  
    Benefits 3,277       
    Administrative 30            
            Total deductions 3,307       

Net decrease (9)            
 
Net position held in trust for 
    pension benefits:
        Beginning of year 25,342     
        End of year $ 25,333     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

67

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     187



(This page left blank intentionally) 

68

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     188



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

69

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     189



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

December 31, 2012 
 

Index 
 

 Page 
 
Note A  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  71 
Note B  Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund 
      Financial Statements  82 
Note C  Legal Compliance – Budgets  85 
Note D  Legal Compliance – TABOR  86 
Note E  Deposits and Investments  87 
Note F  Property Taxes Receivable  94 
Note G  Notes Receivable  94 
Note H  Other Receivables  95 
Note I  Capital Assets  96 
Note J  Risk Management  98 
Note K  Accrued Liabilities  100 
Note L  Property Tax Overcollection Liability  100 
Note M  Accrued Liability – Landfill Cleanup  101 
Note N  Deferred Credit –- Future Water Rights  102 
Note O  Long-Term Debt  103 
Note P  Interfund Receivables/Payables, and Transactions  112 
Note Q  Related Party Transactions  115 
Note R  Revolving Loan Program  116 
Note S  Restricted Net Position and Similar Fund Balance Limitations  116 
Note T  Commitments and Contingencies  116 
Note U  Pension and Retirement Plans  119 
Note V  Deferred Compensation Plans  132 
Note W  Other PostEmployment Benefit Plans (OPEB) Than Pensions  133 
Note X  Pledged Revenues  136 

 
 
 Required Supplementary Information: 
  Schedule of Funding Progress – Police Pension Fund  142 
  Schedule of Funding Progress – Fire Pension Fund  143 
  Schedule of Employer Contributions – Police and Fire Pension Funds  144 
  Schedule of Funding Progress – Boulder Retiree 
   Health Care Benefit Plan  145 
 
 

70

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     190



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial statements of the City of Boulder, Colorado (the city) have been prepared in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units.  The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  A summary of the city’s 
significant accounting policies follows: 
 
1. Reporting Entity 
 
The city is a municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado.  
It is a home rule city and adopted a charter pursuant to Article XX of the Constitution of the State of 
Colorado by vote of the electorate on October 30, 1917.  The council/manager form of government was 
adopted in the city’s charter and has been in operation since January 1918.  The City Council, an elected 
body of nine members, is the policy-making arm of the government.  Eight of the members of the Council 
are elected for staggered four-year terms and one is elected for a two-year term, with five council 
members elected in November of each odd-numbered year.  A City Manager, appointed by the Council, 
serves as the city’s Chief Administrative Officer. 
 
In accordance with the Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, the 
basic financial statements include all funds, organizations, agencies, boards, commissions and authorities 
for which the city is financially accountable. The city has also considered all other potential organizations 
for which the nature and significance of their relationships with the city are such that exclusion would 
cause the city’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial accountability. These 
criteria include appointing a majority of an organization’s governing body, and 1) the ability of the city to 
impose its will on that organization or 2) the potential for that organization to provide specific benefits to 
or impose specific financial burdens on the city.   
 
Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are in substance part of the city’s operations 
and so data from these units are combined with data of the primary government.  Each discretely 
presented component unit, on the other hand, is reported in a separate column in the government-wide 
financial statements to emphasize that it is legally separate from the city and the primary government. 
 
Based upon the application of these criteria the city has identified five blended component units and no 
discretely presented component units.  Each of these component units has a December 31 year-end and is 
included in the accompanying financial statements. 
 

71

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     191



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
1. Reporting Entity (Continued) 
 
Blended Component Units 
 
Downtown Commercial District and University Hill Commercial District (the Districts) – These Districts 
provide parking facilities and services to citizens and are public subdivisions of the State of Colorado, 
administered by the City Council of the City of Boulder in an ex-officio capacity as its Board of 
Directors.  The Districts operate under a formal budget adopted in conjunction with the budget of the city.  
The Districts are reported as blended component unit Enterprise Funds (proprietary funds); no separate 
financial statements are issued.  In 2007, the Central Area General Improvement District was renamed the 
Downtown Commercial District and the University Hill General Improvement District was renamed the 
University Hill Commercial District.  The funds were renamed to more appropriately reflect the broad 
purpose that the operations had come to serve over the last few years.   
 
Boulder Municipal Property Authority (the Authority) – The Authority is responsible for the acquisition 
and construction of certain city properties and facilities and is a nonprofit corporation and instrumentality 
of the city, administered by the city Council of the City of Boulder in an ex-officio capacity as its Board 
of Directors.  The Authority operates under a formal budget adopted in conjunction with the budget of the 
city.  The Authority’s activities are reported as a blended component unit Enterprise Fund (a proprietary 
fund); no separate financial statements are issued. 
 
Boulder Junction Access GIDs – In November 2010, two Access General Improvement Districts (GID) 
were established in the phase one area of Boulder Junction in order to implement the transit-oriented 
development goals of the City of Boulder.  These services will be provided entirely to the primary 
government of the city.  The two access districts were created to provide for shared, unbundled parking 
and for travel demand management programs.  The Boulder Junction Access GID – Travel Demand 
Management (TDM) fund is accounted for as a special revenue fund while the Boulder Junction Access 
GID – Parking is accounted for as an enterprise fund.  These are both reported as blended component 
units and do not issue separate financial statements. 
 
Related Organizations 
 
A related organization is an organization for which the city appoints a voting majority of the board but for 
which the city is not financially accountable, either because the city does not impose its will upon the 
organization or a financial benefit or burden relationship does not exist.  These related organizations are 
not included within the city’s financial reporting entity. 
 

72

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     192



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
1. Reporting Entity (Continued) 
 
Related Organizations (Continued) 
 
The following two organizations have been identified as related organizations. 
 

Boulder Housing Partners is a separate related organization whose primary purpose is to develop, 
acquire, subsidize and manage housing units for low to moderate income families and elderly persons 
and to provide tenant support services.   
 
Downtown Boulder Business Improvement District is a separate related organization whose primary 
purpose is to provide promotion, marketing, enhanced maintenance and management functions for the 
district.   

 
2. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the city and its blended component 
units.  For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are 
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for 
support. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or 
segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, 
even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements.  Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 

73

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     193



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements 
are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of 
the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recorded as revenues in the year for which they are 
levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed 
by the provider have been met. 
 
The fiduciary funds recognize plan member contributions in the period in which the contributions are due.  
Employer contributions to each plan are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal 
commitment to provide the contributions.  Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with the terms of each plan. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collected within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the city 
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal 
period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims 
and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.  
 
Sales and use taxes, property taxes when budgeted for, other taxes, charges for services, 
intergovernmental revenues when eligibility requirements are met, and interest and investment earnings 
associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been 
recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  The portion of special assessments receivable due 
within the current fiscal period is also considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current 
period.  All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received 
by the government. 
 
The city reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

General Fund – The General Fund is the city’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial 
resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund – This special revenue fund accounts for the acquisition and 
maintenance of greenbelt land and parks.  Financing is provided by sales taxes and the issuance of 
long-term bonds and notes payable. 

 
  

74

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     194



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued) 
 

Transportation Fund – This special revenue fund accounts for the construction, operation and 
maintenance of all major thoroughfares, local streets, bikeways, walkways and city-owned parking.  
Financing is provided by sales taxes, the city’s share of the County Road and Bridge tax, State 
Highway Users’ tax, State Auto Registration fees and Federal and State reimbursements through the 
Colorado Department of Transportation. 
 
2011 Capital Improvement Fund – This capital project fund accounts for the projects and 
improvements throughout the city approved by the voters in 2011.  These improvements are funded 
by General Fund Bonds (Capital Improvement Projects) Series 2012. 

 
The city reports the following major enterprise funds: 
 

Water Utility Fund – This enterprise fund was established to finance and account for the acquisition, 
operation and maintenance of water facilities and services.  It is predominately self-supported by user 
charges but also receives revenues from hydroelectric sales and plant investment and connection fees. 
 
Wastewater Utility Fund – This enterprise fund was established to finance and account for the 
acquisition, operation and maintenance of wastewater facilities and services.  It is predominately self-
supported by user charges but also receives revenues from surcharge fees, cogeneration sales, and 
plant investment and connection fees. 
 
Stormwater and Flood Management Fund – This enterprise fund was established to finance and 
account for the acquisition, operation and maintenance of stormwater and flood management facilities 
and services.  It is predominately self-supported by user charges but also receives revenues from the 
Urban Drainage District and plant investment fees. 
 
Boulder Municipal Property Authority – The Boulder Municipal Property Authority is responsible for 
the acquisition and construction of certain city properties and facilities.  Funding is derived from the 
issuance of lease purchase revenue debt.  Debt service is paid with income received from the city in 
the form of base rentals that is derived from the acquired or constructed assets.  The city treats this 
fund as major for public interest purpose. 

 
Downtown Commercial District – This district provides parking facilities and services to citizens in 
the downtown Boulder area.  It is predominately self-supported by user charges but also receives 
general property and other tax revenues. 

 

75

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     195



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued) 
 
Additionally, the city reports the following fund types: 
 

Internal service funds are established to finance and account for services and/or commodities required 
by other funds, on a cost reimbursement basis.  The city has funds that account for the costs of 
acquiring, operating and maintaining certain types of equipment and facilities, costs for city-wide 
insurance programs and funding for certain governmental fund compensated absences liabilities. 
 
Pension trust funds account for the accumulation of resources to be used for retirement annuity 
payments for the city’s police officers and fire fighters. 

 
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, 
or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions, 
including special assessments.  Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than 
as program revenues.  Likewise, general revenues include all taxes, interest and investment earnings, and 
miscellaneous revenues. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of 
the Water Utility Fund, Wastewater Utility Fund, Stormwater and Flood Management Fund and 
Downtown Commercial District are charges to customers for sales and services.  The Water Utility Fund 
also recognizes as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting 
new customers to the system.  Operating revenues in the blended component unit Boulder Municipal 
Property Authority are received from the city in the form of base rentals on open space and parks 
property.  Operating expenses for enterprise and internal service funds include the cost of sales and 
services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and expenses not 
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
4. Budgets 
 
Budgets are adopted on a budgetary basis as described in Note C.  The city budgets revenues and 
expenditures/expenses for all funds except Fiduciary Funds and the Gifts and Contributions Fund.  
Pension Trust Fiduciary Funds each have an independent board, which review all expense, refund, 
disability and investment transactions.  The Gifts and Contributions Fund does not have an adopted 
budget as control over expenditures is provided by the one grantor to the fund, the Library Foundation.  
All annual appropriations lapse at year ended December 31, 2012. 
 
The budget of the city is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation 
to estimated revenues and represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented 
and controlled.  The City Charter requires that the city establish a budgetary system for general operations 
and prohibits expending funds for which there is no legal appropriation. 

76

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     196



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
4. Budgets (Continued) 
 
Local city code states that total expenditures for each fund cannot exceed the amount appropriated.  The 
fund is, therefore, the level of control on which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations.  In 
the Enterprise Funds, budgeting at the operating, capital and debt service expense level provides further 
control. 
 
Although appropriations lapse at year-end, subsequent year’s appropriations provide authority to 
complete transactions involving encumbrances outstanding at year-end.  The City Charter stipulates that, 
at any time after the adoption of the annual appropriation ordinance and after at least one week’s public 
notice, the City Council may transfer unused fund balances appropriated for one purpose to another 
purpose and may by ordinance appropriate available revenues not included in the annual budget.  This 
provision does not apply to the Water Utility Fund, Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund or Library 
Fund.  Available fund balances not required for operations and capital improvements during the year are 
included in the annual appropriations ordinance.  This is done to ensure that excess funds are available for 
use if the need arises after the adoption of that ordinance.  Council approval is still required to transfer 
unallocated amounts to active operating or capital improvement budgets. 
 
5. Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents/Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The city utilizes the pooled cash concept whereby cash balances of each of the city’s funds are pooled and 
invested by the city in short-term certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements, money market deposit 
accounts, mutual funds, local government investment pools and United States Treasury obligations. 
 
The investment pool is used to maximize interest income while protecting principal.  Securities are 
selected according to their risk, marketability and diversification.  Income earnings or losses arising from 
the investment of pooled cash are allocated to the various funds based on their respective daily average 
equity in pooled cash. 
 
At year-end, cash in bank accounts, cash on hand, cash held by trustees, certificates of deposit (with an 
original maturity date less than 90 days) and money market deposit accounts, but not to include restricted 
cash, are classified as Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents.  All other securities within pooled 
cash are reclassified for reporting purposes to investments. 
 

77

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     197



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
6. Investments 
 
In addition to the cash and cash equivalents mentioned in Note A5, the city authorizes investments in the 
following securities for the general pooled investments.  The Fire and Police Pension Boards adopt and 
establish separate investment policies for each of the Pension Trust Funds.  The city’s authorization for 
general pooled investments is more restrictive than Colorado State statutes and allows the following types 
of investments:  
 

 Bonds or other interest-bearing obligations of the United States of America or its agencies thereof 
and Local Government Investment Pools that invest therein. 

 Repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements. 
 Obligations secured by first liens on real estate or by pledge of specific income or revenue and 

issued, insured, or guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the United States government or 
State of Colorado. 

 Commercial paper (with a rating at the time of purchase in its highest rating categories by one or 
more nationally recognized rating organizations). 

 Eligible bankers acceptances. 
 Money market mutual funds (with a rating at the time of purchase of at least AAAm by Standard 

and Poor’s or Aaa by Moody’s). 
 Corporate Bonds, rated at least AA by Standard & Poor’s or Aa2 by Moody’s.  Authorized 

corporates shall be limited to corporations organized and operated within the United States with a 
net worth in excess of $250,000,000. 

 
The city records long-term investments at fair value in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31 using 
quoted market prices. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value.  
Pension fund real estate investments are stated at an estimated market value using an annual external 
appraisal service hired by the real estate company’s management team.  Other pension fund investments 
for which market quotations are not readily available are valued at their fair values as determined by the 
custodian with the assistance of a valuation service.  The city authorizes the purchase and sale of 
investments, except for those held in the Pension Trust funds, which are controlled by the Fire and Police 
Pension Boards as trustees.  
 
Since many of the city monies are designated for specific uses, maturities are selected to coincide with the 
periods these monies will be spent.  For those securities sold prior to maturity, the specific identification 
method is used in determining gain or loss.  Investment earnings are recorded when earned since they are 
measurable and available. 
 
The city invests in two external local government investment pools, COLOTRUST and CSAFE, which 
are not SEC-registered.  These pools are short-term money market funds organized in conformity with 
Part 7 of Article 75 of Title 24, Colorado Revised Statutes, subject to enforcement by the Colorado 
Securities Commissioner.  The fair value of the position in the pools is the same as the value of the pool 
shares. 

78

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     198



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
7. Interfund Receivables/Payables 
 
Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the 
end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “interfund receivables/payables” (i.e., the current portion of 
interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the noncurrent portion of interfund loans).  Any 
residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.” 
 
Certain eliminations have been made as prescribed by GASB Statement No. 34 in regards to interfund 
activities, payables and receivables.  All internal balances in the Statement of Net Assets have been 
eliminated except those representing balances between the governmental activities and the business-type 
activities, which are presented as internal balances and eliminated in the total primary government 
column.  In the Statement of Activities, internal service fund transactions have been eliminated; however, 
those transactions between governmental and business-type activities have not been eliminated. 
 
8. Inventories 
 
Inventories of a material amount are maintained in the General Fund for postage, the Recreation Activity 
Fund for golf course clubhouse merchandise and the Water Utility Fund for materials supply.  These 
inventories are valued at lower of cost or market, using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.  The costs of 
these inventories are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.  All other 
inventories in the city are considered immaterial and are expensed when purchased. 
 
9. Restricted Assets 
 
Pooled and nonpooled investments restricted for specified uses by gift, fee, grant and retainage 
requirements are classified as “restricted assets” in the General, Special Revenue and Internal Service 
Funds.  Pooled investments and cash held by paying agents have been restricted in the Capital Project and 
Enterprise Funds for future capital improvements in compliance with bond ordinances.  Additional pooled 
investments in the Debt Service and Enterprise Funds have been restricted for debt service bond reserves 
in compliance with bond ordinances. 
 
10. Capital Assets 
 
All capital assets, including “Public Domain” infrastructure capital assets such as bridges, streets and 
sidewalks are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the 
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.  Capital assets are defined as assets with an 
initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 ($50,000 for infrastructure) and an estimated useful life in 
excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Donated assets 
are valued at fair value on the date donated.  The city does not capitalize historical treasure or works of 
art.  Costs incurred for the purchase or construction of capital assets for governmental activities are 
recorded as capital outlay expenditures in the governmental funds. 

79

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     199



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
10. Capital Assets (Continued) 
 
Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  Interest 
incurred during the construction phase of capital assets, net of any related interest income, is included as 
part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed for business-type activities.  Interest capitalized in 
2012 totaled $308,846. 
 
Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is charged as an expense against operations.  Accumulated 
depreciation is reported on the government-wide financial statements.  Depreciation has been provided 
over the estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.   
 
The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
 Buildings 10-50 years 
 Improvements other than buildings 20 years 
 Infrastructure 20-75 years 
 Utility plant in service 30-40 years 
 Undergrounds 30-75 years 
 Machinery, equipment and vehicles 3-20 years 
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the capital asset or materially 
extend the asset’s life are not capitalized.  Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the 
remaining life of the capital asset, as applicable. 
 
Upon sale or retirement of a capital asset, the cost and related accumulated depreciation, if applicable, are 
eliminated from the respective accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in the results of 
operations. 
 
11. Compensated Absences 
 
Upon termination or retirement, all unused vacation pay, unused sick pay based on certain service 
requirements, an appreciation bonus dependent upon employee length of service, and compensation time 
per the police employees contract, must be paid to the employee.  These compensated absences are 
recognized when earned in proprietary fund types and when due in governmental fund types.  A liability 
for these amounts is reported in the government-wide financial statements when earned. 
 
12. Long-Term Obligations 
 
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net assets. Bond premiums and 
discounts, losses on refunding, and issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds 
using the effective interest rate method.  

80

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     200



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
12. Long-Term Obligations (Continued) 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, losses 
on refunding, as well as bond issuance costs in the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is 
reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing 
sources while discounts on debt issuances and losses on debt refunding are reported as other financing 
uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, and debt principal 
payments are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
Debt service for the major utility funds is paid from monies provided by those funds.  The blended 
component unit Boulder Municipal Property Authority pays debt service from revenues received from the 
city in the form of base rentals on open space and parks property. 
 
13. Fund Balances and Net Position 
 
In the governmental funds financial fund statements, there are five categories that we have used.  These 
include nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned. 
 

Nonspendable – this category pertains to any fund equity that has permanent limitations on it.  This 
includes prepaid expenditures, inventory, and endowments.  These items cannot be converted to cash 
and, therefore, are not an available resource for the city.  
 
Restricted – funds are reported as restricted when constraints are imposed by creditors, grantors, laws 
or regulations of other governments, or by law through constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation.  Any constraint imposed by an outside entity on the use of funds for a specific purpose 
results in the fund balance being shown as restricted. 
 
Committed – Any formal action, ordinance or resolution, of City Council, the highest level of 
decision making authority that places constraints on the use of funds to a specific purpose is 
categorized as committed fund equity. 
 
Assigned – This category is used when the intent of the city is to use the funds for a specific purpose. 
The City Manager or Chief Financial Officer of the city may assign fund balance to specific purposes 
pursuant to the general authority granted within the City Charter Articles V & VI.  
 
Unassigned – This classification is for fund balance that does not meet the criteria for inclusion in one 
of the other four classifications. 

 

81

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     201



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
13. Fund Balances and Net Position (Continued) 
 
Order of spending:  When expenditures are incurred that can use funds from more than one classification, 
the city will generally determine the order which the funds are used on a case-by-case basis, taking into 
account any applicable requirements of grant agreements, contracts, business circumstances, or other 
constraints.  If no other constraints exist, the order of spending of resources will be restricted, committed, 
assigned and lastly, unassigned. The city has a target of maintaining a general fund 
emergency/stabilization reserve at a 10% minimum and a 15% maximum, as conditions allow.   
 
The fund balance of certain special revenue and capital project funds have been restricted where the fund 
was created through legislation that includes a legally enforceable restriction on the use of revenues 
(Note S).   
 
In the proprietary funds financial statements, there are three categories used.  These include net 
investment in capital assets; restricted and unrestricted. 
 
Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the 
outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those 
assets.  Net investment in capital assets, excludes unspent bond proceeds.  Unspent bond proceeds as of 
December 31, 2012 totaled $51,045,577 consisting of $2,934,796 for the Water Utility Fund, $670,138 
for the Wastewater Utility Fund, $324,984 for the Stormwater and Flood Management Fund, $239,207 
for the Downtown Commercial District Fund, $46,227,952 for Capital Bond Proceeds, and $648,500 for 
other governmental funds. 
 
Fiduciary funds report net position held in trust for pension benefits. 
 
 
NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
    STATEMENTS 
 
1. Explanation of Certain Differences Between the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet and the 

Government-wide Statement of Net Assets 
 
The city includes a reconciliation between fund balance-total governmental funds and net assets-
governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net assets.   
 

82

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     202



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
    STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
1. Explanation of Certain Differences Between the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet and the 

Government-wide Statement of Net Assets (Continued) 
 
One element of that reconciliation explains that “capital assets used in governmental activities are not 
financial resources and are not reported within the funds.”  The details of this difference are as follows 
(amounts in 000’s):   
 

Governmental Fund 
Capital Assets

Internal Service Fund 
Capital Assets

Total Capital Assets - 
Governmental Activities

Land and easements 267,004$                102$                         267,106$                         
Buildings 24,650                    81,683                      106,333                           
Improvements other than buildings 58,151                    8,464                        66,615                             
Infrastructure 376,187                  -                            376,187                           
Machinery and equipment 3,329                      36,792                      40,121                             
Construction-in-progress 36,276                    4,071                        40,347                             

Total capital assets 765,597                  131,112                    896,709                           
Less accumulated depreciation (313,186)              (69,616)                   (382,802)                        

Capital assets, net 452,411$               61,496$                   513,907$                        

 
Another reconciling item explains that “long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and 
payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.”  The details of this difference 
are as follows (amounts in 000’s):  

 
General obligation bonds 87,242$            
Taxable obligation bonds 8,531                
Revenue bonds 2,733                
Compensated absences, excluding internal service funds 10,913              
Loans payable 250                   
Retiree health care benefits payable, excluding internal service funds 1,420                
Interest payable, excluding internal service funds 925                   
Governmental fund long-term liabilities 112,014$          

 
 

83

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     203



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
    STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2. Explanation of Certain Differences Between the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances and the Government-wide Statement of Activities 
 
The city includes a reconciliation between net changes in fund balances-total governmental funds and 
changes in net assets of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of 
activities.  One element of that reconciliation states that “debt proceeds provide current financial 
resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net 
assets.  Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment 
reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.  This amount is the net effect of these 
differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items.”   
 
The details of the $44,169 decrease are as follow (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Debt issued or incurred:
Issuance of General Obligation Bonds (54,830)$         
Increase in compensated absences (128)               
Increase in retiree health care benefit (235)               

Total debt issued or incurred (55,193)          

Principal repayments or reductions
Repayments 10,550            
Amortization of debt premium 608                 
Amortization of deferred loss on bond refundings (153)               

Total payments or reductions 11,005            

Other long term liabilities
Deferral of new cost of issuance 451                 
Amortization of cost of issuance (119)               
Less: change in accrued interest payable (313)               

Total other long term liabilities 19                    

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances – 
total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net assets 
of governmental activities – debt and related items (44,169)$         

 
 
 

84

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     204



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE C – LEGAL COMPLIANCE – BUDGETS 
 
City management, with the approval of the Budget Office, may transfer budgeted amounts within a fund 
without City Council approval.  Excluded are transfers between operating, capital and debt service 
budgets in the Enterprise Funds.  The City Manager must approve increases and decreases to 
appropriations and estimated revenues in the Internal Service Funds. 
 
The amended budget appropriations were comparable to the original appropriations adopted by the City 
Council.  Some of the more significant changes are summarized below: 
 

1) $1,177,015 increase in the General Fund due to projects that were started in 2011 with ongoing 
expenditures in 2012 for the recycling center at 6400 Arapahoe; 

2) $2,151,047 increase in the General Fund related to Boulder’s Energy Future; 
3) $1,176,542 increase in the Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund for 2011 capital carryovers. 

These expenditures were for acquisitions that started in 2011 and completed in 2012; 
4) $1,224,000 increase in the Transportation Fund for the capital carryover from 2011.  The baseline 

Underpass project began in 2011 and incurred expenditures in 2012;  
5) $1,300,339 increase in the Transportation Development Fund for the capital carryover from 2011.  

The expenditures in this fund were also part of the Baseline Underpass project, which began in 
2011 and continued in 2012;   

6) $54,829,997 increase in the 2011 Capital Improvement Fund related to capital projects funded by 
the General Obligation Bonds issued in March 2012.  Most of these capital projects involve road 
and bridge repairs; 

7) $1,460,000 increase in the Fleet Replacement Fund for the costs associated with snow equipment 
and loader purchasing. 
 

The city’s basis of budgeting differs from GAAP in several ways: 
 

GAAP expenditures not treated as expenditures using the basis of budgeting: 
 All fund types – adjustment to accrued salaries, wages and amounts withheld from employees 

adjustment to compensated absences, adjustment to accrued interest payable (certain debt). 
 Proprietary fund types – depreciation and amortization of deferred charges, bond premiums 

and deferred refunding losses, capital assets reassigned to other funds. 
Expenditures using the basis of budgeting not treated as GAAP expenditures: 

 All fund types – encumbrances, payments on advances from other funds, intrafund transfers, 
adjustments to accrued interest payable (certain debt). 

 Proprietary fund types – capital outlay including capital assets acquired through issuance of 
long-term lease purchase revenue notes, principal retirement, reduction in deferred credit, 
refunding of debt. 

GAAP revenues not treated as revenues using the basis of budgeting: 
 All fund types – fair market value adjustment to investments. 

Revenues using the basis of budgeting not treated as GAAP revenues: 
 Proprietary fund types – long-term debt proceeds. 

 

85

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     205



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE D – LEGAL COMPLIANCE – TABOR 
 
The voters of Colorado at the general election held in the State on November 3, 1992 approved an 
amendment to the Colorado Constitution (Article X, Section 20 “The Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights” or 
TABOR).  The language of TABOR applies to the State and all local governments, including the city. 
 
TABOR generally requires that the voters of the city approve any new tax, increase of an existing tax, 
property tax mill levy increase, assessed valuation ratio increase, tax extension or tax policy change of the 
city that results in an increase in taxes.  TABOR also limits increases in the city’s property tax revenue 
over the prior year to the rate of inflation plus the net percentage change in the actual value of all real 
property in the city from construction of improvements and additions to taxable real property, unless 
otherwise approved by the voters.  In addition to revenue limits, TABOR also limits increases in the city’s 
spending over the prior year to the rate of inflation plus the net percentage change in the actual value for 
all real property in the city from construction of improvements and additions to taxable real property, 
unless otherwise approved by the voters.  The initial base years for this limit on spending increases by the 
city are the 1992 fiscal year of the city and 1991 property taxes collected in 1992.  Any revenues 
collected in excess of these limits on spending and property tax revenue are required to be refunded 
during the next fiscal year. 
 
On November 2, 1993, the voters within the City of Boulder approved a ballot question which authorizes 
the city to collect, retain and expend the full proceeds of the city’s sales and use tax, admissions tax, 
accommodations tax and nonfederal grants notwithstanding any TABOR restrictions.   
 
At the November 8, 1994 election, the voters approved an increase in the city’s trash tax and also 
approved an education excise tax.  Both of these ballot issues included language which allowed the city to 
collect and spend the full proceeds of the tax and any interest earnings thereon. 
 
On November 5, 1996, the voters within the City of Boulder approved a ballot question by a vote of 
21,832 to 16,170 which removed the TABOR restriction on all revenues (except property tax) and 
expenditures of the city, eliminated the emergency reserve requirements, and authorized the collection, 
retention and expenditure of all revenues of the city free from current revenue and expenditure limitations 
and from any limitations that may be enacted in the future without the amendment of the City Charter by 
the electors of the city. 
 
On November 4, 2008, the voters within the City of Boulder approved a ballot question which removed 
the remaining TABOR restriction on property tax revenues collected in 2009 and beyond.  The increase in 
retained taxes starting in tax collection year 2009 will be limited to 1/2 mill per year until the full amount 
of the existing city property tax levy of 11.981 mills is restored and retained.   
 
TABOR remains in full effect for the blended component units Downtown Commercial District and 
University Hill Commercial District. 
 
TABOR is very complex and open to interpretation.  However, at December 31, 2012, the city believes it 
was in compliance with TABOR (see Note L).   

86

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     206



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
At December 31, 2012, the city had the following in cash and investments (in 000’s): 
 

Cash and deposits 5,267$             
Investments 288,981          

Total 294,248$         
 

 
Cash and investments are reported in the financial statements as follows (in 000’s): 
 

Citywide Investments
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 5,259$              
Investments 208,069            
Restricted investments 55,142              

268,470            
Fiduciary Fund Investments

Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 8                       
Investments 25,770              

25,778              

Total 294,248$         
 

 
Deposits 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits.  For deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the 
city’s deposits may not be returned.  Title 2, Chapter 10 of the Boulder Revised Code (1981) requires that 
depositories belong to the FDIC and qualify as a depository of public funds in the state under the 
Colorado Public Deposit Protection Act (PDPA) as defined in 24-75-603, C.R.S. As of December 31, 
2012, all financial institutions holding deposits for the City of Boulder have been identified as eligible 
public depositories under PDPA by the State of Colorado Division of Banking.  PDPA requires that any 
amounts on deposit in excess of federal insurance levels must be collateralized by eligible collateral as 
determined by the PDPA.  PDPA allows the financial institution to create a single collateral pool for all 
public funds held.  The pool is to be maintained by another institution, or held in trust for all the 
uninsured public deposits as a group.  The market value of the collateral must be at least equal to 102% of 
the uninsured deposits.  
 

87

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     207



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Deposits (Continued) 
 
At December 31, 2012, the city had cash on hand of $28,230.  In addition, at December 31, 2012, the 
carrying amount of the city’s deposits at JPMorgan Chase was $5,238,859 while the bank statement 
balance was $6,852,220.  On November 9, 2010, the FDIC issued a final rule to implement Section 343 of 
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act that provides temporary unlimited 
deposit insurance coverage for noninterest-bearing transaction accounts at all FDIC insured depository 
institutions.  The insurance coverage went into effect on December 31, 2010, and will remain in effect 
until December 31, 2012.  The city’s operating account falls under this coverage as it is a noninterest-
bearing account.  As of December 31, 2012, all of the city’s deposits are fully insured by FDIC.   
 
Investments – Citywide (excludes Fiduciary Funds) 
 
As of December 31, 2012, the city had the following investments: 
 

Investment Type
Fair Value

(000's) 

Local Government
Investment Pools 30,353$            

Money Market Mutual Funds 880                   
U.S. Treasuries 25,111              
U.S. Instrumentalities 196,877            
Time Deposits 9,990                

Total 263,211$         
 

 
Credit Risk – Investments.  Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will 
not fulfill its obligations.  Title 2, Chapter 10 of the Boulder Revised Code (1981) limits the city’s 
investment activity to specific types of investments as disclosed in Note A6.  Rating requirements for 
Federal Instrumentality securities are not addressed within the code but it does limit investments in 
commercial paper to issues with a credit rating of at least A-1 by Standard and Poor’s or P-1 by Moody’s.  
Credit rating requirements for eligible banker’s acceptances are not addressed.  Local government 
investment pools and money market mutual funds must have a rating at the time of purchase of at least 
AAAm by Standard and Poor’s or Aaa by Moody’s.  Corporate bonds must have a credit rating of at least 
AA by Standard & Poor’s or Aa2 by Moody’s.  
 

88

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     208



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments – Citywide (excludes Fiduciary Funds) (Continued) 
 
As of December 31, 2012, the city held investments with the following credit ratings: 
 

Issuer
Fair Value

(000's) 
Standard & 

Poors Moody's

U.S. Instrumentalities
FHLB 78,042$            AA+ Aaa
FNMA 37,366              AA+ Aaa
FFCB 37,113              AA+ Aaa
FHLMC 44,356              AA+ Aaa

Local Government Investment Pools 30,353              AAAm N/A

Ratings

 
 
Interest Rate Risk – Investments.  For investments, this is the risk that changes in interest rates will 
adversely affect fair market values.  In accordance with Title 2, Chapter 10 of the Boulder Revised Code 
(1981) the weighted average maturity of the city’s portfolio shall at no time exceed five years.  As of 
December 31, 2012, the weighted average maturity of the city’s pooled investment portfolio was 1.47 
years as detailed in the following chart: 
 

Investment Type
Fair Value

(000's) 
Weighted Average

Maturity (years)

U.S. Treasuries 25,111$            1.20
FHLB 78,042              1.40
FNMA 37,366              2.76
FFCB 37,113              0.75
FHLMC 44,356              1.50
Time Deposits 9,990                0.00
Local Government

Investment Pools 30,353              1.61
Money Market Mutual Funds 880                   0.00

Total fair value
Portfolio weighted average maturity 263,211$         

1.47
 

 
Custodial Credit Risk – Investments.  This is the risk that, in the event of the counterparty’s failure, the 
city will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the 
possession of an outside party.  In accordance with the Boulder Revised Code, the city utilizes a third-
party safekeeping arrangement with JP Morgan Chase, N.A. to minimize custodial credit risk.   

89

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     209



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments – Citywide (excludes Fiduciary Funds) (Continued) 
 
As of December 31, 2012, the city is invested in Colorado Government Liquid Asset Trust Plus 
(COLOTRUST Plus), Colorado Government Liquid Asset Trust Prime (COLOTRUST Prime) and the 
Colorado Surplus Asset Fund Trust (CSAFE), investment vehicles established for local government 
entities in Colorado to pool surplus funds.  The pools are regulated by the Colorado Securities 
Commissioner.  These pools operate similar to a money market fund and each share is equal in value to 
$1.00.  Investments of the pools consist of U.S. Treasury bills, notes and note strips, commercial paper 
allowed by state statute and repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. Treasury securities and or U.S. 
Instrumentalities.  A designated custodial bank provides safekeeping and depository services to the pools 
in connection with the direct investment and withdrawal functions of the pools.  Securities owned by the 
pools are held by the Federal Reserve Bank in the account maintained for the custodial bank.  The 
custodian’s internal records identify the investments owned by the specific pool. 
 
As of December 31, 2012, the city had $879,627 in money market mutual funds invested in the Goldman 
Sachs Treasury Obligations Fund, held in trust accounts at Suntrust Bank Escrow Services.  The fund’s 
securities are valued using the amortized cost method as permitted by Rule 2a-7 under the Investment 
Company Act of 1940.  Under Rule 2a-7, the fund may invest only in U.S. dollar-denominated securities 
that are determined to present minimal credit risk and meet certain other criteria, including conditions 
relating to maturity, portfolio diversification, liquidity and credit quality.  The fund invests only in U.S. 
Treasury obligations and repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. Treasury obligations.  The fund 
seeks to maintain a stable net asset value of $1.00 per share.   
 
The above investment pools and money market mutual funds are not exposed to custodial credit risk 
because their existence is not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk – Investments.  Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to 
the concentration of the city’s investment in a single issuer.  The Boulder Revised Code does not 
specifically address concentration of credit risk.  5% or more of the city’s investments were held by the 
following issuers as of December 31, 2012: 
 

Issuer

Fair Market
Value

(in 000's) 

Percentage
of Total
Portfolio

Federal Home Loan Bank 78,042$                     30%
Federal Farm Credit Bureau 37,113                       14%
Federal National Mortgage Association 37,366                       14%
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 44,356                       17%

 
 

90

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     210



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments – Fiduciary Funds 
 
As of December 31, 2012, the Police and Fire Pension Funds had the following investments: 
 

Investment Type
 Fair Value
(in 000's) <1 1-2 3-5 5-10 >10

Local Government
Investment Pools 31$                         31$         -$           -$           -$           -$           

U.S. Treasuries 281                         20           16           134         -             111         
U.S. Instrumentalities

and Agencies 864                         84           96           70           -             614         
Time deposits 16                           -             8             8             -             -             
Corporate Bonds 343                         -             -             222         121         -             
Subtotal 1,535                     135$      120$      434$       121$      725$      

Money Market Funds 553                         
Mutual Funds 18,297                    
Equities 4,594                      
Real Estate Investment Trust 514                         
Other 277                         

Total 25,770$                 

Maturities in Years

 
Credit Risk – Pension Investments.  This is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment 
will not fulfill its obligation.  The “Old Hire” Police Pension Fund investment policy was revised on 
October 9, 2012 and adopted on December 10, 2012. The “Old Hire” Fire Pension Fund investment 
policy was revised on August 2012, and formally adopted on December 10, 2012.  The “Old Hire” Police 
Pension Fund has a risk tolerance of no more than a 16.5% annual loss, with a statistical confidence level 
of 95%.  The “Old Hire” Fire Pension Fund has a risk tolerance of no more than a 16.3% annual loss, with 
a statistical confidence level of 95%.   
 

91

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     211



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments – Fiduciary Funds (Continued) 
 
At December 31, 2012 the pension funds held investments with credit ratings as follows: 
 

Issuer
Fair Value

(000's) 
Standard & 

Poors Moody's

Local Government
Investment Pools 31$                   AAAm N/A

U.S. Instrumentalities 250                   AA+ Aaa
Time Deposits 16                     AA+ Aaa
Corporate Bond – AT&T 222                   A A2
Corporate Bond – John Deere 121                   A- A2

Ratings

 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk – Pension Investments.  Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss 
attributed to the concentration of the city’s investment in a single issuer.  The “Old Hire” Police Pension 
Fund investment policy states that equity holdings in any one company should not exceed more than 15% 
of the fair value of the Fund’s assets and that not more than 25% should be invested in any one industry. 
Fixed Income Portfolio Securities, other than U.S. government or agency securities, cannot exceed 10% 
by any one issuer.  At December 31, 2012, no single issuer held more than 10% of either pension fund’s 
portfolio.   
 
In the revised investment policy, which was adopted on December 10, 2012, the “Old Hire” Police 
Pension Fund, Long-Term Account, has a specified risk tolerance not to exceed a 16.5% loss in any year.  
To maintain a 95% confidence level that this performance level is met, the board selected the following 
asset classes and allocations for each class: 
 

Asset Allocation Lower Limit
Strategic 

Allocation Upper Limit

Domestic Large Cap 31% 34% 37%
Domestic Small Cap Core 2% 5% 8%
International Equity 8% 11% 14%
Emerging Markets 0% 3% 6%
Domestic Fixed Income 17% 20% 23%
Global Fixed Income 2% 5% 8%
Floating Rate Corporate Loans 3% 6% 9%
High Yield 3% 6% 9%
Real Estate 2% 5% 8%
Commodities 2% 5% 8%

 

92

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     212



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments – Fiduciary Funds (Continued) 
 
In the revised investment policy, which was adopted on December 10, 2012, the “Old Hire” Fire Pension 
Fund, Long-Term Account, has a specified risk tolerance not to exceed a 16.3% loss in any year.  To 
maintain a 95% confidence level that this performance level is met, the board selected the following asset 
classes and allocations for each class: 
 

Asset Allocation Lower Limit
Strategic 

Allocation Upper Limit

Domestic Large Cap 23% 26% 29%
Domestic Mid Cap 2% 5% 8%
Domestic Small Cap 2% 5% 8%
International Equity 7% 10% 1%
Emerging Markets 0% 3% 6%
Domestic Fixed Income 24% 27% 30%
Global Fixed Income 1% 4% 7%
Floating Rate Corporate Loans 5% 8% 11%
High Yield 1% 4% 7%
REITs 0% 3% 6%
Commodities 2% 5% 8%

 
 

At December 31, 2012 the asset class allocations were within the maximum limits. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Pension Investments.  This is the risk that, in the event of a counterparty’s failure, 
the city will not be able to recover the value of its investments.  The “Old Hire” Police Pension Fund 
investment policy states that a custodian bank will maintain possession of securities owned by the Fund. 
The “Old Hire” Fire Pension Fund’s investment policy was revised to require a custodian bank to 
maintain possession of securities in September 2008.  All of the pension securities, with the exception of 
the Principal RESA account, are held by the Fund’s third party custodian, Charles Schwab Institution, in 
the pension’s name.   
 
Interest Rate Risk – Pension Investments.  This is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely 
affect the portfolio’s fair market value.  The “Old Hire” Police Pension Fund investment policy specifies 
a targeted rate of return of 7.5% for 2012, for its long-term account.  The “Old Hire” Fire Pension Fund 
investment policy specifies a targeted rate of return of 7.50% for its long-term account.   
 

93

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     213



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments – Fiduciary Funds (Continued) 
 
Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds.  In order to allow the city to establish more predictable pension 
obligation payment schedules for firefighters and police officers hired before April 8, 1978, taxable 
pension obligation bonds were issued on October 26, 2010.  Proceeds of $5,469,000 and $3,531,000 were 
deposited into money market mutual funds for the “Old Hire Police” and “Old Hire Fire” pension fund 
accounts, respectively.  These deposits are held by a third-party custodian, Charles Schwab Institutional, 
in each pension’s name.   
 
 
NOTE F – PROPERTY TAXES RECEIVABLE 
 
Property taxes for the city are levied by the City Council and certified to Boulder County for collection by 
December 15 of each year.  These taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of January 1 of the 
succeeding year and are payable in full by April 30 or in two installments by June 15 in the year of 
collection. 
 
Property taxes levied in 2012 for collection in 2013 of $27,533,000 in the General Fund, $27,000 in the 
Special Revenue Funds, $2,239,000 in the Capital Projects Funds and $2,002,000 in the Enterprise Funds, 
are included in receivables and deferred revenue at December 31, 2012.  These taxes are classified as 
deferred revenues since they are not normally available to the city until mid-2013 and are budgeted for in 
2013. 
 
 
NOTE G – NOTES RECEIVABLE 
 
The December 31, 2012 balance in “notes receivable” include several long-term notes receivable of 
various natures. The following summarizes the types of notes receivable and the amounts due within one 
year (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Type of note receivable Current  Noncurrent Current  Noncurrent 

Land Sale to Boulder County -$               -$               132$          438$          
City Manager Office -                 40 -                 -                 
HHS Construction Loan 90 1,149 -                 -                 

90$           1,189$      132$         438$          

 Governmental
Activities 

 Business-type
Activities 

 
 
 

94

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     214



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE H – OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
The City of Boulder recognizes various receivables when earned.  Revenues are recognized as appropriate 
based on the measurement focus and basis of accounting as discussed in Note A.  An allowance for 
doubtful accounts is recognized as appropriate based upon management’s estimate of the collectability of 
the various receivables.  No allowance is provided for utility service charges since delinquent amounts are 
certified as a lien against the property billed.  As of December 31, 2012, no allowance for doubtful 
accounts was recognized.   
 
The December 31, 2012, balance in “other receivables” contains the following detail (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Type of Note Receivable
Governmental

Activities 
Business-type

Activities Total

Accounts 2,723$              705$                 3,428$              
Charges for services -                       1,287 1,287                
Accrued interest 593 233 826                   
Intergovernmental 2,080 135 2,215                
Other 23 10                     33                     

5,419$             2,370$             7,789$              
 

 
 
 

95

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     215



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE I – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2012, was as follows (amounts in 000’s):   
 
Governmental Activities:   
 

Beginning
Balance Increases Transfers Decreases

Ending 
Balance 

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and easements 248,597$  18,509$      -$           -$              267,106$  
Construction in progress 26,953     27,173       (9,831)   (764)          40,347     

Total capital assets, being
depreciated, net 275,550   45,682       (9,831)   (764)          307,453   

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings 93,489     5,148         7,696    -                106,333   
Improvements other than buildings 65,558     772            285       -                66,615     
Infrastructure 373,266   1,126         1,805    -                376,187   
Machinery and equipment 39,004     4,831         45         (3,749)       40,121     

Total capital assets, being depreciated 571,317   11,877       9,831    (3,749)       589,256   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings 47,813     4,331         -            -                52,144     
Improvements other than buildings 21,870     2,918         -            -                24,788     
Infrastructure 276,337   7,251         -            -                283,588   
Machinery and equipment 22,643     2,982         -            (3,343)       22,282     

Total accumulated depreciation 368,663   17,482       (3,343)       382,802   

Total capital assets, being
depreciated, net 202,654   (5,605)        9,831    (406)          206,454   

Governmental activities
capital assets, net 478,204$  40,077$      -$           (1,170)$     513,907$  

 
During 2012, the city had intangible assets of $9.3 million that are included in land and easements above. 
 
 
 

96

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     216



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE I – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
Business-type Activities:   
 

Beginning
Balance Increases Transfers Decreases

Ending 
Balance 

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and easements 74,549$    917$           -$           (17,275)$   58,191$    
Construction in progress 8,459       8,482         (4,692)   (327)          11,922     
Total capital assets, 

not being depreciated  83,008     9,399         (4,692)   (17,602)     70,113     

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings 48,953     191            -            -                49,144     
Improvements other than buildings 6,699       -                 -            -                6,699       
Utility plant in service

and undergrounds 457,847   8,754         4,692    -                471,293   
Machinery and equipment 11,986     949            -            (1,626)       11,309     

Total capital assets, being depreciated 525,485   9,894         4,692    (1,626)       538,445   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings 19,189     1,445         -            -                20,634     
Improvements other than buildings 3,046       310            -            -                3,356       
Utility plant in service

and undergrounds 151,989   8,732         -            -                160,721   
Machinery and equipment 5,331       868            -         (1,374)       4,825       

Total accumulated depreciation 179,555   11,355       -            (1,374)       189,536   

Total capital assets,
being depreciated, net 345,930   (1,461)        4,692    (252)          348,909   

Business-type activities
capital assets, net 428,938$  7,938$        -$           (17,854)$   419,022$  

 
In 2012, the total interest paid by the city was $7,839,516, of which the city capitalized $308,846 of 
eligible interest costs in the business-type activities capital assets. 
 

97

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     217



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE I – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the city as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Governmental Activities:
General Government 73$                   
Administrative Services 730                   
Public Safety 108                   
Public Works 13,837              
Culture and Recreation 2,354                
Open Space and Mountain Parks 314                   
Housing & Human Services 65                     
Community Sustainability 1                       
Total depreciation expense –

Governmental Activities 17,482$           

Business-type Activities:
Water Utility 5,337$              
Wastewater Utility 3,232                
Stormwater and Flood Management 1,115                
Parking Facilities and Services 1,528                
Property and Facility Acquisition 143                   
Total depreciation expense –

Business-type Activities 11,355$           
 

 
 
NOTE J – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Property and Casualty Insurance – The city has structured its property and casualty insurance as a self-
insurance program since April 15, 1986.  The Plan included an Annual Aggregate and Specific Stop Loss 
coverage through April 15, 1990.  Under the current structure, the city pays the first $100,000 of each loss 
on property claims with an annual aggregate of $200,000.  Except for those which are flood or earthquake 
which have a $200,000 deductible and utility facilities which have a $500,000 deductible.  The city pays 
$500,000 each claim on third-party liability claims; and $10,000 each loss on crime.  According to 
Colorado State law, the city has the protection of governmental immunity above $150,000 per person, 
$600,000 per occurrence.  Excess insurance coverage over this maximum has been purchased through a 
private insurance carrier in the amount of $10,000,000 per liability claim with an annual aggregate policy 
limit of $10,000,000, except for public officials, which is on a claims-made basis.  Settled claims have not 
exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.  
 
The City Council has established a reserve policy for the Property and Casualty Fund with a goal of fully 
funding an actuarially calculated liability as of the end of the prior year at the 80% confidence level.  An 
actuarial study will be completed every two years in order to determine the appropriate reserve levels.  As 
of December 31, 2012, the reserve exceeded this goal by $2,211,844.  The next actuarial study will be 
performed in the first quarter of 2015 and will address claims as of December 31, 2014. 

98

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     218



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE J – RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
In 1997, an internal service fund was established to account for the Property and Casualty funds.  Claims 
paid during the year and estimated to be paid at year-end are charged to this fund.  The estimated year-end 
claims payable is based on the results of an actuarial study.  
 
Changes in the estimated claims payable for the Property and Casualty Insurance Fund during the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2012, were as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

2011 2012

Estimated claims payable January 1 1,022$              914$                 
Current year claims and changes in estimates 39                     164                   
Claim payments (147)                 (68)                   
Estimated claims payable December 31 914$                1,010$             

Claims payable due within one year 170$                153$                
 

 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance – Through December 31, 1992, the city purchased Workers’ 
Compensation Insurance through the Colorado Compensation Insurance Authority. The city received 
authorization to become self-insured effective January 1, 1993.  In 1993, an Internal Service Fund was 
established to account for these insurance activities.  The city hired a third-party administrator to handle 
claims and estimate reserves.  Under the current structure, the city pays the first $450,000 of each 
workers’ compensation claim.  The estimated reserves at December 31, 2012, have been established 
through the completion of an actuarial study and recorded as a liability in the Workers’ Compensation 
Insurance Fund.  Benefits are mandated by State Statute.  Settled claims have not exceeded commercial 
insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.   
 
The City Council has established a reserve policy for the Workers’ Compensation Insurance Fund with a 
goal of fully funding an actuarially calculated liability as of the end of the prior year at the 80% 
confidence level.  An actuarial study will be completed every two years in order to determine the 
appropriate reserve levels. As of December 31, 2012, the reserve exceeded this goal by $664,333. The 
next actuarial study will be performed in the first quarter of 2015 and will address claims as of 
December 31, 2014. 
 

99

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     219



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE J – RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in the estimated claims payable for the Workers’ Compensation Insurance Fund during the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2012, were as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

2011 2012

Estimated claims payable January 1 938$                 1,100$              
Current year claims and changes in estimates 903                   875                   
Claim payments (741)                 (813)                 
Estimated claims payable December 31 1,100$             1,162$             

Claims payable due within one year 704$                725$                
 

 
 
NOTE K – ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 
The December 31, 2012, balance in “accrued liabilities” contains the following detail (amounts in 000’s):  
 

Type of Accrued Liability
Governmental

Activities 
Business-type

Activities Total

Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
withheld from employees 5,511$              785$                 6,296$              

Accrued interest 995                   513 1,508                
Accrued liability –

landfill cleanup -                       2,531 2,531                
Accrued liability –

cleanup costs 594 -                       594                   

7,100$             3,829$             10,929$            
 

 
 
NOTE L – PROPERTY TAX OVERCOLLECTION LIABILITY 
 
The 2011 mill levy for the City of Boulder for taxes collected in 2012 resulted in an excess of the 
TABOR (see Note D) allowable property tax revenues by $4,000.  The 2012 mill levy for taxes collected 
in 2013 was voluntarily reduced to compensate for this overcollection.  
 
The balance of remaining overcollections are recorded as an “other liability” in the following funds: 
 

Fund Net Overcollection

University Hill General Improvement District 4,000$                          

100

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     220



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE M – ACCRUED LIABILITY – LANDFILL CLEANUP 
 
Until the late 1980s the city operated the Marshall Landfill.  Around the time of the landfill’s closure, the 
city was threatened by a lawsuit by the Department of Justice (DOJ) and the US Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA) concerning the cleanup of Marshall Landfill, which is a designated Superfund site.  The 
city was designated a potentially responsible party (PRP) pursuant to the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund Amendment and 
Reauthorization Act of 1986.  The city and certain other PRPs negotiated a proposed consent decree with 
the DOJ and the EPA, and on May 17, 1988, City Council approved that decree. 
 
The EPA, city and other PRPs subsequently signed the consent decree, which required the settling parties 
to implement remedial measures at Marshall Landfill for the purpose of cleaning up contaminated 
groundwater.  This included the construction, operation and maintenance of a treatment facility and 
monitoring system. 
 
The total cost of the cleanup was estimated to be approximately $5.0 million for capital construction and 
$0.8 million for engineering costs.  Under the PRP agreement, which set forth the cost-sharing 
arrangements for the cleanup, the city’s share was estimated at 30% or approximately $1,740,000.  This 
amount, plus $210,000 for project management, contingency, legal and miscellaneous costs, was recorded 
in the Wastewater Utility Fund.  Bonds were issued in 1992, and the proceeds restricted to pay these 
costs.   
 
This judgment payable was satisfied in 1993 and an additional estimated liability equal to the net present 
value of average annual expenses of $250,000, or $2,926,595, was recorded for the city’s estimated share 
of operating the treatment facility over the subsequent 20 years.  The reasonableness of the average 
annual expense level is reviewed annually by city engineers and is based on typical operation, 
maintenance, analytical, and engineering costs of the Marshall Landfill site with adjustments made for 
inflation and equipment replacement. 
 
The EPA and the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE) approved a 
shutdown plan for the Marshall Landfill on November 30, 2004.  The shutdown involves mothballing the 
current treatment facility for three years while the groundwater quality is monitored.  The treatment 
facility must be maintained for the three-year period in a manner that allows start up if deemed necessary.   
 
The plan provided that if, at the end of three years, no concentrations of contaminants above the shutdown 
standards occur in the wells and surface water sites that are approved as points of compliance, the 
treatment plant can be removed.  After the treatment facility is removed, an approved long-term 
monitoring plan will be implemented.  The demolition plan would require continued monitoring for the 
foreseeable future, but at a reduced frequency than was currently in effect.  In addition to long-term water 
sampling and analysis at the points of compliance, the landfill cover or cap would have to be maintained 
indefinitely. 
 

101

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     221



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE M – ACCRUED LIABILITY – LANDFILL CLEANUP (CONTINUED) 
 
The 2005 Marshall Landfill budget of $240,000 was sufficient for all 2005 shutdown, mothballing, 
sampling and analysis, cap maintenance, and abandonment/encasement of obsolete monitoring wells.  
Annual costs during the three years (2005-2007) of the three-year shutdown period did not exceed 
$150,000. 
 
The final shutdown and demolition plan was submitted to EPA and CDPHE in 2008 and the city is 
awaiting a final determination about the removal of the treatment facility.  If the EPA and CDPHE agree 
to demolition of the facility and long-term monitoring, the annual costs should be less than $100,000.  
However, the actual annual costs will not be determined until EPA and CDPHE approve the final plan.   
 
Funds to pay any future costs associated with this will be allocated through the collection of wastewater 
user charges.  The December 31, 2012, balance in the “accrued landfill cleanup liability” is $2,531,000. 
 
 
NOTE N – DEFERRED CREDIT – FUTURE WATER RIGHTS 
 
Under a water allotment contract with the Municipal Subdistrict, Northern Colorado Water Conservancy 
District (Subdistrict), the city has available 37/480 of the water units available through the Windy Gap 
Project (a water diversion project on the Colorado River).  In 1991, the city sold 43 of its original 80 units 
to the City of Broomfield for a total of $23,724,500. Under the sales agreement, the city received its final 
annual payment in 1993.  The Raw Water Master Plan recommended that Windy Gap Project supplies be 
sold due to the high incremental cost of maintaining this portion of the raw water supply.  When voting to 
approve the sales agreement, the City Council also moved that the proceeds be used for the acquisition of 
replacement water supplies capable of meeting multiple objectives, including diversification of municipal 
water supply sources, drought protection and maintaining instream flows. 
 
Bonds issued by the Subdistrict in connection with construction of the project totaled $119,280,000 after 
refunding in 1993.  The bonds are not liabilities of the city since the city has an option annually to elect to 
either pay its share of the debt service and operating costs of the Subdistrict or to request the Subdistrict 
levy taxes directly through the County Assessor against property owners within the boundaries of the city 
to pay such costs and expenses. Under its contract, the city will never have ownership of the project, 
including the water rights. 
 
The city’s commitment to pay the annual costs and expenses associated with the acquisition and 
maintenance of its future water rights continues to be for the original 80 units as follows: 
 

2013 1,653,835$       
2014 1,653,250         
2015 1,655,004         
2016 1,697,958         
2017 1,700,125          

102

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     222



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE N – DEFERRED CREDIT – FUTURE WATER RIGHTS (CONTINUED) 
 
A “deferred credit” with an original amount of $10,504,192 at 7% interest was recorded in 1992 in the 
Water Utility Fund to cover the principal portion of the debt service costs for the 43 units sold to the City 
of Broomfield.  The December 31, 2012 deferred credit balance was $2,817,656. 
 
 
NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The following balances and changes in long-term debt are for the year ended December 31, 2012 
(amounts in 000’s): 
 

 Beginning
Balance Additions Reductions

 Ending
Balance 

 Due Within
One Year 

Governmental activities:
Bonds payable:

General obligation bonds 41,746$     54,830$   (9,334)$           87,242$     9,240$       
Taxable obligation bonds 8,881         -              (350)                8,531         345            
Revenue bonds 4,054         -              (1,321)             2,733         1,340         

Total bonds payable 54,681       54,830     (11,005)           98,506       10,925       
Loans payable 250            -              -                      250            250            
Capital lease purchase agreements 7,763         9,070       (6,600)             10,233       503            
Compensated absences 10,968       678          (536)                11,110       572            
Estimated claims payable (Note J) 2,014         1,042       (884)                2,172         878            
Retiree health care benefit 1,185         235          -                      1,420         -                 
Governmental activities long-term debt 76,861$    65,855$  (19,025)$        123,691$   13,128$    

 Beginning
Balance Additions Reductions

 Ending
Balance 

 Due Within
One Year 

Business-type activities:
Bonds payable:

General obligation bonds 15,350$     7,550$     (9,149)$           13,751$     1,530$       
Revenue bonds 84,861       27,791     (34,476)           78,176       6,935         

Total bonds payable 100,211     35,341     (43,625)           91,927       8,465         
Certificates of participation 575            -              (575)                -                 -                 
Lease purchase revenue notes 6,739         -              (1,426)             5,313         1,364         
Compensated absences 1,256         121          (68)                  1,309         159            
Retiree health care benefit 182            29            -                      211            -                 
Business-type activities long-term debt 108,963$  35,491$  (45,694)$        98,760$     9,988$      

 

103

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     223



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
General Obligation Bonds 
 
The city issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major 
capital facilities. General obligation bonds have been issued for both general government and proprietary 
activities. These bonds, therefore, are reported in the proprietary funds if they are expected to be repaid 
from proprietary revenues.  In addition, general obligation bonds have been issued to refund other general 
obligation bonds.  General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of 
the city.  In addition, many of the general obligation bonds of the city have a pledge of specific revenues.  
See Note X for pledged revenue information. 
 
2011 Bond Issuance 
 
On March 22, 2012, the city issued General Fund Bonds for Capital Improvement Projects in the par 
amount of $49,000,000 which included a $5,829,997 premium to fund various capital projects.  The 
bonds were purchased by J.P. Morgan Securities LLC at a net interest rate of 2.836%.  The closing date 
was March 22, 2012.  Bonds maturing on and after October 1, 2023 shall be callable for redemption at the 
option of the city, in whole or in part, and if in part in such order of maturities as the city shall determine 
and by lot within a maturity on October 1, 2022 and on any date thereafter, at a redemption price equal to 
the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date.  These bonds have a final 
maturity date of October 1, 2031. 
 
2012 Bond Refunding 
 
On November 28, 2012, the city issued $7,275,000 in Central Area General Improvement District General 
Obligation Refunding Bonds (carrying value of $7,275,000 which includes $543,796 premium and 
$269,120 deferred loss on refunding) with an average coupon rate of 2.73% to refund $7,650,000 of 
outstanding 2003 Series Central Area General Improvement District General Obligation Bonds with an 
average coupon rate of 4.02%.  Proceeds of $7,818,796 plus prior debt service funds of $285,000, less 
$161,635 in underwriting fees and other closing costs were used to purchase U.S. Treasury securities.  
Those securities were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide for all future debt 
service payments on the 2003 Series bonds.  The 2003 Series bonds will be fully retired on August 15, 
2013.  The current refunding resulted in a difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying 
amount of the old debt of $269,120.  This difference, reported in the accompanying financial statements 
as a deduction from bonds payable, is being charged to operations through the year 2023 using the 
effective interest method.  The city completed the advance refunding to reduce its total debt services 
payments over the next 14 years by $1,213,122 and to obtain a net present value benefit of $832,428. 
 

104

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     224



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
General Obligation Bonds (Continued) 
 
General obligation bonds outstanding at December 31, 2012, are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Governmental activities 2.00% - 5.00% 64,515$            75,115$            
Governmental activities – refunding 2.50% - 4.30% 17,265              35,800              

Business-type activities 3.25% - 4.20% 615                   12,500              
Business-type activities – refunding 3.00% - 4.00% 12,725              15,005              

95,120$           138,420$          
 

 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are as follows (amounts in 
000’s): 
 

Debt Requirements
Year Ending December 31  Principal  Interest  Principal Interest to Maturity

2013 9,240$         3,033$         1,530$         344$            14,147$                
2014 7,665           2,759           1,495           350              12,269                  
2015 7,925           2,485           1,540           311              12,261                  
2016 6,005           2,200           1,590           272              10,067                  
2017 6,225           1,987           1,645           221              10,078                  
2018-2022 17,415         7,192           4,720           497              29,824                  
2023-2027 14,415         4,353           820              25                19,613                  
2028-2030 12,890         1,281           -                   -                   14,171                  

Total liability 81,780         25,290         13,340         2,020           122,430                
Plus bond premium 5,797           -                   707              -                   6,504                    
Less refunding bond charges (335)             -                   (296)             -                   (631)                      
Net liability 87,242$       25,290$      13,751$      2,020$         128,303$             

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

 
Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds 
 
The city also issues bonds where the city does not pledge any revenues nor has any obligation to levy any 
new or increased tax for the payment of debt service.  These bonds are issued for the purpose of funding 
ongoing required pension obligations.   
 

105

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     225



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds (Continued) 
 
Taxable pension obligation bonds outstanding at December 31, 2012, are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Governmental activities 2.00% - 5.00% 8,420$             9,070$              
 

 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds are as follows 
(amounts in 000’s): 
 

Debt Requirements
Year Ending December 31  Principal  Interest to Maturity

2013 345$                 341$                 686$                     
2014 355                   334                   689                       
2015 360                   327                   687                       
2016 370                   316                   686                       
2017 380                   305                   685                       
2018-2022 2,130                1,303                3,433                    
2023-2027 2,610                828                   3,438                    
2028-2030 1,870                189                   2,059                    

Total liability 8,420                3,943                12,363                  
Plus bond premium 111                   -                       111                       
Total liability 8,531$             3,943$             12,474$                

Governmental Activities

 
 
Revenue Bonds 
 
The city also issues bonds where the city pledges income derived from the acquired or constructed assets 
to pay debt service.  See Note X for pledged revenue information.  In addition, revenue bonds have been 
issued to refund other revenue bonds.   
 

106

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     226



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Revenue Bonds (Continued) 
 
2012 Bond Refunding 
 
On November 20, 2012, the city issued $24,325,000 in Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 
(carrying value of $24,325,000 which includes $6,589,785 premium and $3,123,911 deferred loss on 
refunding) with an average coupon rate of 4.96% to refund $27,055,000 of outstanding 2005C Series 
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds with an average coupon rate of 4.70%.  Proceeds of $30,914,785 plus 
prior debt service funds of $638,300, less $329,564 in underwriting fees, other closing costs, and a 
$638,300 deposit to the debt service reserve funds, were used to purchase U.S. Treasury securities.  Those 
securities were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide for all future debt service 
payments on the 2005C Series bonds.  The 2005C Series bonds were advance refunded and will be fully 
retired on December 1, 2015.  The advanced refunding resulted in a difference between the reacquisition 
price and the net carrying amount of the old debt of $3,123,911.  This difference, reported in the 
accompanying financial statements as a deduction from bonds payable, is being charged to operations 
through the year 2025 using the effective interest method.  The city completed the advance refunding to 
reduce its total debt services payments over the next 14 years by $3,247,120 and to obtain a net present 
value benefit of $2,834,865.  
 
Revenue bonds outstanding at December 31, 2012, are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Governmental activities 3.00% 2,710$              6,485$              
Business-type activities 2.00% - 5.00% 15,390            55,225             
Business-type activities – refunding 2.00% - 4.125% 59,425              80,770              

77,525$           142,480$         
 

 

107

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     227



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Revenue Bonds (Continued) 
 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for revenue bonds are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Debt Requirements
Year ending December 31  Principal  Interest  Principal Interest to Maturity

2013 1,340$     81$          6,935$     3,037$     11,393$                
2014 1,370       41            7,170       2,807       11,388                  
2015 -              -              7,420       2,547       9,967                    
2016 -              -              7,445       2,276       9,721                    
2017 -              -              6,860       1,988       8,848                    
2018-2022 -              -              25,835     5,882       31,717                  
2023-2027 -              -              11,260     1,429       12,689                  
2028-2030 -              -              1,890       127          2,017                    

Total liability 2,710       122          74,815     20,093     97,740                  
Plus bond premium 29            -              7,389       -              7,418                    
Less refunding bond charges (6)            -              (4,028)     -              (4,034)                   
Total liability 2,733$    122$       78,176$  20,093$   101,124$             

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

 
Lease Purchase Revenue Notes 
 
The Boulder Municipal Property Authority (BMPA) has issued notes where BMPA pledges income, 
received from the City of Boulder and derived from base rentals of open space and parks property, to pay 
debt service.  These notes are a debt of BMPA, not of the City of Boulder, but are included as a blended 
component unit of the city (Note A.1).  Lease purchase revenue notes outstanding at December 31, 2012, 
are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Business-type activity 4.75 - 7.00% 5,313$          13,884$     
 

 
 
 

108

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     228



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Lease Purchase Revenue Notes (Continued) 
 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for lease purchase revenue notes are as follows (amounts in 
000’s): 
 

Debt Requirements
Year Ending December 31  Principal Interest to Maturity

2013 1,364$              276$                 1,640$                        
2014 1,340                203                   1,543                          
2015 1,006                135                   1,141                          
2016 941                   83                     1,024                          
2017 374                   35                     409                             
2018-2020 288                   24                     312                             

Total liability 5,313$             756$                6,069$                        

Business-type Activities

 
 
Loans Payable 
 
Loan Payable to Boulder County – The County entered into a Purchase Agreement with Colorado Tennis 
Facilities, LLC on June 11, 2009.  According to the terms of the agreement, the County is to purchase 
approximately 9.7 acres of land located at 6400 Arapahoe.  The County assigned its rights to purchase the 
property to the city by way of an assignment of purchase agreement dated July 23, 2009, for the amount 
of $5,440,000.  The city purchased the property with proceeds obtained the sale of the General Obligation 
Waste Reduction Bonds Series 2009 detailed above.   
 
Proceeds of $4,940,000 from that bond sale were used to pay down the liability to Boulder County on 
December 16, 2009.  The remaining $250,000 due will be paid in September 1, 2013.  Interest will accrue 
at 3% per annum beginning August 25, 2009.   
 
Capital Lease Purchase Agreements 
 
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC – On September 27, 2010, the city entered into a lease purchase 
agreement with Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC.  Proceeds of $1,500,000 are being used for 
capital lease improvements, which include installing solar photovoltaic systems.   
 
All American Investment Group, LLC - On October 25, 2010, the city entered into a capital lease 
agreement with All American Investment Group, LLC.  On January 25, 2012, the city refinanced this 
lease which included a total of  $6,401,534 and an additional $3,241,230 borrowed for a total lease 
obligation of $9,642,764. The interest rate on this lease is fixed at 2.65%. The refinanced lease extended 
the life to 2027 with payments continuing to occur in January, April, July, and October.  As a result of the 
refunding, the book value of the assets and liabilities were reduced by $392,250.   
 

109

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     229



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Capital Lease Purchase Agreements (Continued) 
 
Capital lease purchase agreement obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2012 are as follows 
(amounts in 000’s): 
 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Governmental activities 2.65 - 4.93% 10,391$               11,143$                
 

 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for capital lease payments are as follows (amounts in 
000’s): 
 

Debt Requirements
Year Ending December 31  Principal Interest to Maturity

2013 503$                 349$                 852$                       
2014 515                   331                   846                         
2015 547                   313                   860                         
2016 585                   293                   878                         
2017 632                   272                   904                         
2018-2022 4,007                981                   4,988                      
2023-2026 3,602                241                   3,843                      

Total liability 10,391              2,780                13,171                    
Less refunding charges (158)                 -                       (158)                        

Total liability 10,233$           2,780$             13,013$                  

Governmental Activities

 
 

110

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     230



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Compensated Absences 
 
The city has accrued, as a liability to current employees, the following amounts of accumulated unused 
vacation and sick pay, appreciation bonus and compensation time at December 31, 2012 (amounts in 
000’s):  
 

 Governmental
Activities 

 Business-type
Activities 

Accrued vacation 1,539$              755$                 
Accrued sick pay 7,243                167
Accrued appreciation bonus 2,118                387
Accrued compensation time 210                   -                       

11,110$           1,309$             
 

 
The liability attributable to the governmental funds is recorded as a governmental activities noncurrent 
liability.  It is estimated that $572,265 of governmental activities and $159,454 of business-type activities 
liabilities will be paid in 2013.  Governmental liabilities relating to General, Library, Recreation Activity, 
Community Development and HOME Fund employees are liquidated out of the Compensated Absences 
Internal Service Fund.  Liabilities relating to employees of all other governmental funds are liquidated out 
of the associated fund. 
 
Arbitrage Liability 
 
Kutak Rock Arbitrage Consulting LLC made calculations for the city to determine if any of the bond 
issues dated since January 1, 1986, had a liability for rebatable arbitrage at December 31, 2012.  These 
calculations were made taking into consideration the investment instructions, the no arbitrage certificate 
and the relevant portions of the trust indenture for each of the bond issues.   
 
Refunded Bonds 
 
The city has, at various times in prior years, entered into advance refunding transactions whereby a 
portion of the proceeds of the refunding bonds were placed in irrevocable escrow accounts and invested 
in direct, noncallable governmental obligations that, together with the interest earned thereon, will 
provide amounts sufficient for future payment of all interest and principal on the old bonds.  The 
likelihood of the earnings and principal maturities of the governmental obligations not being sufficient to 
pay the defeased bond issue appears remote.  Accordingly, the escrow accounts and outstanding defeased 
bonds are not included in the accompanying financial statements.  At December 31, 2012, there is 
$34,705,000 of principal outstanding on defeased bonds.   
 

111

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     231



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Lease of Criminal Justice Center 
 
During prior years, the city used $1,035,000 of Revenue Sharing Funds towards the cost of construction 
of the Criminal Justice Center built by Boulder County.  The city negotiated an agreement with Boulder 
County on July 17, 1975, whereby the city leased, for an initial period of 30 (thirty) years, a 20,000 
square foot portion of the Center at no additional cost to the city. 
 
This lease was replaced on January 1, 1990, with an agreement whereby the County purchased 15,000 
square feet of the city’s leasehold interest in the Center and whereby the city, for a one-time payment of 
$139,538, will lease an additional 2,000 square feet from the County for a period ending at the same time 
as the original 30 year lease.  On March 30, 2005, the city exercised the option to renew its leasehold 
interest at the Criminal Justice Center for an additional 30 years. 
 
Lease of Public Library Space at the Meadows on the Parkway 
 
The city entered into a lease dated as of September 21, 1988, with Foothills Associates, Inc. for 7,812 
square feet to house the Meadows branch of the Boulder Public Library at the Meadows on the Parkway 
shopping center.  The lease agreement was renewed according to the terms of the original agreement 
which provided the city with the option to extend the lease upon the same conditions for an additional 
period of time equal to the total period of time that Safeway or the comparable anchor tenant is a tenant at 
the shopping center.  The city pays no rent to Foothills Associates, Inc. but does pay its pro rata share of 
various common expenses as set forth in the lease agreement. 
 
 
NOTE P – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, AND TRANSACTIONS 
 
Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of certain information concerning individual 
funds. 
 

112

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     232



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE P – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, AND TRANSACTIONS 
  (CONTINUED) 
 
Due To/From Other Funds 
 
The composition of interfund receivable and payable balances as of December 31, 2012 is as follows 
(amounts in 000’s): 
 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General Property and Casualty Insurance Fund 41$           
General Fleet Fund 145           
Affordable Housing General Fund 59             
Wastewater Utility Stormwater and Flood Management Utility 41             
Stormwater and Flood Management Utility Wastewater Utility 43             
Boulder Municipal Property Authority Open Space and Mountain Parks 163           

492$        

 
The more significant interfund receivable/payable balances are amounts due from Fleet Fund to General 
Fund to repay money used for the Valmont Butte remediation (see Note T) and from Open Space and 
Mountain Parks to Boulder Municipal Property Authority for accrued interest on debt.  All balances will 
be repaid within one year. 
 
Advances To/From Other Funds 
 
The composition of interfund advances receivable and payable balances as of December 31, 2012, is as 
follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Payable Fund Receivable Fund Amount

General Water Utility Fund 769$          
General Fleet Fund 1,267         
Boulder Junction Access GID Downtown Commerical District 18              

2,054$      

 
The General Fund owes the Water Utility Fund $768,877 at December 31, 2012, for funding the purchase 
of land from the Water Utility Fund for development of a new fire training center in 2009.  This advance 
will be repaid over 15 years with 60 equal quarterly payments including 5% interest beginning in 2009. 
 
The General Fund owes the Fleet Fund $126,153 for funding assistance in the implementation of new 
parking technology and $1,141,233 for the Valmont Butte Remediation at December 31, 2012.  The 
parking technology advance will be repaid over 10 years with 40 equal quarterly payments including 5% 
interest beginning in 2008.  The Valmont Butte Remediation advance will be repaid over 10 years with 40 
equal quarterly payments beginning in 2012 with an interest rate of 0.75%.  

113

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     233



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE P – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, AND TRANSACTIONS 
  (CONTINUED) 
 
Advances To/From Other Funds (Continued) 
 
The Boulder Junction General Improvement District owes the Downtown Commercial District $18,238 at 
December 31, 2012.  This advance will repaid over 10 years with 10 equal annual payments beginning 
2012.  The interest rate is 2.50%.  
 
Interfund Transactions 
 
There are various types of interfund transactions which occur between funds.  The following information 
describes the city’s 2012 transfers (amounts in 000’s).  All funds made quarterly payments to the General 
Fund for indirect expenses, primarily administrative, such as legal, human resources, finance and 
information technologies. 
 

TRANSFERS IN
General 

Fund

Open Space & 
Mountain 

Parks
Transpor-

tation

Capital 
Improve-

ment

Nonmajor 
Govern-
mental

Water 
Utility

Wastewater 
Utility

General Fund -$          1,071$     1,309$         3$                5,433$          1,181$        871$                
Open Space &

Mountain Parks 1,026        -           -              -              -                -              -                   
Transportation 106           -                   -              -              -                -              -                   
Capital Improvement 281           400                   -              -              238               -              -                   
Nonmajor Governmental 3,856        -           431              1                  40                 200             201                   
Water Utility -            -           -              -              -                -              -                   
Wastewater Utility -            -           -              -              -                -              -                   
Stormwater & Flood Management -            -           -              -              -                -              -                   
Boulder Municipal Property Authority -            -           -              -              -                -              -                   
Downtown Commercial District 1,400        -                   -              -                -              -                   
Nonmajor Business-type 400           -                   -              -              -                -              -                   
Internal Service Funds 115           87                     -              -              142               18               371                   

Total before one way transfers 7,184        1,558               1,740           4                  5,853            1,399          1,443               
One way transfers - 

from enterprise to
governmental funds -            -                   -              39                -                -              -                   
Total transfers 7,184$      1,558$             1,740$         43$              5,853$          1,399$        1,443$             

TRANSFERS OUT

 
 
 
 

114

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     234



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE P – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, AND TRANSACTIONS 
  (CONTINUED) 
 
Interfund Transactions (Continued) 
 

TRANSFERS IN

General Fund
Open Space &

Mountain Parks
Transportation
Capital Improvement
Nonmajor Governmental
Water Utility
Wastewater Utility
Stormwater & Flood Management
Boulder Municipal Property Authority
Downtown Commercial District
Nonmajor Business-type
Internal Service Funds

Total before one way transfers
One way transfers - 

from enterprise to
governmental funds
Total transfers

Stormwater & 
Flood 

Management

Downtown 
Commercial 

District

Boulder 
Municipal 
Property  
Authority

Nonmajor 
Business-

type

Internal 
Service 
Funds TOTAL

213$                  231$                 -$                  48$             666$           11,026$       

-                     -                    161                   -              -              1,187           
-                     -                    -                    -              -              106              
-                     -                    -                    -              -              919              
121                    -                    -                    -              80               4,930           
-                     -                    -                    -              529             529              
-                     -                    -                    -              795             795              
-                     -                    -                    -              161             161              
-                     -                    -                    -              -              -               
-                     -                    -                    -              86               1,486           
-                     -                    -                    -              32               432              
-                     -                    -                    -              15               748              
334                    231                   161                   48               2,364          22,319         

-                     -                    17,274              -              -              17,313         
334$                  231$                 17,435$            48$             2,364$        39,632$       

TRANSFERS OUT

 
 
 
NOTE Q – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Boulder Housing Partners is a separate related organization as explained in Note A1.  During 2012, 
Boulder Housing Partners received grant funding of $716,358.  These grants were awarded to Boulder 
Housing Partners in a competitive application process.  In addition to the grant funding above, Boulder 
Housing Partners received other operating assistance and support in 2012 totaling $42,026. 
 
During 2012, Boulder Housing Partners participated in the city’s employee benefit plans including health 
care, dental, life, and vision insurance options, etc. for the benefit of its employees.  Boulder Housing 
Partners reimbursed the city for the full cost of these benefits.  There was no receivable from Boulder 
Housing Partners at December 31, 2012. 
 
 

115

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     235



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE R – REVOLVING LOAN PROGRAM 
 
During 2000, the city entered into an agreement with Funding Partners for Housing Solutions, Inc. (FP) 
for operation of a revolving loan fund to assist home buyers’ purchases of homes located in the City of 
Boulder.  Under this agreement, the city approves the loan applications and FP administers the revolving 
loan program by providing all legal documents, coordination with Fannie Mae and FHA programs, 
monitoring and servicing of the outstanding loans, and revolving the loan funds back into new loans.  The 
city provided a total of $709,654 in 2000, 2001, and 2009 as the seed funding for this revolving loan 
program.  Beginning in 2011, the agreement with FP is subject to annual renewal.  If the agreement for 
the revolving loan program is terminated, FP will assign and return all outstanding loans and program 
balances over to the city.   
 
 
NOTE S – RESTRICTED NET POSITION AND SIMILAR FUND BALANCE 

LIMITATIONS 
 
TABOR Emergency Reserves:  At December 31, 2012, net assets for Business-type Activities of 
$152,000 and $5,000, respectively, were restricted in the Downtown Commercial District and University 
Hill Commercial District for TABOR emergency reserves.   
 
Restricted Net Position and Similar Fund Balance Restrictions:  Restricted net position and fund balances 
have been classified into the following broad categories. Net position identified as Legally Restricted are 
restricted by external sources such as grantors and tax ballot language.  Net position identified as Debt 
Service are restricted by bond ordinances for future debt service.  Net position restricted for Capital 
Projects include financing proceeds and other revenues restricted for capital acquisition projects. 
Development restrictions are largely revenues, such as impact fees or special tax proceeds limited to 
specific operations or purposes, such as acquisition, development and maintenance of parks and open 
space lands and trails.  Lottery Funds are restricted by state statute for specific projects as defined within 
the Colorado Constitution Article XXVII for parks, recreation and open space projects.  Donor 
Restrictions are limitations placed upon the use of proceeds by the original donor. 
 
 
NOTE T – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
1. Litigation 
 
A number of claims against the city are pending for injuries received, tax and assessment appeals, water 
applications and rights, and other miscellaneous cases.  In the opinion of management and legal counsel, 
the final settlement of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial statements of 
the city. 
 

116

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     236



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE T – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 
1. Litigation (Continued) 
 
Valmont Butte Allied Piles Site (VCUP) – The city presented a voluntary cleanup plan to the Colorado 
Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE).  This plan was approved under the Colorado 
Voluntary Cleanup Program.  As required by CDPHE, site remediation actions in the VCUP started by 
August 31, 2011 with an extended completion date of December 31, 2013.  As of December 31, 2012, the 
city has expended $1.9 million on Valmont Butte cleanup with an additional $0.6 million still held in a 
liability account for continued cleanup responsibilities.   
 
2. Boulder Shelter for the Homeless 
 
The city entered into an agreement in 2002 with Boulder Shelter for the Homeless, Inc. (Shelter) whereby 
the city has agreed to provide funding to the Shelter for the construction of a new building.  Funding 
consists of $645,000 (plus interest) payable upon presentation of payment requests, and $1,260,000 to be 
paid in ten annual installments.  As of December 31, 2012, the city has paid $1,957,662 to the Shelter 
under this agreement.  The 2012 payment was the final payment against this agreement and the city has 
no further obligation in this matter. 
 
3. Single Audit 
 
The city follows the single audit concept under the provisions of the Single Audit Act of 1984, as 
amended in 1996.  A single audit appendix is a part of the comprehensive annual financial report.  Under 
the single audit concept, one audit is performed which satisfies the requirements of all Federal agencies.  
The city has received State and Federal grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit by 
the grantor agencies.  Such audits could lead to a request for reimbursement to grantor agencies for 
expenditures disallowed under the terms of the grant.  The city’s management believes disallowances, if 
any, will be immaterial. 

117

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     237



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE T – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 
4. Construction Commitments 
 
At December 31, 2012, city funds were obligated under contractual commitments for various construction 
or equipment acquisition projects as follows (000’s):   
 

Fund
Contractual 

Commitments 

General 3,826$             
Capital Development 267                  
Lottery 321                  
Planning & Development Services 138                  
Affordable Housing 2                      
Community Housing Assistance Program 59                    
.25 Cent Sales Tax 179                  
Library 45                    
Climate Action Plan 776                  
Open Space 735                  
Airport 146                  
Transportation 14,455            
Transportation Development 393                  
Permanent Parks and Recreation 1,187              
2012 Capital Improvement 6,003              
Total Governmental Funds 28,532$           

Water Utility 6,952$             
Wastewater Utility 7,947              
Stormwater & Flood Management 920                  
CAGID 657                  
Total Enterprise Fund 16,476$           

Telecommunications 176$                 
Property and Casualty Insurance 13                    
Workers' Compensation Insurance 149                  
Fleet 5,211              
Computer Replacement 513                  
Equipment Replacement 302                  
Facility Renovation and Replacement 5,456              
Total Internal Service Funds 11,820$           

 
 
 

118

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     238



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS 
 
The city’s employees are covered under five separate retirement plans and two deferred compensation 
plans (Note V).   Regular contributions (not including disciplinary pay contributions) to the various plans, 
shown both in dollars and percent of covered payroll, are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Plan Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage

1,235             PERA 4,911$      8.000% 8,410$         13.700%
1                    Old Hire Police 3               2.000% 222              
1                    Old Hire Fire 16             7.833% 162              

172                
Police and Fire Money Purchase – 
      Police employees 780           6.200% 1,737           13.800%

104                

Police and Fire Money Purchase – 
      Fire employees – International
      Association of Firefighters 639           8.000% 1,038           13.000%

7                    ICMA 401(a) 73             8.000% 125              13.700%
2                    ICMA 457 5               8.000% 4                  10.000%

Totals 6,427$     11,698$       

Employee
Contributions City Contributions

Number of
Active

Full-time
Employees

 
Covered employees should refer to pension plan documents and legislation for detail plan descriptions 
and benefits. 
 
City Administered Pension Plans 
 
Of the above pension plans, the city administers two defined benefit single employer pension plans, the 
“Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan and the “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan.  Although a small 
amount of the assets of these two plans are pooled for investment purposes, each of these two plan’s 
assets may be used only for the payment of benefits to the members of that plan, in accordance with the 
terms of the plan. 
 

119

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     239



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Membership of each plan consisted of the following at January 1, 2012, the date of the latest actuarial 
valuation: 
 

"Old Hire"
Police Defined

Benefit Plan 

 "Old Hire"
Fire Defined
Benefit Plan 

Retirees receiving benefits 28                       25                  
Beneficiaries receiving benefits 13                       14                  
Disabled receiving benefits 4                         4                    
Terminated plan members entitled

but not yet receiving benefits 7                         5                    
Active plan members 1                         2                    
Total 53                     50                 

 
 
The city’s annual pension costs and net pension obligation for the two plans for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

"Old Hire"
Police Defined

Benefit Plan 

 "Old Hire"
Fire Defined
Benefit Plan 

Annual required contributions (ARC) 220$                   157$              
Interest on net pension obligation (NPO) (418)                    (311)               
Adjustment to ARC 676                     540                

Annual Pension Cost 478                     386                
City contributions (222)                    (162)               
Increase (decrease) in NPO 256                     224                
Net pension obligation (prepaid) 
      beginning of year (5,660)                 (4,189)            
Net pension obligation (prepaid) 
      end of year (5,404)$               (3,965)$          

 
 

120

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     240



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 

Fiscal Year
 Annual Pension Cost

(APC) City Contributions
Percentage of APC

Contributed

 Net Pension
Obligation
(Prepaid) 

"Old Hire" Police Defined Benefit Plan
2012 220$                                 222$                       101% (5,404)$            
2011 344                                   192                         56% (5,660)              
2010 642                                   5,985                      932% (5,812)              

"Old Hire" Fire Defined Benefit Plan
2012 157$                                 162$                       103% (3,965)$            
2011 231                                   64                           28% (4,189)              
2010 478                                   3,874                      810% (4,335)              

Three Year Trend Information

 
The “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan and the “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan financial 
statements as of December 31, 2012, are included in the City of Boulder Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report under the heading of Fiduciary Fund Types; no separate financial statements are issued.  
This information by plan follows. 
 

121

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     241



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Plan net assets as of December 31, 2012, are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

"Old Hire"
Police Defined

Benefit Plan 

 "Old Hire"
Fire Defined
Benefit Plan 

Assets:
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 4$                           4$                           
Investments

U.S. Treasuries 262 19                           
U.S. Instrumentalities 740 124                         
Mutual Funds 6,700 11,597                    
Equity Securities 4,594 -                              
Local Government Investment Pools 16 15                           
Money Market Funds 296 257                         
Real Estate Investment Trust 514 -                              
Corporate Bonds 343 -                              
Other 277 -                              
Time Deposits 8 8                             

Accrued Interest 8 1
Total assets                     13,762                      12,025 

Liabilities:
Accrued pensions payable 84 370

Total liabilities 84                           370                         

Net position held in trust for pension benefits 13,678$                 11,655$                 
 

 
 

122

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     242



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
The changes in plan net position for December 31, 2012, were as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

"Old Hire"
Police Defined

Benefit Plan 

"Old Hire"
Fire Defined
Benefit Plan 

Additions:
Pension contributions:

City of Boulder 222$                     162$                     
Employees 3                           16                         

Total contributions 225                       178                       

Investment earnings (loss) 1,462                    1,500                    
Less investment expense (51)                        (16)                        

Net investment income (loss) 1,411                    1,484                    
Total additions (reductions) 1,636                    1,662                    

Deductions:
Benefits 1,403                    1,874                    
Administrative 13                         17                         

Total deductions 1,416                    1,891                    

Net increase (decrease) 220                       (229)                      

Net position held in trust for pension benefits:
Beginning of year 13,458                  11,884                  
End of year 13,678$               11,655$                

 
 
1. “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan 
 
Plan Description – Full-time police officers hired prior to April 8, 1978, are members of the City of 
Boulder “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan (Plan), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan.  
The Plan covers two groups – “Employees” and “Former Members”. 
 
Former Members – This group includes employees whose employment with the employer terminated 
prior to January 1, 1987.  They are covered by the retirement benefits provided under Colorado Revised 
Statutes, Title 31, Article 30.5 as modified by Chapter 9, Title 2 of the Boulder Revised Code, 1981.  
However, the Trust Fund established by the Plan Document is obligated to pay all benefits to these 
employees. 
 

123

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     243



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
1. “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
Employees – The City of Boulder “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan and Trust Agreement (Plan 
Document) was established by the City Council on November 3, 1987 by Ordinance 5086.  This Plan 
Document was effective retroactive to January 1, 1987, and superseded and replaced the retirement 
benefits that had previously been provided under Colorado Revised Statutes, Title 31, Article 30.5 as 
modified by Chapter 9, Title 2 of the Boulder Revised Code, 1981.  The provisions of this Plan Document 
apply solely to employees whose employment with the employer terminates on or after January 1, 1987. 
 
Benefits – For members retiring or terminating after January 1, 1996, the retirement pension is equal to 
2.56% of final salary times full years of participation up to 25 years, plus .5% of final salary for each full 
year of participation service over 25 years up to 27 years, providing a maximum pension of 65%.  The 
Plan permits early retirement after 10 years of credited service with reduced benefits.  Members may elect 
to receive their pension benefits in the form of joint, survivor annuities, or a lump-sum payment 
calculated on the basis of the UP-1984 Mortality table.  This election can be made prior to retirement in 
order to provide a pension payable to the surviving spouse or beneficiary if the member dies after 
reaching normal retirement age and before retirement.  On termination, members may receive a refund of 
their contributions without interest.  This refund of contributions paid waives future rights to any benefits. 
 
The minimum monthly benefits for Former Members are: $875 for those receiving a disability retirement 
and $515 for those receiving a beneficiary retirement. 
 
Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) Program – During 1999, a DROP provision, retroactive to 
January 1, 1998, was added to the Plan.  This enables an active member, who is eligible to retire, to elect 
to have their employee contributions, annual pension benefits and interest thereon, directed to a separate 
account for up to five years prior to retirement.  The city’s share of pension contributions is excluded 
from the employee’s DROP account but continues to be allocated to the Plan.  The annual pension benefit 
is initially calculated as of the date of the election of the DROP.  The pension benefit in subsequent years 
will include any benefit increases granted by the Board to retirees and widows.  Upon retirement, the 
member begins to receive pension payments in the form of an annuity and the cumulative assets in the 
DROP account are paid to him in a lump-sum.  As of December 31, 2012, there were no police employees 
who elected the DROP.   
 
Death and Disability Benefits – Employees and Former Members - Effective January 1, 2007, the 
widow of a participant who commenced employment prior to January 1, 1980, is eligible for a benefit of 
the greater of (a) one-third of the monthly salary paid by the city to a first class firefighter at the date of 
the participant’s death; (b) one-third of the monthly salary paid by the city to a first class firefighter at the 
date of the participant’s termination or (c) one-half of the Normal Retirement Pension received by the 
participant at the date of such participant’s death.  In no event shall the amount be less than the Board 
established minimum widow benefit which is currently $515 per month.  Benefits for disability retirees 
who retired prior to January 1, 1987, are eligible for a minimum benefit of $875 per month.  Dependent 
children of the employee are eligible for $30 per month, if there is no surviving spouse. Benefit payments 
to beneficiaries continue if the widow of a deceased member remarries. 

124

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     244



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
1. “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
When any member dies, regardless of whether active, retired or terminated, the surviving spouse or the 
estate of the deceased member shall receive a one-time death benefit of $100. 
 
Contributions and Funding Policy – The Plan is a joint-contributory retirement plan operating on an 
actuarial reserve basis.  Per the Plan Document, the contribution requirements of the plan members and 
the city are established and may be amended by the Boulder Police Officers Association collective 
bargaining agreement in effect for the payroll period concerned.  Contributions of 2.0% of covered 
payroll are currently required from both the city and employees.  The city must also contribute an 
additional annual payment necessary to make the plan actuarially sound as defined by Section 3.02 of the 
plan document with no maximum specified.  In 2012, the city contributed $221,807 to meet the 
actuarially calculated contribution requirement which exceeded the state mandated requirement.  
Administrative expenditures are recorded when incurred and are financed by the Plan.  
 
Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits – Accumulated Plan benefits are those future 
periodic payments, including lump-sum distributions, that are attributable under the Plan’s provisions the 
service members have rendered.  Accumulated plan benefits include benefits expected to be paid to (a) 
retired or terminated members or their beneficiaries, (b) beneficiaries of members who have died, and (c) 
present members or their beneficiaries.  Benefits under the Plan are based on members’ compensation.  
Benefits payable under all circumstances - retirement, death, disability, and termination of employment – 
are included, to the extent they are deemed attributable to employee service rendered to the valuation 
date. 
 
An actuarial study was prepared at January 1, 2012. It is the “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan 
Board of Trustees’ policy to have an actuarial study prepared every two years or whenever a benefit 
change is being considered. 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation as of January 1, 2012, included the following: 
 

 Actuarial Cost Method – entry age normal actuarial cost method.   
 Actuarial Value of Assets – Determined by calculating an expected value equal to the prior year’s 

market value of assets, plus cash flows of contributions and benefit payments for the year and 
assuming a 7.50% interest return.  The difference between this expected value and the actuarial 
market value is recognized over three years.  The resulting value is limited to between 80% and 
120% of the market value of assets.   

 Annual Required Contribution – Closed, level dollar amortization of unfunded actuarial liability 
over the remaining amortization period which is 16 years. 

 Investment Earnings – 7.5% compounded annually, net of expenses. 
 Cost of Living Adjustments – None assumed. 

125

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     245



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
1. “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 

 Retirement – Participants are assumed to retire upon age 50 with 20 years of service, or upon 
attainment of 25 years of service, if earlier. 

 Retiree Mortality – Sex-distinct RP-2000 mortality for annuitants projected by Scale AA to 2017. 
 Minimum Death Benefit – A minimum death benefit of $515 per pay period is used. 
 First Class Firefighter Salary – The highest negotiation First Class Firefighter Salary is used to 

calculate death benefits.  For 2012, this is projected to be $2,802 per pay period. 
 Marriage Rates – 90% active participants are assumed to be married.  Male spouses are assumed 

to be three years older than their female spouses.  Actual marital status is used for retirees. 
 Form of Payment – All active participants are assumed to elect the normal form of payment.   

 
The significant changes in actuarial assumptions and methods as of January 1, 2010 included the 
following: 
 

 First Class Firefighter Salary was increased from $2,666 to $2,802 per pay period to reflect the 
current highest negotiated rate. 

 
Funded Status and Funding Progress – As of January 1, 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date, 
the plan was 87.5% funded.  The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $16,057,253 and the actuarial 
value of assets was $14,051,067, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of 
$2,006,186.  The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $130,326 
and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 1,539.4%.  In October 2010, City of Boulder 
Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds were issued and $5,469,000 of additional funding was deposited into 
the plan to decrease the UAAL for the future. 
 
Historical Trend Information – The schedules of funding progress, presented as required supplementary 
information (RSI) following the notes to the financial statements, present multiyear trend information 
about whether the actuarial values of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the 
AALs for benefits. 
 
2. “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan 
 
Plan Description - The city’s full-time firefighters hired prior to April 8, 1978, are members of the City 
of Boulder “Old Hire” Fire Pension Benefit Plan (Plan), a single employer defined benefit pension plan.  
The Plan covers two groups:  “Employees” and “Former Members”. 
 

126

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     246



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
2. “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
Employees – The city established The City of Boulder “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan and Trust 
Agreement (Plan Document) in 2002.  This Plan Document was effective retroactive to January 1, 2000, 
and superseded and replaced the retirement benefits that had previously been provided under Colorado 
Revised Statutes, Title 31, Article 30.5 as modified by Chapter 9, Title 2 of the Boulder Revised Code, 
1981.  The provisions of this Plan Document apply solely to employees whose employment with the 
employer terminates on or after January 1, 2000. 
 
Former Members – This group includes employees whose employment with the employer terminated 
prior to January 1, 2000.  They are covered by the retirement benefits provided under Colorado Revised 
Statutes, Title 31, Article 30.5 as modified by Chapter 9, Title 2 of the Boulder Revised Code, 1981.  
However, the Trust Fund established by the Plan Document is obligated to pay all benefits to these 
employees.   
 
Benefits – Members aged 50 with 20 years of credited service are entitled to annual pension benefits 
equivalent to 50% of monthly compensation at the date of retirement.  The Plan Document provides for 
an additional retirement benefit of 2% per year for each additional year of service after 20 years of 
service, credited after September 1, 1987, and attainment of age 50, up to a maximum of 10% prior to 
January 1, 2000.  Beginning January 1, 2000, and on each successive January 1, all actives, who are 
eligible for normal retirement (age 50 and 20 years of service) are to receive a 3% increase of final salary, 
up to a maximum of 65% of final salary.  On termination, members may receive a refund of their 
contributions without interest.  This refund of contributions paid waives future rights to any benefits. 
 
The minimum benefits for Former Members are: $875 per month for those receiving a normal or 
disability retirement and $515 per month for those receiving a beneficiary retirement. 
 
Any pension benefit increase shall not negatively impact the actuarial soundness of the fund.   
 
Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) Program – During 2000, a DROP provision was added to 
the Plan.  This enables an active member, who is eligible to retire, to elect to have their employee 
contributions, annual pension benefits and interest thereon, directed to a separate account for up to five 
years prior to retirement.  The city share of pension contributions is excluded from the employee’s DROP 
account but continues to be allocated to the Plan.  The annual pension benefit is initially calculated as of 
the date of the election of the DROP.   
 
The pension benefit in subsequent years will include any benefit increases granted by the Board to 
retirees and widows.  Upon retirement, the member begins to receive pension payments in the form of an 
annuity and the cumulative assets in the DROP account are paid to him in a lump-sum.  As of 
December 31, 2012, three members have elected the DROP option.  For Note U purposes (unless 
otherwise stated), these employees are shown as active members and included in covered payroll. 
 

127

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     247



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
2. “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
Death and Disability Benefits 
 
Employees and Former Members – Effective January 1, 2007, the widow of a retiree who retired prior to 
January 1, 1990, is eligible for a benefit of the lessor of (a) one-third of the monthly salary paid by the 
city to a first class firefighter at the date of the member’s death or (b) one-third of the monthly salary paid 
by the city to a first class firefighter at the date of the employee’s termination or (c) the Board established 
minimum widow benefit which is currently $515 per month.  Benefits for normal or disability retirees 
who retired prior to January 1, 2000, are eligible for a minimum benefit of $875 per month.  Dependent 
children of the employee are eligible for $30 per month, if there is no surviving spouse. Benefit payments 
to beneficiaries continue if the widow of a deceased member remarries. 
 
Employees – The benefits of active employees as of January 1, 1990, include a widow’s benefit equal to 
100% of the active employees retirement benefit.  This benefit change was approved during 1990 and is 
fully-funded by employee contributions. 
 
When any member dies, regardless of whether active, retired or terminated, the surviving spouse or the 
estate of the deceased member shall receive a one-time death benefit of $100. 
 
Contributions and Funding Policy – The Plan is a joint-contributory retirement plan operating on an 
actuarial reserve basis. Per the “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Pension Plan, the contribution 
requirements of the plan members and the city are established and may be amended by the International 
Association of Fire Fighters, Local #900 collective bargaining agreement in effect for the payroll period 
concerned.  Contribution rates during 2012 were 2.451% and 7.833% of covered payroll for the city and 
employees, respectively.  city contributions must be at least equal to employee contributions.  The city 
must also contribute an additional annual payment necessary to make the plan actuarially sound as 
defined by Section 3.02 of the plan document with no maximum specified.  In 2012, the city contributed 
$161,800 to meet the actuarially calculated contribution requirement which exceeded the state-mandated 
requirement.  Administrative expenditures are recorded when incurred and are financed by the Plan.  
 
Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits - An actuarial study was prepared at January 1, 
2012.  It is the Fire Pension Board policy to have an actuarial study prepared every two years or whenever 
a benefit change is being considered.   
 
The significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation as of January 1, 2012 included the following: 
 

 Actuarial Cost Method – Entry age normal actuarial cost method.   
 Actuarial Value of Assets – Market value. 
 Annual Required Contribution – Closed, level dollar amortization of unfunded actuarial liability 

over the remaining amortization period which is 12 years. 

128

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     248



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
2. “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 

 
 Investment Earnings – 7.5% compounded annually, net of expenses. 
 Cost of Living Adjustments – None assumed. 
 Retirement – Not Applicable – All participants are retired. 
 Retiree Mortality – Sex-distinct RP-2000 mortality for annuitants projected by Scale AA to 2017. 
 Minimum Death Benefit – A minimum death benefit of $515 per pay period is used. 
 First Class Firefighter Salary – The highest negotiation First Class Firefighter Salary is used to 

calculate death benefits.  For 2011, this is projected to be $2,802 per pay period. 
 Inflation rate – Not specified by actuarial. 
 Marriage Rates – Male spouses are assumed to be three years older than their female spouses.  

Actual marital status is used for retirees. 
 

The significant changes in actuarial assumptions and methods as of January 1, 2012 included the 
following: 
 

 First Class Firefighter Salary was increased from $2,666 to $2,802 to reflect the current highest 
negotiated rate. 

 
Funded Status and Funding Progress – As of January 1, 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date, 
the plan was 90.4% funded.  The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $13,142,256 and the actuarial 
value of assets was $11,884,000, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of 
$1,258,256.  The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $0 and 
the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was not applicable since all participants were retired as of 
January 1, 2012.  In October 2010, City of Boulder Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds were issued and 
$3,531,000 of additional funding was deposited into the plan to decrease the UAAL for the future. 
 
Historical Trend Information – The schedules of funding progress, presented as required supplementary 
information (RSI) following the notes to the financial statements, present multi-year trend information 
about whether the actuarial values of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the 
AALs for benefits.   
 

129

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     249



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) 
 
Plan Description – The City of Boulder contributes to the Local Government Division Trust Fund 
(LGDTF), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Public 
Employees’ Retirement Association of Colorado (PERA).  The LGDTF provides retirement and 
disability, post-retirement annual increases, and death benefits for members and their beneficiaries.  All 
employees, except firefighters, police officers and certain management employees that work directly for 
the City Manager are members of the LGDTF. Those employees excepted from PERA are covered by 
other plans described in this Note.  Title 24, Article 51 of the Colorado Revised Statutes (CRS), as 
amended, assigns the authority to establish benefit provisions to the State Legislature. PERA issues a 
publicly-available Comprehensive Annual Financial Report that includes financial statements and 
required supplementary information for the LGDTF.  That report may be obtained online at 
www.copera.org or by writing to Colorado PERA, 1301 Pennsylvania Street, Denver, Colorado, 80203, 
or by calling PERA at (303) 832-9550 or 1-800-759-PERA (7372). 
 
Funding Policy – The City of Boulder is required to contribute member and employer contributions to 
PERA at a rate set by statute.  The contribution requirements of plan members and the City of Boulder are 
established under Title 24, Article 51, Part 4 of the CRS, as amended.  The contribution rate for members 
is 8.0% and for the City of Boulder is 10.0% of covered salary.  A portion of the City of Boulder’s 
contribution (1.02% of covered salary) is allocated for the Health Care Trust Fund (HCTF) (see Note V - 
Postemployment Healthcare Benefits).  The City of Boulder is also required to pay an amortization 
equalization disbursement (AED) equal to 2.20% of the total payroll for the calendar year 2012 (2.20% of 
total payroll for the calendar year 2011, 2.20% of total payroll for the calendar year 2010).  Additionally, 
the City of Boulder is required to pay a supplemental amortization equalization disbursement (SAED) 
equal to 1.50% of total payroll for the calendar year 2012 (1.50% of total payroll for the calendar year 
2011 and 1.50% of total payroll for the calendar year 2010).   
 
If the City of Boulder rehires a PERA retiree as an employee or under any other work arrangement, it is 
required to report and pay the employer contribution rate on the amounts paid for the retiree.  As of 
January 1, 2011, the employee is also required to pay the 8.0% contribution rate on any wages earned.   
 
For the years ending December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, the City of Boulder’s contributions to the 
LGDTF, including the amounts allocated to the HCTF, were $8,425,590, $8,027,409, and $8,100,438, 
respectively, equal to their required contributions for each year. 

130

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     250



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. Police and Fire Money Purchase Pension Plan 
 
The city’s full-time police officers and firefighters hired on or after April 8, 1978, are covered by the 
Police and Fire Money Purchase Plan (Plan), an Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) plan.  This Plan is 
a single-employer defined contribution plan that was established by the City Council effective January 1, 
1983.  The Plan is administered by a Board of Trustees comprised of two elected Boulder Police 
Department employees, two elected Boulder Fire Department employees and one appointed member who 
is not an employee of either the Police or Fire departments and has business and/or investment experience 
within the community.  The contribution levels are established at the time of labor negotiations and are 
detailed in the bargaining unit agreements for information only. 
 
The Boulder Police Benevolent Association negotiated an economic agreement with the city which is in 
effect through December 31, 2014.  The city’s contribution requirement for the year ended December 31, 
2012, was 13.8% of covered payroll.  The employee contributions were 6.2% of covered payroll. 
 
The International Association of Firefighters, Local #900, negotiated an economic agreement with the 
city, which was in effect through December 31, 2013.  The city’s contribution requirement for the year 
ended December 31, 2012, was 13% of covered payroll.  The employee contributions were 8% of covered 
payroll. 
 
City contributions and interest forfeited by employees who leave employment before five years of service 
are first used for administrative charges and second to reduce the city’s current period contribution 
requirement.  All participants may make additional contributions of up to 25% of their salary or $30,000, 
whichever is less. 
 
Benefits – An employee is eligible to receive benefits upon death, disability or normal retirement.  
Benefits are paid out of the employee’s individual account.  This account is made up of: 100% of the 
employee’s contributions; 100% of the employer contributions if the employee terminates because of 
death, disability or normal retirement, or a lesser percent based on the vesting schedule in the plan 
document if the employee terminates for another reason; and the interest earnings either positive or 
negative, over the term of the employee’s employment with the city.  Benefits are distributed at the 
discretion of the administration committee either in a lump-sum or over the employee’s life expectancy or 
10 years, whichever is less. 
 
Death and Disability Benefits – If an active member dies or becomes disabled (but is not eligible for an 
age and service retirement) while employed, the member’s spouse and dependent children will receive 
survivor benefits or the member will receive benefits under the State Fire and Police Pension Association 
(FPPA).  See description under Fire and Police Pension Association below. 
 
The Police and Fire Money Purchase Plan issues a publicly available annual financial report that includes 
financial statements and required supplementary information.  That report may be obtained by writing to 
City of Boulder Fire and Police Money Purchase Plan, 1805 33rd Street, Boulder, Colorado, 80301.  

131

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     251



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
5. Fire and Police Pension Association (FPPA) 
 
All full-time police officers and firefighters are covered by the Fire and Police Pension Association 
(FPPA), a multiple-employer cost-sharing plan for pre-retirement death and disability.  To date 
contributions to the plan have been determined and budgeted by the State legislature.  State law provided 
that these contributions would continue in diminishing amounts until 1994.  The State requires employees 
hired on or after January 1, 1997, to contribute 2.6% of salary.  The city pays the 2.6% for all affected 
police officers and firefighters.  In 2012, 2011, and 2010, the city paid $297,687, $280,671, and 
$259,175, respectively, equal to their required contributions for each year. 
 
FPPA issues a publicly available annual financial report that includes financial statements and required 
supplementary information.  That report may be obtained online at www.fppaco.org or by writing to Fire 
and Police Pension Association of Colorado, 5290 DTC Parkway, Suite 100, Greenwood Village, 
Colorado, 80111-2721 or by calling FPPA at (303) 770-3772 or 1-800-332-3772. 
 
 
NOTE V – DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS 
 
The Colorado Revised Statutes allow any city to exempt the City Manager and key management staff who 
report directly to the City Manager or the City Council from membership in the Public Employees 
Retirement Association, provided each such person has executed a trust agreement and deferred 
compensation employment agreement with the International City Management Association Retirement 
Corporation (ICMA-RC), an Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) plan.  The assets of these two plans 
are held in a trust account and therefore are not reflected on the City of Boulder financial statements. 
 
In addition to ICMA-RC, City Council authorized the establishment of a deferred compensation program 
for city employees.  T. Rowe Price, through a bid process, was selected as administrator of the program. 
Deferred compensation is not available for withdrawal by employees until termination, retirement, death 
or unforeseeable emergency.  The assets of this plan are held in a trust account and therefore are not 
reflected on the City of Boulder financial statements. 
 
In the opinion of the city’s legal counsel, the city has no liability for losses under the plans but does have 
the duty of due care that would be required of an ordinary prudent investor.  
 
 

132

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     252



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE W – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS (OPEB) 
  THAN PENSIONS 

 
Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) Health Care Trust Fund 
 
Plan Description – The City of Boulder contributes to the Health Care Trust Fund (HCTF), a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer healthcare trust administered by PERA.  The HCTF provides a health care premium 
subsidy to PERA participating benefit recipients and their eligible beneficiaries.  Title 24, Article 51, Part 
12 of the CRS, as amended, assigns the authority to establish the HCTF benefit provisions to the State 
Legislature. PERA issues a publicly available Comprehensive Annual Financial Report that includes 
financial statements and required supplementary information for the HCTF.  That report may be obtained 
online at www.copera.org or by writing to Colorado PERA, 1301 Pennsylvania Street, Denver, Colorado, 
80203 or by calling PERA at (303) 832-9550 or 1-800-759-PERA (7372). 
 
Funding Policy – The City of Boulder is required to contribute at a rate of 1.02%, of covered salary for all 
PERA members as set by statute.  No member contributions are required.  The contribution requirements 
for the City of Boulder are established under Title 24, Article 51, Part 4 of the CRS, as amended.  The 
apportionment of the contribution to the HCTF is established under Title 24, Article 51, Section 208 of 
the CRS, as amended.  
 
The City of Boulder’s contributions to HCTF for the years ending December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 
were $627,054; $597,661, and $603,098, respectively, equal to their required contributions for each year. 
 
City of Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan 
 
Plan Description – The City of Boulder administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan (the 
Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan).  The city provides health care insurance coverage to current and future 
retirees of the city who retire with a PERA or city provided pension and have 12 years of service with the 
city.  Employees who terminate or retire prior to meeting the eligibility requirements for retiree healthcare 
benefits are not eligible to participate in the program.  The Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan is not 
covered within a trust fund and does not issue a publicly available financial report. 
 
Funding Policy – The Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis with retirees 
paying 100% of the blended health insurance premium for the retiree and dependents.  Benefit provisions 
are established by city management.  The benefit provided by the Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan is 
made up entirely of the implicit rate subsidy which results from both the retirees and the active employees 
paying the same insurance premiums.   
 
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation – The city’s annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) 
cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount 
actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45.  The ARC represents a 
level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize 
any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 30 years.   

133

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     253



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE W – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS (OPEB) 
  THAN PENSIONS (CONTINUED) 

 
City of Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
The following table shows the components of the city’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount 
actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the city’s net OPEB obligation (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Annual required contribution (ARC) 602$                 
Interest on prior year net OPEB obligation 51                     
Adjustment to ARC (51)                    

Annual OPEB cost 602                   
Contributions made 337                   

Increase in net OPEB obligation 265                   
Net OPEB obligation – beginning of year 1,367                
Net OPEB obligation – end of year 1,632$             

 
 
The city’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net 
OPEB obligation for 2012 and the three preceding years were as follows: 
 

Fiscal
Year

Annual
OPEB Cost

Percentage of
Annual OPEB

Cost Contributed

Net
OPEB

Obligation

2010 642$                          54.2% 1,102$                                
2011 602$                          56.0% 1,367$                                
2012 602$                          56.0% 1,632$                                 

 
Funded Status and Funding Progress – As of January 1, 2011, the most recent actuarial evaluation date, 
the actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $6,747,489, all of which was unfunded.  The covered 
payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $82,956,844, and the ratio of the 
unfunded actuarial accrued liability to the covered payroll was 8.1%. 
 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend.  Amounts determined 
regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject 
to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made 
about the future.  The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information 
following the notes to the financial statements, presents multi-year trend information about whether the 
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued 
liabilities for benefits. 

134

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     254



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE W – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS (OPEB) 
  THAN PENSIONS (CONTINUED) 

 
City of Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions – Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based 
on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the 
types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit 
costs between the employer and plan members to that point.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used 
include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.   
 
An actuarial study was prepared at January 1, 2011. It is the plan’s policy to have an actuarial study 
prepared every two years. 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation as of January 1, 2011, included the following: 
 

 Discount Rate – 3.75% per annum. 
 Inflation – 2.5% per annum. 
 Wage Growth – 3.0% per annum. 
 Administrative Expense – Claims expense is included in the premiums charged by the city’s 

health insurance carrier.  No other OPEB program expenses are included in this valuation. 
 Mortality –  

o Healthy Lives – RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2020 using Scale 
AA. 

o Disabled Lives – RP-2000 Disabled Mortality Table projected to 2020 using Scale AA, set 
forward 15 years. 

 Retirement – Age and service eligibility requirements for PERA (Management and BMEA) and 
city provided pensions (Fire and Police).   

 Election of Retirement Coverage – All current retired participants are assumed to continue.  25% 
of future eligible retired participants are assumed to participate upon retirement. 

 Health Care Cost Trend – Using the Getzen Model, the trend rate starts at 9.0% for 2011 and 
trends downward to a rate of 4.4% in 2083. 

 Amortization Period – The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is amortized over 30 years using 
an open level percent of pay method. 

 
The significant changes in actuarial assumptions and methods as of January 1, 2011 included the 
following: 
 

 Updated claims and premiums to experience and plan changes.  
 The trend assumption was updated using the Getzen Trend Model. 

135

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     255



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE W – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS (OPEB) 
  THAN PENSIONS (CONTINUED) 

 
City of Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan (Continued) 

 
 The mortality assumption for healthy lives was updated to the RP-2000 Combined Healthy 

Mortality Table projected to 2020 using Scale AA to better reflect anticipated mortality 
improvement. 

 The mortality assumption for disabled lives was updated to the RP-2000 Disabled Mortality 
Table projected to 2020 using Scale AA to better reflect anticipated mortality improvement. 

 The discount rate was changed to 3.75% from 4.5%. 
 The inflation assumption was changed to 2.5% from 3.3%. 
 The wage growth assumption was changed to 3.0% from 3.3%. 
 The future retiree election assumption was changed to 25%. 

 
 
NOTE X – PLEDGED REVENUES 
 
Water and Sewer Revenues Pledged 
 
The city has pledged future water and sewer customer revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to 
repay $72,715,000 in outstanding water and sewer system revenue bonds.  Proceeds from the bonds 
provided financing for the construction of capital assets or refunded other revenue bonds issued for that 
purpose.  The bonds are payable solely from water and sewer customer net revenues and are payable 
through 2030.  Annual principal and interest payments on the bonds are expected to require 
approximately 50% of net revenues (as defined by the bond ordinances).  The total principal and interest 
remaining to be paid on the bonds at December 31, 2012 is $92,593,050.  Principal and interest paid for 
the current year and total customer net revenues were $9,823,092 and $17,887,000, respectively. 
 
Stormwater and Flood Management Revenues Pledged 
 
The city has pledged future stormwater and flood management fund revenues, net of specified operating 
expenses, to repay $2,100,000 in outstanding stormwater and flood management revenue bonds.  
Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for the construction of capital assets or refunded other 
revenue bonds issued for that purpose.  The bonds are payable solely from stormwater and flood 
management fund revenues and are payable through 2018.  Annual principal and interest payments on the 
bonds are expected to require less than 42% of net revenues (as defined by the bond ordinances).  The 
total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds at December 31, 2012 is $2,314,500.  
Principal and interest paid for the current year and total customer net revenues were $387,800 and 
$2,225,000, respectively. 
 

136

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     256



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE X – PLEDGED REVENUES (CONTINUED) 
 
Open Space Sales Tax Revenues Pledged 
 
The city has pledged future sales and use tax revenues generated by the .88% sales and use tax levies of 
the Open Space Fund to repay $25,865,000 in outstanding open space bonds.  Proceeds from the bonds 
provided financing for the acquisition of open space land or refunded other bonds issued for that purpose.  
The $25,865,000 in bonds are payable from the Open Space Fund sales tax revenues and $23,155,000 of 
those bonds are also backed with a pledge of the full faith and credit of the city.  These bonds mature 
through 2019; the year .48% of the total .88% sales tax levy expires.  Annual principal and interest 
payments on the bonds are expected to require less than 39% of pledged sales tax revenues.  The total 
principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds at December 31, 2012 is $29,502,319.  Principal 
and interest paid for the current year and total pledged sales tax revenues were $6,861,412 and 
$23,757,606, respectively. 
 
25 Cent Parks Acquisition and Recreation Sales Tax Revenues Pledged 
 
The city has pledged future sales and use tax revenues of the .25 Cent Sales Tax Fund to repay 
$6,205,000 in outstanding bonds.  Proceeds from the bonds provided financing to refund the Parks 
Acquisition Bonds, Series 1999, which refunded the Parks Acquisition Bonds, Series 1996 used to 
acquire and develop park lands.  The bonds are payable from the sales tax revenues of the .25 Cent Sales 
Tax Fund and are also backed with a pledge of the full faith and credit of the city.  These bonds mature 
through 2015, the year the .25% sales tax levy expires.  Annual principal and interest payments on the 
bonds are expected to require less than 40% of pledged sales tax revenues.  The total principal and 
interest remaining to be paid on the bonds at December 31, 2012 is $6,580,900.  Principal and interest 
paid for the current year and total pledged sales tax revenues were $2,194,650 and $6,745,754, 
respectively. 
 
15 Cent Parks Acquisition and Recreation Sales Tax Revenues Pledged 
 
The city has pledged future sales and use tax revenues of the .15 Cent Sales Tax Debt Service Fund.  
Proceeds from the bonds provided financing to refund the City of Boulder, Colorado, Parks, Recreation 
and Municipal Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 1993.  The bonds were payable from the sales tax 
revenues of the .15 Cent Sales Tax Debt Service Fund and are also backed with a pledge of the full faith 
and credit of the city.  These bonds matured and the .15% sales tax levy expired in 2012.  Principal and 
interest paid for the current year and total pledged sales tax revenues were $552,790 and $1,241,000, 
respectively. 
 

137

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     257



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE X – PLEDGED REVENUES (CONTINUED) 
 
Downtown Commercial District Revenues Pledged 
 
The city has pledged a portion of future sales tax revenues to repay $7,890,000 in outstanding bonds 
issued by the City of Boulder Central Area General Improvement District (CAGID), now known as the 
Downtown Commercial District, to finance an underground parking garage located at 9th Street and 
Canyon Boulevard (TIF bonds).  These TIF bonds are payable from the Parking Garage Net Revenues, 
incremental property tax revenues of the tax increment area and incremental sales and accommodations 
tax revenues.   
 
In addition, the city has pledged future net revenue derived by CAGID from the operation of its properties 
to repay $5,450,000 in other general obligation bonds outstanding.  These bonds are payable from the net 
operating revenues generated by operations of the District’s parking structures.   
 
Both the TIF bonds and the other general obligation bonds are backed with a pledge of the full faith and 
credit of CAGID.  These bonds mature through 2023.  Annual principal and interest payments on the 
outstanding bonds are expected to require less than 39% of pledged revenues.  The total principal and 
interest remaining to be paid on the bonds at December 31, 2012 is $15,359,236.  Principal and interest 
paid for the current year and total pledged revenues were $2,031,751 and $4,306,153, respectively. 
 
Boulder Municipal Property Authority Revenues Pledged 
 
The Boulder Municipal Property Authority (BMPA) pledged as security for certificates of participation 
and lease purchase notes (debt) the base rental revenues received from the city’s various funds and 
operations.  As of December 31, 2012, BMPA currently has $5,313,659 in outstanding debt used 
primarily to provide funding for acquisition of land for Parks and Open Space purposes.  The city 
appropriates each year, from various revenue sources, base rental expenses in amounts sufficient to cover 
the principal and interest requirements on BMPA’s debt.  In accordance with state statutes, the 
appropriation by the city is subject to annual renewal at discretion of the City Council.  BMPA has 
pledged, as the sole security for the bonds, the annual base rental revenues received from the city.  Total 
principal and interest remaining on the debt is $6,069,129 with annual requirements ranging from 
$1,639,906 in 2013 to $69,366 in 2020.  The base rental revenues received each year equal the debt 
service requirements on BMPA’s debt, averaging $4,304,843 over the last 12 years.  For the current year, 
principal and interest incurred by BMPA and the total base rental revenues pledged were $2,381,691 and 
$2,381,691, respectively. 

138

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     258



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2012 
 
 

   

NOTE X – PLEDGED REVENUES (CONTINUED) 
 
Trash Tax Revenues 
 
On August 16, 1994, the city passed the 1994 Ordinance approving the 1994 Election Question which 
authorized the city to raise its trash tax to a rate not to exceed a maximum per month of $3.50 for 
residential customers and a maximum of $0.85 per cubic yard per month for commercial customers.  At a 
special municipal election held on November 8, 1994, the voters of the city approved the 1994 Election 
Question authorizing the maximum trash tax rates and authorizing the city under TABOR to issue not to 
exceed $6,000,000 of bonds payable from the city’s trash tax revenues and additionally secured by the 
full faith and credit of the city, for the purpose acquisition of interests in land and constructing, operating 
and maintenance of municipal solid waste recycling and composting facilities. On December 15, 2009, 
$6,000,000 in General Obligation Waste Reduction Bonds were issued. As of December 31, 2012, there 
are currently $5,250,000 in outstanding Waste Reduction Bonds.  Total principal and interest remaining 
as of December 31, 2012 is $7,197,400.  The bond ordinance requires quarterly transfers of trash haulers 
tax to cover the current year’s debt service.  For the current year, principal and interest paid and total 
pledged revenues were $438,287 and $438,287, respectively. 
 
General Fund Bonds (Capital Improvement Projects) 
 
The city has pledged any and all legally available funds and revenues of the General Fund of the city, up 
to the full amount of principal of, interest on and premium, if any, due in each year, for the punctual 
payment of the principal of, interest on and premium, if any, due in connection with the maturity of or 
redemption of the Series 2012 Bonds as the same respectively became due and payable.  These bonds 
were issued March 22, 2012 in the amount of $49,000,000 with a net premium of $5,829,997.  As of 
December 31, 2012, $47,170,000 in bonds remains outstanding.  The principal and interest remaining to 
be paid on the bonds at December 31, 2102 is $66,621,950.  Principal and interest paid for the current 
year and total General Fund revenues were $2,754,893 and $2,754,893, respectively.  
 
 

139

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     259



(This page left blank intentionally) 

140

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     260



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

141

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     261



Total
Unfunded

Actuarial (Overfunded)
Actuarial Accrued Actuarial UAAL as a 

Actuarial Value of Liability Accrued Funded Covered Percentage of
Fiscal Valuation Assets Entry Age Liability (2) Ratio Payroll Covered Payroll

Year (1) Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)

2008 1/1/2008 13,254,129$  17,462,836$  4,208,707$      75.9% 184,130$       2285.7%

2010 1/1/2010 10,394,413    16,663,370    6,268,957        62.4% 124,228         5046.3%

2012 1/1/2012 14,051,067 16,057,253 2,006,186        87.5% 130,326 1539.4%

(1) The Board of Trustees' policy is to have actuarial studies performed bi-annually.  Prior to 2002, the 
Aggregate Actuarial Cost Method was used.  Beginning January 1, 2002, the Entry Age Actuarial method is being used.

(2) In October 2010, the City of Boulder issued pension obligation bonds and invested $5,469,000 of the proceeds into
the Police Pension Fund, in addition to the regular annual contribution.  This contribution will be reflected in the
next actuarial evaluation scheduled for January 1, 2012.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Funding Progress

Police Pension Fund

142

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     262



Total
Unfunded

Actuarial (Overfunded)
Actuarial Accrued Actuarial UAAL as a 

Actuarial Value of Liability Accrued Funded Covered Percentage of
Fiscal Valuation Assets Entry Age Liability (2) Ratio Payroll Covered Payroll

Year (1) Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)

2008 1/1/2008 11,814,000$       13,870,522$       2,056,522$      85.2% 161,644$       1272.3%

2010 1/1/2010 9,493,000 13,681,074 4,188,074         69.4% -                     NA

2012 1/1/2012 11,884,000 13,142,256 1,258,256         90.4% -                     NA

(1) The Board of Trustees' policy is to have actuarial studies performed biannually.  Prior to 2002, the Aggregate
Actuarial Cost Method was used.  Beginning January 1, 2002, the Entry Age Actuarial method is being used.

(2) In October 2010, the City of Boulder issued pension obligation bonds and invested $3,531,000 of the proceeds into
the Fire Pension Fund, in addition to the regular annual contribution.  This contribution will be reflected in the
next actuarial evaluation scheduled for January 1, 2012.

(3) As of January 1, 2010, there are no active participants in the plan.  Therefore, there is no covered payroll.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Funding Progress

Fire Pension Fund

143

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     263



Annual Actual Annual Actual
Fiscal Required City Percentage Required City Percentage
Year Contributions Contributions Contributed Contributions Contributions Contributed

2005 362,824$          369,722$          101.9% 109,541$          118,183$          107.9%
2006 302,812            369,386            122.0% 133,792            141,313            105.6%
2007 302,812            473,695            156.4% 133,792            313,944            234.7%
2008 403,366            471,474            116.9% 197,099            314,422            159.5%
2009 403,366            470,892            116.7% 197,099            314,770            159.7%
2010 634,924            5,984,894         942.6% 479,444            3,874,297         808.1%
2011 188,544            191,945            101.8% 60,510              64,510              106.6%
2012 219,204 221,807 101.2% 156,888 161,800            103.1%

Note 1:  Benefits were increased as of January 1, 2007.  A special actuarial study was performed to determine 
the cost of these benefit changes, and an additional $104,000 was budgeted beginning in 2007 to fully fund them.

Note 2:  Benefits were increased as of January 1, 2007.  A special actuarial study was performed to determine 
the cost of these benefit changes, and an additional $306,000 was budgeted beginning in 2007 to fully fund them.

Note 3: In October 2010, the city of Boulder issued pension obligation bonds and invested $5,469,000 of the proceeds into
the Police Pension Fund and $3,531,000 of the proceeds into the Fire Pension Fund, in addition to the regular annual contributions.  
These contributions will be reflected in the next actuarial evaluation scheduled for January 1, 2012.

Police Pension Fund (Note 1) Fire Pension Fund (Note 2)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Employer Contributions -
Police and Fire Pension Funds

144

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     264



Total
Unfunded

Actuarial (Overfunded)
Actuarial Accrued Actuarial UAAL as a 

Actuarial Value of Liability Accrued Funded Covered Percentage of
Fiscal Valuation Assets Entry Age Liability Ratio Payroll Covered Payroll

Year (1) Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)

2007 1/1/2007 -$                   7,294,969$    7,294,969$    -                     74,959,860$  9.7%

2009 1/1/2009 -$                   7,616,068$    7,616,068$    -                     85,687,119$  8.9%

2011 1/1/2011 -$                   6,747,489$    6,747,489$    -                     82,956,844$  8.1%

(1) The City implemented GASB 45 beginning in fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.  Actuarial information is not
available for prior periods.  Actuarial studies are performed bi-annually.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Funding Progress

Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan

145

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     265



(This page left blank intentionally) 

146

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     266



GENERAL FUND DETAILS 
 
 
In 2011, the City of Boulder implemented GASB Statement No. 54 which refined what qualifies for inclusion 
as a Special Revenue Fund.  Two former Special Revenue Funds did not meet the new requirements and have 
been combined with other general governmental operations into the General Fund.  As a result, beginning in 
2011 the General Fund is comprised of the following three separate sub-funds: 
 
Core General Fund – to account for all financial resources of the general government except those accounted 
for in another fund. 
 
Library Fund – to account for the operations of the city-owned library and branches.  Financing is provided 
by general property taxes and General Fund contributions. 
 
Community Housing Assistance Program (CHAP) Fund – to account for property tax, a housing excise tax 
and fees to be used to increase the supply of affordable housing in Boulder. 
 
 

147

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     267



Community
Core Hsg Asst Total

General Library Prgm General
Assets Fund Fund Fund Fund

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 752              $ 39                $ 82                $ 873              
Investments 29,271         1,462           3,277           34,010         
Receivables:
    General property taxes 24,718         828              1,987           27,533         
    Sales and use taxes 5,682           -                   -                   5,682           
    Accounts 1,919           -                   10                1,929           
    Notes 40                -                   1,115           1,155           
    Accrued interest 106              5                  11                122              
    Intergovernmental 505              -                   -                   505              
    Other 8                  -                   -                   8                  

32,978         833              3,123           36,934         
Due from other funds 186              -                   -                   186              
Inventory of materials and supplies 6                  -                   -                   6                  
Restricted assets:
    Investments for special purposes 1,414           -                   -                   1,414           
    Investments for capital  projects 745              -                   -                   745              
        Total restricted assets 2,159           -                   -                   2,159           
Other assets 170              -                   -                   170              

        Total assets $ 65,522       $ 2,334         $ 6,482          $ 74,338        

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Balance Sheet

Combining General Fund

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

148

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     268



Community
Core Hsg Asst Total

General Library Prgm General
Liabilities and Fund Balance Fund Fund Fund Fund

Liabilities:
    Accounts and accrued liabilities:
        Vouchers and accounts payable $ 1,801           $ 63                $ 14                $ 1,878           
        Contracts and retainage payable 117              -                 -                   117              
        Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
            withheld from employees 3,435           251              26                3,712           
    Due to other funds -                   -                   59                59                
    Advances from other funds 2,036           -                   -                   2,036           
    Deferred revenue:
        General property taxes 24,718         828              1,987           27,533         
        Other 748              -                   -                   748              
            Total liabilities 32,855         1,142           2,086           36,083         
  
Fund balances:
    Nonspendable:
        Prepaid 170              -                   -                   170              
        Inventory 6                  -                   -                   6                  
        Endowment 100              -                   -                   100              
    Restricted:
        Legally restricted 1,180           -                   -                   1,180           
        Debt service 433              -                   -                   433              
        Capital projects 744              -                   -                   744              
        Donor restrictions 135              -                   -                   135              
    Assigned:
        Special purposes 3,008           1,192           4,396           8,596           
       Contractual obligations 1,420           -                   -                   1,420           
    Unassigned 25,471         -                   -                   25,471         
                Total fund balances 32,667         1,192           4,396           38,255         

        Total liabilities and fund balances $ 65,522       $ 2,334         $ 6,482          $ 74,338        

149

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     269



    
Community

Core Hsg Asst Total
General Library Prgm General

Fund Fund Fund Eliminations Fund

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 46,314          $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   $ 46,314          
General property taxes 24,452          819               1,963            -                   27,234          
Accommodations taxes 4,890            -                   -                   -                   4,890            
Franchise taxes 10,460          -                   -                   -                   10,460          
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 1,788            -                   -                   -                   1,788            
Excise taxes 227               -                   134               -                   361               

Charges for services 4,100            164               -                   -                   4,264            
 Sale of goods 68                 -                   355               -                   423               

Licenses, permits and fines 6,339            -                   -                   -                   6,339            
Intergovernmental 3,132            -                   -                   -                   3,132            
Leases, rents and royalties 216               5                   -                   -                   221               
Interest and investment earnings 180               12                 65                 -                   257               
Other 766               107               2                   -                   875               

    Total revenues 102,932        1,107            2,519            -                   106,558        
Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 13,390          -                   -                   -                   13,390          
Administrative Services 9,149            -                   -                   -                   9,149            
Public Safety 47,744          -                   -                   -                   47,744          
Public Works 5,196            -                   -                   -                   5,196            
Planning & Development Services 43                 -                   -                   -                   43                 
Culture and Recreation 5,280            7,194            -                   -                   12,474          
Open Space and Mountain Parks 186               -                   -                   -                   186               
Housing and Human Services 6,959            -                   2,655            -                   9,614            

Capital outlay 1,467            -                   -                   -                   1,467            
Debt service payments: -                   

Principal 2,420            -                   -                   -                   2,420            
Interest 1,546            -                   -                   -                   1,546            
        Total expenditures 93,380          7,194            2,655            -                   103,229        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 9,552            (6,087)          (136)             -                   3,329            

Other financing sources (uses):
Base rentals to Boulder Municipal Property
    Authority Debt Service Fund (601)             -                   -                   -                   (601)             
Transfers in 11,066          6,298            -                   (6,338)          11,026          
Transfers out (13,476)        (1)                 (45)               6,338            (7,184)          

Total other financing sources (uses) (3,011)          6,297            (45)               -                   3,241            

Net change in fund balance 6,541            210               (181)             -                   6,570            

Fund balance, beginning of year 26,126          982               4,577            -                   31,685          

Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting $ 32,667         $ 1,192          $ 4,396          $ -                  $ 38,255         

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
 and Changes in Fund Balances 

General Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012
(Amounts in 000's)

150

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     270



(This page left blank intentionally) 

151

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     271



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 46,174           $ 46,174           $ 46,314           $ 140                
General property taxes 24,137           24,150           24,452           302                
Accommodations taxes 4,274             4,402             4,890             488                
Franchise taxes 8,312             10,285           10,460           175                
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 1,584             1,584             1,788             204                
Excise taxes -                     -                     227                227                

Charges for services 3,612             3,798             4,100             302                
 Sale of goods 65                  120                69                  (51)                 

Licenses, permits and fines 5,824             5,824             6,339             515                
Intergovernmental 1,503             2,554             3,157             603                
Leases, rents and royalties 219                219                216                (3)                   
Interest and investment earnings 650                650                312                (338)               
Other 347                1,206             741                (465)               

    Total revenues 96,701           100,966         103,065         2,099             
Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 10,355           11,573           10,055           1,518             
Administrative Services 9,415             11,597           9,357             2,240             
Public Safety 46,369           48,398           47,764           634                
Public Works 5,256             5,453             5,453             -                     
Planning & Development Services 43                  43                  43                  -                     
Culture and Recreation 5,282             5,548             5,326             222                
Open Space and Mountain Parks 186                186                187                (1)                   
Housing and Human Services 6,596             7,521             6,983             538                
Others 2,424             7,414             5,284             2,130             

Debt service payments:
Principal 2,425             2,425             2,420             5                    
Interest 1,461             1,461             1,461             -                     
        Total expenditures 89,812           101,619         94,333           7,286             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 6,889             (653)               8,732             9,385             

(continued)

in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Core General Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

(Budgetary Basis)

152

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     272



Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of capital assets -                     -                     16                  16                  
Base rentals to Boulder Municipal Property
    Authority Debt Service Fund (601)               (601)               (601)               -                     
Transfers in 7,604             8,877             11,087           2,210             
Transfers out (13,269)          (13,269)          (13,820)          (551)               

Total other financing sources (uses) (6,266)            (4,993)            (3,318)            1,675             

Net change in fund balance $ 623              $ (5,646)          5,414            $ 11,060          

Encumbrances, end of year 1,421             
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 30,174           
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 37,009           

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (132)               
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (3,503)            
Due from other funds (3)                   
Advances from other funds (1,011)            
Transfers 307                

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 32,667         

153

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     273



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

General property taxes $ 802                $ 802                $ 819                $ 17                  
Charges for services 115                133                164                31                  
Leases, rents and royalties 9                    9                    5                    (4)                   
Interest and investment earnings 15                  15                  18                  3                    
Other 82                  112                108                (4)                   

    Total revenues 1,023             1,071             1,114             43                  
Expenditures:
 Current:

Culture and Recreation 7,320             7,674             7,254             420                
        Total expenditures 7,320             7,674             7,254             420                

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (6,297)            (6,603)            (6,140)            463                

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 6,298             6,298             6,298             -                     
Transfers out (1)                   (1)                   (1)                   -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) 6,297             6,297             6,297             -                     

Net change in fund balance $ -                   $ (306)             157               $ 463               

Encumbrances, end of year 61                 
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 1,219             
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 1,437             

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 7                    
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (252)               

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 1,192            

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes 
in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

(Budgetary Basis)

Library Fund

154

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     274



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

General property taxes $ 1,927             $ 1,927             $ 1,963             $ 36                  
Excise taxes 100                100                134                34                  

 Sale of goods and capital assets 72                  72                  944                872                
Interest and investment earnings 98                  98                  75                  (23)                 
Other -                     -                     2                    2                    

    Total revenues 2,197             2,197             3,118             921                

Expenditures:
 Current:

Housing and Human Services 2,150             4,912             2,510             2,402             
    Total expenditures 2,150             4,912             2,510             2,402             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 47                  (2,715)            608                3,323             

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out (44)                 (44)                 (44)                 -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) (44)                 (44)                 (44)                 -                     

Net change in fund balance $ 3                  $ (2,759)          564               $ 3,323           

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 2,783            
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 3,347             

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 19                  
Notes receivable 1,115             
Due to other funds (59)                 
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (26)                 

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 4,396            

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes 
in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

(Budgetary Basis)

CHAP Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

155

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     275



(This page left blank intentionally) 

156

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     276



NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
 
 
Special Revenue Funds are established to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than 
pension trusts, proprietary fund operations and revenues received for major capital projects) that are legally 
restricted for specified purposes.  The City of Boulder has the following nonmajor special revenue funds: 
 
Capital Development Fund – to account for development excise tax proceeds to be utilized for the acquisition, 
construction and improvement of facilities necessary to maintain the current level of public amenities such as 
police, fire, library, human services, municipal offices, streets, and parks and recreation. 
 
Lottery Fund – to account for State Conservation Trust Fund proceeds to be utilized for the refurbishment, 
capital improvement and debt service on park acquisitions. 
 
Planning & Development Services Fund – to account for revenues and expenditures related to development 
and building services functions. 
 
Affordable Housing Fund – to account for cash in lieu financial contributions from developers and General 
Fund contributions used to construct, purchase and maintain permanently affordable housing units in Boulder. 
 
.15 Cent Sales Tax Fund – to account for earmarked sales tax authorized by the voters in 1992 for parks and 
recreation and general municipal purposes.  The .15 cent sales tax fund was closed to the general fund in 
2012. 
 
.25 Cent Sales Tax Fund – to account for earmarked sales tax authorized by the voters in 1995 for parks and 
recreation operating and capital needs. 
 
Recreation Activity Fund – to account for revenues and expenditures related to the provision of recreation, 
reservoir and golf course services/programs. 
 
Climate Action Plan Tax Fund – to account for revenues and expenditures related to programs implemented to 
increase energy efficiency, increase renewable energy use, reduce emissions from motor vehicles and take 
other steps toward the goal of meeting the Kyoto Protocol. 
 
Airport Fund – to account for the operations of the city-owned municipal airport.  Financing is provided by 
grants, rents and leases. 
 
Transportation Development Fund – to account for development excise taxes to be utilized for the 
construction of transportation capital improvements related to new development and growth. 
 
Transit Pass General Improvement District – to account for earmarked property tax authorized by the voters in 
2000 to fund bus transit passes for participating neighborhoods. 
 

157

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     277



BJAGID – TDM – to account for revenues and expenditures related to programs implemented by the Boulder 
Junction Authority General Improvement District to meet its Transportation Demand Management goals. 
 
Gifts and Contributions Fund – to account for funds received from the Boulder Library Foundation for 
programs benefiting the city-owned library. 
 
Community Development Fund – to account for funds granted by the Community Development Block Grant 
program administered by the Department of Housing and Urban Development. 
 
HOME Fund – to account for funds granted by the HOME program administered by the Department of 
Housing and Urban Development. 
 
 

NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 
 
 

The Debt Service Funds are established to accumulate monies for payment of general long-term debt principal 
and interest.  The City of Boulder has the following nonmajor debt service funds: 
 
.15 Cent Sales Tax Debt Service Fund – Financing is provided by earmarked sales tax. 
 
 

NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS 
 
 

The Capital Project Funds are established to account for financial resources to be utilized for acquisition, 
construction and improvement of capital assets (other than those financed by Proprietary Funds).  The City of 
Boulder has the following nonmajor capital project funds: 
 
Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund – to account for the construction of improvements to the city park 
systems and the maintenance thereof.  Financing is provided by general property taxes, development excise 
taxes and park fees. 
 
Fire Training Center Construction Fund – to account for the construction of a new fire training facility 
financed by a .15 cent sales tax approved by the voters in 2006 and funding provided by Boulder County.  
 
Boulder Junction Improvement – to account for the development of a new “Boulder Junction” 160-acre site 
located around 30th and Pearl streets.  It will be a regional transit-oriented, mixed-use neighborhood including 
a new regional bus and light rail terminal developed by Regional Transportation District (RTD).  Funding is 
provided from a portion of the use taxes collected from development in the area.  
 

158

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     278



Special Debt Capital
Assets Revenue Service Project Total

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 913               $ 6                   $ 91                 $ 1,010            
Investments 36,234          236               3,622            40,092          
Receivables:
    General property taxes 27                 -                   2,239            2,266            
    Sales and use taxes 839               -                   -                   839               
    Accounts 257               -                   58                 315               
    Notes 124               -                   -                   124               
    Accrued interest 121               1                   11                 133               
    Intergovernmental 35                 -                   -                   35                 

1,403            1                   2,308            3,712            
Due from other funds 59                 -                   -                   59                 
Inventory of materials and supplies 47                 -                   -                   47                 
Restricted assets:
    Investments for special purposes 920               -                   -                   920               
        Total restricted assets 920               -                   -                   920               

        Total assets $ 39,576        $ 243             $ 6,021          $ 45,840          

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
    Accounts and accrued liabilities:
        Vouchers and accounts payable $ 1,001            $ -                   $ 110               $ 1,111            
        Contracts and retainage payable 11                 -                   68                 79                 
        Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
            withheld from employees 817               -                   45                 862               
    Other liabilities 87                 -                   -                   87                 
    Deferred revenue:
        General property taxes 27                 -                   2,239            2,266            
        Other 31                 -                   -                   31                 
            Total liabilities 1,974            -                   2,462            4,436            
Fund balances:
    Nonspendable:
        Inventory 47                 -                   -                   47                 
    Restricted:
        Legally restricted 4,406            -                   -                   4,406            
        Debt service -                   243               -                   243               
        Capital projects -                   -                   2,069            2,069            
        Development 4,308            -                   -                   4,308            
        Lottery funds 1,161            -                   -                   1,161            
        Donor restrictions 423               -                   -                   423               
    Committed:
        Affordable housing 15,399          -                   -                   15,399          
    Assigned:
        Special purposes 11,858          -                   1,490            13,348          
            Total fund balances 37,602          243               3,559            41,404          

            Total liabilities and fund balances $ 39,576        $ 243             $ 6,021          $ 45,840          

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

159

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     279



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

   
Special Debt Capital 

Revenue Service Project Total
Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 7,041           $ 1,504           $ 655              $ 9,200           
General property taxes 27                -                   2,213           2,240           
Franchise taxes 1,850           -                   -                   1,850           
Excise taxes 672              -                   257              929              

Charges for services 22,564         -                   70                22,634         
 Sale of goods 199              -                   -                   199              

License, permits and fines 5,512           -                   4                  5,516           
Intergovernmental 2,812           -                   -                   2,812           
Leases, rents and royalties 1,787           -                   -                   1,787           
Interest and investment earnings 277              14                46                337              
Other 383              -                   89                472              

    Total revenues 43,124         1,518           3,334           47,976         

Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 5,178           -                   -                   5,178           
Public Works 817              -                   -                   817              
Planning & Development Services 4,327           -                   -                   4,327           
Culture and Recreation 13,203         -                   -                   13,203         
Open Space and Mountain Parks 135              -                   -                   135              
Housing and Human Services 3,770           -                   -                   3,770           

Capital outlay 3,525           -                   3,377           6,902           
Debt service payments:  

Principal 1,950           529              -                   2,479           
Interest 245              23                -                   268              
        Total expenditures 33,150         552              3,377           37,079         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 9,974           966              (43)               10,897         

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 4,707           -                   223              4,930           
Transfers out (4,250)          (1,256)          (347)             (5,853)          

Total other financing  
sources (uses) 457              (1,256)          (124)             (923)             

Net change in fund balances 10,431         (290)             (167)             9,974           

Fund balances, beginning of year 27,171         533              3,726           31,430         

Fund balances, end of year $ 37,602       $ 243            $ 3,559          $ 41,404       

160

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     280



(This page left blank intentionally) 

161

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     281



 
Planning &

Capital Development Affordable .15 Cent .25 Cent Recreation
Development Lottery Services Housing Sales Tax Sales Tax Activity

Assets Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 155              $ 29                $ 185                $ 372              $ -                   $ 62                $ 39                

     
Investments 6,173           1,168           7,353             14,814         -                   2,484           1,370           

Receivables:
  General property taxes -                   -                   -                     -                   -                   -                   -                   
  Sales and use taxes -                   -                   -                     -                   -                   839              -                   
  Accounts -                   -                   40                  -                   -                   -                   9                  
  Notes -                   -                   -                     124              -                   -                   -                   
  Accrued interest 20                4                  24                  48                -                   9                  5                  
  Intergovernmental -                   -                   2                    -                   -                   -                   -                   

20                4                  66                  172              -                   848              14                
Due from other funds -                   -                   -                     59                -                   -                   -                   
Inventory of materials and supplies -                   -                   -                     -                   -                   -                   47                
Restricted assets:

  Investments for special purposes -                   -                   11                  -                   -                   288              49                
        Total restricted assets -                   -                   11                  -                   -                   288              49                

            Total assets $ 6,348           $ 1,201           $ 7,615             $ 15,417         $ -                   $ 3,682           $ 1,519           

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
  Accounts and accrued liabilities:
      Vouchers and accounts payable $ -                   $ 37                $ 76                  $ 3                  $ -                   $ 94                $ 135              
      Contracts and retainage payable 10                1                  -                     -                   -                   -                   -                   
      Accrued salaries, wages and 
          amounts withheld from employees -                   2                  335                15                -                   98                322              
  Other liabilities -                   -                   72                  -                   -                   11                -                   
  Deferred revenue:
      General property taxes -                   -                   -                     -                   -                   -                   -                   
      Other -                   -                   2                    -                   -                   -                   24                
          Total liabilities 10                40                485                18                -                   203              481              

Fund balances:
    Nonspendable:
        Inventory -                   -                   -                     -                   -                   -                   47                
    Restricted:
        Legally restricted -                   -                   11                  -                   -                   3,191           -                   
        Development 4,308           -                   -                     -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Lottery Funds -                   1,161           -                     -                   -                   -                   -                   
       Donor restrictions -                   -                   -                     -                   -                   288              49                
    Committed:
        Affordable housing -                   -                   -                     15,399         -                   -                   -                   
    Assigned:
        Special purposes 2,030           -                   7,119             -                   -                   -                   942              

              Total fund balances 6,338           1,161           7,130             15,399         -                   3,479           1,038           

          Total liabilities
              and fund balances $ 6,348           $ 1,201           $ 7,615             $ 15,417         $ -                   $ 3,682           $ 1,519           

(continued)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds

 December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

162

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     282



Boulder
Climate Trans- Transit Pass Junction
Action portation General Access Gifts and Community

Plan Tax Airport Development Improvement GID - Contributions Development HOME
Fund Fund Fund District TDM Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 27                $ 9                  $ 35                  $ -                     $ -                   $ -                     $ -                     $ -                   $ 913              
       

1,078           366              1,406             7                    15                -                     -                     -                   36,234         

-                   -                   -                     9                    18                -                     -                     -                   27                
-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   839              

155              53                -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   257              
-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   124              
3                  1                  5                    -                     -                   2                    -                     -                   121              
-                   5                  -                     -                     -                   -                     25                  3                  35                

158              59                5                    9                    18                2                    25                  3                  1,403           
-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   59                
-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   47                

-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   572                -                     -                   920              
-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   572                -                     -                   920              

$ 1,263           $ 434              $ 1,446             $ 16                  $ 33                $ 574                $ 25                  $ 3                  $ 39,576         

$ 427              $ 25                $ 187                $ -                     $ -                   $ 1                    $ 16                  $ -                   $ 1,001           
-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   11                

24                8                  1                    -                     -                   -                     9                    3                  817              
-                   4                  -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   87                

-                   -                   -                     9                    18                -                     -                     -                   27                
-                   5                  -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   31                

451              42                188                9                    18                1                    25                  3                  1,974           

-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   47                

812              392              -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   4,406           
-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   4,308           
-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   1,161           
-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   86                  -                     -                   423              

-                   -                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   15,399         

-                   -                   1,258             7                    15                487                -                     -                   11,858         
812              392              1,258             7                    15                573                -                     -                   37,602         

$ 1,263           $ 434              $ 1,446             $ 16                  $ 33                $ 574                $ 25                  $ 3                  $ 39,576         

163

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     283



(This page left blank intentionally) 

164

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     284



Planning &
Capital Development Affordable

Development Lottery Services Housing
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Revenues:
    Taxes:
        Sales and use taxes $ -                     $ -                   $ -                     $ -                   
        General property taxes -                     -                   -                     -                   
        Franchise taxes -                     -                   -                     -                   
        Excise taxes 88                  -                   -                     -                   
    Charges for services 634                -                   2,133             12,777         
    Sale of goods -                     -                   5                    -                   
    Licenses, permits and fines -                     -                   5,335             -                   
    Intergovernmental -                     980              15                  -                   
    Leases, rents and royalties -                     -                   -                     156              
    Interest and investment earnings 33                  6                  46                  136              
    Other -                     -                   27                  50                
        Total revenues 755                986              7,561             13,119         
Expenditures:
    Current:
        General Government -                     -                   2,727             -                   
        Public Works 12                  -                   -                     -                   
        Planning & Development Services -                     -                   4,327             -                   
        Culture and Recreation -                     177              -                     -                   
        Open Space and Mountain Parks -                     135              -                     -                   
        Housing and Human Services -                     -                   -                     2,175           
    Capital Outlay 354 751 34                  -                   
    Debt service payments:
        Principal -                     -                   -                     -                   
        Interest -                     -                   -                     -                   
                Total expenditures 366                1,063           7,088             2,175           
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
    over (under) expenditures 389                (77)               473                10,944         
Other financing sources (uses):
    Transfers in -                     -                   2,737             325              
    Transfers out (22)                 -                   (1,521)            (44)               
        Total other financing sources (uses) (22)                 -                   1,216             281              
Net change in fund balances 367                (77)               1,689             11,225         

Fund balances, beginning of year 5,971             1,238           5,441             4,174           

Fund balances, end of year $ 6,338             $ 1,161           $ 7,130             $ 15,399         

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

165

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     285



Climate
.15 Cent .25 Cent Recreation Action
Sales Tax Sales Tax Activity Plan Tax

Fund Fund Fund Fund

Revenues:
    Taxes:
        Sales and use taxes $ -                   $ 7,041           $ -                   $ -                   
        General property taxes -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Franchise taxes -                   -                   -                   1,850           
        Excise taxes -                   -                   -                   -                   
    Charges for services -                   26                6,989           -                   
    Sale of goods -                   -                   194              -                   
    Licenses, permits and fines -                   20                157              -                   
    Intergovernmental -                   4                  39                51                
    Leases, rents and royalties -                   17                1,189           -                   
    Interest and investment earnings -                   24                13                3                  
    Other -                   33                174              11                
        Total revenues -                   7,165           8,755           1,915           
Expenditures:
    Current:
        General Government -                   -                   -                   2,447           
        Public Works -                   404              -                   -                   
        Planning & Development Services -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Culture and Recreation -                   3,188           9,764           -                   
        Open Space and Mountain Parks -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Housing and Human Services -                   -                   -                   -                   
    Capital Outlay 633 5 -                   
    Debt service payments:
        Principal -                   1,950           -                   -                   
        Interest -                   245              -                   -                   
                Total expenditures -                   6,420           9,769           2,447           
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
    over (under) expenditures -                   745              (1,014)          (532)             
Other financing sources (uses):
    Transfers in -                   -                   1,641           -                   
    Transfers out (2,222)          (268)             (19)               -                   
        Total other financing sources (uses) (2,222)          (268)             1,622           -                   
Net change in fund balances (2,222)          477              608              (532)             

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,222           3,002           430              1,344           

Fund balances, end of year $ -                   $ 3,479           $ 1,038           $ 812              

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

(continued)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

166

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     286



Boulder
Trans- Transit Pass Junction

portation General Access Gifts and Community
Airport Development Improvement GID- Contributions Development HOME
Fund Fund District TDM Fund Fund Fund Total

$ -                   $ -                     $ -                     $ -                   $ -                     $ -                     $ -                   $ 7,041
-                   -                     9                    18                -                     -                     -                   27
-                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   1,850
-                   584                -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   672
5                  -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   22,564
-                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   199
-                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   5,512

59                31                  -                     -                   -                     573                1,060           2,812
425              -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   1,787

2                  11                  -                     -                   3                    -                     -                   277
-                   -                     -                     1                  86                  1                    -                   383

491              626                9                    19                89                  573                1,060           43,124

-                   -                     -                     4                  -                     -                     -                   5,178
331              57                  13                  -                   -                     -                     -                   817

-                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   4,327
-                   -                     -                     -                   74                  -                     -                   13,203
-                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   135
-                   -                     -                     -                   -                     545                1,049           3,770

56 1,692 -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   3,525

-                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   1,950
-                   -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     -                   245

387              1,749             13                  4                  74                  545                1,049           33,150

104              (1,123)            (4)                   15                15                  28                  11                9,974

-                   -                     4                    -                   -                     -                     -                   4,707
(99)               (16)                 -                     -                   -                     (28)                 (11)               (4,250)          
(99)               (16)                 4                    -                   -                     (28)                 (11)               457

5                  (1,139)            -                     15                15                  -                     -                   10,431

387              2,397             7                    -                   558                -                     -                   27,171

$ 392              $ 1,258             $ 7                    $ 15                $ 573                $ -                     $ -                   $ 37,602

167

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     287



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Excise taxes $ 135             $ 135              $ 86              $ (49)               
Charges for services 72               72                634            562              
Interest and investment earnings 97               97                61              (36)               

    Total revenues 304             304              781            477              
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 110             585              367            218              
        Total expenditures 110             585              367            218              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 194             (281)            414            695              

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out (22)              (22)              (22)             -                   

Total other financing sources (uses) (22)              (22)              (22)             -                   

Net change in fund balance $ 172           $ (303)          392           $ 695            

Encumbrances, end of year 2                
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 5,907         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 6,301         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 37              

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 6,338        

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Capital Development Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

168

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     288



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
Intergovernmental $ 860             $ 860              $ 980            $ 120                
Interest and investment earnings 2                 2                  13              11                  

    Total revenues 862             862              993            131                
Expenditures:
 Current:

Culture and Recreation 575             1,241           538            703                
Open Space and Mountain Parks 425             777              633            144                
        Total expenditures 1,000          2,018           1,171         847                

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures $ (138)          $ (1,156)       (178)          $ 978              

Encumbrances, end of year 107           
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 1,228         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 1,157         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 6                
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (2)               

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 1,161        

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Lottery Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

169

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     289



   
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
Charges for services $ 1,723          $ 1,723           $ 2,133         $ 410                

 Sale of goods 4                 4                  5                1                    
Licenses, permits and fines 3,792          3,837           5,335         1,498             
Intergovernmental -                  24                15              (9)                   
Interest and investment earnings 154             154              64              (90)                 
Other -                  -                  27              27                  

    Total revenues 5,673          5,742           7,579         1,837             
Expenditures:
 Current:

Planning & Development Services 4,619          4,895           4,561         334                
Others 2,956          3,162           2,766         396                

Debt service payments:
Real Estate Rentals & Leases -                  -                  3                (3)                   
        Total expenditures 7,575          8,057           7,330         727                

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (1,902)         (2,315)         249            2,564             

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 2,737          2,737           2,737         -                     
Transfers out (1,379)         (1,521)         (1,521)        -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,358          1,216           1,216         -                     

Net change in fund balance $ (544)          $ (1,099)       1,465        $ 2,564           

Encumbrances, end of year 276            
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 5,686         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 7,427         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 43              
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (340)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 7,130        

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Planning & Development Services Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

170

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     290



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
Charges for services $ 1,002          $ 6,379           $ 12,777       $ 6,398           
Leases, rents and royalties -                  -                  156            156              
Interest and investment earnings 50               50                95              45                
Other 156             156              50              (106)             

    Total revenues 1,208          6,585           13,078       6,493           
Expenditures:
 Current:

Housing and Human Services 1,485          10,791         2,155         8,636           
        Total expenditures 1,485          10,791         2,155         8,636           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (277)            (4,206)         10,923       15,129         

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 325             325              325            -                   
Transfers out (44)              (44)              (44)             -                   

Total other financing sources (uses) 281             281              281            -                   

Net change in fund balance $ 4               $ (3,925)       11,204      $ 15,129       

Encumbrances, end of year -                 
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 3,939         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 15,143       

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 88              
Notes receivable 124            
Due from other funds 59              
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (15)             

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 15,399      

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Affordable Housing Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

171

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     291



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ -                  $ -                  $ -                 $ -                   
Interest and investment earnings -                  -                  -                 -                   
Other -                  -                  -                 -                   

    Total revenues -                  -                  -                 -                   
Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government -                  -                  -                 -                   
Culture and Recreation -                  -                  -                 -                   
Housing and Human Services -                  -                  -                 -                   
        Total expenditures -                  -                  -                 -                   

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures -                  -                  -                 -                   

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out -                  -                  (2,222)        (2,222)          

Total other financing sources (uses) -                  -                  (2,222)        (2,222)          

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ -                (2,222)       $ (2,222)         

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 2,222         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting -                 

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ -                

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

.15 Cent Sales Tax Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

172

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     292



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 6,746          $ 6,745           $ 7,041         $ 296              
Charges for services 25               25                26              1                  
Licenses, permits and fines -                  -                  20              20                
Intergovernmental -                  6                  4                (2)                 
Leases, rents and royalties -                  -                  17              17                
Interest and investment earnings 15               15                34              19                
Other 75               82                34              (48)               

    Total revenues 6,861          6,873           7,176         303              
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 450             450              450            -                   
Culture and Recreation 4,262          5,916           4,152         1,764           

Debt service payments:
Principal 1,950          1,950           1,950         -                   
Interest 245             245              245            -                   
        Total expenditures 6,907          8,561           6,797         1,764           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (46)              (1,688)         379            2,067           

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out (268)            (268)            (268)           -                   

Total other financing sources (uses) (268)            (268)            (268)           -                   

Net change in fund balance $ (314)          $ (1,956)       111           $ 2,067         

Encumbrances, end of year 371           
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 3,084         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 3,566         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 13              
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (100)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 3,479        

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

.25 Cent Sales Tax Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

173

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     293



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
Charges for services $ 6,475          $ 6,475           $ 6,989         $ 514                

 Sale of goods 166             166              194            28                  
Licenses, permits and fines 191             191              157            (34)                 
Intergovernmental -                  36                39              3                    
Leases, rents and royalties 1,240          1,240           1,189         (51)                 
Interest and investment earnings 8                 22                13              (9)                   
Other 3                 76                174            98                  

    Total revenues 8,083          8,206           8,755         549                
Expenditures:
 Current:

Culture and Recreation 9,578          9,947           9,737         210                
        Total expenditures 9,578          9,947           9,737         210                

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (1,495)         (1,741)         (982)           759                

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 1,641          1,641           1,641         -                     
Transfers out (5)                (19)              (19)             -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,636          1,622           1,622         -                     

Net change in fund balance $ 141           $ (119)          640           $ 759              

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 716            
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 1,356         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 8                
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (326)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 1,038        

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Recreation Activity Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

174

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     294



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Franchise taxes $ 1,780          $ 1,780           $ 1,850         $ 70                   
Intergovernmental -                  51                51              -                      
Interest and investment earnings 15               15                11              (4)                    
Other -                  -                  11              11                   

    Total revenues 1,795          1,846           1,923         77                   
Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 1,795          3,109           2,616         493                 
        Total expenditures 1,795          3,109           2,616         493                 

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ (1,263)       (693)          $ 570               

Encumbrances, end of year 169           
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 1,355         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 831            

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 5                
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (24)             

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 812           

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Climate Action Plan Tax Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

175

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     295



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
Charges for services $ 4                 $ 4                  $ 5                $ 1                    
Intergovernmental -                  319              59              (260)               
Leases, rents and royalties 410             410              425            15                  
Interest and investment earnings 11               11                6                (5)                   

    Total revenues 425             744              495            (249)               
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 349             708              390            318                
        Total expenditures 349             708              390            318                

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 76               36                105            69                  

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out (99)              (99)              (99)             -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) (99)              (99)              (99)             -                     

Net change in fund balance $ (23)            $ (63)            6               $ 69                

Encumbrances, end of year 3               
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 390            
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 399            

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 1                
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (8)               

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 392           

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Airport Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

176

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     296



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

 Excise taxes $ 600         $ 600          $ 584         $ (16)             
Intergovernmental -              -               31           31              
Interest and investment earnings 20           20            23           3                
Other 100         100          -             (100)           

    Total revenues 720         720          638         (82)             
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 699         2,500       1,823      677            
        Total expenditures 699         2,500       1,823      677            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 21           (1,780)      (1,185)    595            

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out (16)          (16)           (16)         -                 

Total other financing sources (uses) (16)          (16)           (16)         -                 

Net change in fund balance $ 5             $ (1,796)      (1,201)    $ 595            

Encumbrances, end of year 70           
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 2,383      
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 1,252      

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 7             
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (1)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 1,258      

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Transportation Development Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

177

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     297



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

General property taxes $ 10               $ 10                $ 9                $ (1)                   
    Total revenues 10               10                9                (1)                   

Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 14               14                13              1                    
        Total expenditures 14               14                13              1                    

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (4)                (4)                (4)               -                     

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 4                 4                  4                -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) 4                 4                  4                -                     

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ -                -                $ -                   

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 7                
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 7                

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 7               

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Transit Pass General Improvement District

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

178

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     298



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

General property taxes $ 49               $ 49                $ 18              $ (31)                 
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes -                  -                  1                1                    
    Total revenues 49               49                19              (30)                 

Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 33               33                4                29                  
        Total expenditures 33               33                4                29                  

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 16               16                15              (1)                   

Net change in fund balance $ 16             $ 16              15             $ (1)                 

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting -                 
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 15              

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 15             

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Boulder Junction Access GID - TDM

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

179

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     299



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
Intergovernmental $ 811             $ 1,380           $ 574            $ (806)               

    Total revenues 811             1,380           574            (806)               
Expenditures:
 Current:

Housing and Human Services 783             1,352           546            806                
        Total expenditures 783             1,352           546            806                

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 28               28                28              -                     

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out (28)              (28)              (28)             -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) (28)              (28)              (28)             -                     

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ -                -                $ -                   

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting -                 
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting -                 

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ -                

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Community Development Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

180

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     300



(Budgetary Basis)

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
Intergovernmental $ 1,133          $ 2,927           $ 1,060         $ (1,867)            

    Total revenues 1,133          2,927           1,060         (1,867)            
Expenditures:
 Current:

Housing and Human Services 1,122          2,916           1,049         1,867             
        Total expenditures 1,122          2,916           1,049         1,867             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 11               11                11              -                     

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out (11)              (11)              (11)             -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) (11)              (11)              (11)             -                     

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ -                -                $ -                   

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting -                 
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting -                 

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ -                

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

HOME Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

181

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     301



.15 Cent
Sales Tax

Debt Service
Assets Fund

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 6
Investments 236
Receivables:
    Accrued interest 1

            Total assets $ 243                

Liabilities and Fund Balance

Liabilities:
            Total liabilities $ -                    
 
Fund balance:
    Restricted
        Debt service 243
            Total fund balance 243                

    Total liabilities
        and fund balance $ 243                

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Debt Service Fund

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

182

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     302



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Debt Service Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

.15 Cent
Sales Tax

Debt Service
Fund

Revenues:
    Sales and use taxes $ 1,504
    Interest and investment earnings 14
        Total revenues 1,518                 

Expenditures:
    Debt service payments:
        Principal 529
        Interest 23
                Total expenditures 552                    

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
    over (under) expenditures 966                    

Other financing sources (uses):
    Transfers out (1,256)
            Total other financing
                sources (uses) (1,256)                
Net change in fund balance (290)                   

Fund balance, beginning of year 533                    

Fund balance, end of year $ 243                   

183

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     303



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ -                  $ 1,241           $ 1,504         $ 263                 
Interest and investment earnings -                  15                16              1                     

    Total revenues -                  1,256           1,520         264                 
Expenditures:

Debt service payments:
Principal 530             530              530            -                      
Interest 23               23                23              -                      
        Total expenditures 553             553              553            -                      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (553)            703              967            264                 

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers out -                  (1,256)         (1,256)        -                      

Total other financing sources (uses) -                  (1,256)         (1,256)        -                      

Net change in fund balance $ (553)          $ (553)          (289)         $ 264                

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 530           
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 241            

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 2                

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 243          

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

.15 Cent Sales Tax Debt Service Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

184

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     304



Permanent Fire Training Boulder
Parks and Center Junction
Recreation Construction Improvement

Assets Fund Fund Fund Total

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 56                   $ 1                     $ 34                   $ 91                      
Investments 2,214              49                   1,359              3,622                 
Receivables:
    General property taxes 2,239              -                      -                      2,239                 
    Accrued interest 7                     -                      4                     11                      
    Accounts -                      -                      58                   58                      
Total receivables 2,246              -                      62                   2,308                 

        Total assets $ 4,516            $ 50                 $ 1,455             $ 6,021               

Liabilities and Fund Balance

Liabilities:
    Accounts and accrued liabilities:
        Vouchers and accounts payable $ 100                 $ -                      $ 10                   $ 110                    
        Contracts and retainage payable 68                   -                      -                      68                      
        Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
            withheld from employees 40                   -                      5                     45                      
    Deferred revenue:
        General property taxes 2,239              -                      -                      2,239                 
            Total liabilities 2,447              -                      15                   2,462                 
  
Fund balances:
     Restricted:
        Capital projects 2,069              -                      -                      2,069                 
     Assigned:
        Special purposes -                      50                   1,440              1,490                 
            Total fund balances 2,069              50                   1,440              3,559                 

            Total liabilities and fund balances $ 4,516            $ 50                 $ 1,455             $ 6,021               

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Capital Project Funds

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

185

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     305



Permanent Fire Training Boulder
Parks and Center Junction
Recreation Construction Improvement

Fund Fund Fund Total

Revenues:
    Taxes:
        Sales and use taxes $ -                   $ -                       $ 655                  $ 655              
        General property taxes 2,213           -                       -                       2,213           
        Excise taxes 255              -                       2                      257              
    Charges for services -                   -                       70                    70                
    Licenses, permits and fines 4                  -                       -                       4                  
    Interest and investment earnings 35                -                       11                    46                
    Other 16                -                       73                    89                
        Total revenues 2,523           -                       811                  3,334           

Expenditures:
    Capital outlay 2,748           86                    543                  3,377           
        Total expenditures 2,748           86                    543                  3,377           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
    over (under) expenditures (225)             (86)                   268                  (43)               

Other financing sources (uses):
    Transfers in -                   -                       223                  223              
    Transfers out (109)             (238)                 -                       (347)             
        Total other financing
            sources (uses) (109)             (238)                 223                  (124)             

Net change in fund balances (334)             (324)                 491                  (167)             

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,403           374                  949                  3,726           

Fund balances, end of year $ 2,069           $ 50                    $ 1,440               $ 3,559           

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Capital Project Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

186

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     306



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

General property taxes $ 2,168          $ 2,168           $ 2,213               $ 45                   
Excise taxes 404             404              170                  (234)               
Other taxes -                  -                   85                    85                   

Licenses, permits and fines -                  -                   4                      4                     
Interest and investment earnings 14               14                24                    10                   
Other 7                 7                  16                    9                     

    Total revenues 2,593          2,593           2,512               (81)                 
Expenditures:
 Capital Outlay 3,205          4,256           3,005               1,251              

        Total expenditures 3,205          4,256           3,005               1,251              
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures (612)            (1,663)         (493)                 1,170              
Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers in -                  230              -                       (230)               
Transfers out (86)              (109)            (109)                 -                     

Total other financing sources (uses) (86)              121              (109)                 (230)               

Net change in fund balance $ (698)          $ (1,542)       (602)                $ 940                

Encumbrances, end of year 267                 
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 2,201               
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 1,866               

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 13                     
Due from other funds 230                  
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (40)                   

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 2,069              

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

187

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     307



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
Interest and investment earnings $ -                  $ -                  $ -                 $ -                     

    Total revenues -                  -                  -                 -                     
Expenditures:
 Capital Outlay -                  370              86              284                

        Total expenditures -                  370              86              284                
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures -                  (370)            (86)             284                
Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers out -                  -                  (238)           (238)               
Total other financing sources (uses) -                  -                  (238)           (238)               

Net change in fund balance $ -                  $ (370)            (324)           $ 46                  

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 370            
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 46              

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 4                

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 50              

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Fire Training Center Construction Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

188

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     308



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 831             $ 831              $ 655            $ (176)               
Excise taxes -                  -                  2                2                    
Other taxes 192             192              -                 (192)               

Charges for services -                  70                70              -                     
Interest and investment earnings -                  -                  14              14                  
Other -                  41                73              32                  

    Total revenues 1,023          1,134           814            (320)               
Expenditures:
 Capital Outlay 229             1,195           630            565                

        Total expenditures 229             1,195           630            565                
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures 794             (61)              184            245                
Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers in 200             200              223            23                  
Total other financing sources (uses) 200             200              223            23                  

Net change in fund balance $ 994             $ 139              407            $ 268                

Encumbrances, end of year 83              
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 947            
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 1,437         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments 8                
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (5)               

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 1,440         

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Boulder Junction Improvement Fund

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

189

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     309



(This page left blank intentionally) 

190

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     310



NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
 
 

Enterprise Funds are established to account for operations that are primarily funded through user charges to 
customers outside of the organization.  The City of Boulder has the following Nonmajor Enterprise Funds: 
 
University Hill Commercial District Fund – this district provides parking facilities and services to the 
commercial district adjacent to the University of Colorado (CU) campus.  It is predominately self-supported 
by user charges but also receives general property and other tax revenues.  
 
Boulder Junction Access GID – Parking Fund – to account for revenues and expenditures related to programs 
implemented by the Boulder Junction Authority General Improvement District to meet its parking facility and 
service goals.  It is predominately self-supported through property tax revenue approved by the voters. 
 

191

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     311



Boulder
Junction Total

University Hill Access Nonmajor
Commercial GID - Enterprise

District Parking Funds
Assets:

Current assets:
Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 19                   $ -                  $ 19                 
Investments 769                 7                    776               
Receivables:
    General property taxes 32                   26                  58                 
    Accrued interest 2                     -                     2                   
Total receivables 34                   26                  60                 

Total current assets 822                 33                  855               

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:
    Land and easements 444                 -                     444               
    Improvements other than buildings 58                   -                     58                 
    Machinery and equipment 326                 -                     326               

828                 -                     828               
        Less accumulated depreciation (187)               -                     (187)             

641                 -                     641               
Total capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 641                 -                     641               

Total noncurrent assets 641                 -                     641               

Total assets 1,463              33                  1,496            

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts and accrued liabilities:
    Vouchers and accounts payable 4                     -                     4                   
    Accrued salaries, wages and amounts  
        withheld from employees 13                   -                     13                 
Advances from other funds -                     2                    2                   
Other liabilities 6                     -                     6                   
Deferred revenue:
    General property taxes 32                   26                  58                 

Total current liabilities 55                   28                  83                 

Noncurrent liabilities:  
Advances from other funds -                     16                  16                 
Compensated absences payable 27                   -                     27                 
Retiree health care benefit 4                     -                     4                   

Total noncurrent liabilities 31                   16                  47                 

Total liabilities 86                   44                  130               
  

Net position:  
Net investment in capital assets 641                 -                     641               
Restricted for:
    Legally restricted - emergency reserve 5                     -                     5                   
Unrestricted 731                 (11)                 720               

Total net position $ 1,377              $ (11)                 $ 1,366            

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Net Position

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

192

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     312



Boulder  
Junction Total

University Hill Access Nonmajor
Commercial GID - Enterprise

District Parking Funds

Operating revenues:
    Charges for services $ 122            $ -                $ 122            
        Total operating revenues 122            -                122            

Operating expenses:
    Personnel 263            -                263            
    Nonpersonnel 204            7               211            
    Depreciation and amortization 39              -                39              
        Total operating expenses 506            7               513            

            Operating income (loss) (384)           (7)              (391)           

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):  
    Interest and investment earnings 4                -                4                
    General property taxes 26              14             40              
    Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 1                1               2                
    Interest expense -                 (1)              (1)               
    Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets (55)             -                (55)             
    Other, net 2                -                2                
        Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (22)             14             (8)               

        Income (loss) before capital
            contributions and transfers (406)           7               (399)           

Capital contributions 19              -                19              
Transfers in 432            -                432            
Transfers out (48)             -                (48)             

        Changes in net position (3)               7               4                

Total net position, beginning of year 1,380         (18)            1,362         

Total net position, end of year $ 1,377       $ (11)          $ 1,366         

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

193

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     313



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

 Combining Statement of Cash Flows

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

Boulder
Junction Total

University Hill Access Nonmajor
Commercial GID - Enterprise

District Parking Funds

Cash flows from operating activities:
    Receipts from customers and users $ 122             $ -                   $ 122              
    Other receipts (payments) 2                 -                   2                  
    Payments to suppliers (155)            (7)                 (162)             
    Payments to employees (253)            -                   (253)             
    Payment for interfund services used (48)              -                   (48)               
Net cash provided (used) by
    operating activities (332)            (7)                 (339)             

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
    Payments from (to) other funds on advances -                  (2)                 (2)                 
    General property taxes 26               14                40                
    Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 1                 1                  2                  
    Transfers in 432             -                   432              
    Transfers out (48)              -                   (48)               
Net cash provided (used) by
    noncapital financing activities 411             13                424              

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
    Acquisition and construction of capital assets 23               -                   23                
     Proceeds from sale or transfer
       of property and equipment (55)              -                   (55)               
    Interest paid on notes payable, bonds payable,
       and capitalized lease obligations -                  (1)                 (1)                 
Net cash provided (used) for capital
    related financing activities (32)              (1)                 (33)               

Cash flows from investing activities:
    Purchase of investment securities (435)            (5)                 (440)             
    Proceeds from sale and maturities of

investment securities 286             -                   286              
    Interest on investments 77               -                   77                
Net cash provided (used) in
   investing activities (72)              (5)                 (77)               

Net increase in cash
    and cash equivalents (25)              -                   (25)               

Cash and cash equivalents,
    January 1 44               -                   44                

Cash and cash equivalents, 
    December 31 $ 19               $ -                   $ 19                

194

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     314



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

Boulder
Junction Total

University Hill Access Nonmajor
Commercial GID - Enterprise

District Parking Funds

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 
    provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) $ (384)            $ (7)                 $ (391)             
Adjustments to reconcile net operating
    income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by
    operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
    of deferred charges 43               -                   43                
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses) (2)                -                   (2)                 
Change in assets and liabilities:
    Increase (decrease) in liabilities:

Vouchers and accounts payable 2                 -                   2                  
Other liabilities 9                 -                   9                  
        Total adjustments 52               -                   52                

Net cash provided (used) by 
    operating activities $ (332)            $ (7)                 $ (339)             

Noncash investing, capital and financing activities:
     Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments $ (5)                $ -                   $ (5)                 

$ (5)                $ -                   $ (5)                 

195

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     315



(This page left blank intentionally) 

196

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     316



INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 
 
 

The Internal Service Funds are established to finance and account for services and/or commodities required 
by other funds.  The City of Boulder has the following Internal Service Funds: 
 
Telecommunications Fund – to account for the costs of operating, acquiring and maintaining 
telecommunications equipment used by all city departments.  
 
Property and Casualty Insurance Fund – to account for property and casualty insurance expenditures and 
reserves funded through cost allocation to all city departments. 
 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance Fund – to account for and facilitate the monitoring of the city’s self-
insured workers’ compensation plan. 
 
Compensated Absences Fund – to account for payments of compensated absences to employees of the 
General and Library Funds.  Funding is received primarily from the General Fund. 
 
Fleet Fund – to account for the costs of operating, acquiring and maintaining automotive equipment used by 
other city departments.  Such costs are billed to the other departments. 
 
Computer Replacement Fund – to account for the costs of acquiring and maintaining computer equipment 
used by other city departments.  Such costs are billed to the other departments. 
 
Equipment Replacement Fund – to account for the costs of acquiring equipment used by other city 
departments.  Such costs are billed to the other departments. 
 
Facility Renovation and Replacement Fund – to account for the costs of maintaining, renovating and 
replacing facilities within the city.  Such costs are billed to the other departments. 

197

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     317



Property and Workers'
Telecom- Casualty Compensation Compensated

munications Insurance Insurance Absences
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Assets:
Current assets:

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 30                  $ 154                $ 86                $ 42                  
Investments 1,187             6,118             3,424           1,662             
Receivables, net:
    Accounts 57                  -                     -                   -                     
    Accrued interest 4                    20                  11                5                    
Total receivables 61                  20                  11                5                    
Advances to other funds -                     -                     -                   -                     
Other assets - prepaid expenses -                     204                -                   -                     

Total current assets 1,278             6,496             3,521           1,709             

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:
    Investments for capital projects -                     -                     -                   -                     
Advances to other funds -                     -                     -                   -                     
Capital assets:
    Land and easements -                     -                     -                   -                     
    Buildings 207                -                     -                   -                     
    Improvements other than buildings -                     -                     -                   -                     
    Vehicles -                     -                     -                   -                     
    Machinery and equipment 3,045             13                  -                   -                     

3,252             13                  -                   -                     
        Less accumulated depreciation (1,499)            (1)                   -                   -                     

1,753             12                  -                   -                     
    Construction-in-progress -                     -                     -                   -                     
Total capital assets, net of
    accumulated depreciation 1,753             12                  -                   -                     

Total noncurrent assets 1,753             12                  -                   -                     

Total assets 3,031             6,508             3,521           1,709             

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts and accrued liabilities:
    Vouchers and accounts payable 31                  1                    62                -                     
    Contracts and retainage payable -                     -                     -                   -                     
    Accrued salaries, wages and
        amounts withheld from employees 7                    19                  12                101                
    Accrued interest -                     -                     -                   -                     
Accrued cleanup liability -                     -                     -                   -                     
Accrued claims liability -                     153                725              -                     

    Due to other funds -                     41                  -                   -                     
Deferred revenue 26                  -                     -                   -                     
Capitalized lease obligations -                     -                     -                   -                     
Other liabilities -                     -                     -                   -                     

Total current liabilities 64                  214                799              101                

Noncurrent liabilities:
Capitalized lease obligations -                     -                     -                   -                     
Compensated absences payable -                     -                     -                   -                     
Accrued claims liability -                     857                437              -                     
Retiree health care benefit 2                    3                    2                  -                     

Total noncurrent liabilities 2                    860                439              -                     

Total liabilities 66                  1,074             1,238           101                
 

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 1,753             12                  -                   -                     
Unrestricted 1,212             5,422             2,283           1,608             

Total net position $ 2,965             $ 5,434             $ 2,283           $ 1,608             

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Net Position

Internal Service Funds

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

198

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     318



Facility
Renovation

 Computer Equipment and
Fleet Replacement Replacement Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 259              $ 168                $ 150                $ 256                $ 1,145           
10,297         6,673             5,975             10,178           45,514         

20                1                    -                     15                  93                
33                21                  19                  33                  146              
53                22                  19                  48                  239              

135              -                     -                     -                     135              
-                   -                     -                     -                     204              

10,744         6,863             6,144             10,482           47,237         

-                   -                     -                     879                879              
1,132           -                     -                     -                     1,132           

-                   -                     -                     102                102              
2,381           -                     108                78,987           81,683         
1,437           -                     -                     7,027             8,464           

27,596         -                     -                     -                     27,596         
27                2,957             3,147             7                    9,196           

31,441         2,957             3,255             86,123           127,041       
(16,593)        (1,889)            (2,250)            (47,384)          (69,616)        
14,848         1,068             1,005             38,739           57,425         

161              -                     -                     3,910             4,071           

15,009         1,068             1,005             42,649           61,496         
16,141         1,068             1,005             43,528           63,507         

26,885         7,931             7,149             54,010           110,744       

181              116                13                  1,506             1,910           
-                   -                     -                     1,060             1,060           

 
59                -                     2                    8                    208              

-                   -                     -                     59                  59                
-                   -                     -                     594                594              
-                   -                     -                     -                     878              

145              -                     -                     186              
-                   -                     -                     212                238              
-                   -                     -                     503                503              
-                   -                     -                     1,266             1,266           

385              116                15                  5,208             6,902           

 
-                   -                     -                     9,730             9,730           

194              -                     -                     -                     194              
-                   -                     -                     -                     1,294           
2                  -                     -                     2                    11                

196              -                     -                     9,732             11,229         

581              116                15                  14,940           18,131         
 
 

15,009         1,068             1,005             33,295           52,142         
11,295         6,747             6,129             5,775             40,471         

$ 26,304         $ 7,815             $ 7,134             $ 39,070           $ 92,613         

199

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     319



Property and Workers'
Telecom- Casualty Compensation Compensated

munications Insurance Insurance Absences
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Operating revenues:
    Charges for services $ 653                   $ 1,510                  $ 1,224                    $ 784                     
        Total operating revenues 653                   1,510                  1,224                    784                     

Operating expenses:
    Personnel 129                   318                     262                       648                     
    Nonpersonnel 412                   897                     1,349                    -                          
    Depreciation 282                   1                         -                            -                          
        Total operating expenses 823                   1,216                  1,611                    648                     

            Operating income (loss) (170)                 294                     (387)                      136                     

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
    Interest and investment earnings 4                       32                       16                         10                       
    Leases, rents and royalties -                       -                         -                            -                          
    Intergovernmental revenue -                       -                         -                            -                          
    Interest expense -                       -                         -                            -                          
    Gain (loss) on sale of     
        capital assets -             -                         -                            -                          
    Other (net) -             15                       19                         -                          
        Total nonoperating revenues     
            (expenses) 4                       47                       35                         10                       

            Income (loss) before
               capital contributions,
               and transfers (166)                 341                     (352)                      146                     

Capital contributions -                       -                         -                            -                          
Transfers in 14                     -                         115                       -                          
Transfers out (15)                   (168)                   (116)                      (35)                      

           Changes in net position (167)                 173                     (353)                      111                     

Total net position, beginning of year 3,132                5,261                  2,636                    1,497                  

Total net position, end of year $ 2,965               $ 5,434                $ 2,283                  $ 1,608                 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Internal Service Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

200

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     320



Facility
Renovation

 Computer Equipment and
Fleet Replacement Replacement Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 7,984            $ 1,741                 $ 725                    $ 3,544                 $ 18,165          
7,984            1,741                 725                    3,544                 18,165          

1,115            -                         29                      145                    2,646            
1,765            840                    149                    402                    5,814            
1,819            432                    331                    3,930                 6,795            
4,699            1,272                 509                    4,477                 15,255          

3,285            469                    216                    (933)                   2,910            

96                 29                      25                      53                      265               
-                    -                         -                         20                      20                 
-                    -                         -                         75                      75                 
-                    -                         -                         (376)                   (376)              

     
44                 8                        (29)                     -                         23                 

9                   -                         16                      1,498                 1,557            
    

149               37                      12                      1,270                 1,564            

3,434            506                    228                    337                    4,474            

-                    -                         -                         235                    235               
40                 -                         142                    437                    748               

(1,938)           (13)                     (33)                     (46)                     (2,364)           

1,536            493                    337                    963                    3,093            

24,768          7,322                 6,797                 38,107               89,520          

$ 26,304          $ 7,815                 $ 7,134               $ 39,070             $ 92,613         

201

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     321



 CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Cash Flows

Internal Service Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amount in 000's)

Property and Workers'
Telecom- Casualty Compensation Compensated

munications Insurance Insurance Absences
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Cash flows from operating activities:
    Receipts from customers and users $ (31)                  $ -                      $ 88                   $ -                      
    Receipts from interfund services provided 653                 1,549              1,224              784                 
    Other receipts (payments) 26                   15                   19                   -                      
    Refundable deposits receipts (payments) -                      -                      -                      -                      
    Payments to suppliers (409)               (894)               (1,358)            -                      
    Payments to employees (129)               (218)               (261)               (558)               
Net cash provided (used) by
    operating activities 110                 452                 (288)               226                 

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
    Payments (receipts) from (to) other funds 

on due from (due to) balances (15)                  -                      -                      -                      
    Payments from (to) other funds on advances -                      41                   -                      -                      
    Leases, rents and royalties -                      -                      -                      -                      
    Intergovernmental revenue -                      -                      -                      -                      
    Transfers in 14                   -                      115                 -                      
    Transfers out (15)                  (168)               (116)               (35)                  
Net cash provided (used) by

noncapital financing activities (16)                  (127)               (1)                    (35)                  

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
    Acquisition and construction of capital assets -                      (13)                  -                      -                      
    Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                      -                      -                      -                      
    Proceeds from issuance of capital lease -                      -                      -                      -                      
    Principal paid on capitalized lease obligation -                      -                      -                      -                      

Payments on lease purchase obligations -                      -                      -                      -                      
Net cash provided (used) for capital

and related financing activities -                      (13)                  -                      -                      

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investment securities (703)               (3,468)            (431)               (1,031)            
Proceeds from sale and maturities of

investment securities 426                 2,342              426                 535                 
Interest on investments 147                 618                 155                 258                 

Net cash provided (used) in
investing activities (130)               (508)               150                 (238)               

Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents (36)                  (196)               (139)               (47)                  

Cash and cash equivalents,
January 1 66                   350                 225                 89                   

Cash and cash equivalents,
December 31 $ 30                   $ 154                 $ 86                   $ 42                   

202

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     322



Facility
Renovation

Computer Equipment and 
Fleet Replacement Replacement Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 55                 $ (1)                    $ -                      $ -                      $ 111               
7,918           1,741              725                 3,544              18,138         

9                   -                      16                   42                   127               
-                   -                      -                      (738)               (738)             

(1,721)          (878)               (263)               555                 (4,968)          
(1,105)          -                      (28)                  (142)               (2,441)          

5,156           862                 450                 3,261              10,229         

-                   -                      (15)                  40                   10                 
1,286           -                      -                      -                      1,327           

-                   -                      -                      20                   20                 
-                   -                      -                      284                 284               

40                 -                      142                 436                 747               
(942)             (13)                  (33)                  (46)                  (1,368)          

384               (13)                  94                   734                 1,020           

(4,608)          (107)               (208)               (6,053)            (10,989)        
(181)             8                     (29)                  -                      (202)             

-                   -                      -                      3,241              3,241           
-                   -                      -                      (346)               (346)             
-                   -                      -                      (347)               (347)             

(4,789)          (99)                  (237)               (3,505)            (8,643)          
 

(5,296)          (4,158)            (3,353)            (4,782)            (23,222)        

4,493           2,176              2,324              3,910              16,632         
(313)             1,042              563                 20                   2,490           

(1,116)          (940)               (466)               (852)               (4,100)          

(365)             (190)               (159)               (362)               (1,494)          

624               358                 309                 618                 2,639           

$ 259               $ 168                 $ 150                 $ 256                 $ 1,145           

(continued)

203

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     323



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

Internal Service Funds

Year ended December 31, 2012

(Amount in 000's)

Property and Workers'
Telecom- Casualty Compensation Compensated

munications Insurance Insurance Absences
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) $ (170)               $ 294                 $ (387)               $ 136                 
Adjustments to reconcile net operating

income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 263                 1                     -                      -                      
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses) -                      17                   45                   -                      
Change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in assets:
Accounts receivable 31                   39                   -                      -                      
Intergovernmental receivables -                      -                      -                      -                      
Other assets - prepaid expenses -                      3                     -                      -                      

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Vouchers and accounts payable 12                   -                      (9)                    -                      
Accrued salaries, wages and
    amounts withheld from employees -                      4                     1                     90                   
Other liabilities -                      -                      62                   -                      
Other liabilities - refundable deposits -                      -                      -                      -                      
Deferred revenue (26)                  -                      -                      -                      
Accrued claims liability -                      95                   -                      -                      
Retiree health care accrual -                      (1)                    -                      -                      

Total adjustments 280                 158                 99                   90                   
Net cash provided (used) by

operating activities $ 110                 $ 452                 $ (288)               $ 226                 

Noncash investing, capital and financing activities:
Assets acquired through:

        Financed through accounts, contracts and
           retainage payable $ -                      $ -                      $ -                      $ -                      

Amortization of bond premium and issuance costs -                      -                      -                      -                      
Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments (5)                    (28)                  (12)                  (1)                    

$ (5)                    $ (28)                  $ (12)                  $ (1)                    

204

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     324



Facility
Renovation

Computer Equipment and 
Fleet Replacement Replacement Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 3,285           $ 469                 $ 216                 $ (933)               $ 2,910           

1,837           408                 321                 3,930              6,760           
(9)                 -                      16                   1,498              1,567           

-                   (1)                    10                   2                     81                 
(11)               -                      -                      -                      (11)               

-                   -                      -                      -                      3                   

45                 (14)                  (113)               (1,759)            (1,838)          

-                   -                      -                      (2)                    93                 
22                 -                      -                      -                      84                 

-                   -                      -                      738                 738               
-                   -                      -                      (212)               (238)             
-                   -                      -                      -                      95                 

(13)               -                      -                      (1)                    (15)               
1,871           393                 234                 4,194              7,319           

$ 5,156           $ 862                 $ 450                 $ 3,261              $ 10,229         

$ -                   $ -                      $ -                      $ 116                 $ 116               
-                   -                      -                      6                     6                   

(53)               (9)                    (27)                  34                   (101)             

$ (53)               $ (9)                    $ (27)                  $ 156                 $ 21                 

205

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     325



(This page left blank intentionally) 

206

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     326



SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE 
 

207

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     327



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Supplementary Schedule

Combined Schedule of Long-Term Debt Payable

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

Interest Dates Authorized Current
rates Issued Maturity and issued Outstanding portion

Governmental Activities:

Supported by sales tax revenues and
other financing sources:

General Obligation Bonds:
Open Space Acquisition 4.00 - 5.50 6/20/06 8/15/19 $ 20,115        $ 12,095        $ 1,530                

Premium on Bonds 105             
Open Space Acquisition Refunding 3.50 - 4.00 6/26/07 8/15/18 12,345        9,270          1,390                

Premium on Refunding Bonds 23               
Refunding Bond Charges (247)            

Open Space Acquisition Refunding 2.50 7/07/09 8/15/13 6,305          1,790          1,790                
Premium on Refunding Bonds 10               
Refunding Bond Charges (3)                

Parks, Recreation, Muni.,Cap., Imp., Ref. 2.00 - 3.00 9/16/09 12/15/15 11,895        6,205          2,010                
Premium on Refunding Bonds 162             
Refunding Bond Charges (85)              

Waste Reduction Bonds 2.00 - 4.00 12/15/09 12/01/29 6,000          5,250          250                   
Premium on Waste Reduction Bonds 55               

General Fund Cap. Imp. Projects Bonds 2.00 - 4.00 3/22/12 10/01/31 49,000        47,170        2,270                
Premium on Cap. Imp. Projects Bonds 5,442          

105,660      87,242        9,240                

Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds 2.00 - 5.00 10/26/10 10/01/30 9,070          8,420          345                   
Premium on Pension Obligation Bonds 111             

9,070          8,531          345                   
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds:

Open Space Acq. Sales Tax Rev. Ref. Bonds 2.50 - 3.00 7/07/09 8/15/14 6,485          2,710          1,340                
Premium on Refunding Bonds 29               
Refunding Bond Charges (6)                

6,485          2,733          1,340                

Loan Payable - Boulder County 3.00 9/25/09 9/01/13 5,441          250             250                   

Capital Lease Purchase Agreements
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC 4.93 9/27/10 11/27/23 1,500          1,337          94                     
Suntrust Equipment Finance & Leasing Corp. 2.65 1/25/12 7/25/27 9,643          9,054          503                   

Refunding  Charges (158)            
11,143        10,233        597                   

Compensated Absences -                  11,110        572                   
Retiree Health Care Benefit (OPEB) -                  1,420          -                        
Rebatable Arbitrage -                -                  -                       

Total Governmental Activities and total supported by
    sales tax revenues and other financing sources $ 137,799      $ 121,519      $ 12,344              

Business-type Activities:

Supported by utility revenues:

Revenue Bonds:
Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 2.00 - 4.00 2/22/11 12/01/21 $ 18,335        $ 15,600        $ 1,530                

Premium on Bonds 620             
Refunding Bond Charges (473)            

Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 3.00 - 3.75 5/01/05 12/01/16 7,900          3,140          740                   
Refunding Bond Charges -                  (34)              

Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 4.00 - 4.125 7/10/07 12/01/19 25,935        14,260        1,940                
Refunding Bond Charges (416)            -                        

Water and Sewer 3.50 - 5.00 11/15/05 12/01/15 45,245        6,195          1,985                
Premium on Bonds -                  27               

Water and Sewer 4.00 - 5.00 11/20/12 12/01/25 24,325        24,325        -                        
Premium on Bonds -                  6,506          
Refunding Bond Charges (3,084)         

Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds 2.00 - 3.00 10/12/10 12/01/30 9,980          9,195          405                   
Premium on Bonds 190             

Storm Water & Flood Mgmt Rev. Rfdg. 2.00 - 3.00 6/08/10 12/01/18 3,165          2,100          335                   
Premium on Bonds 46               
Refunding Bond Charges (21)              

134,885      78,176        6,935                

Compensated Absences -                  1,150          159                   
Retiree Health Care Benefit (OPEB) -                  168             -                        
Rebatable Arbitrage -                  -                  -                        

Total supported by utility revenues 134,885      79,494        7,094                

(continued) 

208

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     328



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Supplementary Schedule

Combined Schedule of Long-Term Debt Payable (Continued)

December 31, 2012

(Amounts in 000's)

Interest Dates Authorized Current
rates Issued Maturity and issued Outstanding portion

Business-type Activities (Continued):

Supported by parking revenues:

General Obligation General Improvement District Bonds:
Downtown Commercial District:

Parking Facilities 2.50 - 4.20 6/17/03 8/15/13 12,500        615             615                   
         Premium on Bonds 1                 

Parking Facilities 2.00 - 3.00 11/28/12 8/15/23 7,275          7,275          90                     
         Premium on Bonds 536             
         Refunding Bond Charges (265)            

Parking Facilities 3.00 - 4.00 5/14/09 8/15/18 7,730          5,450          825                   
         Premium on Bonds 169             
         Refunding Bond Charges (29)              

27,505        13,752        1,530                

Compensated Absences -                  159             -                        
Retiree Health Care Benefit (OPEB) -                  44               -                        

Total supported by parking revenues 27,505        13,955        1,530                

Supported by base rentals:

Lease Purchase Revenue Notes:
Boulder Municipal Property Authority:

Open space acquisition:
Foothills Note 1997G 7.00 7/16/97 7/16/17 1,095          421             74                     
Van Vleet Note 1999B 6.00 3/05/99 3/05/14 2,500          472             229                   
Abbott Note 2001D 6.00 12/05/01 1/14/14 430             88               43                     
Helayne B. Jones Note 2003A 6.00 6/20/03 6/20/13 715             92               92                     
Dagle Note 2004A 4.75 12/01/04 12/01/14 770             183             90                     
Gisle Note 2005A 4.75 2/18/05 2/18/17 1,180          573             104                   
Hill Note 2005B 4.75 4/05/05 4/05/15 910             318             101                   
Luchetta Note 2005C 5.00 8/05/05 8/05/20 720             448             47                     
Boulder Valley Note 2006A 5.00 6/16/06 6/16/16 3,550          1,630          378                   
Eisenberg Note 2006B 5.00 6/07/06 6/07/16 1,206          554             128                   
Kolb, Edward H. Note 2008AR-1 5.00 4/22/08 4/22/18 404             266             39                     
Vigil Note 2008AR-2 5.00 4/22/08 4/22/18 404             266             39                     

13,884        5,311          1,364                

Total supported by base rentals 13,884        5,311          1,364                

    Total Business-type Activities $ 176,274      $ 98,760        $ 9,988                

209

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     329



(This page left blank intentionally) 

210

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     330



STATISTICAL TABLES 
 
 

Statistical tables are presented to provide an historical financial review of and additional information about 
the City of Boulder.  The various tables provide information useful in analyzing the existing financial position 
of the city as well as in identifying trends. 
 
The source of the statistical information in the following tables is taken from the city’s records unless 
otherwise noted. 

211

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     331



(This page left blank intentionally) 

212

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     332



The statistical section of the city's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information
as a context for understanding what the information presented in the financial statements, note disclosures
and required supplementary information say about the city's overall financial health.

Contents Page

Financial Trends
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the
city's financial performance and well being have changed over time.

Net Position by Component 214
Changes in Net Position 216
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 220
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 222

Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the city's
most significant local revenue source, sales tax.

Taxable Sales by Market Sector 224
Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates 226
Largest Sales Tax Remitters by Market Sector 228

Debt Capacity
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the city's
current level of outstanding debt and the city's ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Ratios of Net Outstanding Debt by Type 230
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 232
Direct and Overlapping Debt 233
Legal Debt Margin Information 234
Pledged Revenue Coverage 236

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand
the environment within which the city's financial activities take place.

Demographic and Economic Statistics 238
Principal Employers 239

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand
how the information in the city's financial report relates to the services the city provides 
and the activities it performs.

Full-Time Equivalent City Employees by Functions/Programs 240
Operating Indicators by Function/Program 242
Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program 244

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the comprehensive
annual report for the relevant year. 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Section
Index

December 31, 2012
(Unaudited)

213

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     333



2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Governmental activities:

Net investment in capital assets 187,518  $  200,574  $  329,926  $  343,319  $   350,644  $  
Restricted 44,692      41,906      47,497       63,452         56,833      
Unrestricted 31,408      34,929      39,282       20,955         45,771      

Total governmental activities 
                 net position 263,618  $  277,409  $  416,705  $  427,726  $   453,248  $  

Business-type activities:
Net investment in capital assets 258,051  $  266,227  $  267,873  $  269,527  $   283,633  $  
Restricted 103           208           213            220              228           
Unrestricted 32,991      32,862      32,291       53,147         57,233      

Total business-type activities 
                 net position 291,145  $  299,297  $  300,377  $  322,894  $   341,094  $  

Primary government:
Net investment in capital assets 445,569  $  466,801  $  597,799  $  612,846  $   634,277  $  
Restricted 44,795      42,114      47,710       63,672         57,061      
Unrestricted 64,399      67,791      71,573       74,102         103,004    

Total primary government 
                   net position 554,763  $  576,706  $  717,082  $  750,620  $   794,342  $  

Fiscal Year

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Net Position By Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Amounts in 000's)

214

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     334



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

363,896  $   379,461  $   395,174  $   418,691  $  401,272  $  
 59,456          58,197          51,815         30,256      81,324      
 51,761          51,266          69,024         86,439      113,391    

475,113  $   488,924  $   516,013  $   535,386  $  595,987  $  

295,936  $   313,583  $   310,791  $   325,861  $  325,883  $  
 234               242               249              254           257           

 65,263          59,917          65,547         67,166      61,583      

361,433  $   373,742  $   376,587  $   393,281  $  387,723  $  

659,832  $   693,044  $   705,965  $   744,552  $  727,155  $  
 59,690          58,439          52,064         30,510      81,581      

 117,024        111,183        134,571       153,605    174,974    

836,546  $   862,666  $   892,600  $   928,667  $  983,710  $  

Fiscal Year

215

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     335



2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Expenses:

Governmental activities:
General Government 8,073  $     7,803  $     7,632  $     8,429  $     9,846  $     
Administrative Services 3,907         2,541         2,708         3,337         3,182         
Public Safety 35,741       37,941       38,091       37,942       42,221       
Public Works 19,073       19,156       28,773       32,657       36,030       
Planning & Development Services 7,345         7,021         7,180         7,476         7,657         
Culture and Recreation 25,113       24,170       24,357       25,901       26,573       
Open Space and Mountain Parks 9,135         10,425       11,023       12,299       13,156       
Housing and Human Services 10,452       10,926       11,692       14,720       10,420       
Interest on long-term debt 4,666         4,496         4,016         4,137         3,872         

              Total governmental activities expenses 123,505     124,479     135,472     146,898     152,957     

Business-type activities:
Water utility 18,923       19,058       20,657       21,711       20,767       
Wastewater utility 8,165         8,352         9,043         10,362       10,849       
Stormwater and flood management 3,722         4,162         3,891         3,963         4,197         
Parking facilities and services 4,212         4,478         5,223         5,374         5,549         
Property and facility acquisition 1,701         1,559         1,460         1,411         1,316         

              Total business-type activities expenses 36,723       37,609       40,274       42,821       42,678       
              Total primary government expenses 160,228     162,088     175,746     189,719     195,635     

Program revenue:
Governmental activities:

Charges for services:
General Government  1,646          1,788          1,826          1,783          2,009         
Administrative Services  188             281             116             98               112            
Public Safety  742             1,043          1,075          990             1,426         
Public Works  904             835             928             719             890            
Planning & Development Services 4,917         4,622         5,298         6,289         6,803         
Culture and Recreation 7,173         7,090         7,341         8,057         8,589         
Open Space and Mountain Parks 376            386            369            405            374            
Housing and Human Services 730            1,642         1,529         1,527         1,328         

Operating grants and contributions 4,291         4,805         3,887         7,039         7,522         
Capital grants and contributions 10,498       5,900         9,991         6,514         13,521       

             Total governmental activities program revenue 31,465       28,392       32,360       33,421       42,574       

Business-type activities:
Charges for services:

Water utility 20,063       18,180       21,055       23,570       21,175       
Wastewater utility 8,346         8,488         10,002       12,126       12,596       
Stormwater and flood management 4,115         4,317         4,402         4,607         4,796         
Parking facilities and services 2,953         3,193         3,607         3,808         4,231         
Property and facility acquisition 4,527         4,647         5,090         4,444         4,540         

Operating grants and contributions 265            148            196            140            210            
Capital grants and contributions 4,478         6,091         6,738         6,618         4,812         

            Total business-type activities program revenues 44,747       45,064       51,090       55,313       52,360       
            Total primary government program revenues 76,212       73,456       83,450       88,734       94,934       

Net (expense) revenue:
Governmental activities (92,040)      (96,087)      (103,112)   (113,477)   (110,383)   
Business-type activities 8,024         7,455         10,816       12,492       9,682         

            Total primary government net expense (84,016)      (88,632)      (92,296)      (100,985)   (100,701)   

Fiscal Year

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Changes In Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Amounts in 000's)

216

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     336



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

10,227  $   9,945  $     12,431  $   19,509  $   16,625  $   
2,951         2,139         1,678         1,892         2,627         

44,479       45,506       45,819       47,391       49,693       
30,966       32,634       30,542       30,844       33,110       

8,966         8,619         8,248         5,665         5,555         
27,961       27,478       27,200       28,140       28,112       
13,360       13,043       13,548       14,863       13,040       
13,983       14,745       16,580       13,060       14,431       

3,530         2,820         2,285         2,290         2,984         
156,423     156,929     158,331     163,654     166,177     

21,713       21,051       20,921       21,223       21,925       
11,693       13,458       12,885       13,948       13,776       

4,407         4,011         4,454         4,790         4,523         
6,228         7,385         7,602         6,570         7,303         
1,150         1,009         860            724            479            

45,191       46,914       46,722       47,255       48,006       
201,614     203,843     205,053     210,909     214,183     

 2,832          2,819          3,512          2,941          7,593         
 268             205             191             142             548            

 1,640          1,706          1,874          1,748          1,629         
 909             803             1,122          2,095          1,730         

6,327         4,587         5,421         5,862         7,473         
9,069         8,448         8,121         8,386         9,041         

367            384            425            479            506            
3,671         2,608         5,775         1,401         13,303       
8,500         6,607         7,338         6,154         6,911         
6,886         11,950       8,381         7,679         9,260         

40,469       40,117       42,160       36,887       57,994       

21,123       20,201       21,633       22,940       24,592       
12,606       12,748       12,688       12,955       13,013       

4,959         5,084         5,080         4,896         5,167         
4,319         3,939         4,162         4,324         4,483         
4,042         3,455         3,447         5,178         2,336         

168            136            169            151            181            
10,703       8,408         5,610         8,411         5,175         
57,920       53,971       52,789       58,855       54,947       
98,389       94,088       94,949       95,742       112,941     

(115,954)   (116,812)   (116,171)   (126,767)   (108,183)   
12,729       7,057         6,067         11,600       6,941         

(103,225)   (109,755)   (110,104)   (115,167)   (101,242)   

(continued)

Fiscal Year

217

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     337



2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
General revenues and other changes in net position:

Governmental activities:
Taxes:

Sales and use taxes* 67,891  $  71,688  $  76,624  $  80,057  $   88,403  $  
Property taxes* 18,432     19,275     19,391     19,854      20,475      
Other taxes** 13,229     13,799     15,686     14,053      14,791      
Accommodation taxes -           -           -           -            -            
Franchise taxes -           -           -           -            -            
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes -           -           -           -            -            
Excise taxes -           -           -           -            -            

Interest and investment earnings 1,685       1,348       2,315       4,869        6,594        
Miscellaneous*** 6,230       4,312       5,125       5,002        6,752        
Gain on sale of capital assets -           -           -           -            -            
Transfers (498)         (544)         3,439       663           (1,110)       
Extraordinary item -           -           -           -            -            

            Total governmental activities 106,969   109,878   122,580   124,498    135,905     

Business-type activities:
Taxes:

Sales and use tax increment* -           -           46            85             99             
Property taxes* 763          805          839          874           912           
Property tax increment* -           -           44            500           563           
Other taxes** 58            68            433          664           766           
Accommodation taxes -           -           -           -            -            
Franchise taxes -           -           -           -            -            
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes -           -           -           -            -            
Excise taxes -           -           -           -            -            
Excess tax increment -           -           -           (245)          (703)          

Interest and investment earnings 1,262       1,167       1,585       5,215        5,796        
Miscellaneous*** 886          (1,887)      (390)         (159)          (25)            
Gain on sale of capital assets -           -           -           -            -            
Transfers 498          544          (3,439)      (663)          1,110        
Extraordinary item -           -           -           3,754        -            

            Total business-type activities 3,467       697          (882)         10,025      8,518        
            Total primary government 110,436     110,575     121,698     134,523     144,423     

Changes in net position:
Governmental activities 10,882     6,766       9,103       14,115      25,522      
Business-type activities 10,922       11,513       11,610       19,707       18,200       

            Total primary government 21,804  $  18,279  $  20,713  $  33,822  $   43,722  $  

*      Starting in 2008, sales and use tax is combined with sales and use tax increment. 
        The same applies to property tax and property tax increment.
**   Starting in 2008, other taxes are reported separately as follows: 
       Accommodation taxes, franchise taxes, specific ownership & tobacco taxes and excise taxes.
*** Starting in 2008, gain on sale of capital assets is reported separately
        from governmental activities miscellaneous.

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Amounts in 000's)

Fiscal Year

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Changes In Net Position (Continued)

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

218

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     338



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

84,867  $   85,457  $   87,802  $   92,627  $  97,397  $  
21,865       23,526       26,022       27,462      29,474     

-             -             -             -            -           
3,389         3,049         3,199         4,668        4,890       
9,131         9,121         10,868       10,282      12,310     
1,705         1,587         1,587         1,578        1,789       
2,748         1,847         837            1,927        1,290       
7,875         2,088         2,060         1,895        1,052       
5,025         5,286         5,633         6,418        1,645       

627            130            805            456           2,173       
587            (1,468)        5,982         (1,208)       16,764     

-             -             (1,535)        35             -           
137,819     130,623     143,260     146,140     168,784   

94              83              87              94             119          
1,578         1,627         1,704         1,782        1,952       

-             -             -             -            -           
-             -             -             -            -           

714            604            635            715           781          
-             -             -             -            -           
63              55              51              51             55            
-             -             -             -            -           
-             -             -             -            -           

5,583         1,257         1,226         1,156        384          
165            78              81              64             974          

-             80              -             -            -           
(587)           1,468         (5,982)        1,208        (16,764)    

-             -             (1,024)        24             -           
7,610         5,252         (3,222)        5,094        (12,499)    

145,429     135,875     140,038     151,234     156,285     

21,865       13,811       27,089       19,373      60,601     
20,339       12,309       2,845         16,694       (5,558)        
42,204  $   26,120  $   29,934  $   36,067  $  55,043  $  

Fiscal Year

219

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     339



2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
General Fund:

Reserved 3,586  $               3,037  $               2,706  $               2,784  $                2,953  $               
Unreserved  13,172                 13,826               16,631                18,466                 17,600                
Nonspendable (a) -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      
Restricted (a) -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      
Committed (a) -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      
Assigned (a) -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      
Unassigned (a) -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      

Total General Fund 16,758  $              16,863  $             19,337  $             21,250  $              20,553  $             

All Other Governmental Funds:
Reserved 9,157  $               9,496  $               10,228  $             32,671  $              10,662  $             
Nonspendable -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      
Unreserved, reported in:

Special revenue funds  35,907                   35,739                   37,616                   29,772                   38,995                  
Restricted (a) -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Committed (a) -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Assigned (a) -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

Debt service funds  329                        297                        301                        303                        334                       
Capital projects funds  2,965                     3,549                     3,870                     4,675                     13,112                  

Total all other government funds 48,358  $              49,081  $             52,015  $             67,421  $              63,103  $             

(a) In 2011, reporting of fund balances was changed to meet the requirements of GASB 54.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

(Amounts in 000's)

Statistical Data

Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Fiscal Year

220

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     340



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

2,928  $                3,934  $                4,179  $                -$                    -$                    
 18,524                   19,399                   22,103                 -                     -                     

-                       -                       -                       297                     276                    
-                       -                       -                       3,468                  2,492                 
-                       -                       -                       -                     -                     
-                       -                       -                       7,711                  10,016               
-                       -                       -                       20,209                25,471               

21,452  $              23,333  $              26,282  $              31,685  $             38,255  $             

9,857  $                17,774  $              11,338  $              -$                    -$                    
-                       -                       -                       63                      47                      

 57,409                   38,605                   45,123                  -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                        26,688                   78,732                  
-                       -                       -                        4,174                     15,399                  
-                       -                       -                        21,949                   21,964                  

 356                        418                        446                       -                       -                       
 14,449                   4,568                     1,125                    -                       -                       
82,071  $              61,365  $              58,032  $              52,874  $             116,142  $           

Fiscal Year

221

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     341



2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Revenues:

Taxes:
Sales and use taxes 67,891  $             71,688  $             76,624  $             80,057  $              88,403  $             
General property taxes 18,432                 19,275               19,391                19,854                 20,475                
Other taxes* 13,229                 13,799               15,686                14,053                 14,791                
Accommodation taxes -                       -                      -                      -                       -                       
Franchise taxes -                       -                      -                      -                       -                       
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes -                       -                      -                      -                       -                       
Excise taxes -                       -                      -                      -                       -                       

Charges for services 9,560                  10,229               10,493                11,375                 12,080                
Sale of goods 1,816                  5,598                 1,635                  738                      2,993                  
License, permits and fines 8,916                  8,884                 9,337                  9,830                   10,259                
Intergovernmental 13,882                 8,788                 9,956                  14,252                 19,842                
Leases, rents and royalties 1,575                  2,182                 1,993                  1,976                   329                     
Interest and investment earnings 1,587                  1,073                 1,748                  3,760                   9,910                  
Other 2,453                  957                    1,648                  1,335                   15,192                

Total revenues  139,341               142,473             148,511              157,230               194,274              

Expenditures:
General Government 9,767                  9,206                 9,291                  9,722                   11,705                
Administrative Services 9,358                  7,981                 8,021                  8,473                   8,599                  
Public Safety 33,837                 34,599               35,105                36,738                 40,327                
Public Works 29,952                 23,234               23,374                27,950                 34,479                
Planning & Development Services 6,329                  5,825                 6,057                  6,352                   6,796                  
Culture and Recreation 24,425                 21,509               22,977                23,412                 24,179                
Open Space and Mountain Parks 7,121                  9,809                 11,726                17,616                 29,919                
Housing and Human Services 12,738                 14,362               9,925                  13,602                 10,431                
Capital Outlay 1,961                  1,826                 1,390                  1,729                   1,254                  
Debt service payments:

Principal 6,996                  8,857                 8,322                  8,439                   8,899                  
Interest 4,613                  4,447                 3,961                  4,102                   3,817                  
Cost of issuance - refunding bonds -                       -                      -                      -                       -                       

Total expenditures  151,624               146,302             145,239              162,579               184,945              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
(under) expenditures (12,283)                 (3,829)                 3,272                 (5,349)                  9,329                  

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of capital assets -                       -                      -                      -                       -                       
Base rentals to Boulder Municipal Property

Authority Debt Service Fund (4,527)                  (4,647)                 (5,000)                 (4,444)                  (4,540)                  
Proceeds from bonds payable -                       -                      -                      -                       -                       
Extraordinary item -                       -                      -                      -                       -                       
Notes/loans payable issued 1,940                  2,520                 -                      -                       -                       
Bonds issued (including refunding bonds) -                       -                      -                       20,482                 12,416                
Premium on bonds issued -                       -                      -                      -                       -                       
Transfers in 24,735                 18,805               18,188                18,540                 20,259                
Transfers out (22,277)                 (16,668)               (16,052)               (16,354)                (17,948)                
Payment to refunding bond escrow agent -                       -                      -                      -                       (12,311)                

Total other financing sources 
(uses) 4,398                  4,657                 2,136                  22,668                 2,416                  

Net changes in fund balance (7,885)  $              828  $                  5,408  $               17,319  $              11,745  $             

Debt service as a percentage of noncapital 
expenditures*** 7.9% 9.8% 9.2% 8.8% 8.5%

*      Starting in 2008, other taxes is reported separately as follows: 
        Accommodation taxes, franchise taxes, specific ownership & tobacco taxes and excise taxes.
**   Starting in 2008, gain on sale of capital assets is reported separately from governmental activities miscellaneous.
*** These percentages have been changed from prior year reports to more accurately reflect the debt service percentage of noncapital expenditures.

Fiscal Year

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Changes In Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Amounts in 000's)

222

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     342



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

84,867  $              85,457  $              87,802  $              92,627  $             97,397  $             
 21,865                   23,526                   26,022                 27,462               29,474               

-                        -                        -                        -                      -                      
 3,389                     3,049                     3,199                   4,668                 4,890                 
 9,131                     9,121                     10,858                 10,295               12,310               
 1,705                     1,587                     1,587                   1,578                 1,788                 
 2,748                     1,847                     837                      1,927                 1,290                 

 16,115                   13,982                   17,239                 14,015               27,030               
 329                        318                        812                      368                    628                    

 9,910                     8,716                     10,956                 10,518               11,918               
 15,192                   15,589                   17,043                 13,647               16,420               

 2,278                     2,148                     2,240                   2,346                 2,433                 
 5,698                     1,392                     1,445                   1,416                 879                    
 1,567                     1,914                     1,208                   2,869                 1,792                 

 174,794                 168,646                 181,248               183,736             208,249             

 11,838                   11,294                   13,852                 18,122               18,568               
 8,773                     8,749                     8,597                   8,504                 9,149                 

 42,882                   43,273                   53,972                 45,123               47,825               
 29,204                   32,276                   31,970                 29,558               22,178               

 7,849                     7,460                     7,118                   7,551                 4,370                 
 26,195                   27,029                   26,352                 26,839               25,677               
 13,579                   10,396                   11,199                 15,978               12,055               
 12,736                   13,443                   15,308                 12,022               13,384               

 1,840                     12,417                   9,785                   4,077                 29,111               
  

 10,331                   11,561                   9,895                   9,715                 10,549               
 2,552                     2,930                     2,406                   2,398                 3,025                 

-                        -                         28                        104                    -                      
171,821                 184,282                 193,934               179,991             195,891             

 2,973                    (15,636)                 (12,686)                 3,745                 12,358               

-                         84                          24                        17                      1,461                 

(4,042)                   (3,454)                   (3,462)                   (5,178)                 (601)                    
-                        -                        -                        -                      54,830               
-                        -                        -                        (1,500)                 -                      
-                         5,441                    -                        -                      -                      
-                         30,685                   9,203                   -                      -                      
-                         1,016                    -                        -                      -                      

 20,795                   20,745                   21,638                 22,576               18,168               
(18,706)                 (18,410)                 (18,563)                 (19,415)               (16,378)               

-                        (27,945)                 -                        -                      -                      

 2,089                     11,616                   12,302                 (3,500)                 57,480               

5,062  $                (4,020)  $               (384)  $                  245  $                  69,838  $             

8.3% 8.7% 7.8% 7.6% 9.1%

Fiscal Year

223

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     343



Market Sector 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Food Stores 266,587$             298,690$             295,719$             305,797$              315,876$             
Eating Places 231,091               254,215              264,788              281,966               306,927               
Apparel Stores 60,280                 65,694                69,535                71,349                 79,051                 
Home Furnishings 77,585                 79,635                81,784                80,872                 85,709                 
General Retail 388,291               415,652              429,372              453,235               508,536               
Transportation/Utilities 179,423               192,758              203,096              211,510               208,719               
Automotive Trade 166,499               170,452              164,197              161,209               173,982               
Building Material-Retail 50,528                 55,579                58,356                87,678                 91,274                 
Construction Use Tax 92,890                 89,565                132,227              133,395               136,291               
Construction Sales Tax 9,086                   8,335                  8,126                  8,602                   11,751                 
Consumer Electronics 37,928                 41,570                49,663                54,812                 69,954                 
Computer Related Business Sector 117,945               139,012              162,849              145,538               153,321               
All Other 325,301               292,985              330,152              354,847               344,405               
Refunds (12,494)                (1,856)                 (2,827)                 (3,098)                  (2,565)                  
Total Sales and Use Tax 1,990,940$          2,102,286$          2,247,037$          2,347,712$           2,483,231$          

Direct city sales tax rate 3.41% 3.41% 3.41% 3.41% 3.56%
Food service sales tax 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%
Total direct city sales tax 3.56% 3.56% 3.56% 3.56% 3.71%

Source:  Annual Sales and Use Tax Revenue Reports prepared by the City of Boulder Sales Tax Division.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Taxable Sales by Market Sector

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Note:  The City has an additional .15% sales tax on food service establishment 
collections.  The food service sales tax is deposited into the General Fund and then the 
total is distributed to the Boulder Center for Conference Services and Cultural Affairs.

224

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     344



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

329,727$              328,338$              327,796$             359,707$             388,154$             
321,062                311,060                321,904               347,871              384,485              

82,966                  77,259                  79,232                 100,696              110,467              
80,115                  75,883                  76,487                 81,304                81,243                

532,688                515,305                567,786               586,189              606,359              
231,463                215,137                220,981               215,462              208,713              
151,612                145,333                157,930               174,631              187,675              

90,428                  82,342                  87,238                 85,319                94,886                
103,986                142,739                173,534               153,438              171,106              

11,960                  11,263                  14,922                 16,147                12,006                
61,953                  50,755                  54,843                 73,237                62,924                

158,410                168,124                146,311               167,503              188,876              
335,698                390,880                351,272               359,612              359,324              

(3,300)                   (8,349)                   (5,396)                  (4,781)                 -                      
2,488,768$           2,506,069$           2,574,840$           2,716,335$          2,856,218$          

3.41% 3.41% 3.41% 3.41% 3.41%
0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%
3.56% 3.56% 3.56% 3.56% 3.56%

225

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     345



1964 1988 Parks & Rec
Tax General Fund General Fund General Fund Public Safety Open Space Open Space Open Space Transportation & General Muni
Year Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax

Levied No Expiration No Expiration Expires 12/31/24 Expires 12/31/03 No Expiration Expires 12/31/18 Expires 12/31/19 No Expiration No Expiration

2003 1.00% 0.38% - 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.00% 0.60% 0.15%
2004 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% - 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15%
2005 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% - 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15%
2006 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% - 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15%
2007 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% - 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15%
2008 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% - 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15%
2009 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% - 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15%
2010 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% - 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15%
2011 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% - 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15%
2012 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% - 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15%

Source:  City Sales Tax Division and the Colorado Department of Revenue.

Notes:  Food services establishments collections are deposited into the General Fund and a check written for the total to 
the Boulder Center for Conference Services and Cultural Affairs.

Overlapping rates are those of local, county, regional and state governments that apply to sales within the City.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates

Last Ten Fiscal Years

City Direct Rates

(Unaudited)

226

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     346



Parks Acquisition Food Service Fire Training
& Recreation Establishments Center Regional Ball Total

Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Total State of Transportation Cultural Stadium Boulder Total Direct and 
Expires 12/31/15 No Expiration 2007 Only Direct Colorado District District District County Overlapping Overlapping

0.25% 0.15% - 3.41% 2.90% 0.60% 0.10% 0.10% 0.55% 4.25% 7.66%
0.25% 0.15% - 3.56% 2.90% 0.60% 0.10% 0.10% 0.55% 4.25% 7.81%
0.25% 0.15% - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.65% 4.75% 8.31%
0.25% 0.15% - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.65% 4.75% 8.31%
0.25% 0.15% 0.15% 3.71% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.65% 4.75% 8.46%
0.25% 0.15% - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.65% 4.75% 8.31%
0.25% 0.15% - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.65% 4.75% 8.31%
0.25% 0.15% - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.80% 4.90% 8.46%
0.25% 0.15% - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.80% 4.90% 8.46%
0.25% 0.15% - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% - 0.80% 4.80% 8.36%

Overlapping Rates

227

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     347



Number Percentage Number Percentage
Of Tax Of Of Tax Of

Market Sector Filers Liability Total Filers Liability Total

Food Stores 3 3,875$              5.71% 4 7,296$               7.49%
Automotive Trade 1 2,101                3.09% 1 2,494                2.56%
Computer Related Business Sector 2 2,752                4.05% 1 2,337                2.40%
General Retail, Utilities, & Other 4 7,657                11.28% 4 8,531                8.76%

Total 10 16,385$            24.14% 10 20,658$             21.21%

Source:  City of Boulder Sales Tax Division.

Note:  Individual sales tax payer information is confidential under Boulder Revised Code.  Due to this,
the names of the ten largest revenue payers are not available.  Taxpayer information by industry for the
ten largest payers is provided to present alternative information regarding the concentration of the
city's sales tax revenue sources by industry.

(Amounts in 000's)

20122003

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Largest Sales Tax Remitters by Market Sector

Current Year and Nine Years Ago
(Unaudited)

228

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     348



(This page left blank intentionally) 

229

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     349



Governmental
Activities

General Taxable Pension Revenue Capitalized General Lease
Fiscal Obligation Obligation Revenue Notes Lease Loans Obligation Revenue Purchase
Year Bonds Bonds Bonds Payable Obligations Payable Bonds Bonds Revenue Bonds

2003 71,214$       -$                       12,710$      1,885$      98$            3,475$     30,457$     78,240$       -$                      
2004 65,929         -                     11,800        317          34             5,000      28,492      74,445         -                   
2005 60,375         -                     10,850        69            -           3,500      25,643      116,899       -                   
2006 75,082         -                     9,855          -           -           1,920      23,143      111,120       -                   
2007 67,755         -                     8,810          -           -           1,536      20,431      101,792       -                   
2008 60,120         -                     7,720          -           -           -         19,259      95,393         -                   
2009 58,410         -                     6,614          -           -           500         18,071      88,780         -                   
2010 49,683         9,201                  5,350          -           7,957        500         16,753      91,429         -                   
2011 41,746         8,881                  4,054          -           7,763        250         15,350      84,861         -                   
2012 87,242         8,531                  2,733          -           10,233      250         13,751      78,176         -                   

(1) Population information is presented in the Demographic and Economic Statistics schedule

Note:  Details regarding the City's outstanding debt may be found in the notes to the basic financial statements

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Ratios of Net Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Amounts in 000's)

Business-Type
Activities

(Unaudited)

Statistical Data

230

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     350



Revenue Certificates Lease Capitalized Total Market Value Percentage of
Notes Of Purchase Lease Primary of Taxable Property Per 

Payable Participation Revenue Notes Obligations Government Property Values Capita (1)

320$           5,130$           14,093$            -$              217,622$      13,178,606$      1.65% 2,134$           
219             4,190             18,033              -           208,459       15,002,072       1.39% 2,043.72        
113             3,485             17,776              -           238,710       15,071,496       1.58% 2,340.29        
-              3,055             19,787              -           243,962       15,963,605       1.53% 2,391.78        
-              2,605             16,869              -           219,798       16,088,279       1.37% 2,133.96        
-              2,130             15,118              -           199,740       18,494,895       1.08% 1,920.58        
-              1,635             13,024              -           187,034       18,685,545       1.00% 1,798.40        
-              1,120             10,809              -           192,802       19,851,162       0.97% 1,987.65        
-              575                6,739                -           170,219       20,545,932       0.83% 1,736.93        
-              -                 5,313                -           206,229       20,587,840       1.00% 2,083.12        

Business-Type
Activities

231

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     351



Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities
General General Percentage of

Fiscal Obligation Obligation Taxable Taxable Per 
Year Bonds Bonds Total Sales Sales (1) Capita (2)

2003 71,214$        30,457$        101,671$        1,990,940$          5.11% 996.77$        
2004 65,929          28,492          94,421            2,102,286            4.49% 925.70          
2005 60,375          25,643          86,018            2,247,037            3.83% 843.31          
2006 75,082          23,143          98,225            2,347,712            4.18% 962.99          
2007 67,755          20,431          88,186            2,483,231            3.55% 856.17          
2008 60,120          19,259          79,379            2,488,768            3.19% 763.26          
2009 58,410          18,071          76,481            2,506,069            3.05% 735.39          
2010 49,683          16,753          66,436            2,574,840            2.58% 684.91          
2011 41,746          15,350          57,096            2,716,335            2.10% 582.61          
2012 87,242          13,751          100,993          2,856,218            3.54% 1,020.13       

Note:  Details regarding the city's outstanding debt may be found in the notes to the basic
financial statements.

(1) General bonded debt is repaid with sales tax revenues instead of property taxes.  Taxable 
sales is used as a relevant basis for comparison.

(2) Personal income is not available at the City level; therefore, the per capita is used for this
calculation as allowed.

(Unaudited)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Amounts in 000's)

Statistical Data

232

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     352



Percentage Amount
Par Value of Net Applicable Applicable

General Obligation to City of to City of
Jurisdiction Debt Outstanding (1) Boulder (2) Boulder (3)

Boulder Valley School
    District RE-2 362,535$                       52.89 % 191,752$                       

Boulder Central Area General
    Improvement District 13,340                           100.00 13,340                           

Northern Colorado Water
    Conservancy District (NCWCD) 4,657                             18.16 846                                

Boulder County -                                     44.52 -                                     

Urban Drainage and Flood Control 
    District (UDFCD) -                                     6.86 -                                     

Total Overlapping Debt 205,938                         

City Direct Governmental Activity Debt 108,989                         

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt 314,927$                      

(1)  Source for net general obligation debt outstanding:  Boulder Valley School District No. 2, NCWCD, 
       Boulder County, and UDFCD.

(2)  Source for percentage applicable to City of Boulder: 2012 Abstract of Assessment
       and Summary of Levies (Boulder County Assessor's Office), NCWCD, UDFCD and
       Boulder Valley School District RE-2.

(3)  The City's valuation is divided by each jurisdiction's valuation, with the exception of 
       the Boulder Central Area General Improvement District, which is wholly within the City limits.

       For 2012, each jurisdiction had the following valuations (in 000's):

 The City of Boulder $ 2,500,706
Boulder Valley School District RE-2 4,727,938
NCWCD 13,768,657
Boulder County 5,617,090
UDFCD 36,430,336

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Direct and Overlapping Debt

December 31, 2012
(Unaudited)

233

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     353



2003 2004 2005 2006

Debt limit 57,886  $    59,129  $    59,120  $    62,759  $     

Total net debt applicable to limit -             -             -             -               

Legal debt margin 57,886  $    59,129  $    59,120  $    62,759  $     

Total net debt applicable to the limit
as a percentage of debt limit 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Note: The total indebtedness of the City, payable solely from
the proceeds of ad valorem taxes, shall not exceed 3%
of assessed value of taxable property in the municipality.
Indebtedness payable in whole or in part from other
revenue sources, or is subject to annual appropriations
therefrom by the Boulder City Council, is not included in
this limitation. (Charter of the City of Boulder, Sec. 97.)

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Legal Debt Margin Information

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

234

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     354



Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2012

Assessed value 2,500,706$ 

Debt limit - 3% of assessed value 75,021       
Debt applicable to limit:

Total bonded debt 100,993     
Deductions allowed by law:

Self-supporting General Obligation bonds (100,993)    

Total net debt applicable to limit -                 

Legal debt margin 75,021$      

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

62,838  $     72,496  $     76,882  $    76,981  $    74,943  $    75,021  $     

-               -               -             -             -             -               

62,838  $     72,496  $     76,882  $    76,981  $    74,943  $    75,021  $     

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

235

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     355



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Pledged Revenue Coverage

Last Ten Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Cross - Pledged Water and Sewer Bonds

Net Revenue Maximum
Direct Available Annual

Fiscal Gross Operating for Debt Debt Service
Year Revenue (1) Expense (2) Service Requirement Coverage (3)

2003 33,672 17,669 16,003 6,856 2.33
2004 31,978 18,830 13,148 6,856 1.92
2005 37,657 19,633 18,024 10,325 1.75
2006 43,761 20,657 23,104 10,325 2.24
2007 42,081 21,205 20,876 10,037 2.08
2008 43,394 23,340 20,054 10,029 2.00
2009 39,151 21,633 17,518 10,029 1.75
2010 38,626 20,199 18,427 10,704 1.72
2011 41,412 23,026 18,386 10,615 1.73
2012 41,390 23,503 17,887 12,550 1.43

(1) Gross revenue as defined by applicable bond ordinances includes gross Operating and Nonoperating
Revenues, Plant investment fees and Special assessments in the Water Utility and Wastewater
Utility Funds.

(2) Direct operating expense equals Total Operating Expenses less Depreciation and Amortization Expense.
In 2004, all prior year direct operating expense totals were restated to include the portion of the annual
payment to the Municipal Subdistrict, Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District, that reduces the
deferred credit for future water rights in the Water Utility Fund.

(3) Prior to issuing additional parity bonds, the City must meet the following "facilities earnings test":

The annual gross revenue derived from the operation of the facilities for the fiscal year immediately
preceding the date of the issuance of additional parity bonds must be sufficient to pay the annual
operation and maintenance expenses of the facilities for that fiscal year, and, in addition, sufficient
to pay an amount representing 125% of the combined maximum annual principal and interest
requirements of the outstanding bonds, and any other bonds payable from and constituting a lien
upon net income of the facilities, and the bonds proposed to be issued.  (Per Section 7.03(b) of the
1999 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond Ordinance #6068, Section 7.03(b) of the 2000 Water and 
Sewer Revenue Bond Ordinance #7058, Section 7.03(b) of the 2001 Water and Sewer Revenue
Bond Ordinance #7170, and Section 7.03(b) of the 2005 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond Ordinance
#7421, and Section 7.03(b) of the 2005 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond Ordinance #7440.)

236

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     356



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Pledged Revenue Coverage (continued)

Last Ten Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Stormwater and Flood Management Bonds

Average
Operating Net Revenue Annual

and Available Debt Service
Fiscal Gross Maintenance for Debt Requirement
Year Income (4) Expense (5) Service Total Coverage (6)

2003 4,315 2,365 1,950 662 2.95
2004 4,693 2,854 1,839 651 2.82
2005 4,734 2,586 2,148 639 3.36
2006 5,215 2,751 2,464 625 3.94
2007 5,537 2,969 2,568 625 4.11
2008 5,988 3,237 2,751 608 4.52
2009 5,362 2,945 2,417 563 4.29
2010 6,590 3,261 3,329 386 8.62
2011 5,185 3,341 1,844 386 4.78
2012 5,386 3,161 2,225 386 5.76

(4) Gross income as defined by applicable bond ordinances means all income and revenues
derived directly or indirectly by the City from the fees, including interest earnings on
moneys in any fund or account created by the bond ordinance and includes all revenues
earned by the City therefrom.

(5) Operating and Maintenance Expenses means all reasonable and necessary current 
expenses of the City paid or accrued, of operating, maintaining and repairing the Flood
Control System.  It does not include depreciation, capital replacements, or operating,
maintenance or repair reserves.

(6) Prior to issuing additional parity bonds, the City must meet the following "fee test":

The annual gross income for the fiscal year immediately preceding the date of the
issuance of additional parity bonds shall have been sufficient to pay the annual 
operation and maintenance expenses of the Flood Control System for said fiscal year,
and, in addition, sufficient to pay an amount representing 125% of the combined
average annual principal and interest requirements of the Outstanding Series 1998 
Bonds of the City payable from and constituting a lien upon net income from the fees 
and the bonds proposed to be issued. 

(1998 Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Refunding and Improvement Bond
Ordinance #5981.)

237

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     357



Fiscal
Year City of Total

Ended Boulder Population Personal Per Capita Unemployment
April 30 Population (1) (2) Income (3) Income (4) Rate (5)(6)

2003 102 282                  11,597                 41.105            6.1%
2004 102 285                  12,246                 42.995            5.7%
2005 102 287                  13,289                 46.376            5.1%
2006 102 291                  14,267                 48.954            4.3%
2007 103 296                  14,784                 49.999            3.9%
2008 104 300                  15,237                 50.714            4.6%
2009 104 303                  14,334                 48.891            5.3%
2010 97 296                  14,768                 50.031            6.5%
2011 98 300                  15,536                 51.893            5.9%
2012 99 * * * 5.7%

(1)  Source:
January 1.

(2) Source: Colorado Department of Local Affairs, State Demography Office.  Estimates are based on July 1.

(3) Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis, Table CA1-3.

(4) Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis, Regional Economic Accounts,
Per Capita Income by Metropolitan Statistical Areas.

(5) Source: Colorado Department of Labor and Employment (average annual rate for the
City of Boulder).

(6) Source: Starting in 2008, amounts were based on Boulder Economic Council estimates.  Annual 2012 rate not
yet available so October 2012 rate was used.

* 2012 Boulder, Colorado Metropolitan Statistic Area not available.

Note:  Personal income information is not available for the City of Boulder.  Boulder, Colorado Metropolitan 
Statistical Area population and personal income information was used.

City of Boulder Department of Community Planning & Sustainability.  Estimates are based on

Boulder, Colorado Metropolitan Statistical Area

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Statistical Data

238

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     358



2012 2003
Percentage Percentage

of Total County of Total County
Employer Employees Rank Employment** Employees Rank Employment**

University of Colorado at Boulder 7,312         1 4.43% 6,213        1       3.77%
Boulder Valley School District RE-2 4,000         2 2.42% 2,300        5       1.39%
St. Vrain Valley School District 3,238         3 1.96%
Ball Corp 2,982         4 1.81% 2,500        4       1.52%
IBM Corp. 2,800         5 1.70% 4,800        2       2.91%
Level 3 Communications Inc. 2,478         6 1.50% 1,800        7       1.09%
Boulder Community Hospital 2,300         7 1.39%
Covidien 1,860         8 1.13%
Boulder County 1,848         9 1.12% 1,351        8       0.82%
University Corporation for 

Research (UCAR) 1,394         10 0.84%
City of Boulder 1,291        9       0.78%
Sun Microsystems Inc. -             0.00% 3,300        3       2.00%
Storage Technology Corp -             0.00% 2,000        6       1.21%
ConAgra Foods -             0.00% 1,200        10     0.73%

30,212       18.31% 26,754      16.21%

The Boulder County Business Report did not include public-sector employers prior to 2004.  

Note:
** This list is the 10 largest employers in Boulder and Broomfield Counties.  

(Unaudited)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Principal Employers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Source: The Boulder County Business Report Book of Lists
and Colorado Department of Labor and Employment.

Employment information specific to the City of Boulder
is not available for the years presented.

239

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     359



2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Functions/Program

General Government:
City Council 1.00          1.00          1.00            1.00             1.00          
Municipal Court 19.90        17.00        17.00          17.00           18.50        
City Attorney 20.00        20.00        18.75          18.75           19.70        
City Manager - Administration 10.00        10.00        10.00          10.00           10.00        
City Manager - Downtown & University Hill Mgt 38.00        40.50        40.50          40.50           42.25        
City Manager - Communications 11.50        11.00        11.50          11.50           11.50        
City Manager - Urban Renewal Authority 3.00          -             -             -               -             

Administrative Services:
Human Resources 18.25        15.25        13.75          14.25           14.63        
Finance 31.25        30.25        27.25          27.25           28.87        
Information Technology 36.50        35.50        32.75          32.75           32.75        

Public Safety:
Police 276.50      256.25      263.25        263.25         269.25      
Fire 112.33      108.33      111.33        111.33         111.33      

Planning & Development Services 73.58        65.00        64.71          64.74           69.36        
Environmental Affairs 5.00          4.00          6.00            6.00             5.50          
Public Works:

Administration 13.22        4.05          -             -               -             
Fleet 17.05        17.25        16.90          16.90           16.87        
Transportation 64.33        64.08        62.97          62.97           65.99        
Utilities 142.42      148.67      150.44        150.44         154.93      
Facility/Asset Management 15.80        13.10        13.51          13.51           13.58        

Culture and Recreation:
Parks and Recreation 159.25      144.50      149.22        145.25         144.62      
Library 88.01        71.40        78.35          78.95           79.45        
Arts 1.00          1.00          1.50            1.50             1.50          

Open Space/Mountain Parks 77.00        70.50        69.00          77.58           83.25        
Housing and Human Services 55.80        54.55        52.43          53.42           56.51        

Total 1,290.69   1,203.18   1,212.11     1,218.84      1,251.34   

Source:  City of Boulder Summary of Standard FTE's per the annual budget document.

Note:  Number of FTE's budgeted and approved for each fiscal year.

Full-Time Equivalent Employees

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Full-Time Equivalent City Employees By Functions/Programs

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

240

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     360



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

 1.00             1.00           -             -             -             
 18.50           18.00         16.25        16.25        16.25         
 18.65           18.65         18.65        18.65        20.15         
 16.50           16.50         14.30        11.80        12.68         
 42.25           42.25         42.25        42.25        42.25         

 6.00             6.00           4.00          5.50          6.50           
-               -              -             -             

 16.38           16.63         14.88        14.88        15.38         
 29.37           28.37         26.37        33.50        34.00         
 35.25           35.25         33.50        34.50        34.50         

 273.25          273.25        269.50      276.50      279.50       
 111.33          112.33        112.33      112.33      115.33       

 72.56           76.56         79.47        78.66        82.97         
 9.50             10.50         -             -             

-               -              -             -             
 16.87           16.87         14.87        14.82        14.82         
 68.24           68.69         67.10        59.28        59.52         

 155.18          156.23        155.90      154.84      154.84       
 14.58           14.58         14.58        14.68        14.68         

 145.82          146.99        139.24      126.12      126.37       
 80.20           79.95         76.95        75.45        75.13         

 1.50             1.50           1.50          1.50          2.00           
 92.00           91.00         90.50        85.60        89.60         
 56.24           57.42         56.10        53.39        46.73         

 1,281.17       1,288.52     1,248.24   1,230.50   1,243.20    

Full-Time Equivalent Employees

241

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     361



Function/Program 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

General Government:
Municipal Court:

Traffic tickets processed  11,738          13,554          11,928          12,554          11,204         
General summons processed  2,917            3,079            3,306            4,249            3,760           
Animal summons processed  598               752               707               1,459            1,366           
Arraignments  5,192            4,595            4,986            5,030            3,974           
Court trials  219               194               185               150               114              
Jury trials  6                   2                   6                   4                   6                  

Public Safety:
Police:

Number of police officers  176               171               171               171               171              
DUI arrests  748               919               1,115            1,163            989              
Traffic summons  17,275          19,336          18,226          17,914          19,554         
Total traffic accidents  4,159            4,180            3,644            3,552            3,641           
Total calls for service 79,738      77,392      79,354       84,747         87,320        

Fire:
Number of firefighters  92                 95                 95                 95                 95                
Total annual responses  8,015            7,735            8,327            8,679            8,943           
Percentage of responses within 6 minutes ** 84% 85% 69% 80%

Planning & Development Services:
Number of applications received  5,911            5,698            5,689            5,642            5,920           
Number of zoning and environmental

code enforcement cases 2,594        2,921        3,920         3,260          4,515          
Public Works:

Transportation
Daily vehicle miles of travel in Boulder Valley 2.63 million 2.63 million 2.62 million 2.61 million 2.57 million

Culture and Recreation:
Parks and Recreation:

Recreation center attendance  421,713        416,370        412,049        432,901        464,432       
Outdoor pool attendance  39,570          34,160          41,406          41,558          58,954         
Adult athletics participation  204,335        198,944        198,944        201,040        216,550       
Recreation class enrollment  25,757          25,311          24,966          25,818          27,791         
Reservoir attendance  200,000        200,000        117,194        91,207          57,408         
Rounds of golf  45,445          42,955          48,052          47,966          48,384         

Library:
Circulation of books, videos, tapes  1,138,367     1,058,470     1,088,504     1,109,619     1,183,717    
Remote use of library resources online  306,965        562,819        737,227        1,630,945     2,028,526    
Adults participating in cultural

and educational programs 65,760      48,802      54,136       62,211         65,455        
Attendance at outreach program activities 6,054        5,237        5,424         8,647          7,554          

Arts:
Participants in Boulder Arts Resource 275           310           456            523             555            

Housing and Human Services:
Number of permanently affordable housing

units added on an annual basis 192           202           61              117             147            

Source:  City of Boulder departmental records.

** Indicator not available

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Operating Indicators By Function/Program

Statistical Data

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

242

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     362



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

 13,782         13,260         17,433         17,181         15,681         
 4,099           4,510           4,351           6,028           6,498           

 986              1,055           870              1,318           1,635           
 4,716           5,543           5,218           5,437           5,810           

 93                98                87                69                63                
 9                  8                  8                  20                12                

 171              171 171 173 173
 1,089           781 767 674 706

 21,205         15,304 18,394 17,530 16,547
 3,242           3,405 3,222 3,328 3,183

 78,204         77,745 76,383 81,218 91,675

 95                96            96            96            96            
 8,943           9,730           9,535           10,111         10,293         

80% 72% 77% 76% 74%

 5,781           5,532           6,309           5,888           6,488           

 3,000           2,821           1,995           2,145           706              

2.49 million 2.46 million 2.49 million 2.34 million 2.34 million

 453,248       428,682       422,200       628,639       725,000       
 58,643         83,335         88,303         83,707         77,441         

 234,567       237,292       236,950       250,372       175,543       
 26,583         26,671         22,201         21,794         23,092         
 48,713         36,582         42,688         330,205       238,265       
 49,360         43,348         38,293         39,440         43,974         

 1,274,299    1,354,742 1,363,545 1,384,900 1,446,816
 1,792,633    669,217 806,770 804,998 748,917

 66,994         37,319 33,175 33,298 31,063
 14,569         5,796 4,525 4,185 5,312

 625              677 678 718 737

 163              84 100 24 18

243

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     363



Function/Program 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Public Safety:
Police:

Number of stations and annexes 4               3               3                3                 3                
Fire:

Number of stations 7               7               7                7                 7                
Public Works:

Fleet Services:
Cars, pickups, vans, and motorcycles 286           280           282            281              297            
Fire apparatus 11             11             11              11               11              
Other heavy trucks and equipment 494           503           493            490              477            
Total equipment in fleet 791           794           786            782              785            

Transportation:
Miles of streets 290           294           285            287             288            
Number of street lights 4,517        4,546        4,525         4,562          4,567         

Utilities - Water:
Number of water accounts  28,273          28,303          28,426          28,555          28,578         
Average daily water production (000's) 17,529      17,055      17,326       18,187        16,458       
Miles of water mains  440               440               441               449               451              

Utilities - Sewer:
Miles of sanitary sewer mains  345               346               348               349               349              
Miles of storm sewers 124           121           138            138             138            

Culture and Recreation:
Parks and Recreation:

Acres of urban parks 1,880        1,880        1,880         1,880           1,880         
Library:

Number of libraries 4               4               4                4                 4                
Number of library items in collection  435,090        408,163        418,417        419,339        389,805       

Open Space/Mountain Parks:
Acres of mountain parks 

and open space  42,766          42,873          43,221          43,497          44,921         

Source:  City of Boulder departmental records.

(1) Vehicle records were not available prior to 2003.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Capital Asset Statistics By Function/Program

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

244

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     364



2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

 3                  4                3               4                4                

 7                  7                7               7                7                

 311              343            355           347           312            
 11                22              15             14             14              

 658              594            585           607           677            
 980              959            955           968           1,003         

 289              292            293           293           295            
 4,608            4,638          4,678        4,689        4,742         

 28,359          28,458          28,519          28,619          28,759         
 16,900          15,400        17,300      17,000      17,600       

 451               458               461               463               463              

 351               350               375               355               355              
 150              124            183           186           153            

 1,880            1,880          1,880        1,800        1,800         

 4                  4                4               4                4                
 389,805        403,960        405,034        392,506        390,427       

 45,090          45,091          45,130          45,405          45,591         

245

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     365



(This page left blank intentionally) 

246

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     366



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

Federal Pass-Through
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/ CFDA Entity Identifying Federal
Program or Cluster Title Number Number Expenditures

Department of Agriculture:
Passed through Colorado State Forest Service:

Cooperative Forestry Assistance (CSFS 2012- Bison) 10.664 520018 37,333$                   

Total Department of Agriculture 37,333                     

Department of Housing and Urban Development:
Direct Programs:
   CDBG - Entitlement Grants Cluster

Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants 14.218 N/A 573,486                   

Subtotal CDBG - Entitlement Grants Cluster 573,486                   

HOME Investment Partnerships Program 14.239 N/A 1,059,731                

Total Department of Housing and Urban Development 1,633,217                

Department of Interior:
Passed through Fish and Wildlife Service:

Sport Fish Restoration Program (S Boulder Creek Habitat Improvement) 15.605 CMS-520017 125,000                   

Historic Preservation Fund Grants-In-Aid: 15.904 None provided 2,347                       
Colorado Historical Society 2012 CLG

Total Department of Interior 127,347                   

Department of Justice:
Direct Program:

Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program - 2011 16.607 N/A 5,730                       
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program - 2010 16.738 N/A 8,687                       
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program - 2011 16.738 N/A 31,518                     
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program - 2011
   (ICAC Grant 2011) 16.738 N/A 2,875                       
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program - 2012 16.804 N/A 9,757                       

Passed through Colorado Department of Revenue:
Enforcing Underage Drinking Laws Program - 2011 16.727 TAA 12/37392 25,711                     

Total Department of Justice 84,278                     

Department of Transportation:
Direct Programs:

Airport Improvement Program (Parking Ramp) 20.106 N/A 11,289                   
Airport Improvement Program (Land Purchase) 20.106 N/A 46,923                   

58,212                   
   Highway Planning and Construction Cluster:

Passed through Colorado Department of Transportation:
Safe Routes to School 20.205 None provided 54,905                     
Safe Routes to School 20.205 None provided 52,358                     
HOP Transit Signal Priority 20.205 None provided 18,114                     
Transportation Equity Act 20.205 None provided 4,597,041                
ARRA - Foothills Path 20.205 None provided 111,585                   

Subtotal Highway Planning and Construction Cluster 4,834,003                

Total Department of Transportation 4,834,003                

247

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     367



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Continued) 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

Federal Pass-Through
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/ CFDA Entity Identifying Federal
Program or Cluster Title Number Number Expenditures

Department of Veteran's Affairs:
Direct Programs:

United States Olympic Committee 64.000 N/A 18,938                     

Total Department of Veteran's Affairs 18,938                     

Department of Energy:
Direct Programs:

PHEV 81.086 N/A 234,912                   
ARRA - Renewable Energy Research and Development (Boulder Canyon
   Hydro Grant) 81.087 N/A 153,320                   
ARRA - Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant Program 81.128 N/A 49,358                     

Total Department of Energy 437,590                   

Department of Education:
Passed through Boulder Valley School District

21st Century Community Learning Centers 84.287 None provided 38,689                     

Total Department of Education 38,689                     

   CCDF Cluster:
Direct Programs:

Child Care and Development Block Grant:
School Readiness Grant - ECEC 93.575 N/A 12,108                     

Passed through Qualistar Early Learning:
Child Care Mandatory and Matching Funds of the
   Child Care and Development Fund 93.596 None provided 31,894                     

Passed through Colorado Department of Human Services:
Temporary Assistance to Needy Families 93.558 None provided 2,784                       

Total Department of Health and Human Services 46,786                     

Department of Public Safety:
Passed through Colorado Homeland Security

Barker Dam Security Upgrades 97.067 N/A 60,286                     

Passed through Arapahoe County
Bomb Squad Video Xray Equipment 97.067 10SH11NCR 59,270                     

Total Department of Public Safety 119,556                   

Total Federal Expenditures 7,435,949$              

See notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
 

248

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     368



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

 

Note 1.  Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal grant activity 
of the City of Boulder, Colorado for the year ended December 31, 2012.  All federal financial 
assistance received directly from federal agencies, as well as federal financial assistance passed 
through other governmental agencies, is included in the schedule.  The information in this schedule 
is presented in accordance with requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.  Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule 
may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the presentation of, the basic financial statements. 

Note 2.  Significant Accounting Policies 

Revenue from federal awards is recognized when the city has done everything necessary to establish 
its right to revenue.  For governmental funds, revenue from federal grants is recognized when it 
becomes both measurable and available.  Expenditures of federal awards are recognized in the 
accounting period when the liability is incurred.  

Note 3.  Subrecipients 

Of the federal expenditures presented in the schedule, the city provided federal awards to 
subrecipients as follows: 
 

Federal Amount
CFDA Provided to

Program Title Number Subrecipient

CDBG - Entitlement Grants 14.218 368,760$                 
HOME Investment Partnerships Program 14.239 946,090$                 
Enforcing Underage Drinking Laws Program 16.727 3,696$                     
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program 16.738 36,239$                    
 

249

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     369



(This page left blank intentionally) 

250

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     370



 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 

Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards 

 
 
 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council 
City of Boulder, Colorado 
Boulder, Colorado 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Boulder, Colorado (the city) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the city’s basic financial statements, and 
have issued our report thereon dated July 2, 2013. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Management of the city is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control).  In planning and performing our audit, we considered the city’s 
internal control to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose 
of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the city’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the city’s internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses and, therefore, there can be no assurance that all material weaknesses have been identified.  
However, as discussed in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses, we identified certain 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.   

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the city’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely 
basis.  We consider the deficiencies described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses as 
item 12-01 to be a material weakness. 

 

251

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     371



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council 
City of Boulder, Colorado 
 
 
Compliance 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the city’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

City’s Response to Findings 

The city’s response to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and responses.  The city’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.   

Other Matters 

We also noted certain matters that we reported to city’s management in a separate letter dated July 2, 
2013.  

The purpose of this communication is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the city’s 
internal control or compliance.  This communication is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the city’s internal control and 
compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

Denver, Colorado 
July 2, 2013 

 

252

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     372



 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance with 
Requirements That Could Have a Direct and Material Effect on 

Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance in 
Accordance with OMB Circular A-133 

 
 
 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council 
City of Boulder, Colorado 
Boulder, Colorado 
 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the compliance of the City of Boulder, Colorado (the city) with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the OMB Circular A-133, Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and 
material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2012.  The city’s 
major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying 
schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

Management’s Responsibility 

Compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable to each of its 
major federal programs is the responsibility of the city’s management.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of city’s major federal programs based 
on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of 
States, Local Governments, and Non-profit Organizations.  Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance 
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect 
on a major federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the 
city’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances.   

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination on the city’s compliance with those 
requirements. 

 

253

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     373



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council 
City of Boulder, Colorado 
 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
In our opinion, the city complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to 
above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended 
December 31, 2012.   
 
Other Matter 
 
The results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance with those requirements that 
are required to be reported in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and which are described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 12-02.  Our opinion on each major 
federal program is not modified with respect to these matters. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
The management of the city is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the city’s internal control over compliance with the requirements that 
could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the city’s internal control over compliance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance 
that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses and therefore, there can be no assurance that 
all significant deficiencies or material weaknesses have been identified.  However, as discussed below, 
we identified certain deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses and significant deficiencies. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  We consider the deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned 
costs as item 12-03 to be a material weakness. 
 
A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  We consider the deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as 
items 12-02 to be significant deficiencies. 
 

254

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     374



To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council 
City of Boulder, Colorado 
 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
OMB Circular A-133.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Other Matter 

The city’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs.  The city’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

 

Denver, Colorado 
July 2, 2013 

 
 

255

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     375



(This page left blank intentionally) 

256

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     376



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

  

Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 

Financial Statements 

1. Type of auditor’s report issued: 
 Unmodified    Qualified   Adverse   Disclaimed 

 

2. Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes  No  

Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  Yes   No  

 

3. Noncompliance material to the financial statements noted?  Yes  No 

 

Federal Awards 

4. Internal control over major programs 

Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes  No  

Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  Yes   No  

 

5. Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs: 
 Unmodified   Qualified   Adverse   Disclaimed 

 

6. Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in 
accordance with Section 510(a) of OMB Circular A-133? 

 

 
 Yes 

 
 No 

 

257

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     377



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

 

7. Identification of major programs: 

CFDA Number Cluster/Program 
 
14.218, 14.253 
14.239 
20.205 
81.087 

 
CDBG – Entitlement Grants Cluster, including ARRA 
HOME Investment Partnerships Program 
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster 
ARRA – Renewable Energy Research and Development 

 

8. Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs:  $300,000. 

 

9. Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee? 
 

 Yes  No 

 

258

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     378



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

Section II – Financial Statement Findings 

Reference
Number

12-01

Finding

Finding:  Weaknesses in the Review Process Over Financial Reporting

Criteria:  A strong internal control environment includes a process in which transactions are 
reviewed by a member of management, other than the individual who initiates the 
transaction.  This helps ensure both the accuracy of the recognition of the transaction, and 
allows another level of control over financial reporting. 

Condition:  During the audit, several journal entries were made after the closing date of the 
general ledger.  Some of these entries were the result of questions proposed by us while 
others were adjustments discovered independently by management.  In some cases the entries 
were initiated by management to correct previously recorded entries found to be in error.  
These adjusting journal entries included an adjustment to capital assets whereby certain 
capital assets were erroneously expensed instead of being capitalized.  In addition, during the 
course of evaluating internal controls, we discovered a lack of documented review over the 
following areas:
•  Journal entries made by those outside of the finance department.
•  Monthly bank reconciliations are not being performed timely and the review of these 
reconciliations are being performed two or three months after the applicable month's end.
•  Monthly investment income reconciliations displayed no indication of review.
•  Change requests over information technology did not have any formal documentation of 
review.

Cause:  The city does not have a policy of requiring journal entries to be reviewed prior to 
posting.  Furthermore, the review requirement and process over other areas does not appear 
to be consistently performed in a timely manner. 

Recommendation:  We recommend that the city implement a requirement that journal 
entries be reviewed prior to posting.  Given the magnitude of entries in the City, at the very 
least, any unusual and/or significant entries or entries over complex transactions, should be 
reviewed by a higher level of finance department management.  In all cases the review 
process should be formally documented through the reviewers initial's or sign-off and dated 
as to when the review is performed.  In order to be truly effective, the review should be 
performed timely and by a person with the competencies and expertise to fully understand 
the transaction.   

259

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     379



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

Reference
Number Finding

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:  

Implementation date:  The city will begin implementing a new finance system later this year 
and should have the system fully implemented by early 2015.  Because the new system will 
allow for an automated workflow approval process, our intention is to have all journal entries 
reviewed and approved by the appropriate Finance Department management staff prior to 
those entries being posted to the system. 

Response:  Agreed.  In June 2013, the Finance Department implemented review processes 
for journal entries created both inside and outside of the Finance Department.  The current 
financial system does not allow for an automated workflow approval process; therefore, all 
unusual and/or significant journal entries will be reviewed and manually signed-off by the 
Financial Reporting Manager, Controller, or Director of Fiscal Services.  The approval will 
occur before the entry is entered into the financial system for entries generated by Finance 
Department staff.  The approval will occur after the entry is entered into the financial system 
for entries made by staff in other city departments.  If an error is found during the review, the 
appropriate correction will be made and communicated by Finance Department staff to the 
departments.  Finance staff will continue to assist the departments with understanding how to 
make correct entries. 

Person responsible for implementing:   Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Fiscal Services.

 

 

260

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     380



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

  

Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

Reference
Number

12-02

Questioned Costs:  None

Recommendation:  We recommend that the Department continue with the procedures 
implemented in 2013 to obtain A-133 single audit reports from subrecipients and perform the 
required follow-up procedures as warranted.  We also recommend that a formal plan for on-
site, quarterly reporting, earmarking and reimbursement request monitoring be developed and 
consistently applied to all subrecipients unless a formally documented risk based assessment 
supports a differing approach.

Finding

Finding:  Subrecipient Monitoring

CFDA No. 14.218 - CDBG Entitlement Grants Cluster,  Department of Housing and 
Urban Development
CFDA No. 14.239 - HOME Investment Partnerships Program,  Department of Housing 
and Urban Development

Criteria:  The U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Compliance 
Supplement  requires that the pass-through entity ensure required subrecipient single audits are 
performed.  Additionally, monitoring of subrecipients' use of Federal awards should be 
performed via reporting, site visits, regular contact, or other means to provide reasonable 
assurance of compliances with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant 
agreements.

Context:  We selected 5 of the 20 subrecipients for testing, noting that the required A-133 
reports were not requested or received prior to year-end. 

Condition:  The Housing Department (the Department) did not have procedures in place 
during the year to ensure that subrecipients had the required A-133 audits performed.  While 
some monitoring of subrecipients was performed, the monitoring was not consistent between 
subrecipients and could be improved.   

Effect:  The Department could be unaware of noncompliance or internal control deficiencies 
related to A-133 programs that it has awarded to subrecipients.  As such, the Department may 
not be performing appropriate monitoring and follow-up to ensure corrective action plans are 
implemented and risks are mitigated.  

Cause:  The Department became aware of this requirement during the prior year single audit 
but due to restructuring and staff turnover did not get procedures implemented in time to 
correct the situation for 2012. 

 

261

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     381



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

Reference
Number Finding

Implementation date:  January 31, 2013

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:  

Response:  Agree.  The Housing Department has since created a spreadsheet that lists all the 
Federal grants subrecipients (Government and Non-Profit entities).  The sole purpose of this 
spreadsheet is to keep track of all subrecipient information requested and reviewed.  After the 
asset manager and accountant have completed the review process, all subrecipient financial 
and single audit information hard copies will be initialed and filed under their respective 
compliance folder.  We have subsequently performed this process for 2011 subrecipients and 
have scheduled for September 2013 follow-up with subrecipients to request their 2012 Single 
Audit information and start the review process.

Person responsible for implementing:  Jucienne C. Azevedo-Wilk, Treasury and Financial 
Reporting Accountant

 

262

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     382



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

Reference
Number Finding

12-03 Finding:  Procurement

CFDA No. 14.218 - CDBG Entitlement Grants Cluster,  Department of Housing and Urban 
Development
CFDA No. 14.239 - HOME Investment Partnerships Program,  Department of Housing and 
Urban Development

Criteria:  Per 2 CFR 180, all nonfederal entities are prohibited from contracting with or making sub-
awards under covered transactions with parties that are suspended or debarred or whose principals are 
suspended or debarred.  

Condition:  We noted that procedures to ensure compliance with this requirement were not being 
applied to all contracts/awards.

Questioned Costs:  None

Context:  We tested 6 out of  20 contract/award files to evaluate compliance with the applicable 
requirements and noted the issues described above.

Effect:  By not following procedures to ensure contractors/awardees have not been suspended or 
debarred, the Department risks contracting with and making payments to a contractor/vendor that has 
been suspended or debarred in a violation of Federal regulations. 

Cause:  The Department was not fully aware that the suspension and debarment requirements applied 
to all contracts and appears to be only applying the required compliance procedures in construction 
situations. 

Recommendation:   We recommend that the Department apply suspension and debarment 
procedures and/or language to all applicable covered transaction.  In addition, we recommend that the 
city clarify and formally remind departments of the procurement policies and procedures outlining 
that the "Excluded Parties List Service" should be reviewed on an annual basis and prior to awarding 
a contract, award, purchase order or contract extension and that such review is to be documented by 
including supporting documentation in the contract file.  As other methods of meeting the suspension 
and debarment requirements are available, the city could consider revising existing policies to include 
the other options that may be easier to implement and monitor.

 

263

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     383



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

Reference
Number Finding

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:  

Response:  Agree.  The following suspension and debarment language, was added to nonfederal 
entity contracts of the Department: “The Contractor/grantee represents and warrants that it and its 
principals are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency.  The Contractor 
represents and warrants that to its knowledge, the Owner and the Owner's principals are not presently 
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
covered transactions by any Federal department or agency.”

Person responsible for implementing: Kelly Stapleton, Funding Program Administrator

Implementation date:  January 31, 2013
 

264

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     384



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

  

Reference
Number Summary of Finding Status

11-01 Correction of an error See current year
The City should closely review the accounting treatment and finding 12-01.
related entries for complex, unusual, and/or infrequent transactions to 
ensure they are properly recorded.

11-02 Segregation of Duties Implemented.
The City should consider reviewing the purchasing function to 
determine whether conflicts of duties can be eliminated.  
Furthermore, we recommend all compensating controls be 
consistently maintained and performed.

11-03 Renewable Energy Research and Development (ARRA) Implemented.
Reporting - The City should implement a detailed secondary 
independent review of all reports be performed and documented.

11-04 Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant Program (ARRA) See current year
CDBG Entitlement Grants Cluster finding 12-02.
HOME Investment Partnerships Program
Subrecipient Monitoring - The City should ensure all departments 
are aware of subrecipient monitoring requirements and should
consider amending subrecipient contracts and award templates.

 

265

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     385



(This page left blank intentionally) 

266

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     386



Financial Planning 02/01
The public report burden for this information collection is estimated to average 380 hours annually.  Form # 350-050-36

City or County:
City of Boulder
YEAR ENDING :
December 2012

This Information From The Records Of: Prepared By: Fred Kellam, Financial Analyst
City of Boulder Phone: 303-441-4261

A.     Local         B.       Local           C.  Receipts from    D.  Receipts from  
Motor-Fuel Motor-Vehicle State Highway- Federal Highway

Taxes Taxes User Taxes Administration
1.  Total receipts available
2.  Minus amount used for collection expenses
3.  Minus amount used for nonhighway purposes
4.  Minus amount used for mass transit
5.  Remainder used for highway purposes 

AMOUNT AMOUNT
A.  Receipts from local sources: A.  Local highway disbursements:
     1.  Local highway-user taxes     1.  Capital outlay (from page 2) 14,632,403
          a.  Motor Fuel  (from Item I.A.5.)     2.  Maintenance: 2,143,425
          b.  Motor Vehicle (from Item I.B.5.)     3.  Road and street services:
          c.  Total (a.+b.)          a.  Traffic control operations 2,524,606
     2.  General fund appropriations 3,725,771          b.  Snow and ice removal 765,202
     3.  Other local imposts (from page 2) 7,267,637          c.  Other 2,546,772
     4.  Miscellaneous local receipts (from page 2) 1,024,464          d.  Total  (a. through c.) 5,836,580
     5.  Transfers from toll facilities 0     4.  General administration & miscellaneous 2,841,510
     6.  Proceeds of sale of bonds and notes:     5.  Highway law enforcement and safety 3,425,394
          a.  Bonds - Original Issues 22,860,000     6.  Total  (1 through 5) 28,879,312
          b.  Bonds - Refunding Issues 0 B.  Debt service on local obligations:
          c.  Notes 0     1.  Bonds:
          d.  Total (a. + b. + c.) 22,860,000          a.  Interest 431,491
     7.  Total (1 through 6) 34,877,871          b.  Redemption 0
B.  Private Contributions 0          c.  Total (a. + b.) 431,491
C.  Receipts from State government     2.  Notes:
       (from page 2) 3,945,580          a.  Interest 0
D.  Receipts from Federal Government          b.  Redemption 0
       (from page 2) 3,621,935          c.  Total (a. + b.) 0
E.  Total receipts (A.7 + B + C + D) 42,445,387     3.  Total  (1.c + 2.c) 431,491

C.  Payments to State for highways 0
D.  Payments to toll facilities 0
E.  Total disbursements (A.6 + B.3 + C + D) 29,310,803

Opening Debt Amount Issued Redemptions Closing Debt
A.  Bonds (Total) 0 22,860,000 0 22,860,000
        1.  Bonds (Refunding Portion) 0 0
B.  Notes (Total) 0

A. Beginning Balance B. Total Receipts C. Total Disbursements D. Ending Balance E. Reconciliation
Transportation Funds 9,360,538 15,859,615 21,591,410 3,628,744 0
Capital Improvement Bond 
Fund  (Street & Road) 0 22,860,000 3,993,622 18,866,378 0
General Fund  (Street & Road) 0 3,725,771 3,725,771 0 0

Totals 9,360,538 42,445,387 29,310,803 22,495,122 0
Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev. 1-05)           PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE (Next Page)
1

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

I.  DISPOSITION OF HIGHWAY-USER REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURE

ITEM

III.  DISBURSEMENTS FOR ROAD

Transportation Funds include the Transportation, Transportation Development  and Boulder Junction Improvement Funds.  Balances for 
Transportation Funds reflected in Section V include balances not restricted for road and street purposes as transportation funding within the City of 
Boulder supports multi-modal transportation.  In contrast, receipt and disbursement financial data only reflect road and street-related activity.  

V.  LOCAL ROAD AND STREET FUND BALANCE

ITEM

II.  RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES

IV.   LOCAL HIGHWAY DEBT STATUS
(Show all entries at par)

ITEM
 AND STREET PURPOSES

267

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     387



STATE:
Colorado
YEAR ENDING (mm/yy):
December 2012

AMOUNT AMOUNT
A.3.  Other local imposts: A.4.  Miscellaneous local receipts:
    a.  Property Taxes and Assessments 86,021          a.  Interest on investments 92,646
    b.  Other local imposts:          b.  Traffic Fines & Penalities 105,820
        1.  Sales Taxes 6,356,445          c. Parking Garage Fees 0
        2.  Infrastructure & Impact Fees 585,902          d.  Parking Meter Fees 0
        3.  Liens 0          e.  Sale of Surplus Property 567,021
        4. Licenses 0          f.  Charges for Services 0
        5. Specific Ownership &/or Other 239,268          g.  Other Misc. Receipts 258,977
        6.  Total (1. through 5.) 7,181,615          h.  Other 0
    c.  Total (a. + b.) 7,267,637          i.  Total (a. through h.) 1,024,464

(Carry forward to page 1) (Carry forward to page 1) 

AMOUNT AMOUNT
C.   Receipts from State Government D.  Receipts from Federal Government
    1.  Highway-user taxes 2,419,853    1.  FHWA (from Item I.D.5.)
    2.  State general funds    2.  Other Federal agencies:
    3.  Other State funds:        a.  Forest Service 0
        a.  State bond proceeds        b.  FEMA 0
        b.  Project Match        c.  HUD 0
        c.  Motor Vehicle Registrations 254,929        d.  Federal Transit Admin 0
        d. Other  - Hwy/Signal Maint Contract 641,373        e.  U.S. Corps of Engineers 0
        e.  Other - CDOT 629,425        f.  Other Federal (FHWA) 3,621,935
         f.  Total (a. through e.) 1,525,727        g.  Total (a. through f.) 3,621,935
   4.  Total (1. + 2. + 3.f) 3,945,580    3.  Total (1. + 2.g)

(Carry forward to page 1) 

ON NATIONAL OFF NATIONAL
HIGHWAY HIGHWAY TOTAL
SYSTEM SYSTEM

(a) (b) (c)
A.1.  Capital outlay:
          a.  Right-Of-Way Costs 0 0 0
          b.  Engineering Costs 300,027 2,886,145 3,186,172
          c.  Construction:
               (1). New Facilities 0 0 0
               (2).  Capacity Improvements 0 0 0
               (3).  System Preservation 681,464 4,596,982 5,278,446
               (4).  System Enhancement & Operation 1,022,196 5,145,590 6,167,786
               (5).  Total Construction  (1) + (2) + (3) + (4) 1,703,660 9,742,572 11,446,232
         d.  Total Capital Outlay (Lines 1.a. + 1.b. + 1.c.5) 2,003,687 12,628,717 14,632,403

(Carry forward to page 1) 
Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev.1-05)           PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE
2

III.  DISBURSEMENTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

II.  RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

ITEM ITEM

ITEM ITEM

268

ATTACHMENT D

Packet Page     388



 
CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

MEETING DATE:  Aug. 6, 2013 
 

 
AGENDA TITLE 
 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only, an 
emergency ordinance adopting Supplement No.117, which codifies previously adopted Ordinance 
Nos. 7892, 7895, 7901, 7904, 7905, 7908 and other miscellaneous corrections and amendments, as 
an amendment to the Boulder Revised Code, 1981. 
 
 
 
PRESENTER: 
Office of the City Attorney 
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The Boulder Revised Code (“B.R.C. 1981”) is the official book of laws of the City of Boulder.  
Four times a year (quarterly), the City Council is asked to adopt supplements to the B.R.C. 1981.  
An ordinance format is used to bring ordinances that the City Council adopted in the prior quarter 
into the B.R.C. 1981, and to insure that there is no question regarding what constitutes the official 
laws of the City of Boulder.  These supplement ordinances are approved as a matter of routine by 
the City Council.  
 
The text of Supplement No. 117 has been previously adopted by the following ordinances: 
 
No. 7892 AN ORDINANCE ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 5-10, “MARIJUANA 

OFFENSES,” B.R.C. 1981 PROHIBITING PUBLIC CONSUMPTION OF 
MARIJUANA AND POSSESSION OF MARIJUANA BY MINORS; SETTING 
FORTH RULES FOR TRIALS AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

No. 7895 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 9, “LAND USE REGULATION,” B.R.C. 
1981, TO CLARIFY THE  INCLUSIONARY HOUSING PROGRAM BY 
ADDING REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO OFF-SITE UNITS, TIMING OF 
CONSTRUCTION, FLOOR AREA CALCULATION OF ATTACHED AND 
DETACHED UNITS,  LOCATION OF AFFORDABLE UNITS, AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

No. 7901 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 4-7, “DOG LICENSE,” AND 
CHAPTER 6-1, “ANIMALS,” IN PART BY REPEALING SECTION 4-7-5 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 1Packet Page     389



REGARDING RABIES VACCINATIONS AND MOVING ITS CONTENTS TO 
SECTION 6-1-3, “RABIES VACCINATIONS,”  AND MOVING 6-1-3 TO A 
NEW SECTION 6-1-41, “LIMITATION ON KEEPING OF DOMESTICATED 
ANIMALS,” B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

No. 7904 AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 13.2 OF THE 
BOULDER REVISED CODE REGARDING TIMING OF CAMPAIGN 
FINANCE DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

No. 7905 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 12-1, B.R.C. 1981, TO PROTECT 
AGAINST DISCRIMINATION BASED ON AGE AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

No. 7908 AN ORDINANCE ADDING A NEW SECTION 11-1-59 TO THE BOULDER 
REVISED CODE BANNING THE USE, SALE OR SUPPLY OF WATER FOR 
OIL AND GAS EXTRACTION AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 
FISCAL IMPACTS; 
Budgetary:   None 
Staff Time:   None beyond the time always allocated to code maintenance in the City Attorney’s 

overall work plan. 
Economic:    None 
 
COUNCIL FILTER IMPACTS: 
Ongoing code maintenance is an essential and largely administrative obligation of the city. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following motion:   
 
Motion to introduce and order published by title only an emergency ordinance regarding 
Supplement No.117. 

 
DISCUSSION: 
This supplement includes ordinances that have been adopted by the City Council in the last 
supplement quarter.  They are added to the official version of the B.R.C. 1981 by way of the 
attached supplement ordinance.  The City Council adopts each supplement ordinance to ensure that 
a clearly identifiable version of the Boulder Revised Code is legislatively adopted. 
 
Code amendments, if any, are reflected in strike out and double underline format along with a 
“Reason for Change” as part of this agenda item.  Such amendments are intended to correct non-
substantive errors discovered through review of these ordinances and/or which may have occurred 
in previously adopted ordinances already in the B.R.C. 1981.  Major and/or substantive corrections 
or revisions are brought forward as a separate ordinance to City Council during the normal course 
of future City Council business.

Agenda Item 3G     Page 2Packet Page     390



AMENDMENTS: 
 
1. Section 9-2-17, “Zoning of Annexed Land,” is be amended as follows: 

(f) Slopes: Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, any land proposed for annexation that contains slopes at or 
exceeding fifteen percent shall not be zoned into a classification which would allow development inconsistent with policies 3.10, 3.15, 
and 3.16 4.13 , 4.16, and 4.17 of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Reason for change: The BVCP has been updated, changing the policy numbers. 
 
2. Subsection 9-6-1(d), B.R.C. 1981 is amended as follows: 

9-6-1(d) Use Table: 
TABLE 6-1: USE TABLE 

Zoning 
District 

RR-1 
RR-2 
RE 

RL-1 

RL-
2 

RM-
2 

RM-
1 

RM-
3 

RMX
-1 

RMX
-2 

RH-1
RH-2
RH-4
RH-5

RH-
3 

RH-
7 

RH-
6 MH

MU
-3 

M
U-
1 

M
U-
2 

M
U-
4 

 
BT-

1 
BT-

2 
BM
S 

B
C-
1 
B
C-
2 BCS

B
R-
1 
B
R-
2 

D
T-
4 

DT
-5 

DT-
1 

DT-
2 

DT-
3 

IS-
1 

IS-
2 IG

I
M

IM
S P A 

Use 
Modules R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 R7 R8 MH M1

M
2 

M
3 

M
4 B1 B2 B3 B4 B5

D
1 D2 D3 I1 I2 I3 I4 P A 

 
Reason for change: The addition of the zoning districts to the Use Table will allow for easier navigation throughout the code.  
 
3. Subsection 9-7-1  “Schedule of Form and Bulk Standards” is amended as follows:  

Table 7-1: Form and Bulk Standards: 
BUILDING SIZE AND COVERAGE LIMITATION (Accessory and Principal Buildings)

Maximum 
floor area 
of any 
principal 
building 
permitted 
by chapter 
9-8 

See section 9-8-2 
(FAR Requirements) 

15,000 sq. ft. See section 9-8-2 
(FAR Requirements)

15,000
sq. ft.

See section 9-
8-2 

(FAR 
Requirements)

15,000
sq. ft.

n/a 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 3Packet Page     391



Maximum 
accessory 
building 
coverage 
within 
principal 
building 
rear yard 
setback (9-
7-8) 

500 sq. ft. n/a 500 sq. ft. n/a 500 sq. ft. n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Maximum 
cumulative 
coverage of 
all 
accessory 
buildings 
regardless 
of location 

For residential uses - no greater than coverage of the principal building 

Maximum 
total 
building 
coverage 

See section 9-7-
11 

n/a See section 9-7-
11 

n/a See section 9-7-
11 

n/a 

PRINCIPAL AND ACCESSORY BUILDING HEIGHT

Maximum 
height for 
principal 
buildings 
and uses 
(c), (d) 

35' 35'; 40' (in I-
zones) 

35' 35' 40' 35' 38' 38' 35' 35' 

Conditional 
height for 
principal 
buildings 
and uses 

See section 9-7-6 for conditional height standards 

Maximum 
number of 
stories for a 
building 

3 3 n/a n/a 2 3 3 2 3 2 (3 on DT-5 
corner lots) 

2 3 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 4Packet Page     392



Maximum 
wall height 
for 
detached 
dwelling 
units at 
zero lot 
line 
setback (9-
7-2(b)(3)) 

12' 12' 12' 12' 12' n/a 

Maximum 
height for 
all 
accessory 
buildings, 
structures 
and uses 
(g) 

20' (30' in agricultural zone) 20' (25' in industrial zones) 20' 20' 20' 20' 

Maximum 
total 
building 
coverage 

See section 9-7-
11 

n/a See section 9-7-
11 

n/a See section 9-7-
11 

n/a 

 
Reason for change: Relocates a building coverage provision for principal and accessory to the ‘building coverage’ section and removes 
it from a section only applicable to building height. 
 
4. Section 9-7-1, “Form and Bulk Standards” is amended as follows:  

Table 7-1: Form and Bulk Standards: 
BUILDING DESIGN REQUIREMENTS 

Minimum ground floor window area facing a public street 
(9-9-3) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 60% n/a n/a 

Primary building entrance location facing street n/a n/a yes yes yes yes n/a n/a yes yes n/a 

Minimum percent of lot frontage that must contain a building 
or buildings 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 70% 50% n/a 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 5Packet Page     393



Maximum % of 3rd story floor area that can be in a 4th story n/a n/a n/a 70% 
(j) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Wall length articulation standards for side walls over 14' in 
height within 20' of side property line 

See section 
9-7-10 

n/a See section 
9-7-10 

n/a See section 
9-7-10 

na 

 
Reason for change: The current table is blank in the last two columns for maximum third story floor area. This change clarifies that the 
provision does not apply to the p, q, r and s form modules. 

 
5. Section 9-7-1, “Form and Bulk Standards” is amended as follows:  

Table 7-1: 
PRINCIPAL AND ACCESSORY BUILDING HEIGHT

Maximum height for principal buildings and uses (c), (d), and (l) 35' 35'; 40' (in I-zones) 35' 35' 40' 35' 38' 38' 35' 35'

 
(l) For buildings on nonstandard lots within the RMX-1, RL-1, RE, RR-1 and RR-2 zoning districts, refer to Table 10-1, 
Maximum Height Formulas within section 9-10-3, Changes to Nonstandard Buildings, Structures and Lots and Nonconforming 
Uses. 
 

Reason for change: The code currently refers to other sections of the code related to height, including the conditional height section and 
height based on useable open space, but does not refer to a section of the Nonconformance Standards that further reduce height based on 
lots size below the minimum lot size. This footnote would rightly point users of the code to the applicable code section. 

 
6. Section 9-8-2, “Floor Area Ratio Requirements,” is amended as follows: 

TABLE 8-2: FLOOR AREA RATIO ADDITIONS 

  DT-1 DT-2 DT-3 DT-4 DT-5 MU-1 MU-2 MU-3 BT-2 BMS IS-1/2 IG IM IMS BR-1 (c)

Base FAR 1.0 1.5 1.7 1.7 1.7 0.6 0.6 1.0 0.5 0.67 (a) 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.6 n/a 

Maximum total 
FAR additions 
(FAR) 

1.0 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0 n/a 
0.07 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 
.33 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

FAR additional components: 

1) Residential 
floor area (FAR) 

0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 1.0 (b) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a Not 
counted

Not 
counted

n/a n/a 
 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 6Packet Page     394



2) Residential 
floor area if at 
least 35% of units 
are permanently 
affordable and at 
least 50% of total 
floor area is 
residential (FAR) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 0.07 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

 

3) Residential 
floor area for a 
project NOT 
located in a 
general 
improvement 
district that 
provides off-street 
parking 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 0.33 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

 

4) On-site parking 
provided entirely 
within the 
principal 
structure, or 
above grade 
parking structure 

0.5 0.5 0.5 n/a 0.5 Not 
counted

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

n/a Not 
counted

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

n/a 

 

5) Below grade 
area used for 
occupancy 

Not 
counted 

Not 
counted 

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

n/a n/a n/a Not 
counted

Not 
counted

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

 

6) Nonresidential 
floor area (FAR) 
(see Paragraph 9-
8-2(e)(3) and 
Subsection 4-20-
62, Table 4) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 1.0 (b) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

 

Maximum 
allowable FAR 
(sum of base plus 
all available 
additions) 

2.0 + 
row 5 

2.0 + 
row 5 

2.7 + 
row 5 

2.2 + 
row 5 

2.7 + 
row 5 

0.67 + 
row 4 
above 

0.6 + 
row 4 
above 

1.0 + 
rows 4 
and 5 
above 

0.5 + 
row 5 
above 

1.0 + 
rows 4 
and 5 
above 

0.5 + 
row 4 
above 

0.5 + 
rows 1 
and 4 
above 

0.4 + 
rows 1 
and 4 
above 

0.6 + 
row 4 
above 

4.0 (c) 

 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 7Packet Page     395



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 8Packet Page     396



Footnotes: 

(a) FAR up to 1.85:1 if property is located in a general improvement district providing off-
street parking. 
(b) The maximum additional FAR component is 1.0. FAR additional components may be 
combined, but shall not exceed the 1.0 maximum total floor area ratio limit. 
(c) See Subparagraph 9-2-14(h)(2)(J), B.R.C. 1981. 
(e) n/a: not applicable. 

Reason for change: The table currently erroneously does not include the maximum total FAR 
additions for MU-1 and BMS and the last row refers to inapplicable rows above and does not include 
rows for which it should refer. These changes would correct the errors. 

 
7. Subsection 9-9-12(d), “General Landscaping and Screening Requirements” is amended as 
follows: 

(1) Landscaping Plan: A landscaping plan designed in accordance with this section and 
sections 9-9-13, "Streetscape Design Standards," and 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping 
Standards," B.R.C. 1981, shall be provided for all developments except detached dwelling 
units. The site plan shall include the following: 

…. 

(H): Location and dimensions of site sight distance triangles at all intersections of 
streets and curb cuts; 

…. 

 
Reason for change:       Spelling correction. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A -  Proposed emergency ordinance 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 9Packet Page     397

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_13
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_14


 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 10Packet Page     398



ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE ADOPTING SUPPLEMENT 
NO.117, WHICH CODIFIES PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED 
ORDINANCE NOS. 7892, 7895, 7901, 7904, 7905, 7908 AND 
OTHER MISCELLANEOUS CORRECTIONS AND 
AMENDMENTS, AS AN AMENDMENT TO THE BOULDER 
REVISED CODE, 1981., AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section 1.  Legislative Findings. 

 A.    Supplement No. 117 amending the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (“B.R.C.”) has 
been printed. 

 B.    The City Council intends that this supplement be codified and published as a part 
of the B.R.C. 

 C.    Supplement No. 117 to the B.R.C. is a part of this ordinance and contains all of 
the amendments to the B.R.C. enacted by the City Council in Ordinance Nos. 7892, 7895, 7901, 
7904, 7905, 7908.   The City Council intends to adopt this supplement as an amendment to the 
B.R.C. 

 D.    The ordinances contained in Supplement No. 117 are available in printed copy to 
each member of the City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, and the published text of the 
supplement, along with the text of this ordinance, is available for public inspection and 
acquisition in the office of the city clerk of the City of Boulder, in the Municipal Building, 1777 
Broadway, Boulder, Colorado. 

 Section 2.  The City Council adopts Supplement No. 117 by this reference. 

 Section 3.  The City Council orders that a copy of Supplement No. 117 as proposed for 

adoption by reference herein be on file in the office of the city clerk of the City of Boulder, 

Colorado, Municipal Building, 1777 Broadway, City of Boulder, Boulder County, Colorado, and 

may be inspected by any person at any time during regular business hours pending of the 

adoption of this ordinance. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 11Packet Page     399



 

K:\CCCO\o-Supp 117-226.doc    

 Section 4.  The annotations, source notes, codifier’s notes, and other editorial matter 

included in the printed B.R.C. are not part of the legislative text.  These editorial provisions are 

provided to give the public additional information for added convenience.  No implication or 

presumption of a legislative construction is to be drawn from these materials. 

 Section 5.  The B.R.C., or any chapter or section of it, may be proved by a copy certified 

by the city clerk of the City of Boulder, under seal of the city; or, when printed in book or 

pamphlet form and purporting to be printed by authority of the city.  It shall be received in 

evidence in all courts without further proof of the existence and regularity of the enactment of 

any particular ordinance of the B.R.C. 

 Section 6.  These provisions of the B.R.C. shall be given effect and interpreted as though 

a continuation of prior laws and not as new enactments. 

 Section 7.  Unless expressly provided otherwise, any violation of the provisions of the 

B.R.C., as supplemented herein, shall be punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand 

dollars or incarceration for not more than ninety days in jail, or by both such fine and 

incarceration, as provided in section 5-2-4, “General Penalties,” B.R.C. 1981. 

 Section 8.  Subsection 9-2-17, “Zoning of Annexed Land,” is amended as follows: 

(f) Slopes: Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, any land proposed 
for annexation that contains slopes at or exceeding fifteen percent shall not be zoned into a 
classification which would allow development inconsistent with policies 3.10, 3.15, and 3.16 
4.13 , 4.16, and 4.17 of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.

Agenda Item 3G     Page 12Packet Page     400



Section 9.  Subsection 9-6-1(d), B.R.C. 1981 is amended as follows: 

9-6-1(d) Use Table: 
TABLE 6-1: USE TABLE 

Zoning 
District 

RR-1 
RR-2 
RE 

RL-1 

RL-
2 

RM-
2 

RM-
1 

RM-
3 

RMX
-1 

RMX
-2 

RH-1
RH-2
RH-4
RH-5

RH-
3 

RH-
7 

RH-
6 MH

MU
-3 

M
U-
1 

M
U-
2 

M
U-
4 

 
BT-

1 
BT-

2 
BM
S 

B
C-
1 
B
C-
2 BCS

B
R-
1 
B
R-
2 

D
T-
4 

DT
-5 

DT-
1 

DT-
2 

DT-
3 

IS-
1 

IS-
2 IG

I
M

IM
S P A 

Use 
Modules R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 R7 R8 MH M1

M
2 

M
3 

M
4 B1 B2 B3 B4 B5

D
1 D2 D3 I1 I2 I3 I4 P A 

 
Section 10.  Subsection 9-7-1  “Schedule of Form and Bulk Standards” is amended as follows:  

Table 7-1: Form and Bulk Standards: 
BUILDING SIZE AND COVERAGE LIMITATION (Accessory and Principal Buildings)

Maximum 
floor area 
of any 
principal 
building 
permitted 
by chapter 
9-8 

See section 9-8-2 
(FAR Requirements) 

15,000 sq. ft. See section 9-8-2 
(FAR 

Requirements) 

15,000
sq. ft.

See section 9-
8-2 

(FAR 
Requirements)

15,000
sq. ft.

n/a

Maximum 
accessory 
building 
coverage 
within 
principal 
building 
rear yard 
setback (9-
7-8) 

500 sq. ft. n/a 500 sq. ft. n/a 500 sq. ft. n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Agenda Item 3G     Page 13Packet Page     401



Maximum 
cumulative 
coverage of 
all 
accessory 
buildings 
regardless 
of location 

For residential uses - no greater than coverage of the principal building 

Maximum 
total 
building 
coverage 

See section 9-
7-11 

n/a See section 9-
7-11 

n/a See section 9-
7-11 

n/a 

PRINCIPAL AND ACCESSORY BUILDING HEIGHT

Maximum 
height for 
principal 
buildings 
and uses 
(c), (d) 

35' 35'; 40' (in I-
zones) 

35' 35' 40' 35' 38' 38' 35' 35'

Conditional 
height for 
principal 
buildings 
and uses 

See section 9-7-6 for conditional height standards 

Maximum 
number of 
stories for a 
building 

3 3 n/a n/a 2 3 3 2 3 2 (3 on DT-5 
corner lots) 

2 3 

Maximum 
wall height 
for 
detached 
dwelling 
units at 
zero lot 
line 

12' 12' 12' 12' 12' n/a

Agenda Item 3G     Page 14Packet Page     402



setback (9-
7-2(b)(3)) 

Maximum 
height for 
all 
accessory 
buildings, 
structures 
and uses 
(g) 

20' (30' in agricultural zone) 20' (25' in industrial zones) 20' 20' 20' 20'

Maximum 
total 
building 
coverage 

See section 9-
7-11 

n/a See section 9-
7-11 

n/a See section 9-
7-11 

n/a 

 
Section 11.  Section 9-7-1, “Form and Bulk Standards” is amended as follows:  

Table 7-1: Form and Bulk Standards: 
BUILDING DESIGN REQUIREMENTS 

Minimum ground floor window area facing a public street
(9-9-3) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 60% n/a n/a

Primary building entrance location facing street n/a n/a yes yes yes yes n/a n/a yes yes n/a

Minimum percent of lot frontage that must contain a 
building or buildings 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 70% 50% n/a

Maximum % of 3rd story floor area that can be in a 4th 
story 

n/a n/a n/a 70% 
(j) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Wall length articulation standards for side walls over 14' in 
height within 20' of side property line 

See section 
9-7-10 

n/a See section 
9-7-10 

n/a See section 
9-7-10 

na 

 
Section 12.  Section 9-7-1, “Form and Bulk Standards” is amended as follows:  

Table 7-1: 
PRINCIPAL AND ACCESSORY BUILDING HEIGHT

Maximum height for principal buildings and uses (c), (d), and (l) 35' 35'; 40' (in I-zones) 35' 35' 40' 35' 38' 38' 35' 35'

Agenda Item 3G     Page 15Packet Page     403



 
(l) For buildings on nonstandard lots within the RMX-1, RL-1, RE, RR-1 and RR-2 zoning districts, refer to Table 10-1, Maximum 
Height Formulas within section 9-10-3, Changes to Nonstandard Buildings, Structures and Lots and Nonconforming Uses. 

 
Section 13.  Section 9-8-2, “Floor Area Ratio Requirements,” is amended as follows: 

TABLE 8-2: FLOOR AREA RATIO ADDITIONS 

  DT-1 DT-2 DT-3 DT-4 DT-5 MU-1 MU-2 MU-3 BT-2 BMS IS-1/2 IG IM IMS BR-1 (c)

Base FAR 1.0 1.5 1.7 1.7 1.7 0.6 0.6 1.0 0.5 0.67 (a) 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.6 n/a 

Maximum total 
FAR additions 
(FAR) 

1.0 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0 n/a 
0.07 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 
.33 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

FAR additional components: 

1) Residential 
floor area 
(FAR) 

0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 1.0 (b) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a Not 
counted

Not 
counted

n/a n/a 

2) Residential 
floor area if at 
least 35% of 
units are 
permanently 
affordable and 
at least 50% of 
total floor area 
is residential 
(FAR) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 0.07 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

3) Residential 
floor area for a 
project NOT 
located in a 
general 
improvement 
district that 
provides off-
street parking 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 0.33 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 16Packet Page     404



 

K:\CCCO\o-Supp 117-226.doc    

4) On-site 
parking 
provided 
entirely within 
the principal 
structure, or 
above grade 
parking 
structure 

0.5 0.5 0.5 n/a 0.5 Not 
counted

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

n/a Not 
counted

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

n/a 

5) Below grade 
area used for 
occupancy 

Not 
counted 

Not 
counted 

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

Not 
counted

n/a n/a n/a Not 
counted 

Not 
counted

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

6) 
Nonresidential 
floor area 
(FAR) (see 
Paragraph 9-8-
2(e)(3) and 
Subsection 4-
20-62, Table 4) 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 1.0 (b) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Maximum 
allowable FAR 
(sum of base 
plus all 
available 
additions) 

2.0 + 
row 5 

2.0 + 
row 5 

2.7 + 
row 5 

2.2 + 
row 5 

2.7 + 
row 5 

0.67 + 
row 4 
above 

0.6 + 
row 4 
above 

1.0 + 
rows 4 
and 5 
above 

0.5 + 
row 5 
above 

1.0 + 
rows 4 
and 5 
above 

0.5 + 
row 4 
above 

0.5 + 
rows 1 
and 4 
above 

0.4 + 
rows 1 
and 4 
above 

0.6 + 
row 4 
above 

4.0 (c) 

Footnotes: 

(a) FAR up to 1.85:1 if property is located in a general improvement district providing off-street parking. 
(b) The maximum additional FAR component is 1.0. FAR additional components may be combined, but shall not exceed the 1.0 
maximum total floor area ratio limit. 
(c) See Subparagraph 9-2-14(h)(2)(J), B.R.C. 1981. 
(e) n/a: not applicable. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 17Packet Page     405



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 18Packet Page     406



Section 14.  Subsection 9-9-12(d) “General Landscaping and Screening Requirements,” is 

amended as follows: 

(1) Landscaping Plan: A landscaping plan designed in accordance with this section and sections 
9-9-13, "Streetscape Design Standards," and 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," 
B.R.C. 1981, shall be provided for all developments except detached dwelling units. The site 
plan shall include the following: 

…. 

(H): Location and dimensions of site sight distance triangles at all intersections of streets 
and curb cuts; 

…. 

 Section 15.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

 Section 16.  The printed supplements cannot be distributed until the adopting ordinance is 

effective.  The laws of the city should be current and available to the residents of the City of 

Boulder as soon as possible.  Upon that basis, this ordinance is declared to be an emergency 

measure and shall be in full force and effect upon its final passage. 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 6th day of August 2013. 

____________________________________ 
                  Mayor 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk  
 
 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 19Packet Page     407

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_13
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_13
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_14


 

K:\CCCO\o-Supp 117-226.doc    

 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AS AN EMERGENCY 

MEASURE BY TWO-THIRDS COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 20th day of August 2013. 

____________________________________ 
                  Mayor 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk  

Agenda Item 3G     Page 20Packet Page     408



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: August 6, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to approve the disposal to the State of 
Colorado, the Colorado Department of Transportation, of Open Space and Mountain Parks 
land and temporary easements, including a land exchange, to accommodate the U.S. 36 
Managed Lanes Project Phase 2.  This is a disposal of open space land under City Charter 
Section 177. 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
Bob Eichem, Finance Director/Acting Executive Director of Administrative 
Michael Patton, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks  
Doug Newcomb, Property Agent 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
To accommodate Colorado Department of Transportation’s (CDOT) U.S. 36 Managed 
Lanes Project Phase 2, between Table Mesa Drive and Louisville, CDOT has requested 
land for right-of-way (ROW) purposes and temporary easements for construction 
purposes from the city. The general vicinity of this project and the requested land and 
temporary easements are shown on Attachment A. The land parcels needed permanently 
by CDOT are land parcels owned by the city and designated as Open Space and 
Mountain Parks (OSMP). The temporary easements for construction needed by CDOT 
are located on city-owned land designated as OSMP. Compensation for the proposed 
disposals is at the fair market value rate of $33,000 per acre. This disposal is proposed 
under Section 177 of the City Charter. 
 
Sixteen parcels of land totaling approximately 8.753 acres along and immediately 
adjacent to the existing U.S. Highway 36 (U.S. 36) ROW are proposed for disposal to 
CDOT. One acre of the 8.753 acres is proposed to be exchanged for an equal amount of 
CDOT land adjacent to U.S. 36 instead of receiving monetary compensation for that acre. 
Attachment B is a map showing the locations of the parcels of land proposed for disposal 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 1Packet Page     409



and the location of the additional one acre to be conveyed in fee by the State of Colorado 
to the city for OSMP.  
 
Also, 11 temporary construction easements totaling approximately 0.173 acres along the 
U.S. 36 ROW are proposed to be disposed of to CDOT. These temporary easements are 
generally located where drainages cross U.S. 36 and in locations where staff thought 
minor construction travel might occur just outside the ROW.  Land under the temporary 
easements will be restored by CDOT after use. 
 
Lastly, one 4.9-acre temporary easement on the OSMP Opal parcel is proposed for 
disposal to CDOT for use as a staging area for a CDOT project on the adjacent 29-acre 
OSMP Granite property located at approximately 5770 Baseline Rd. The damage to the 
Opal property will be restored and the easement returned to the city. The project on the 
Granite property is to create replacement habitat for the Ute ladies’-tresses orchid and the 
Prebles’ meadow jumping mouse.  The project is required mitigation for unavoidable 
impacts associated with the U.S. 36 Managed Lanes Project Phase 2.  Please see 
Attachment C, a map of the Opal property proposed to be used as a staging area. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language: Staff requests council consideration of this matter and 
action in the form of the following motion: 
 
Motion to approve the disposal to the State of Colorado, CDOT, of Open Space and 
Mountain Parks real estate described as 16 parcels of land totaling approximately 8.753 
acres and 11 temporary easements totaling approximately 0.173 acres for construction 
purposes and one approximately 4.9-acre temporary easement for a staging area on the 
Opal property located generally at 5770 Baseline Rd., in the locations shown on 
Attachment C and described by the  legal descriptions in Attachment D. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Environmental:  Disposal of these land parcels and temporary easements will 
result in the loss of habitat for the Ute ladies’-tresses orchid and the Prebles’ 
meadow jumping mouse. New habitat for these endangered species will be 
constructed by CDOT on OSMP land to replace the habitat lost to the U.S. 36 
project. No significant long-term environmental loss due to this disposal is 
anticipated.    

• Economic: The proposed disposal does not significantly alter OSMP’s overall 
positive contribution to the economic vitality goal of the city. The sale proceeds 
will be returned to the acquisition fund and used to purchase new property for 
Open Space and Mountain Parks.   

• Social: Disposal of these land parcels and temporary easements will allow the 
U.S. 36 Managed Lane Project Phase 2 to proceed in accordance with state- and 
local-approved plans for improved transportation. Two of the project’s purposes 
are to provide traffic congestion relief and to expand travel modes.   

Agenda Item 3H     Page 2Packet Page     410



 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal – $256,377 monetary compensation and one acre of new land. 
• Staff time – This disposal process is part of the normal work plan for the Open 

Space staff. 
 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
At its March 13, 2013 meeting, the Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) unanimously 
recommended the City Council approve the purchase of the Opal property and the 
Granite property. CDOT funded the entire $1,300,000 purchase price for the Granite 
property subject to it being used for a nonwetland mitigation project related to the U.S. 
36 project. City Council unanimously approved the purchase of the Granite and Opal 
properties with the Granite parcel being subject to the mitigation project at its April 2, 
2013 meeting. 
 
At the July 10, 2013 OSBT meeting, the board unanimously recommended approval of 
this disposal to CDOT. 
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
This item was heard as part of the July 10, 2013 OSBT public meeting advertised in the 
Daily Camera on July 7, 2013.  There was no public comment regarding this disposal.  A 
Notice of Disposal of Open Space lands was published in the Daily Camera on June 28 
and June 29, 2013 pursuant to Section 177 of the City Charter. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The locations and configurations of the land and temporary easement parcels proposed 
for disposal along U.S. 36 are typical of highway projects. Staff believes the compen-
sation for the sale of the parcels is at fair market value and considers the environmental 
impacts to OSMP are acceptable.     
 
The compensation for these disposals is based on the rate of $33,000 per acre, fair market 
value for OSMP land along U.S. 36. In comparison, CDOT recently paid $30,000 per 
acre to the city for OSMP land on Highway 93. 
 
The unavoidable environmental impacts to OSMP land resulting from the disposal of the 
land and temporary easements for the U.S. 36 project will be mitigated by CDOT’s 
development of replacement habitat for two endangered species. More area of habitat for 
the Prebles’ meadow jumping mouse and the Ute ladies’-tresses orchid is planned to be 
created on OSMP land, than will be lost on OSMP land due to this disposal. That is due 
to two reasons.  One, the habitat lost on land owned by others will be replaced on OSMP 
land. Two, some habitat that exists inside the current U.S. 36 ROW will be lost and will 
be replaced on OSMP plus the habitat lost on the land subject to this proposed disposal 
that will become new U.S. 36 ROW. 
  
On OSMP land, construction activity will be restricted to the existing U.S. 36 ROW, the 
new U.S. 36 ROW (the disposed 8.753 acres) and the temporary easements’ 0.173 acres. 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 3Packet Page     411



All damage to the land within the temporary easements, including the staging area, will 
be restored at CDOT’s expense to a condition satisfactory to OSMP. Staff will work to 
require CDOT to use the department’s recommended best management practices during 
the construction activities. 
 
Conclusion:  OSMP staff supports the disposal of the requested land and temporary 
easements to CDOT under the terms identified in this memo. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A.  Vicinity map of the disposal and addition parcels 
B.   Location Map of the disposal and addition parcels 
C.   Map of the Opal property staging area 
D.   Legal Descriptions of the disposal parcels 
 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 4Packet Page     412



AGENDA ITEM#_____PAGE_____

E:\Mapfiles\Property\vicinityJoderCoxAcquisition.mxd

2012 aerial photography- approximate property

boundaries from Boulder County Assessor’s data.

VICINITY MAP - 
ROW -  CDOT - HWY 36

ATTACHMENT A - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

BoulderBoulder

LouisvilleLouisville

LongmontLongmont

arrow

I
0 1 2 3 4 50.5

Miles
OSMP / CDOT Land Trade

City of Boulder OSMP

SUBJECT

City Annexation

Agenda Item 3H     Page 5Packet Page     413

fenic1
Rectangle



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 6Packet Page     414



REICH

SHORT

OAKLEY

CHURCH
YUNKER

YUNKER

M. CLYNCKE

VAN VLEET

CHURCH
OF

CHRIST

CHURCH

GALLUCCI

VAN VLEET

VAN VLEET

JIRKOVSKY

CAMPBELL
OVERLOOK CITY ON

THE HILL

SCHOOL

£¤36

SOUTH BOULDER RD

BO
ULDER DENVER TNPK

ATTACHMENT B - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks
LOCATION MAP - ROW CDOT HWY 36 EXPANSION

OSMP Land Addition

OSMP Land Disposal

OSMP Fee Property

OSMP Conservation Easement
I 0 0.25 0.50.125

Miles

Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Property\ROW\ROWCDOTLocation.mxd

AGENDA ITEM#_____PAGE_____

Agenda Item 3H     Page 7Packet Page     415

fenic1
Rectangle



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 8Packet Page     416



Burke

Kentucky

O
p

a
l 

5
 A

c
re

s

Granite
So

ut
h

B
ou

ld
er

Cr
ee

k

So
ut

h 
Bo

ul
de

r C
re

ek

5
5

th
S

t.

Aztec Cir

5
5

th

S
t.

Raritan
Pl

R
a

c
q

u
e

t
L

n

55thS
t.

S
to

n
e

w
a

ll
 P

l

M
e

a
d

o
w

G
le

n
 D

r

5
5

th
 S

t.

5
5

th
S

t.

Pueblo Pl

Seneca Pl

Baseline

Tenino Ave

Omaha Pl

C
a

s
c

a
d

e
P

l

M
e

a
d

o
w

G
le

n
D

r

B
la

c
k

h
a

w
k

D
r

5
5

th
 S

t.

5
5

th
 S

t.

G
a

p
te

r
R

d

5
5

th
S

t.

5
5

th
S

t.

Sioux Dr.

I
0 250 500125

Feet

2012 aerial photography-approx.

property boundaries from Boulder 
County Assessor’s data

OSMP Fee

Path: E:\MapFiles\Property\GraniteOpal\OpalTemporaryEasement.mxd

LOCATION MAP -  Opal - Temporary Easement

ATTACHMENT C - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

 © 2013 City of Boulder, Colorado

All rights reserved. The map information contained hereon is

intended for the sole use of the purchaser and may not be copied, 

duplicated or redistributed in any way, in whole or in part,

without the expressed written consent of the City of Boulder.

The information depicted is provided as a graphical representation

only. While source documents were developed in compliance with

National Map Accuracy Standards, the City of Boulder provides no

guarantee, express or implied, as to the accuracy and/or 

completeness of the information contained hereon.

OSMP Hiking Trail

OSMP Multi-Use Trail

Temporary Easement

AGENDA ITEM#______PAGE_____

Agenda Item 3H     Page 9Packet Page     417

fenic1
Rectangle



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 10Packet Page     418



Agenda Item 3H     Page 11Packet Page     419



Agenda Item 3H     Page 12Packet Page     420



Agenda Item 3H     Page 13Packet Page     421



Agenda Item 3H     Page 14Packet Page     422



Agenda Item 3H     Page 15Packet Page     423



Agenda Item 3H     Page 16Packet Page     424



Agenda Item 3H     Page 17Packet Page     425



Agenda Item 3H     Page 18Packet Page     426



Agenda Item 3H     Page 19Packet Page     427



Agenda Item 3H     Page 20Packet Page     428



Agenda Item 3H     Page 21Packet Page     429



Agenda Item 3H     Page 22Packet Page     430



Agenda Item 3H     Page 23Packet Page     431



Agenda Item 3H     Page 24Packet Page     432



Agenda Item 3H     Page 25Packet Page     433



Agenda Item 3H     Page 26Packet Page     434



Agenda Item 3H     Page 27Packet Page     435



Agenda Item 3H     Page 28Packet Page     436



Agenda Item 3H     Page 29Packet Page     437



Agenda Item 3H     Page 30Packet Page     438



Agenda Item 3H     Page 31Packet Page     439



Agenda Item 3H     Page 32Packet Page     440



Agenda Item 3H     Page 33Packet Page     441



Agenda Item 3H     Page 34Packet Page     442



Agenda Item 3H     Page 35Packet Page     443



Agenda Item 3H     Page 36Packet Page     444



Agenda Item 3H     Page 37Packet Page     445



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 38Packet Page     446



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: August 6, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of a motion to approve the disposal of Open Space 
and Mountain Parks land described as two permanent easements on 6,405 square feet (.15 
acres) and four temporary construction easements on 18,500 square feet (.42 acres)  to 
Public Service Company of Colorado for an underground natural gas pipeline and a valve 
set on the Jewel Mountain Open Space land at the immediate northwest corner of State 
Highways 72 and 93.  This is a disposal of open space land under City Charter Section 
177. 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
Bob Eichem, Finance Director/Acting Executive Director of Administrative Services                                                      
Michael Patton, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks  
James Schmidt, Property Agent 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The granting of two new easements to Public Service Company of Colorado (PSCo) for a 
valve set (Attachment C) and a buried gas pipeline covering 6,405 square feet and the 
associated temporary construction easements necessary for the project, will enable PSCo 
to abandon, in place, its existing gas pipeline that traverses the Jewel Mountain Open 
Space property. The existing gas line is in need of being replaced. However, if the new 
line were to be buried within the existing easement, construction activity would cause 
serious surface disturbances on the Open Space parcel, which is characterized by its 
extremely rare xeric tallgrass prairie.  It would also cause impacts to the Coal Creek 
drainage lying immediately west of the Jewel Mountain property on land that is owned by 
Jefferson County Open Space (see Attachment B). Staff believes that the realignment 
option is a much-preferred alternative to having PSCo replace its gas line within its 
existing easement.  Staff is recommending that the city not seek compensation from 
PSCo for the new easement on 6,405 square feet of land in exchange for PSCo 
terminating its existing easement across 80,000 square feet of the Jewel Mountain Open 
Space. 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 1Packet Page     447



 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language: Staff requests council consideration of this matter and 
action in the form of the following motion: 
 
Motion to approve the disposal of Open Space land described as two permanent 
easements on 6,405 square feet (.15 acres) and  four  temporary construction easements 
on 18,500 square feet (.42 acres) to PSCo for an underground natural gas pipeline and a 
valve set on the Jewel Mountain Open Space land, conditioned upon PSCo quit claiming 
its existing gas line easement back to the City of Boulder. 
  
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Environmental:  Open Space and Mountain Parks is a significant community-
supported program that is recognized as a leader in preservation of open space 
lands contributing to the environmental sustainability goal of the City Council. 
The department's land acquisition, land and resource management and visitor 
service programs help preserve and protect the Open Space values of the 
surrounding publicly-owned lands.  

• Economic: Open Space and Mountain Parks contributes to the economic vitality 
goal of the city as it provides the context for the diverse and vibrant economic 
system that sustains services for residents.  The land system and the quality of life 
it represents attract visitors and help businesses to recruit and retain quality 
employees.  

• Social: Because Open Space and Mountain Parks lands, facilities and programs 
are equally accessible to all members of the community, they help to support the 
city's community sustainability goal because all residents "who live in Boulder 
can feel a part of and thrive in" this aspect of their community.  

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal – None. 
• Staff time – This disposal process is part of the normal work plan for the Open 

Space staff. 
 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
At its July 10, 2013 meeting, the Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) unanimously 
recommended approval of this disposal. 
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
This item was heard as part of the July 10, 2013 OSBT public meeting advertised in the 
Daily Camera on July 7, 2013. There was no public comment about this disposal.  A 
Notice of Disposal of Open Space lands was published in the Daily Camera on June 28 
and June 29, 2013 pursuant to Section 177 of the City Charter. 
 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 2Packet Page     448



 
 
BACKGROUND 
PSCo holds an easement for a gas pipeline across the Jewel Mountain Open Space land in 
Jefferson County.  The easement is 20 feet in width and runs approximately 4,000 feet 
westerly from State Highway 93 (see Attachment B). A gas line was installed within this 
easement in 1969, which now needs to be replaced.  PSCo approached Open Space staff 
about securing a new 30-foot wide easement parallel to its existing gas line easement in 
order to install the replacement pipeline without disrupting service through the existing 
one.  In order to avoid surface disturbance on Jewel Mountain that would be caused by 
replacing the gas line in its current location, staff requested PSCo explore alternatives. 
 
PSCo has determined that it could reroute the gas line to run south from its current 
location inside Colorado Department of Transportation’s (CDOT) Highway 93 right-of-
way and then proceed westerly within CDOT’s Highway 72 right-of-way, avoiding any 
new surface disturbance across Jewel Mountain land.  Once the new pipeline is built, the 
existing buried pipeline could be abandoned in place in accordance with industry 
standards.  In order to accomplish this reroute, PSCo needs to secure a new easement 
from the City of Boulder for an above-grade valve-set installation and an easement for 
the buried gas pipeline at the very southeast corner of the Jewel Mountain Open Space 
lands. Additionally, PSCo needs temporary construction easements totaling roughly 
18,500 square feet (.42 acres) for staging and bore pit areas (see Attachment E). 
 
ANALYSIS 
Staff believes that the realignment option is a much-preferred alternative to having PSCo 
replace its gas line within a new 120,000 square-foot easement or even within its existing 
80,000 square foot easement.  This alternative however, is more expensive for PSCo to 
build, thus staff has recommended that the city not seek compensation from the utility for 
the new 6,405 square-foot easements, conditioned upon PSCo abandoning its existing gas 
line easement across the Jewel Mountain Open Space property   Staff will require that 
PSCo follow staff’s recommended reclamation plan and to utilize best management 
practices during the construction activities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment A:  Vicinity Map 
Attachment B:   Location Map 
Attachment C:   Valve-set Depiction 
Attachment D:   Legal Descriptions 
Attachment E:   Maps of the Easement Areas 
 
 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 3Packet Page     449



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 4Packet Page     450



AGENDA ITEM#_____PAGE_____

E:\Mapfiles\Property\   \vicinity-  .mxd

Approximate property boundaries from 
Boulder County Assessor’s data.

VICINITY MAP -  Jewel Mountain Property

ATTACHMENT A - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

BoulderBoulder

LouisvilleLouisville

LongmontLongmont

I
0 1 2 3 4 50.5

Miles

!(

!(

SU
BJECT

City of Boulder OSMP

Jewel Mountain Land Co.

Agenda Item 3I     Page 5Packet Page     451

fenic1
Rectangle



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 6Packet Page     452



¬«93

¬«72

Coal  Creek  Canyon Dr.

Jewel Mountain Open Space

Van Vleet Open Space

ATTACHMENT B - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

LOCATION MAP - JEWEL MOUNTAIN Property

Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Property\Jewel Mountain\JewelLocationMap.mxd

AGENDA ITEM#______PAGE______

Temporary Work Easment

Permanent Easement

Existing Gasline Easement

OSMP Fee Property

0 0.25 0.50.125 Miles J
Agenda Item 3I     Page 7Packet Page     453

fenic1
Rectangle

fenic1
Rectangle



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 8Packet Page     454



Agenda Item 3I     Page 9Packet Page     455



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 10Packet Page     456



Agenda Item 3I     Page 11Packet Page     457



Agenda Item 3I     Page 12Packet Page     458

fenic1
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT D

fenic1
Typewritten Text



Agenda Item 3I     Page 13Packet Page     459



Agenda Item 3I     Page 14Packet Page     460

fenic1
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT E



Agenda Item 3I     Page 15Packet Page     461

fenic1
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT E



Agenda Item 3I     Page 16Packet Page     462

fenic1
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT E

fenic1
Typewritten Text



 
 
 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 6, 2013 

 
 

AGENDA TITLE:  Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 
No. 7917 finding that the conditions precedent to formation of an electric power and light 
utility of Charter section 178(a) have been satisfied, and setting forth related details and 
acceptance of the summary of the July 23, 2013 presentation by PowerServices, Inc.  
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Dave Bannon, Purchasing Supervisor 
Tammye Burnette, Organizational Development Administrator 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
On April 16, 2013, by Ordinance No. 7898, council directed the city manager to retain a 
third-party independent expert to review the modeling and Base Materials performed by 
city staff and presented to council on February 26, 2013 and April 16, 2013.  On July 23, 
2013, Greg Booth of PowerServices, Inc. presented the company’s finding of its review.   
PowerServices, Inc. had been selected as the third-party independent expert to review the 
Base Materials to verify whether or not it demonstrated that the city could meet the 
charter metrics required by Charter Section 178(a).  PowerServices, Inc. verified that the 
Base Materials prepared by staff for council demonstrated that the city could meet the 
requirements of the charter with several of the options proposed.   
 
Council adopted Attachment A on first reading on July 24, 2013, accepting the findings 
of PowerServices, Inc. and making council’s final determination that the conditions 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page     463



precedent of Charter section 178(a) have been met.  Adoption of this ordinance does not 
form the electric power and light utility.    
 
Attachment B is a summary of the presentation by PowerServices, Inc. at the study 
session, including council’s questions and the answers by PowerServices, Inc.  Questions 
received after the July 23 meeting will be answered on Hotline.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Suggested Motion Language:  
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion:   
 
Motion to (a) accept the summary of the presentation of PowerServices, Inc. on July 23, 
2013 as stated on Attachment B; (b) continue second reading of Ordinance No. 7917 to 
the meeting of August 20, 2013. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS and 
BACKGROUND and FIRST READING ANALYSIS: 
See the first reading packet at https://www-
static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/07.24.13_Final_Packet-1-201307221243.pdf 
 
 
ANALYSIS: 
PowerServices, Inc. performed an extensive review of the Base Materials presented by 
the city and verified that the city had demonstrated it could meet the Charter 
requirements.  Council asked that the findings be put into a report.  PowerServices, Inc. 
has indicated it can provide that report to the City Council members by August 15, 2013, 
but will make every effort to try to provide it by August 5 so that council has it for this 
meeting.  Staff has recommended that council hold the scheduled public hearing on the 
ordinance, but  continue second reading of Ordinance No. 7917 to August 20 so that 
council can consider the public comment presented at the meeting and have additional 
time to review the report from PowerServices, Inc.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

A- Proposed Ordinance  
B- Summary of the July 23, 2013 presentation of PowerServices, Inc., including 

questions by council and answers from PowerServices, Inc. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page     464

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/07.24.13_Final_Packet-1-201307221243.pdf�
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/07.24.13_Final_Packet-1-201307221243.pdf�


ORDINANCE NO. 7917 

AN ORDINANCE FOLLOWING UP ON ORDINANCE NO. 
7898 MAKING FINDINGS REGARDING THE CONDITIONS 
PRECEDENT OF CITY CHARTER SECTION 178, “LIGHT 
AND POWER UTILITY;” AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS AND 

DETERMINES: 

A. In November 2011, the voters of the city of Boulder approved an amendment to the City 
Charter creating a new article XIII, "Light and Power Utility." 

B. The Charter amendment requires that the City Council make certain findings prior to the 
creation of a new light and power utility. 

C. In particular, Charter section 178 requires that a light and power utility can be formed 
only if the city can demonstrate, with verification by a third-party independent expert, 
that: 

1. The utility can acquire the electric distribution system in Boulder and charge rates 
that do not exceed those charged by Xcel Energy at the time of acquisition; 

2. The rates charged by the utility will produce revenues sufficient to pay the 
operating expenses and debt payments, plus an amount equal to twenty-five percent 
(25%) of the debt payments; 

3. The utility will have reliability comparable to Xcel Energy; and  

4. The utility will have a plan for reducing greenhouse gas emissions and other 
pollutants, and a plan for increasing the use of renewable energy. 

D. On February 26 and April 16, 2013, city staff and consultants presented to the City 
Council an analysis that demonstrated that various modeled scenarios would meet the 
conditions precedent to the creation of a light and power utility set forth in section 178(a) 
of the Charter (the “Base Materials”.)   

E. On April 16, 2013, council adopted Ordinance No. 7898 making the preliminary finding 
that the conditions precedent had been met and directed the city manager to retain a third-
party independent expert to review the materials to verify that the conditions in Charter 
section 178 had been met. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page     465



F. The city manager (i) retained PowerServices, Inc. as the third-party independent expert to 
perform an independent review of the council’s preliminary determination required by 
Charter section 178(a), and (ii) satisfied all of the requirements of Ordinance No. 7898. 

G. PowerServices, Inc. has the experience, adequate technical training and proficiency to 
perform the evaluation; has maintained its independence (in fact and appearance) in all 
matters related to the evaluation contemplated by City Charter section 178(a) and 
Ordinance No. 7898; has apparently exercised due professional care during the 
performance of the evaluation and the preparation of the findings; has performed the 
evaluation diligently; and has apparently detailed for the city manager and the City 
Council any material misleading or omitted statements, assumptions, or information 
encountered in the Base Materials, or discovered in the review process. 

H. PowerServices, Inc. has reviewed the Base Materials and verified that the Base Materials 
demonstrate that the city can satisfy the conditions precedent to establishing a light and 
power utility as set forth in Charter section 178(a). 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, THAT:   

Section 1.  The City Council accepts the findings of PowerServices, Inc. presented on 
July 23, 2013. 

Section 2.  The City Council determines that based on the Base Materials and the 
verification by PowerServices, Inc., the conditions precedent to the creation of a light and power 
utility in Charter section 178(a) have been satisfied.  Specifically, the council makes a 
determination that, based on established standards and practices of the public power industry, the 
Base Materials demonstrate that: 

A. The utility can acquire the electrical distribution system in Boulder and charge rates 
that do not exceed those rates charged by Xcel Energy at the time of acquisition;  

B. The anticipated rates charged by the utility will produce revenues sufficient to pay 
for operating expenses and debt payments, plus an amount equal to twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the debt payments; 

C. The acquisition, separation, and operational plan will result in electric reliability 
comparable to Xcel Energy; and  

D. The Base Materials include plans for reducing greenhouse gas emissions and other 
pollutants and increasing the use of renewable energy. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page     466



Section 3. Recognizing that the Base Materials were created to make the findings 
that the conditions precedent of Charter section 178(a) can be demonstrated and that revision to 
the Base Materials is necessary for the purpose of planning for such utility, the City Council 
directs that the city manager continue refinement of the Base Materials for use in creating and 
operating a light and power utility, including without limitation, addressing recommendations 
and suggestions of PowerServices, Inc.   

Section 4. This ordinance shall not be construed to create a light and power utility.  
In the event that council determines to create a light and power utility in the future, it intends to 
do so by subsequent legislative action. 

Section 5.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 
welfare of the residents of the City, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 6.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 
title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 
for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 24th day of July 2013. 

      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 6th day of August, 2013. 

 

      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page     467



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page     468



 
ATTACHMENT B 

 
July 23, 2013 

City Council Study Session Summary 
Presentation of Findings by PowerServices, Inc. as Third Party Independent Expert  

regarding the Conditions Precedent of Charter Section 178(a) 
 

PRESENT:   
 
City Council: Council Members Ageton, Appelbaum, Becker, Cowles, Jones, Karakehian, 
Morzel, Plass, and Wilson. 

 
Staff Members: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager; David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney; Kathy 
Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney; Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney; Bob 
Eichem, Chief Financial Officer; Heather Bailey, Executive Director of Energy Strategy and 
Electric Utility Development; David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and 
Sustainability; Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works; Jonathan Koehn, Regional 
Sustainability Coordinator; Yael Gichon, Residential Sustainability Coordinator; Kelly Crandall, 
Sustainability Specialist II; Bob Harberg, Utilities Planning and Project Management 
Coordinator; Kara Mertz, Environmental Action Project Manager; Sarah Huntley, Media 
Relations/Communications Manager; Andrew Barth, Communication Specialist II; Heidi Joyce, 
Administrative Supervisor; Tammye Burnette, Organizational Development Administrator and 
David Bannon, Purchasing Supervisor.  
 
PURPOSE: 
The purpose of the study session was (b) for the third-party independent expert selected by the 
city, PowerServices, Inc., to present its findings regarding whether the materials presented to the 
council on February 26 and April 16, 2013, demonstrated that the conditions precedent of 
Charter Section 178(a) could be met and (b) for council to ask questions of PowerServices, Inc., 
on its findings and verification that the conditions precedent of the charter could be met.  
 
OVERVIEW OF THE PRESENTATION BY POWERSERVICES: 
 
Greg Booth of PowerServices presented a summary of the work his team performed to 
independently verify the City’s modeling (Base Materials from February 26 and April 16, 2013) 
for the creation of a new electric utility. In accordance with the scope of work from the RFP, 
they accepted Boulder’s assumptions for Acquisition and Stranded costs.  In their review process 
they evaluated the municipalization modeling process, assumptions and inputs as well as key 
findings and conclusions of the modeling results.  They also assessed the following independent 
components:  

 Purchased Power Cost and Options 
 Carbon Tax Assumptions 
 O&M Cost 
 Separation & Reintegration Cost 
 Debt Service 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page     469



 Xcel Cost and Retail Rates 
 

In over twenty (20) separate discussions with the Energy Future Team, HOMER 
Representatives, city staff and the City Manager, PowerServices analyzed financial modeling 
and inputs from HOMER relating to generation costs, load profiles, and revenues. Their review 
also included the review of dozens of reports and filings, peer data and data from other 
successful acquisition models. Refinements and enhancement suggestions to improve the 
modeling were provided to the staff.  Their analysis did not assume or predict future model 
outcomes.  
 
Key evaluation areas relating to the achievement of charter metrics included: 

1. Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) 
2. Reliability 
3. Reduced GHG Emissions and Increased Renewables 
4. Rates at Time of Acquisition 

 
PowerServices was able to conclude that the Base Case materials and City Demonstration 
Models confirm that Section 178(a) of Boulder Home Rule Charter metrics can be met. They did 
recommend model updates and refinement to improve the risk evaluation. They also stressed that 
the Purchase Power Agreements (PPA) cost would ultimately drive DSCR and competitive retail 
rates.  
 
Council members asked the following questions which were answered by PowerServices: 
 
Does the city have a different ability to negotiate PPA costs over an investor owned utility?   

• PowerServices advised the city will likely have more flexibility but ultimately prices will 
be determined by market and the city’s ability to manage their energy portfolio with 
long term and short term commitments.  

 
Does Xcel’s size give them an advantage in PPA negotiations? 

• PowerServices advised there are certainly economies of scale in play with Xcel.  
However, in their experience there are smaller utility entities that have demonstrated 
an ability to beat PPA costs larger utilities pay through good management of the 
contracts and their ability to remain flexible in the marketplace.  

 
What litigation advice was provided by PowerServices?  

• PowerServices responded that there are non adversarial acquisitions and adversarial 
acquisitions.  A bad acquisition can create litigation that normally would not occur.  

 
Did PowerServices look at any recent models developed by the Energy Future team? 

• PowerServices advised they did not look at any models beyond the base materials 
referenced in the RFP and contract.    

 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page     470



Is there concern that wind prices were too low in the model? Wouldn’t a median value be 
more appropriate in these modeling scenarios?   

• PowerServices responded that was not a concern and wind prices today are more 
attractive than what was included in the model.  PowerServices advised they looked at 
this in great detail and are comfortable it is achievable.   

 
When there are high values and low values contained in a model, isn’t it best to use a number 
in the middle of the range?    

• PowerServices agreed that logic is used in some modeling scenarios, but wholesale 
power supply modeling is different.  All models PowerServices has seen in the past 15 
years had not resulted in a median number in the center of the range.   

 
If PTC is a big factor that can swing results, wouldn’t it be best to use the middle number in 
that scenario?   

• PowerServices responded “no”, and that is why they recommend running models with 
Boulder and Xcel with and with no PTC in the simulation.  This also reflects a trend 
for lower tax credits in industry.  In the opinion of PowerServices, HOMER had built 
that into the model and they think it is a good model.  

 
Is the assumption of carbon tax applying only to Xcel a concern?  

• PowerServices responded they agreed it was a concern, and advised the city to model 
with and without carbon tax to assess the impact.  

 
Should the model include solar and demand side management (DSM)? 

• PowerServices advised there are other economies that can be realized by a local utility 
and in general the Boulder model has a high probability of success.  

 
Is it correct for the model to assume an annual price increase of 4.6% for Xcel?  

• PowerServices advised they looked at historical and PSCO FERC filings in analyzing 
this element.  They felt the range of annual increase of 4% - 6% is reasonable.   

 
Does PowerServices believe that is where the industry will be for annual increases?   

• PowerServices responded they felt that is where Xcel would be, not necessarily the rest 
of the industry.  PowerServices added that regional differences will occur.  In many 
cases, the variability in Xcel pricing would also be reflected in the wholesale pricing 
that a Boulder municipal utility would also pay since both are tied to the same energy 
market.  

 
Does the model adequately address payment for capacity costs?  

• PowerServices advised they were comfortable with Boulder’s approach and specifically 
the HOMER model addressed that concern.  

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page     471



Can you comment on indicative pricing for PPA’s and the associated reliability of these 
projections?     

• PowerServices answered HOMER models have a high level of accuracy, but no one 
can predict fuel cost due to foreign events.  Xcel would be impacted like every utility 
and costs would be reflected in rates paid by consumers.  

 
Do you have any concerns with transmission capacity if low cost energy is found but cannot 
be transported?  

• PowerServices advised that can happen and you simply don’t get the supply.  In those 
cases, you will need to modify your contracts to keep power in place.  Someone will 
ultimately supply the power at a price.  

 
Do you have any concerns about general transmission capacity when low cost renewable 
sources are available?   

• PowerServices responded that there are trillions of dollars slated for infrastructure 
upgrades and improvements.  NERC and FERC processes will ultimately result in a 
more robust system, but the timing will ultimately be up to the regional transmission 
entities.  

 
Why do you believe reliability of the distribution grid for a local utility could be better than 
Xcel?  

• PowerServices responded that municipal utilities typically have a more reliable 
distribution grid because they are more focused on their own system, with a customer 
focus, not profit focus.  

 
Are there any concerns with reliability during the first few years since we would not have a 
history of outages and maintenance?   

• PowerServices responded that is certainly possible, and a municipal utility would have 
to develop an information base over time if these records cannot be secured from Xcel.  
According to PowerServices, reliability would most likely be impacted in the first 6 
months of the transition to a municipal owned utility.   
 

If the current separation plan is rejected by the courts, what happens to the reliability 
projections?   

• PowerServices advised you need to go back to the drawing board on where you spend 
money.  PowerServices advised the Energy Future team of the risk and your system 
engineers have laid out plans.  PowerServices believes your engineers have built a 
robust system with excess capacity and backstand reliability with cost factors to expand 
in the future.  

 
Why have we seen municipalization cases in the past (Winter Park, FL, Los Cruces, NM), 
where there were significant differences in financials between utilities and consultants, with 
utilities typically being more accurate?  

• PowerServices advised the utilities present a higher cost and cities have done their 
studies with real costs but go into court with a lower number that is their negotiation 
starting point. In each we have been involved in the courts awards have been below the 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page     472



study costs. Mr. Booth further stated that published numbers were misrepresented and 
not reflected of the facts.  
 

Has PowerServices looked at capital costs from Xcel’s perspective, and the reserves set aside 
for system enhancements?   

• PowerServices responded that they looked at and talked with various individuals and 
city engineer consultants.  Ultimately, the costs are primarily driven by wholesale 
power supply and distribution costs.  The city model showed more than sufficient 
money to get the job done.  

 
What capacity models, if any, were tested on the Xcel side? 

• PowerServices advised they looked at what stays with the city utility and it appears the 
city will have better capacity and reserves than Xcel.  PowerServices said the 
commitment of Xcel to Boulder’s system vs. their overall system is unknown at this 
time.  

 
What are your perspectives on 1.25 DSCR and rate parity over the long term? 

• PowerServices responded the city’s modeling in this area is robust, and uses 1.65 over 
the long term.    We do not have that information from Xcel.  Xcel needs to look at 
their entire system, where as Boulder can simply look at their local system.  

 
Can you discuss model logic that uses low and high numbers in a variety of areas?  Is this a 
good approach to modeling?   

• PowerServices responded that every component in the model has a different likelihood 
of success and modeling will not turn out to be a median answer.  However, the model 
does have a risk assessment component.  In their experience, they have not seen 
anyone take that approach or the detail that Boulder put into their modeling process.  
PowerServices has been involved in billions of dollar of acquisition projects and not 
seen the level of detail performed by Boulder.  

 
In a large model with many significant variables, we would be interested in best and worst 
case scenarios, along with all variables in the middle to see the effect. Should we consider an 
approach where a median value is the most probable value in the model?   

• PowerServices responded that is the biggest single issue.  PowerServices looked at real 
world cases where there were predicted models and tracked results after closure of the 
acquisition. Input provided by PowerServices indicated the city has sufficient options 
available that will work. 

 
Could you please expand on your carbon pricing concerns?     

• PowerServices responded that Xcel will likely react to a carbon tax different than a city 
owned utility.  PowerServices is seeing states that have lowering or no carbon tax.   

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page     473



Why are there disparities between the cost to purchase a system based on input from the IOU 
and the city owned utility?   

• PowerServices responded that they simply accepted Boulder acquisition and stranded 
costs, which is consistent with what was asked of them in the RFP.  PowerServices 
added that Boulder picked some high numbers for modeling, which would result in a 
more conservative model.  

 
Wasn’t your objective to find flaws and advise if there were elements in the charter that could 
not be met?  

• PowerServices responded that was correct. In a follow up, it was observed 
PowerServices stated it did not find errors in the model but rather offered suggested 
modifications which should reduce the risk level in the assessment such as removing 
the  carbon pricing and Xcel’s would react differently than Boulder  in the modeling.  
PowerServices responded they wanted to give council a better comfort with the risks by 
looking at both sides of the carbon pricing issue.  They did not see the model having 
an error because of that.   

 
Is indicative pricing a common practice utilized by large IOU’s?   

• PowerServices responded it is indeed a common practice with our model utilizing 
numerous wholesale pricing opportunities.  You need to have several models that are 
reasonably achievable and Boulder has a robust model.  

 
Did we use correct costs for purchased power in the wholesale power markets in our modeling 
scenarios?     

• PowerServices responded they have clients in the wholesale power markets. Boulder 
models and HOMER models use real world examples of purchase power cost.  

 
Why do you believe a locally owned utility is able to adapt and change more quickly?    

• PowerServices expanded on that thought by advising a local utility can more quickly 
adapt to good ideas and changing conditions.  In addition, a local utility could offer 
business incentives which are difficult to incorporate by an IOU with utility 
commission regulation.  The analogy was made that a speed boat can turn quicker 
than an aircraft carrier.  

 
What specific litigation advice did you offer to the city?   

• PowerServices advised they provided input that was focused on areas of litigation risk 
based on their past experience where the city could incur cost. 

 
Would the litigation risks be contained in the written report submitted by PowerServices? 

• The City Manager advised that would not be contained in the report and the City 
Manager would work with the City Attorney Office on this communication. The CAO 
will communicate this information to Council separately.   
 

The question and answer period for PowerServices was concluded at this point.  The council 
meeting proceeded to the presentation from the Energy Future team. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page     474



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 6, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 
No. 7918 authorizing the acquisition of property interests owned by Public Service 
Company of Colorado d/b/a Xcel Energy by negotiation and purchase or through the 
power of eminent domain and setting forth related details. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Heather Bailey, Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer,                                                      
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Sandra Llanes, Assistant City Attorney 
Kara Mertz, Environmental Action Project Manager 
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
Attachment A is an ordinance that would authorize staff and consultants to begin the 
acquisition process of the property interests and equipment within the proposed service 
area boundary of a new city electric utility.  This authorization includes filing an action in 
eminent domain if good faith negotiations are not successful.  If council adopts the 
ordinance, staff would send a Notice of Intent to Acquire to Xcel as required by Colorado 
law and direct appraisers to prepare written reports of their appraisals of the various 
property interests.  Consultants would begin negotiations with Xcel that meet the 
applicable requirements for good faith negotiations which are a prerequisite to a 
condemnation action.  It is anticipated that this process would take several months.  
Therefore, if negotiations fail, the earliest staff anticipates that a condemnation action 
would be filed is in January, 2014.    
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page     475



The description of the property, defined as the Property Interests and Assets, is in the first 
reading packet information at 
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/121433/Electronic.aspx  
 
There are redlined changes in the ordinance of recommended changes made since first 
reading.  The proper name for Xcel was reversed in the title and has been corrected.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7918 authorizing the acquisition of property interests 
owned by Public Service Company of Colorado d/b/a Xcel Energy by negotiation and 
purchase or through the power of eminent domain. 
 
 
IMPACTS: 
 

• Fiscal - The purchase price and related costs for purchasing the property interests 
would be paid by the utility created by the City Council pursuant to Charter 
Section 178, by bonds issued by the new utility.  The staff and consultant costs for 
acquisition would be paid from the Utility Occupation tax approved by the voters 
in November, 2011.      

• Staff time - No additional staff time is anticipated if the city is able to negotiate a 
purchase price with Xcel; however, finalizing such a purchase would involve a 
significant amount of time of the City Attorney's Office.  If negotiations are not 
successful and condemnation is necessary, even with outside counsel primarily 
responsible for the condemnation, it is anticipated that condemnation would 
require several FTE's in the City Attorney's Office and the Energy Future Office 
throughout 2014 and first quarter 2015.   

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK: 
 
As more particularly described in the Study Session Memo for the July 23, 2013 study 
session, there have been several working groups that have vetted the proposed separation 
boundary, particularly its effect on reliability, and recommend it as the service area to be 
acquired by the city.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
See agenda memo for first reading of the ordinance at 
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/121433/Electronic.aspx. 
  
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page     476

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/121433/Electronic.aspx�
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/121433/Electronic.aspx�


FIRST READING QUESTIONS: 
1. Is there more opportunity for interlocutory appeals of decisions on in limine 

motions than such appeals in other types of litigation? 
Generally, there is little difference in the procedure for an appeal in an eminent domain 
action compared to any other civil case.  However, since condemnation involves a 
constitutional issue, the court seems more willing to take interlocutory appeals or grant 
certiorari.   
 

2. What are the requirements for bonds or depositing the amount determined for just 
compensation in the event either party would appeal the final determination of the 
jury? 

If either Xcel or the city wanted to appeal, the city could elect to pay the amount of the 
award and take possession of the assets condemned while the appeal proceeded, or not 
pay the amount of the award or get possession until the appeal was finally resolved.  If 
Xcel has appealed and the city decides to pay the amount of the award and take 
possession, that money stays with the court and cannot be withdrawn by Xcel while their 
appeal is pending.  If the city appeals and decides to pay the award and take possession, 
Xcel can withdraw the funds only if it posts a bond in double the amount of the award. 
 

3.  What is the plan for back-filling the city staff FTEs if the city is not able to 
acquire the electric system by negotiation and condemnation is necessary?  

The directors of the affected departments will determine how to allocate work within 
their departments to meet council priorities.   

 
4. Didn’t South Daytona and Winter Park Florida both vote on the final amount of 

acquisition after the amount was determined by the court?  Why can’t Boulder do 
the same thing?  

Franchises in Florida have a buy-out clause that allows the municipality to purchase the 
system at the end of the franchise, and dictates how the value will be determined by 
arbitration.  In both Winter Park and South Daytona, the purchase price of the assets of 
the utility was determined as a part of a declaratory judgment to enforce the franchise 
clause, not an exercise of the power of eminent domain by either city.  The declaratory 
judgments included specification of the assets to be purchased and allowed the cities to 
determine, after determination of the value, whether to proceed to acquire the assets.   

 
The city’s franchise agreement with Xcel reserved the city’s rights to acquire Xcel’s 
assets by condemnation, but does not have provisions for valuation by arbitration similar 
to those in Florida. 

 
5. Why is the city not in the same position to proceed with acquisition a year from 

now as it is now? 
The calculation of the city’s potential stranded cost obligation is based on generation 
assets that become unnecessary to the extent Boulder is no longer receiving power from 
Xcel.  In its 2011 Electric Resource Plan, Xcel indicated that it will have to acquire 
additional generation beginning in 2017 if Boulder does not leave its system.  Boulder 
participated in that docket and advised that Xcel should not enter into long-term power 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page     477



purchase agreements on Boulder’s behalf.  Boulder also suggested to the Colorado Public 
Utilities Commission that it would like to work with Xcel and the Commission to 
gradually reduce the energy Boulder receives from Xcel, thereby avoiding the 
construction of new generation facilities or the signing of new power purchase 
agreements.  Xcel’s proposal with regard to investments in new generation will be 
considered by the PUC at a hearing scheduled in December.  Council must make a 
decision whether or not to proceed with acquisition in order to advise the PUC if the city 
intends to leave Xcel’s system prior to further work on the existing Electric Resource 
Plan.  
 
ANALYSIS: 
As further articulated in the Analysis in the agenda memo for first reading on July 23, 
staff has prepared all of the background information requested by council so that council 
could make the decision of whether to authorize acquisition of the electrical system 
serving the city.   
 
PowerServices, Inc., the third-party independent expert retained to analyze the materials 
prepared by the city to determine whether the city had demonstrated that the conditions 
precedent to formation of the electric utility of Section 178(a) of the Charter had been 
met, verified on July 23, 2013 that the conditions precedent of the Charter had been met.  
In its findings presented to the City Council, PowerServices, Inc. found that the service 
area defined by the city provided comparable reliability to that provided by Xcel and was 
a more robust system exceeding Quartile 2 reported by similar utilities, based on IEEE 
Std. 1366 indices.  This IEEE standard “…identifies distribution reliability indices and 
factors that affect their calculation.” “The indices are intended to apply to distribution 
systems, substations, circuits, and defined regions.”1

 
 

There are redlined changes in the ordinance that add the specific language identifying the 
maps for the distribution system and transmission loop components.  The references to 
the map were changed to the “Acquisition Area” to clarify that the maps and the 
condemnation ordinance define the area where Xcel assets are to be acquired.  The 
condemnation ordinance is not for the purpose of indicating how service determinations 
will be made, so the wording was changed to eliminate any potential for misconstruction. 
The maps showing the area to be acquired have been specifically defined.  These changes 
will necessitate a third reading, but if the public hearing is completed on August 6, the 
third reading could be on consent agenda on August 20. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A – Condemnation ordinance with maps of the Acquisition Area for the distribution 

system and the transmission loop (Exhibit A-1 and Exhibit A-2) 
 

                                                           
1 (IEEE Std 1366-2012 IEEE Guide for Electric Power Distribution Reliability Indices) 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page     478



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 7918 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ACQUISITION OF 
PROPERTY INTERESTS OWNED BY PUBLIC SERVICE 
COMPANY OF COLORADO, D/B/A XCEL ENERGY, BY 
NEGOTIATION AND PURCHASE OR THROUGH THE 
POWER OF EMINENT DOMAIN, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO, THAT: 

Section 1.  The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado finds and determines: 

A. The City of Boulder is a home rule municipality of the State of 
Colorado. 

B. The city and its utility enterprises are empowered pursuant to the 
Colorado Constitution, Article XX, §§ 1 and 6, and the city’s Home Rule Charter, 
including without limitation Article I, § 2(b) and (d) and Article XIII, § 180(a) to 
exercise the power of eminent domain, in the manner provided by Article 1 of 
Title 38, Colorado Revised Statutes, to acquire electric utility facilities and other 
interests associated therewith. 

C. The franchise agreement between the city and Public Service 
Company of Colorado d/b/a Xcel Energy (“Xcel”) provided for the city’s right to 
condemn Xcel’s property interests and Xcel’s obligation to provide its records 
regarding such interests. 

D. On November 1, 2011, the people of the city approved Ballot 
Question No. 2C authorizing the city to establish, acquire, erect, maintain, and 
operate a municipal light and power utility (the “Project”). 

E. Article XIII was added to the city’s Home Rule Charter pursuant to 
approved Ballot Question No. 2C to provide for utility service standards, the 
creation of an electric utility governed by the City Council, an electric utilities 
board, and the general powers and limitations of the utility.  Article XIII provides, 
among other things, that the electric utility has the power to acquire electric 
facilities and other property interests through purchase or through the power of 
eminent domain to effectuate the purpose of Ballot Question 2C. 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page     479



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

F. The city has determined that the acquisition area within which 
electric facilities and other property interests service territory should be acquired 
is as shown on the maps attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 and Exhibit A-2, dated 
July 5, 2013, and marked Acquisition Area Distribution System and Acquisition 
Area 115kV Transmission Loop (the “Acquisition Area”) and ias more 
particularly described in the agenda memoranda dated July 23 and August 6 
provided to the City Council with this ordinance (the “Memoranda”).  The service 
territory Acquisition Area was designed to be the technically optimum place of 
separation to maintain reliability on both sides of the separation to serve 
properties within and owned by the city, avoid duplication of distribution and 
transmission equipment, minimize operational and maintenance conflicts, 
establish the Acquisition Areaservice area boundaries along property boundaries, 
and define the primary areas in which the utility will acquire property interests to 
implement Article XIII of the charter.   

G. Article XIII of the charter provides for the electric utility to 
acquire, provide, and operate electric utility facilities that meet the goals and 
standards expressed in Article XIII and the city staff and consultants have created 
a preliminary inventory of the real property interests and equipment necessary to 
be acquired in the Acquisition Area to serve the proposed service territory as 
described in the Memoranda, which inventories, as they may be amended in the 
future, are incorporated herein by reference (the “Property Interests and Assets”).   

H. The Property Interests and Assets are used and useful in 
connection with the rendering of electric utility service for the Project and 
constitute a complete economic unit for the purpose of separation from Xcel.   

I. The Project fulfills the goals of the city to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions and other pollutants and increase the use of renewable energy, and is a 
public purpose under the law of Colorado and as approved by the voters of the 
city. 

 J.  The acquisition of the Property Interests and Assets is necessary 
for the Project, is for a public purpose and in furtherance of public uses. 

K.   There is a public, local, and municipal need and necessity for the 
city to obtain possession of and to acquire the Property Interests and Assets for 
the Project, which will benefit the public health, welfare and safety. 

L. The city has complied and is complying with all conditions 
precedent to the acquisition of the distribution and transmission systems as 
described herein and set forth in the Colorado Revised Statutes and the City 
Charter.   

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page     480



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Section 2.  The City Council authorizes the city manager to negotiate for the acquisition 
of the Property Interests and Assets or any parts thereof, as they may be adjusted to construct the 
Project. 

Section 3.  Should negotiations for the acquisition of the Property Interests and Assets 
fail, the City Council authorizes the city manager to acquire the Property Interests and Assets, or 
any parts thereof, by the exercise of the power of eminent domain, and further authorizes the city 
attorney to initiate condemnation proceedings to acquire the Property Interests and Assets; 
provided however, a Petition in Condemnation shall not be filed with the Boulder District Court 
before January 1, 2014.  The city and its designees may from time to time amend the property 
described in Property Interests and Assets to add or delete real property or equipment to 
adequately reflect the intent of this ordinance. 

Section 4.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 
the residents of the city and covers matters of local concern.  

Section 5.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 
only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 
public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCTED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 
TITLE ONLY this 24th day of July, 2013. 

 
     ___________________________ 
     Mayor 

Attest: 

___________________________ 
City Clerk 

 
READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 6th day of August 2013. 
 
 
     ___________________________ 
     Mayor 

Attest: 

___________________________ 
City Clerk 

 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page     481



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 
BY TITLE ONLY this 20th day of August 2013. 

 
 
     ___________________________ 
     Mayor 

Attest: 

___________________________ 
City Clerk 

 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page     482



Exhibit A-1  
Acquisition Area Distribution System

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page     483



Exhibit A-2  
Acquisition Area 115kV Transmission Loop

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page     484



 
 
 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 6, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 
No. 7919 setting the ballot title for an initiated amendment to the Boulder Charter, and 
setting forth related details. 

 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Alisa D. Lewis, City Clerk 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
On July 19, 2013, the city clerk certified that there were sufficient signatures of registered 
electors on the face of petitions for an initiated amendment to the Boulder Home Rule 
Charter for the Charter amendment to be put on the ballot in November.  The City 
Council must set the ballot title for the initiated measure.  The petitions did not propose a 
ballot title.  The staff proposed a ballot title containing the entire proposed measure.  At 
the meeting on July 24, 2013, council passed on first reading the ordinance placing the 
measure on the ballot with the ballot title suggested by staff.  There was discussion about 
the descriptor that appears on the ballot between the number of the ballot question and 
the ballot title (The ballot title is the part between “Shall . . . ?”).  Attachment A is 
Ordinance No. 7919 as adopted on first reading, with a blank to be filled in by council for 
the descriptor. 
 
Because council is considering placing an alternate ballot question on the ballot and the 
law requires that the descriptors and questions for both ballots be distinctive enough that 
it is clear to the voters which descriptor and title is for which ballot measure, staff 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 1Packet Page     485



recommends that the council determine the descriptor to be inserted above the ballot 
question when it considers the descriptor and ballot title for the alternate measure.   
 
 
City Council Actions: 
At its July 24, 2013 City Council meeting, the City Council accepted a number of minor 
changes to this ordinance and then adopted the ordinance on first reading.  Council 
members requested that staff analyze the short description of the ballot title for this 
measure and the alternate measure to ensure that the short titles accurately reflect the 
descriptions and differences in the two ballot measures. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion:   
 
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7919 setting the ballot title for an initiated amendment to 
the Boulder Home Rule Charter. 
 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
First reading Agenda memo and Ordinance can be found at Item 3B Proposed Ballot 
Language. 
 
Council members requested information on the elections that were associated with the 
municipalization efforts of South Daytona, FL and Winter Park, FL, see attachments B 
and C. 
 
Staff proposes that the ballot title description be amended to read:  “Initiated Charter 
Amendment Restricting Debt and Requiring and Restricting Elections of the Electric 
Utility.” 
 
 
ATTACHMENT:  
Attachment A    Ordinance 7919 
Attachment B   South Daytona Fl Timeline 
Attachment C   Winter Park, FL Timeline 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 2Packet Page     486

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/121431/Electronic.aspx�
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/121431/Electronic.aspx�


ORDINANCE NO.  7919 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE QUALIFIED 
ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE GENERAL 
MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013, THE QUESTION SUBMITTED 
AS AN INITIATED AMENDMENT TO THE CHARTER BY 
ADDING A NEW SECTION 188 TO REQUIRE VOTER 
APPROVAL OF THE ELECTRIC UTILITY DEBT LIMIT AND 
TOTAL COST OF DEBT REPAYMENT PRIOR TO ISSUANCE 
OF ANY DEBT, PROVIDING COUNTY VOTERS IN THE 
SERVICE AREA VOTING STATUS IN SUCH CITY ELECTIONS, 
LIMITING SUCH ELECTIONS TO NOVEMBER IN ODD-
NUMBERED YEARS, AND LIMITING BROKERAGE FEES ON 
SUCH INDEBTEDNESS; SETTING FORTH THE BALLOT 
TITLE; AND SPECIFYING THE FORM OF THE BALLOT AND 
OTHER ELECTION PROCEDURES AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  On June 28, 2013, a petition committee presented a petition with sufficient 

signatures of registered electors to initiate a vote on a proposed addition to the City Charter 

pursuant to section 31-2-210 C.R.S.  The City Council is required to set the ballot title for the 

proposed amendment. 

Section 2.  A general municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of Boulder, 

County of Boulder and State of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 5, 2013.    

Section 3

 

.  At that election, there shall be submitted to the electors of the City of Boulder 

entitled by law to vote the question of making the amendment to the City Charter proposed by 

the petition committee with the following ballot title, which shall also be the designation and 

submission clause for the measure: 

 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 3Packet Page     487



Ballot Question No.  ____ 
 

Limit on Debt of a New Electric Utility and  
Providing County Voters Elector Status in Related City Elections 
Initiated Charter Amendment Restricting Debt and Requiring and 

Restricting Elections of the Electric Utility 
 

Shall Article XIII of the Charter of the City of Boulder be amended by the 
addition of a new section 188 “Limitations on Debt,” that provides (a) 
before the electric utility enterprise issues any debt, voters must approve 
the amount of the utility’s debt limit and the total cost of debt repayment 
that the utility will incur, both to be stated in dollars in any ballot question; 
and (b) the utility’s service area shall not extend to areas outside the city 
limits unless registered electors in those areas are permitted to vote in 
these debt limit and repayment cost elections; and (c) such elections shall 
be held on the dates of general municipal elections; and (d)  any 
brokerage fees for managing any sale of bonds or other indebtedness 
shall be limited to one percent of proceeds? 
  

For the Measure____  Against the Measure____ 

Section 3.  If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted are 

for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the Charter shall be amended as 

provided in this ordinance. If this ballot measure is approved by the voters, the Charter shall be 

so amended, and the City Council may adopt any necessary amendments to the Boulder Revised 

Code to implement this change.  

Section 4. The election shall be conducted under the provisions of the Colorado 

Constitution, the Charter and ordinances of the City, the Boulder Revised Code, 1981, and this 

ordinance.  

Section 5.  The officers of the City are authorized to take all action necessary or 

appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this ordinance and to contract with the county clerk to 

conduct the election for the City.   

Agenda Item 5C     Page 4Packet Page     488



Section 6.  If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall for any 

reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this ordinance. 

Section 7.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the City, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 8

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AMENDED AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 24th day of July, 2013. 

.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk  
 
 
 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 6th day of August, 2013. 

 
____________________________________ 

       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk  
 
 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 5Packet Page     489



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 6Packet Page     490



DRAFT FOR REVIEW 
July 30, 2013 

Timeline and details of South Daytona, FL 

2006-2007: South Daytona representatives met with Florida Power and Light (FPL), the incumbent utility 
to discuss renewal of the franchise agreement. The franchise included a clause allowing the city to 
purchase the system from FPL at the expiration of the franchise. FPL would not renew the franchise to 
include the purchase clause.  South Daytona began exploring the feasibility of municipalization. The 
consultant's report found that the City's acquisition of the electric system was feasible. Based on this 
report, City Council voted for the city to take the next step of retaining the necessary experts to perform 
a more thorough evaluation. 1

The method for system valuation was set forth in the franchise as “the then existing Cost of 
Replacement of such property, less depreciation to date of sale.”

 

2

2008: Franchise agreement expired between South Daytona and FPL in June.  

 

2009-2011: The city’s consultant, PowerServices determined the replacement cost to be $14.9M less 
accrued depreciation of $10.7M resulting in a replacement cost less depreciation value of $4.3M. This 
valuation did not include the cost of separation and reintegration. PowerServices’ estimate of the 
separation and reintegration costs was $5.3M, including the addition of a substation. FPL disagreed with 
the valuation utilized in the Preliminary Municipalization Feasibility Study and submitted a proposed 
valuation that was substantially higher. 2  

The city filed a Declaratory Judgment action asking the court to identify the assets to be purchased and 
the net purchase price (City of South Daytona, Florida v. Florida Power & Light, Case No. 2008-30441-
CICI). In May, 2011, the judge issued an order finding that the city had to purchase all of the assets used 
by FPL under the franchise grant and established a purchase price of $15.54M. The price included the 
acquisition of two substations and other facilities that PowerServices did not assume would be acquired 
and, as a result, separation and reintegration costs would be reduced to approximately $250,000.3 

July, 2011: The City Council authorized the City staff to proceed with acquisition of the system.3 The City 
Council vote was 4-1 and the price was authorized at $15.6M.3

 
 

December, 2011: FERC ruled that South Daytona won’t be responsible for stranded costs.4

 
 

2012: After the city council voted to approve the purchase of the utility’s assets at a court-ordered price, 
FPL was successful at placing a referendum on the August, 2012 ballot to change the city’s charter and 

1 http://www.southdaytona.org/egov/documents/1197295675_802185.pdf 
2 http://www.southdaytona.org/egov/documents/13280310668692.pdf 
3 http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2011-07-19/news/os-fpl-buyout-south-daytona-20110719_1_fpl-south-
daytona-city-manager-joe-yarbrough 
4 http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2011-12-08/business/os-south-daytona-fpl-electric-utility-
20111208_1_mayor-george-locke-fpl-spokeswoman-jackie-anderson-city-manager-joe-yarbrough 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 7Packet Page     491

http://www.southdaytona.org/egov/documents/1197295675_802185.pdf�


require a public vote to approve the purchase.5 The purchase price was lowered to $12.1M after an 
agreement on not including a substation and some distribution lines. 6

 
 

August 2012:  

“CITY OF SOUTH DAYTONA 
REFERENDUM 
QUESTION 1 

Amending the Charter to Require a Referendum on City Formation of Electric Utility. 
The proposed amendment to Article 6 would require that a referendum of the city’s electors be held 
prior to the city’s formation of any municipal electric utility and the delivery of municipal electric service. 
Further, the proposed amendment would require a majority vote of the city’s electors for approval of 
such formation and delivery of municipal electric service, and a schedule for holding the referendum.”7

The ballot measure passed by 62% of the voters.

 
  

8

November 2012: Ballot on municipalization: 

 

“Formation of Municipal Electric Utility and Delivery of Municipal Electric Service. 

City projections show a municipal electric utility will be profitable at FPL's rates, allowing this revenue to 
be reinvested back into South Daytona, with no new taxes, while having local control of rates and 
services. South Daytona has spent substantial funds towards the formation of a municipal electric utility. 
Should the City form a municipal electric utility and deliver municipal electric services?”9

The ballot measure failed by 63% of the voters. 

 

10

 

 

 

5 http://publicpower.com/2012/fpl-primary-funder-opposing-south-daytona-referendum/ 
6 http://www.news-journalonline.com/article/20120531/ARTICLES/305319972?p=2&tc=pg 
7 http://volusiaelections.org//2012Updates/SampleBallotAd08-14-2012PE.pdf 
8 http://ballotpedia.org/wiki/index.php/South_Daytona_City_Charter_Amendment_(August_2012) 
9 http://volusiaelections.org/2012Updates/English%20Sample%20Combined.pdf 
10 http://ballotpedia.org/wiki/index.php/South_Daytona_Electric_Service_Question_(November_2012) 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 8Packet Page     492

http://publicpower.com/2012/fpl-primary-funder-opposing-south-daytona-referendum/�
http://ballotpedia.org/wiki/index.php/South_Daytona_City_Charter_Amendment_(August_2012)�


DRAFT FOR REVIEW 
Timeline and details of Winter Park, FL 

 
2001:  Winter Park’s franchise with Progress Energy expired1.  The franchise agreement included a 
clause which allowed the city to purchase the distribution system at the end of the franchise term2

 

. The 
Commission voted 3-1 to study municipalization.  

2001 - 2002: This stage involved a legal process and feasibility study. The feasibility study for the city 
was completed by Black and Veatch and estimated a $15.8M Purchase Price, $0 to $12.7M in going 
concern, and $0 to 21.8M in stranded costs.  Progress Energy’s feasibility study estimated $106M plus 
stranded costs. 1 
 
2002-2003: Since there was a large disparity between the valuations of the system, the parties went to 
court. A judge ruled that a three-person arbitration team would determine the value of the system. The 
arbitration resulted in a value of $42 million, which included $10.7 million in stranded costs and $12M in 
going concern. 1,2 
 
2003: A bond referendum to acquire the system was placed on the ballot. The referendum asked voters 
to approve: 

“The issuance of electric revenue bonds of the city not to exceed $49,800,000, includes the price to 
purchase Winter Park’s electric distribution system, separation and reintegration costs, reserve funds for 
emergency preparedness and other start up costs.”3

A Progress Energy Political Action Committee (PAC) called “Winter Park Taxpayers against Government 
Owned Electric” spent $523,750 on a campaign ($523,000 from Progressive Energy and $750 from 
taxpayers).  A PAC to support the purchase of the system called “Winter Park Power Options” raised   

 

$50,000 and the city spent approximately $50,000. Voters approved the referendum with 69% in favor 
of purchase. 1 
 
2004: The city began transition efforts and signed a bulk power contract with Progress Energy. 1  The 
Commission committed to mirror Progress Energy’s rates for five years rather than charge rates based 
on actual system costs.4

 
 

2005: The city hired ENCO to maintain their distribution system. 1 Fitch rated Winter Park's $49.8M bond 
as an “A”.5

                

 Moody rated Winter Park’s bond at A1. In June, Winter Park “flipped the switch” and began 
serving customers.2 

2007: Fitch affirms “A” rating.6

 
 

1 http://www.southdaytona.org/egov/documents/1302183733_26702.pdf 
2 http://www.dailycamera.com/energy/ci_19270136 
3 http://cityofwinterpark.org/Docs/Media/Newsletters/aug_septo3.pdf 
4 http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2009-04-07/news/bond07_1_electric-utility-fitch-winter-park 
5 http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20050502005793/en/Fitch-Rates-Winter-Park-Florida-49.8MM-Electric 
6 http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20071023006397/en/Fitch-Rates-Winter-Park-Florida-21.7MM-Electric 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 9Packet Page     493

http://www.southdaytona.org/egov/documents/1302183733_26702.pdf�
http://www.dailycamera.com/energy/ci_19270136�
http://cityofwinterpark.org/Docs/Media/Newsletters/aug_septo3.pdf�


2009: Fitch places Winter Park’s “A” bonds on Rating Watch Negative. This was due to the electric 
system facing larger than anticipated capital expenditures to improve reliability.7

 

 This was also likely due 
to the Commission’s commitment to mirror Progress Energy’s rates for the first five years. 

2010: Fitch moves Winter Park’s bond status from Watch Negative to Stable at AA-, mainly due to 
changes in Winter Park’s rate setting approach, decoupling their rates from Progress Energy’s rates.8

 
 

2011: Winter Park’s Randy Knight was quoted in the Daily Camera saying "The early years, from a 
financial standpoint, were a struggle, but the last three years have been extremely successful. We've 
had a net income over $6 million." 2 
 
2012: Winter Park continues to have a stable outlook from Fitch at a AA- rating.  A big factor in this 
rating was that rates are competitive and below Progress Energy’s rates and the state average. The 
utility charges 4.3% and 9.7% less than the state average and Progress Energy, respectively. 9

 
 

 
 

7 http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20090402005777/en/Fitch-Places-Winter-Park-Floridas-Elec-Utility 
8 http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20100819006062/en/Fitch-Affirms-Winter-Park-Floridas-Electric-Revs 
9 http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20120803005550/en/Fitch-Affirms-Winter-Park-FL-Electric-Revs 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 10Packet Page     494



K:\CMEN\0 7920 Agenda Memo  8-6-1562.doc 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 6, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 
No. 7920 submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the general 
municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday November 5, 2013, an alternative 
ballot question amending the City Charter to address issues presented by the proposed 
initiated Charter amendment that adds a new section 188 on limitations on electric utility 
debt and setting forth related issues. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 
Paul Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
David J. Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Heather Bailey, Executive Director, Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development 
Robert Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Kathleen E. Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Deborah S. Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
A group of citizens, with support from Xcel Energy, have proposed a ballot measure to 
amend the City Charter to include a new section 188.  This proposed Charter amendment 
purports to limit the debt to be incurred by a new municipal electric utility. In fact, the 
proposed Charter amendment includes a series of measures that would make it difficult, if 
not impossible, to create or operate a municipal electric utility.  The purpose of this 
agenda item is to provide council with a potential alternative ballot measure for 
consideration.  The fundamental idea is that the voters should be presented with an honest 
choice and not a ballot measure that purports to do one thing while actually doing 
another.   

Agenda Item 5D     Page 1Packet Page     495



K:\CMEN\0 7920 Agenda Memo  8-6-1562.doc 
 

 
There are two ordinances in the council packet tonight.  Attachment A includes a number 
of proposed amendments to the ordinance.  For the new section 188 of the charter, there 
are three options for council consideration: a bond test, and two different debt limitation 
options. 
 
 
Council Action  July 24, 2013 
 
The council passed the attached ordinance on first reading on July 24, 3013.  A number 
of amendments were made prior to the council’s first reading of the ordinance.  Those 
changes included: 
 

• Suggestions that were presented on an errata sheet at the meeting with changes to 
Charter section 185 to improve readability and a change to the ballot title to make 
it more parallel in style to the proposed Charter changes.     

• Another change that was made to the sentence proposed to be added to Charter 
section 185 was to clarify that the duty that board members has utility “customer 
base,” not just the utility.  

• A change was also made to the ballot title to make the ballot title parallel, change 
the word “requiring” to “permitting” in reference to the change related to all 
customers being eligible to serve on the utility board. 

The council also requested that staff draft a number of amendments to the ballot measure.  
Staff has also proposed some amendments as well.  

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to amend and adopt Ordinance No. 7920 to place on the November 5, 2103 a 
ballot measure relating charter amendments associated with a municipal electric utility, 
including the amendments shown in Attachment A and selection to “bond test” approach 
for Charter section 188. 
 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
  

• Economic – A municipal utility should have a positive economic impact on our 
community.  The utility will provide employment and wide range of opportunities 
to promote and support business in Boulder. 

Agenda Item 5D     Page 2Packet Page     496



K:\CMEN\0 7920 Agenda Memo  8-6-1562.doc 
 

• Environmental – Climate change and increasing green house gases are probably 
our society’s number one environmental challenge.  The largest contributor in 
greenhouse gases in Boulder are the facilities used to produce electricity. 

• Social – The social impacts of climate change are well-document. 
 
OTHER IMPACTS 
 

• Fiscal – There are no budget impacts from any of the proposed ordinances.    
• Staff time – Staff time required is part of the staff’s work plan. 

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
 
Not Applicable. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
A citizens’ group has proposed a Charter amendment adding a new section.  The 
proposed language is as follows: 
 

Shall Article XIII of the Charter of the City of Boulder be amended by the 
addition of the following section: 
 
Section 188.  Limitations on debt. 
 
(a) Before the electric utility enterprise issues any debt, voters must 
approve the amount of the utility's debt limit and the total cost of debt 
repayment that the utility will incur, both to be stated in dollars in any 
ballot question; and 
 
(b) The utility's service area shall not extend to areas outside the city limits 
unless registered electors in those areas are permitted to vote in these debt 
limit and repayment cost elections: and 
 
(c) Such elections shall be held on the dates of general municipal 
elections; and 
 
(d) Any brokerage fees for managing any sale of bonds or other 
indebtedness shall be limited to one percent of proceeds? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5D     Page 3Packet Page     497



K:\CMEN\0 7920 Agenda Memo  8-6-1562.doc 
 

ANALYSIS 
 

1. The initiated measure. 
 
It appears that these provisions were drafted carefully to appear reasonable, while at the 
same time making it difficult, if not impossible, to form a municipal electric utility.  What 
follows is a brief analysis of the potential impacts of each subsection: 
 
Subsection (a) imposes a requirement for voter approval of “any debt.”  It is noteworthy 
that this is a more stringent requirement than that imposed by the Taxpayer’s Bill of 
Rights.1  Under TABOR an “enterprise” is defined as “a government owned business 
authorized to issue its own revenue bonds and receiving under 10 percent of annual 
revenue in grants from all Colorado state and local governments combined.”  Enterprises 
are exempt from TABOR’s requirements for voter approval of debt.  Under the proposed 
amendment the proposed municipal utility would be required to have voter approval of 
all debt.  This means, for example, that the utility would be unable to issue debt in 
response to an emergency.   
 
Subsection (b) purports to limit the new utility’s service area.  It could make the utility 
nearly impossible to create. Xcel Energy did not design its system to conform to city 
boundaries, but at locations that made sense considering anticipated load growth and its 
location.  Engineers have designed a service area that creates a system that is safe and 
reliable and causes a minimum of disruption to either Xcel or the city.  To recreate the 
boundary at the current city limits would require construction of numerous new facilities 
and erection of additional meters and interconnections at hundreds of points around and 
within the city.  That work would decrease the reliability to both sides of the separation 
and increase the capital costs and O&M costs for both the city and Xcel over the life of 
the facilities.   
 
Under the proposed amendment, the only way that the new utility could serve outside the 
city boundaries would be to hold an election outside of the city or require annexation of 
all properties within the proposed service area or construct an expensive system with 
reduced reliability.  The city has no authority to conduct an election outside its 
boundaries.  Non-residents do not have the authority to vote in city elections.  Allowing 
for such an election would most likely require a change in state law.  The city does have 
the authority to annex most, if not all, of the proposed service by law and agreements 
with property owners.  However, the City Council has determined that it does not want to 
invoke its annexation authority as part of municipalization.  Thus, in the guise of a debt 
limit, the proposal would effectively eliminate the most reliable and cost-effective 
separation plan at the expense of the city and other ratepayers. 
 
Subsection (c) requires that all debt approval occur only at general municipal elections.  
Under the Charter, a general municipal election is held every two years in odd numbered 
years.  After identifying a need, the new utility would not be able to issue debt until the 
next general municipal election.  No such limit exists on any other decision of the 
                                                           
1 Article X, Section 20 of Colorado Constitution. 

Agenda Item 5D     Page 4Packet Page     498



K:\CMEN\0 7920 Agenda Memo  8-6-1562.doc 
 

electorate.  Thus, if the city suffered a severe flood in December 2015 and the utility 
needed funds to rebuild portions of the system, it would not be able to put debt before the 
voters until November 2017. 
 
Subsection (d) would limit brokerage fees to one percent of the proceeds of a debt issue.  
The proposed amendment does not define “brokerage fees.”  Since it is clear that fees 
paid to brokers are unlikely to ever approach one percent of the proceeds of debt issue, 
this provision adds nothing but uncertainty, which is can make it difficult to participate in 
the bond market. 
 

2. Statutory and Charter Requirements. 
 
The purported purpose of the petition is to allow a vote on debt.  Staff has proposed an 
alternative ordinance that accomplishes that intent.  Charter section 53 provides as 
follows: 
 

If two or more measures adopted or approved at the same election conflict 
in any of their provisions, they shall go into effect in respect to such of 
their provisions as are not in conflict and the one receiving the highest 
affirmative vote shall prevail insofar as their provisions conflict. 

 
The alternative measure is intended to address the concerns raised in the amendment 
while eliminating the challenges presented by the perhaps intentional drafting of the 
initiated amendment.  The proposed ordinance therefore conflicts directly with the 
initiated measure. 2 
  
State statute also provides that, when amending a Charter, that an alternate measure may 
be proposed. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 31-2-215(1) “Conflicting or alternative Charter 
proposals,” provides the following standard for alternative ballot measures. 
 

In submitting any charter or charter amendment, any alternative provision 
may be submitted for the choice of the voters and may be voted on 
separately without prejudice to others. The alternative provision receiving 
the highest number of votes, if approved by a majority of the registered 
electors voting thereon, shall be deemed approved. 
 

Subsection (2) goes on to address conflicts, in a manner that is similar to our 
charter. 
 

In case of adoption of conflicting provisions which are not submitted as 
alternatives, the one which receives the greatest number of affirmative 
votes shall prevail in all particulars as to which there is conflict. 

 

                                                           
2 The initiated measure includes all of the proposed changes in a single new section 188 entitled 
“Limitations on Debt.”  The proposed ordinance places the changes in the appropriate sections of article 
XIII of the charter according to subject matter.   

Agenda Item 5D     Page 5Packet Page     499



K:\CMEN\0 7920 Agenda Memo  8-6-1562.doc 
 

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 31-2-215(2).   The ballot measure that staff presented at first reading is 
very conservatively drafted.  It does not need to be drafted with individual operational 
conflicts as it is clearly presented as an alternate measure.  If the council decides to take 
that approach, the Colorado Supreme Court offered some good guidance in the Matter of 
Title, Ballot Title & Submission Clause & Summary Approved April 20, 1994 & May 4, 
1994, for Proposed Initiated Constitutional Amendment Concerning Fair Treatment II, 
877 P.2d 329 (Colo. 1994).  Language has been added to the ballot titles to clearly 
declare that this is an alternative measure (in addition to a conflicting measure) using 
language that is similar to the ballot language litigated in the Fair Treatment II case. 

Finally, as we review ballot titles, it is always good to review the charter standard.  
Charter section 47 provides that 
 

Proposed measures and charter amendments shall be submitted by ballot 
title. There shall appear upon the official ballot a ballot title which may be 
distinct from the legal title of any such proposed measure or charter 
amendment and which shall be a clear, concise statement, without 
argument or prejudice, descriptive of the substance of such measure or 
charter amendment. The ballot title shall be prepared by the committee of 
the petitioners if for an initiated or a referendum measure, or by a 
committee of the council when submitted by the council. 
 

 
3. The Proposed Alternate Charter Amendment: 

 
Section 3 would add new subsections (j) and (k) to Charter section 180.  These 
subsections would allow the utility to place ballot measures on any election ballot and to 
serve out-of-city customers.  This addresses the issue about allowing votes on debt of the 
utility by city voters and for construction of a reliable, cost effective utility without 
harming ratepayers outside the service area and without requiring the city to exercise its 
annexation authority.  Section 3 conflicts with subsections 188(b) and (c) in the initiated 
measure. 
 
Section 4 would amend Charter section 182 to prohibit preferences or rate differentials 
between customers of the utility based on their location inside or outside of the city 
boundaries.   Section 4 addresses the issues raised in and conflicts with subsection 188(b) 
in the initiated measure. 
 
Section 5 would amend Charter section 185 to allow out of city customers to serve on the 
electric utility board.  It specifies that regardless of the basis on which a member was 
appointed, each member of the advisory board represents the utility as a whole and not a 
particular customer class or location.  Section 5 conflicts with subsection 188(b) of the 
initiated measure. 
 
Section 6 would add a new section 188.  Subsection (a) would impose a debt limit of the 
principal amount necessary for acquisition and capital costs incurred during the first six 
months of operation.  Staff has not yet proposed a numerical limit.  This should be 

Agenda Item 5D     Page 6Packet Page     500



K:\CMEN\0 7920 Agenda Memo  8-6-1562.doc 
 

addressed in the context of the updated modeling to be presented at the July 23 study 
session.  Subsection (a) also makes clear that any additional debt issued would be issued 
in conformance with the Charter and other applicable laws.  Subsection (b) would limit 
brokerage fees and other costs associated with debt issuance to commercially reasonable 
amounts paid by similarly situated utilities.   
 
Section 6 conflicts with subsections 188(a) and (d) of the proposed measure. 
 

4. Proposed options for amendments. 
 
At its July 24, meeting, staff and council members discussed a number of options for 
potential amendments to the proposed alternative. 
 
Council members offered a number of suggestions to be explored at the second reading of 
the ordinance.     
 
1. Consider alternatives to or deleting the proposed annexation provisions that are in 

Charter section 180(j) 

 

Response.  This provision may be removed from the amendment to Charter section 180 
in section 3 of the ordinance. 

 

2. Provide additional analysis and options related to debt limitations.   The council 
members expressed an interest in the definition of the debt limits, the advisability 
of absolute debt limit, and some type of formula debt limit standard, other options 
that address concerns about the amount of utility debt.   

 

Response.  Staff has provided three options for council consideration.  The staff 
recommends that the council, if it so decides, to go forward to go with a bond test.   
Also included are two different versions of a debt limit.  The amendments are 
located in section 6 of the ordinance. 

 

Option 1.  Bond Test.  Working with the city’s bond counsel and financial advisors, the 
staff developed option 1 in the attached ordinance.  A bond or debt test is preferable from 
a litigation strategy, in that when you place a number out  in the public as to what your 
maximum price is, then, often times it provides your opponent with a target that it will 
use to attempt to defeat the municipalization acquisition efforts.   A bond or debt test will 
provide the City with a limitation that is intended to ensure that future councils will act in 
a financially responsible manner as the city considers municipalization. 

 

Option 2.  Debt Limitation - Includes all start up costs.  Larger Amount.   
 

Agenda Item 5D     Page 7Packet Page     501



K:\CMEN\0 7920 Agenda Memo  8-6-1562.doc 
 

This option includes a debt limitation in amount that includes all of the anticipated costs 
of starting the utility that would require debt of the city to be issued.  The advantage to 
using a very larger number in the bonding amount is that it is more difficult for opponents 
to attribute a specific number any one given component of the municipalization effort.  
The disadvantage of this approach is that voters may be less inclined to vote for a ballot 
measure that has a large amount of debt to approve.  

 
Debt Limitation.  -Include Acquisition Costs. Smaller amount. 
For the most part, this is the provision that was presented at first reading.  It includes a 
few amendments to clarify the language.  The debt limitation is for a smaller amount for 
the municipalization effort.  It is smaller debt limitation and is proposed to provide for 
debt that is only associated with the acquisition of the initial purchase of the utility. 

The advantage of the option is that it includes a debt limit.  Since it does not include the 
comprehensive list to which the debt applies, the debt limit will be lower.   The 
disadvantage of this option is that it will provide opponents a targeted number to focus on 
in subsequent negotiations or litigation.   

 

3. Council members requested that staff analyze the short description of the ballot 
title for this measure and the initiative measure to ensure that the short titles 
accurately reflect the descriptions and differences in the two ballot measures. 

Response:  Given that the alternative ballot measure proposes to amend numerous parts 
of Article XIII of the Charter, staff recommends that the council identify the 
ballot measure as follows: 

 Charter Amendments to Article XIII, “Light and Power Utility” 
 

4. Consider adding to the Charter, the change requested by the governance working 
group to add that the utility advisory board would have an explicitly stated 
advisory role in rate setting. 

 

Response:  An amendment is proposed for Charter section 182 to explicitly require a 
recommendation from the utility advisory board on changes to rates.  See section 4 of the 
proposed ordinance amendments. The proposed language provides: 

 

“. . . Prior to changing rates, classes of rates, fees, or charges, the utility 
advisory board will review changes and provide a recommendation to 
the council based on the criteria in this section. . .” 

 

5. Consider alternatives that would allow county customers to choose, as a group 
whether they take service from Xcel or the municipal utility, even if the city is 
required to purchase the poles and wires in those areas to ensure reliability.  

Agenda Item 5D     Page 8Packet Page     502



K:\CMEN\0 7920 Agenda Memo  8-6-1562.doc 
 

Options could include voting, polling, or some type of affidavit or letter indicating 
a preference. 

 

Response:   Staff does not recommend that this be a part of the Charter given the 
uncertainty over how customer choice could be accommodated..  However, if the council 
wanted to add some type of statement of intent that it would like to gauge customer 
choice at a future date to decide whether such properties would be customers of the city, 
the council could propose an amendment along the lines of the language in Section 8.5 of 
the ordinance. The benefit of this approach would be that the council has the ability to 
amend ordinances, but not the charter.  Given the need for flexibility, this may be a 
prudent approach.  

 
 Out-of-city customer choice.  To the extent practical and allowed by 

law, upon the creation of the utility, the city wants to facilitate the 
ability of customers that are outside of the city boundaries and are not 
enclaves as defined in the Municipal Annexation Act of 1965 to choose 
their utility provider.  It is anticipated that customers within a 
geographic area that constitutes a rational service area may wish to 
not take service from the light and power utility upon its creation. The 
City Council will adopt an approach to identifying such areas and 
understanding the preference of the area through voting, polling, or 
other approaches to public outreach.  If the preference is to not take 
service from the city, the city will attempt to accommodate the 
customer wishes as a group through subsequent legislation, 
participation in the Colorado Public Utilities Commission, or other 
practical means. 

 

Council members requested additional information in the following area.   
 
1. Provide an explanation of how existing Charter requirements address debt 

limitations. 
 
Presently, there are a number of provision within the Charter that address debt 
limitations.  For general debt limitations, see Charter section 97, “Limitations on 
indebtedness,” section 98, “Terms of bonds - disposal of bonds” and section 99, 
“Refunding of bonds.”  There are also revenue bonding requirements in Article XIII of 
the Charter, “Light and Power Utility.”  The primary debt limitations are in Charter 
section 97.  It requires that general obligation debt be approved by the voters. 
 
 
 
Attachment:  A  New Ordinance 7920 
Attachment:  B  1st Read Ordinance 7920 
  

Agenda Item 5D     Page 9Packet Page     503



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     504



ORDINANCE NO.  7920 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE QUALIFIED 
ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE GENERAL 
MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013, THE QUESTION OF 
AMENDING SECTION 185 OF THE CITY CHARTER TO 
ALLOW NON-RESIDENT CUSTOMERS TO BE REPRESENTED 
ON THE UTILITY ADVISORY BOARD; ADDING A NEW 
SECTION 188 OF THE CITY CHARTER RELATING TO THE 
LIMITATIONS ON DEBT; AND LIMITATIONS ON SERVICE 
AREA; SUPERCEDING ANY INITIATED BALLOT MEASURE 
TO THE CONTRARY; SETTING FORTH THE BALLOT TITLE; 
SPECIFYING THE FORM OF THE BALLOT AND OTHER 
ELECTION PROCEDURES; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A general municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of Boulder, 

County of Boulder and State of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 5, 2013.    

Section 2.  At that election, there shall be submitted to the electors of the City of Boulder 

entitled by law to vote the question of making the following amendments to the City Charter.   

 Section 3.  Add new subsections 180(j) and 180(k) as follows, which the City 

Council finds conflict directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance No. ___ , 

in particular, the proposed subsections 188(b) and 188(c): 

Sec. 180.  Powers of the electric utility enterprise. 

. . .  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 10Packet Page     505



(j)  Any ballot measure related to the light and power utility, including without 
limitation measures related to debt, may be placed on a ballot at any election, 
including without limitation a special election, a general municipal election or a 
special municipal election.  To the extent that customers served outside of the 
city limits wish to participate in such elections, they may annex to the city to 
the extent permitted by law. 

(k)  The light and power utility’s service area may include customers outside of 
the city to the extent that such a service area shall assist with the provision of a 
safe and reliable system for service to the utility’s customers.  

 Section 4.  Amend Charter section 182 as follows, which the City Council finds 

conflicts directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance No. 7919 , in 

particular, the proposed section 188(b): 

Sec. 182. Utility service standards.  

 . . . 

(d) Rates: The council will by ordinance fix, establish, maintain, and provide for the 
collection of such rates, classes of rates, fees, or charges for electric service and 
other utility services furnished by the city. Prior to changing rates, classes of 
rates, fees, or charges, the utility advisory board will review changes and 
provide a recommendation to the council, based on the criteria in this 
section.  The council will consider the following factors when setting utility rates: 

(1) The utility will produce revenues at least sufficient to pay the cost of 
operation and maintenance of said utilities in good repair and working order; 
to pay the principal of and interest on all bonds of the city payable from the 
revenues of the utility; 

(2) The utility will provide and maintain an adequate fund for replacement of 
depreciated or obsolescent property, and for the extension, improvement, 
enlargement, and betterment of the utility; to pay the interest on, and the 
principal of, any bonds issued by the city to extend or improve the utilities; 

(3) The utility will consider electricity rates of surrounding and similarly situated 
communities and use best efforts to set competitive utility rates; and 

(4) The council will fix rates for which electric service will be furnished for all 
purposes, and rates shall be as low as good service will permit, consistent 
with the guiding principles set forth in section 178 (c)(1) – (6). 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 11Packet Page     506

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/charter_articleXIII.htm#section178


. . .  

  (j)  Preferences Prohibited: The utility shall not make or grant any preference or 
advantage to any corporation or person or subject any corporation or person to 
any prejudice or disadvantage as to rates, charges, service, or facilities, or in any 
other respect including without limitation whether the customer is inside or 
outside the city limits. 

 (k) Advantages Prohibited: The utility shall not establish or maintain any 
unreasonable differences or undue preferences as to rates, charges, service, 
facilities, or any respect as between any class of services including without 
limitation whether the customer is inside or outside the city limits. The utility may 
create a fund to provide assistance to low-income customers for energy efficiency 
or generation improvements or utility bill payments. When considering whether to 
approve such a fund, and give a preference or advantage to low-income utility 
customers, the utility shall take into account the potential impact of and cost-
shifting to, utility customers other than the low-income utility customers.  

Section 5.  Amend section 185 as follows, which the City Council finds conflicts 

directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance Number 7919 , in particular, the 

proposed section 188(b): 

Sec. 185. Creation of the electric utilities board 

 (b) Board qualifications: Board members shall be selected from the 
registered electors of the city, or customers of the electric utility, or from the 
owners or employees of a business or governmental entity that is a customer of 
the electric utility, provided, however, that a majority of the board shall be 
registered electors of the city. Board members shall be well known for their 
ability, probity, public spirit, and particular fitness to serve on the electric utilities 
board. At least three board members shall be owners or employees of a business 
or governmental entity that is a customer of the electric utility.  The duty of each 
member shall be to represent the entire utility customer base without 
discrimination between customer class or location without regard to the location 
or class of customer of the member.  

 Section 6.  Add a new section 188 as follows, which the City Council finds 

conflicts directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance Number 7919 , in 

particular, the proposed sections 188(a), (b) and (d): 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 12Packet Page     507



OPTION  1. BOND TEST 

Sec. 188.   Limitations on Debt 

 (a)  The electric utility enterprise may not issue bonds and other obligations for 
costs associated with the acquisition and initial operation of the utility unless 
at the time of the issuance of the bonds the projected utility revenues are 
sufficient to meet the operating and debt service coverage requirements 
contained in section 178(a) of the Charter for the par amount of bonds 
proposed to be issued.  Thereafter the utility may issue bonds and other 
obligations pursuant to section 181 of the Charter.  

(b)   The light and power utility shall limit brokerage fees and other costs related to 
debt issuance to no more than commercially reasonable amounts paid by similarly 
situated utilities. 

 

OPTION  2. DEBT LIMIT - Larger Amount 

 

Sec. 188.   Limitations on Debt 

(a) The city is authorized to form, purchase, or otherwise acquire a light and 
power utility and issue bonds or other obligations if the acquisition and start-
up costs including without limitation the costs for capital expenditures, 
bridge financing, anticipated capital costs for the first  two years of 
operation, a debt service reserve fund, an operating reserve fund, costs of 
debt issuance, and capitalized interest cost does not exceed $*** million 
dollars. the principal amount of the initial purchase price and capital costs 
projected to be incurred during the first six months after acquisition do not 
exceed [$  add limit of principal amount of initial bond issue].  Thereafter, all 
debt shall only be issued in compliance with the charter and other applicable laws. 

(b)  The light and power utility shall limit brokerage fees and other costs related 
to debt issuance to no more than commercially reasonable amounts paid by 
similarly situated utilities. 

 

 

 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 13Packet Page     508



 

OPTION  3. DEBT LIMIT - Include Acquisition Costs Only 

Sec. 188.   Limitations on Debt 

(a) The city is authorized to form, purchase, or otherwise acquire a light and 
power utility if  the principal amount of the initial purchase price of the existing 
electric system and capital costs projected to be incurred during the first six 
months after acquisition does not exceed $ million. [$  add limit of principal 
amount of initial bond issue].  Thereafter, all debt shall only be issued in 
compliance with the charter and other applicable laws. 

(b)  The light and power utility shall limit brokerage fees and other costs related 
to debt issuance to no more than commercially reasonable amounts paid by 
similarly situated utilities. 

 

Section 7.  The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also be 

the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

See options on following pages. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 14Packet Page     509



OPTION  1. Ballot Title - BOND TEST 

Ballot Question No.  ____ 

Debt Limitation for Municipal Electrical Utility 

Charter Amendments to Article XIII, “Light and Power Utility” 

Shall sections 180, 182 and 185 of the Boulder Home Rule Charter be amended; and 
a new section 188 be added, both pursuant to Ordinance No.  7920 superseding any 
other ballot measure adopting a new section 188, to allow the electric utility 
enterprise to issue bonds and other obligations for costs associated with the 
acquisition and initial operation of the utility if, at the time of the issuance of the 
bonds, the projected utility revenues are sufficient to meet the operating and 
debt service coverage requirements contained in section 178(a) of the Charter 
for the par amount of bonds proposed to be issued; to provide that no debt may 
be issued in a principal amount of the initial purchase price and capital costs to be 
incurred during the first six months of acquisition in excess of $___ million; 
limiting the utility’s service area to an area supporting safe and reliable service to its 
customers; providing for elections at special or general elections and limiting 
brokerage fees or other costs of debt issuance to the amount paid by other similarly 
situated utilities; requiring the utility advisory board to advise the council on rate 
making; and permitting out of city customers be represented on the utility advisory 
board, and to provide that, if this ballot question receives more votes than all 
other initiatives which pertain to debt limitations or the adoption of a new 
section 188 of the city charter, then this initiative shall become law and such 
other initiatives shall not be implemented?  

 For the Measure____  Against the Measure____ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 15Packet Page     510



 

OPTION  2. Ballot Title - DEBT LIMIT - Larger Amount 

Ballot Question No.  ____ 

Debt Limitation for Municipal Electrical Utility 

Charter Amendments to Article XIII, “Light and Power Utility” 

 

Shall sections 180, 182 and 185 of the Boulder Home Rule Charter be amended; and 
a new section 188 be added, both pursuant to Ordinance No.  7920 superseding 
any other ballot measure adopting a new section 188, to provide that the electric 
utility enterprise may issue bonds or other obligations in the amount of $___ 
million for the acquisition and start-up costs including without limitation the 
costs for capital expenditures, bridge financing, anticipated capital costs for the 
first two years of operation, a debt service reserve fund, an operating reserve 
fund, costs of debt issuance, and capitalized interest costs is an amount not to 
exceed that amount capable of being financed and repaid by rates that meet the 
requirements of Charter Section 178 at the time the value of the facilities 
acquired is determined by negotiation or condemnation no debt may be issued in 
a principal amount of the initial purchase price and capital costs to be incurred 
during the first six months of acquisition in excess of $___ million; limiting the 
utility’s service area to an area supporting safe and reliable service to its customers; 
providing for elections at special or general elections and limiting brokerage fees or 
other costs of debt issuance to the amount paid by other similarly situated utilities; 
requiring the utility advisory board to advise the council on rate making;  and 
permitting out of city customers be represented on the utility advisory board, and to 
provide that, if this ballot question receives more votes than all other initiatives 
which pertain to debt limitations or the adoption of a new section 188 of the city 
charter, then this initiative shall become law and such other initiatives shall not 
be implemented?  

 For the Measure____  Against the Measure____ 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 16Packet Page     511



 

 

 

OPTION  3. Ballot Title - DEBT LIMIT - Include Acquisition Costs Only 

Ballot Question No.  ____ 

Debt Limitation for Municipal Electrical Utility 

Charter Amendments to Article XIII, “Light and Power Utility” 

 

Shall sections 180, 182 and 185 of the Boulder Home Rule Charter be 
amended; and a new section 188 be added, both pursuant to Ordinance No.  
7920 superseding any other ballot measure adopting a new section 
188, to provide that no debt may be issued in a principal amount of the if 
the initial purchase price and capital costs to be incurred during the 
first six months of acquisition in excess of does not exceed $___ 
million; limiting the utility’s service area to an area supporting safe and 
reliable service to its customers; providing for elections at special or 
general elections and limiting brokerage fees or other costs of debt 
issuance to the amount paid by other similarly situated utilities; requiring 
the utility advisory board to advise the council on rate making;  and 
permitting out of city customers be represented on the utility advisory 
board and to provide that, if this ballot question receives more votes 
than all other initiatives which pertain to debt limitations or the 
adoption of a new section 188 of the city charter, then this initiative 
shall become law and such other initiatives shall not be implemented?  

 For the Measure____  Against the Measure____ 

 

 

Section 8.  As permitted by Colo. Rev. Stat. § 31-2-215(1), this ballot measure is an 

alternative charter amendment that is to be submitted for the choice of the voters and will 

be voted on separately from the ballot measure that will be presented to the voters 

pursuant to Ordinance No. 7919.  This ballot measure is also intended to conflict with all of 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 17Packet Page     512



the provision of Ordinance No. 7919.  Under Charter section 53 and Colo. Rev. Stat. § 31-2-

215, if this measure receives the highest number of affirmative prevailing votes, this measure 

shall prevail over Ordinance No. 7919 

 Section 8.5.  The City Council adopts the following as an ordinance of the 

city if the ballot measure is approved by the voters and the ballot measure receives 

more votes than all other initiatives which pertain to debt limitations or the 

adoption of a new section 188 of the city charter, to read: 

 Out-of-city customer choice.  To the extent practical and allowed by law, 
upon the creation of the utility, the city wants to facilitate the ability of 
customers that are outside of the city boundaries and are not enclaves as 
defined in the Municipal Annexation Act of 1965 to choose their utility 
provider.  It is anticipated that customers within a geographic area that 
constitutes a rational service area may wish to not take service from the light 
and power utility upon its creation. The city council will adopt an approach 
to identifying such areas and understanding the preference of the area 
through voting, polling, or other approaches to public outreach.  If the 
preference is to not take service the city, the city will attempt to 
accommodate the customer wishes as a group through subsequent legislation, 
participation in the Colorado Public Utilities Commission, or other practical 
means. 

 

Section 9.  If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted are 

for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the Charter shall be amended as 

provided in this ordinance. If this ballot measure is approved by the voters, the Charter shall be 

so amended, and the City Council may adopt any necessary amendments to the Boulder Revised 

Code to implement this change.  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 18Packet Page     513



Section 10. The election shall be conducted under the provisions of the Colorado 

Constitution, the Charter and ordinances of the City, the Boulder Revised Code, 1981, and this 

ordinance.  

Section 11.  The officers of the City are authorized to take all action necessary or 

appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this ordinance and to contract with the county clerk to 

conduct the election for the City.   

Section 12.  If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall for any 

reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this ordinance. 

Section 13.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the City, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section  14.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AMENDED AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 24th day of July, 2013. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
City Clerk  

 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 19Packet Page     514



 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 6TH day of August, 2013. 

 

____________________________________ 
       Mayor 

Attest: 

 

______________________________ 
City Clerk  

 

READ ON THIRD  READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this ___ day of ______, 2013. 

____________________________________ 
       Mayor 

Attest: 

 

______________________________ 
City Clerk  

 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 5D     Page 20Packet Page     515



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     516



ORDINANCE NO.  ____ 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE QUALIFIED 
ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE GENERAL 
MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013, THE QUESTION OF 
AMENDING SECTION 185 OF THE CITY CHARTER TO 
ALLOW NON-RESIDENT CUSTOMERS TO BE REPRESENTED 
ON THE UTILITY ADVISORY BOARD; ADDING A NEW 
SECTION 188 OF THE CITY CHARTER RELATING TO THE 
LIMITATIONS ON DEBT; LIMITATIONS ON SERVICE AREA; 
SUPERCEDING ANY OTHER MEASURES TO ADD SECTION 
188; SETTING FORTH THE BALLOT TITLE; AND SPECIFYING 
THE FORM OF THE BALLOT AND OTHER ELECTION 
PROCEDURES AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A general municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of Boulder, 

County of Boulder and State of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 5, 2013.    

Section 2.  At that election, there shall be submitted to the electors of the City of Boulder 

entitled by law to vote the question of making the following amendments to the City Charter.   

 Section 3.  Add new subsections 180(j) and 180(k) as follows, which the City 

Council finds conflict directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance No. ___ , 

in particular, the proposed subsections 188(b) and 188(c): 

Sec. 180.  Powers of the electric utility enterprise. 

. . .  

(j)  Any ballot measure related to the light and power utility, including without 
limitation measures related to debt, may be placed on a ballot at any election, 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 21Packet Page     517



including without limitation a special election, a general municipal election or a 
special municipal election.  To the extent that customers served outside of the city 
limits wish to participate in such elections, they may annex to the city to the 
extent permitted by law. 

(k)  The light and power utility’s service area may include customers outside of 
the city to the extent that such a service area shall assist with the provision of a 
safe and reliable system for service to the utility’s customers.  

 Section 4.  Amend Charter section 182 as follows, which the City Council finds 

conflicts directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance No. ___ , in particular, 

the proposed section 188(b): 

Sec. 182. Utility service standards.  

 . . . 

  (j)  Preferences Prohibited: The utility shall not make or grant any preference or 
advantage to any corporation or person or subject any corporation or person to 
any prejudice or disadvantage as to rates, charges, service, or facilities, or in any 
other respect including without limitation whether the customer is inside or 
outside the city limits. 

 (k) Advantages Prohibited: The utility shall not establish or maintain any 
unreasonable differences or undue preferences as to rates, charges, service, 
facilities, or any respect as between any class of services including without 
limitation whether the customer is inside or outside the city limits. The utility may 
create a fund to provide assistance to low-income customers for energy efficiency 
or generation improvements or utility bill payments. When considering whether to 
approve such a fund, and give a preference or advantage to low-income utility 
customers, the utility shall take into account the potential impact of and cost-
shifting to, utility customers other than the low-income utility customers.  

Section 5.  Amend section 185 as follows, which the City Council finds conflicts 

directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance Number ___ , in particular, the 

proposed section 188(b): 

Sec. 185. Creation of the electric utilities board 

 (b) Board qualifications: Board members shall be selected from the 
registered electors of the city or if not so qualified, be a customer of the electric 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 22Packet Page     518



utility or from the owners or employees of a business or governmental entity that 
is a customer of the electric utility, provided, however, that a majority of the 
board shall be registered electors of the city. Board members shall be well known 
for their ability, probity, public spirit, and particular fitness to serve on the electric 
utilities board. At least three board members shall be owners or employees of a 
business or governmental entity that is a customer of the electric utility.  The duty 
of each member shall be to represent the entire utility without discrimination 
between customer class or location without regard to the location or class of 
customer of the member.  

 Section 6.  Add a new section 188 as follows, which the City Council finds 

conflicts directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance Number ___ , in 

particular, the proposed sections 188(a), (b) and (d): 

Sec. 188.   Limitations on Debt 

(a) The city is authorized to form, purchase, or otherwise acquire a light and 
power utility if  the principal amount of the initial purchase price and capital costs 
projected to be incurred during the first six months after acquisition do not exceed 
[$  add limit of principal amount of initial bond issue].  Thereafter, all debt shall 
only be issued in compliance the charter and other applicable laws. 

(b)  The light and power utility shall limit brokerage fees and other costs related 
to debt issuance to no more than commercially reasonable amounts paid by 
similarly situated utilities. 

 

Section 7.  The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also be 

the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 23Packet Page     519



Ballot Question No.  ____ 

Debt Limitation for Municipal Electrical Utility 

Shall sections 180, 182 and 185 of the Boulder Home Rule Charter 
be amended; and a new section 188 be added, both pursuant to 
Ordinance No.  ____; superseding any other ballot measure 
adopting a new section 188, to provide that no debt may be issued 
to finance a total cost of acquisition in excess of $___ million; 
limiting the utility’s service area to an area supporting safe and 
reliable service to its customers; providing for elections at special or 
general elections and limiting brokerage fees or other costs of debt 
issuance to the amount paid by other similarly situated utilities; and 
requiring that out of city customers be represented on the utility 
advisory board?  

 For the Measure____  Against the Measure____ 

 

Section 8.  This ballot measure is intended to conflict with all of the provision of 

Ordinance No. ___ [add ord. no. from the §188 amendment].  Under Charter section 53, if this 

measure receives the highest number of affirmative prevailing votes, this measure shall prevail 

over Ordinance No. ___ [add ord. no. from the §188 amendment]. 

Section 9.  If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted are 

for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the Charter shall be amended as 

provided in this ordinance. If this ballot measure is approved by the voters, the Charter shall be 

so amended, and the City Council may adopt any necessary amendments to the Boulder Revised 

Code to implement this change.  

Section 10. The election shall be conducted under the provisions of the Colorado 

Constitution, the Charter and ordinances of the City, the Boulder Revised Code, 1981, and this 

ordinance.  

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 24Packet Page     520



Section 11.  The officers of the City are authorized to take all action necessary or 

appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this ordinance and to contract with the county clerk to 

conduct the election for the City.   

Section 12.  If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall for any 

reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this ordinance. 

Section 13.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the City, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section  14.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 24th day of July, 2013. 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

 

______________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

 

 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 25Packet Page     521



 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this __day of _____, 2013. 

 

____________________________________ 

       Mayor 

Attest: 

 

______________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 24 day of July, 2013. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 26Packet Page     522



READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________, 20__. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 27Packet Page     523



ORDINANCE NO.  ____ 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE QUALIFIED 
ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE GENERAL 
MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013, THE QUESTION OF 
AMENDING SECTION 185 OF THE CITY CHARTER TO 
ALLOW NON-RESIDENT CUSTOMERS TO BE REPRESENTED 
ON THE UTILITY ADVISORY BOARD; ADDING A NEW 
SECTION 188 OF THE CITY CHARTER RELATING TO THE 
LIMITATIONS ON DEBT; LIMITATIONS ON SERVICE AREA; 
SUPERCEDING ANY OTHER MEASURES TO ADD SECTION 
188; SETTING FORTH THE BALLOT TITLE; AND SPECIFYING 
THE FORM OF THE BALLOT AND OTHER ELECTION 
PROCEDURES AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A general municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of Boulder, 

County of Boulder and State of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 5, 2013.    

Section 2.  At that election, there shall be submitted to the electors of the City of Boulder 

entitled by law to vote the question of making the following amendments to the City Charter.   

 Section 3.  Add new subsections 180(j) and 180(k) as follows, which the City 

Council finds conflict directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance No. ___ , 

in particular, the proposed subsections 188(b) and 188(c): 

Sec. 180.  Powers of the electric utility enterprise. 

. . .  

(j)  Any ballot measure related to the light and power utility, including without 
limitation measures related to debt, may be placed on a ballot at any election, 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 28Packet Page     524



including without limitation a special election, a general municipal election or a 
special municipal election.  To the extent that customers served outside of the city 
limits wish to participate in such elections, they may annex to the city to the 
extent permitted by law. 

(k)  The light and power utility’s service area may include customers outside of 
the city to the extent that such a service area shall assist with the provision of a 
safe and reliable system for service to the utility’s customers.  

 Section 4.  Amend Charter section 182 as follows, which the City Council finds 

conflicts directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance No. ___ , in particular, 

the proposed section 188(b): 

Sec. 182. Utility service standards.  

 . . . 

  (j)  Preferences Prohibited: The utility shall not make or grant any preference or 
advantage to any corporation or person or subject any corporation or person to 
any prejudice or disadvantage as to rates, charges, service, or facilities, or in any 
other respect including without limitation whether the customer is inside or 
outside the city limits. 

 (k) Advantages Prohibited: The utility shall not establish or maintain any 
unreasonable differences or undue preferences as to rates, charges, service, 
facilities, or any respect as between any class of services including without 
limitation whether the customer is inside or outside the city limits. The utility may 
create a fund to provide assistance to low-income customers for energy efficiency 
or generation improvements or utility bill payments. When considering whether to 
approve such a fund, and give a preference or advantage to low-income utility 
customers, the utility shall take into account the potential impact of and cost-
shifting to, utility customers other than the low-income utility customers.  

Section 5.  Amend section 185 as follows, which the City Council finds conflicts 

directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance Number ___ , in particular, the 

proposed section 188(b): 

Sec. 185. Creation of the electric utilities board 

 (b) Board qualifications: Board members shall be selected from the 
registered electors of the city or if not so qualified, be a customer of the electric 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 29Packet Page     525



utility or from the owners or employees of a business or governmental entity that 
is a customer of the electric utility, provided, however, that a majority of the 
board shall be registered electors of the city. Board members shall be well known 
for their ability, probity, public spirit, and particular fitness to serve on the electric 
utilities board. At least three board members shall be owners or employees of a 
business or governmental entity that is a customer of the electric utility.  The duty 
of each member shall be to represent the entire utility without discrimination 
between customer class or location without regard to the location or class of 
customer of the member.  

 Section 6.  Add a new section 188 as follows, which the City Council finds 

conflicts directly with the ballot measure as set forth in Ordinance Number ___ , in 

particular, the proposed sections 188(a), (b) and (d): 

Sec. 188.   Limitations on Debt 

(a) The city is authorized to form, purchase, or otherwise acquire a light and 
power utility if  the principal amount of the initial purchase price and capital costs 
projected to be incurred during the first six months after acquisition do not exceed 
[$  add limit of principal amount of initial bond issue].  Thereafter, all debt shall 
only be issued in compliance the charter and other applicable laws. 

(b)  The light and power utility shall limit brokerage fees and other costs related 
to debt issuance to no more than commercially reasonable amounts paid by 
similarly situated utilities. 

 

Section 7.  The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also be 

the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 30Packet Page     526



Ballot Question No.  ____ 

Debt Limitation for Municipal Electrical Utility 

Shall sections 180, 182 and 185 of the Boulder Home Rule Charter 
be amended; and a new section 188 be added, both pursuant to 
Ordinance No.  ____; superseding any other ballot measure 
adopting a new section 188, to provide that no debt may be issued 
to finance a total cost of acquisition in excess of $___ million; 
limiting the utility’s service area to an area supporting safe and 
reliable service to its customers; providing for elections at special or 
general elections and limiting brokerage fees or other costs of debt 
issuance to the amount paid by other similarly situated utilities; and 
requiring that out of city customers be represented on the utility 
advisory board?  

 For the Measure____  Against the Measure____ 

 

Section 8.  This ballot measure is intended to conflict with all of the provision of 

Ordinance No. ___ [add ord. no. from the §188 amendment].  Under Charter section 53, if this 

measure receives the highest number of affirmative prevailing votes, this measure shall prevail 

over Ordinance No. ___ [add ord. no. from the §188 amendment]. 

Section 9.  If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted are 

for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the Charter shall be amended as 

provided in this ordinance. If this ballot measure is approved by the voters, the Charter shall be 

so amended, and the City Council may adopt any necessary amendments to the Boulder Revised 

Code to implement this change.  

Section 10. The election shall be conducted under the provisions of the Colorado 

Constitution, the Charter and ordinances of the City, the Boulder Revised Code, 1981, and this 

ordinance.  

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 31Packet Page     527



Section 11.  The officers of the City are authorized to take all action necessary or 

appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this ordinance and to contract with the county clerk to 

conduct the election for the City.   

Section 12.  If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall for any 

reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this ordinance. 

Section 13.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the City, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section  14.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 24th day of July, 2013. 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

 

______________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

 

 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 32Packet Page     528



 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this __day of _____, 2013. 

 

____________________________________ 

       Mayor 

Attest: 

 

______________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 24 day of July, 2013. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 33Packet Page     529



READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________, 20__. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment B (ord from 7 24 13)

Agenda Item 5D     Page 34Packet Page     530



  
   

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 6, 2013 

 
AGENDA TITLE 
Third Quarter Appointments to Boards and Commissions 

 
PRESENTERS   
Alisa D. Lewis, City Clerk and Director of Support Services 
Alisa R. Darrow, Deputy City Clerk 

         
Executive Summary   
Staff is requesting that Council make appointments to the City of Boulder Boards and 
Commissions for the 2013 third quarter recruitment.   
 
The following is an excerpt from council procedures, Section VII, B.R.C., 1981 outlining the 
process for nominating and appointing board and commission members.  You may also refer to 
your City Council Handbook on page 21.  Please note that item F below indicates that board and 
commission appointments are to be conducted in the same manner as described in this section. 
 
VII. Nominations and Elections 
A. Nominations.  Nominations for mayor and acting mayor (generally referred to as deputy 
mayor) are made orally.  No second is required, but the consent of the nominee should have been 
obtained in advance.  Any person so nominated may withdraw his or her name from nomination 
at this time.  Silence by the nominee shall be interpreted as acceptance of candidacy. 

B. Order of Vote.  A motion then is made and seconded to close the nominations and acted on as 
any motion. The voting is accomplished by raising of hands unless there is only one nomination 
and a unanimous vote for the candidate.  The names shall be called in alphabetical order or 
reverse alphabetical order depending upon a flip of a coin by the clerk, who shall thereafter 
alternate the order for all further election ballots during the same meeting. 

C. Ballots. If it is the desire of the council to use paper ballots rather than a voice vote, such a 
procedure is proper. However, since there is no provision for a secret vote, each ballot must be 
signed by the council member casting the vote. 

Agenda Item 8B     Page 1Packet Page     531



D.  Elimination Process.  If any of the candidates nominated receives five votes on the first 
ballot, such person is declared elected. If none of the candidates receives five votes on the first 
ballot, the candidate (plus ties), receiving the lowest number of votes is dropped as a candidate 
unless this elimination would leave one candidate or less for the office. If this elimination would 
leave one candidate or less for the office, another vote is taken, and once again the candidate 
(plus ties) receiving the lowest number of votes is dropped as a candidate unless this elimination 
would leave one candidate or less for the office. In the event that one candidate or less is left for 
the office after the second vote, a flip of a coin shall be used in order to eliminate all but two 
candidates for the office. 

E. Impasse Process.  In the event that neither of the two final candidates receives five votes on 
the first ballot on which there are only two candidates, another vote shall be taken. If no 
candidate receives five votes on the second such ballot, the candidate who receives the votes of a 
majority of the council members present shall be declared elected. If no candidate receives such 
a majority vote, the meeting shall be adjourned for a period not to exceed twenty-four hours, and 
new nominations and new ballots shall be taken. If no candidate receives five votes on the first 
ballot at the adjourned meeting on which there are only two candidates, another vote shall be 
taken. If no candidate receives five votes on the second such ballot, the candidate who receives 
the votes of a majority of the council members present shall be declared elected. If no candidate 
receives a majority vote on the second such ballot at the adjourned meeting, a flip of a coin shall 
be used to determine which of the two final candidates shall be declared elected as mayor or 
deputy mayor. 

F. Boards and Commissions. Elections to fill positions on boards or commissions shall be 
conducted in the same manner. However, a majority of the council members present rather than a 
majority of the full council is sufficient to decide an election of this nature. Each board or 
commission vacancy shall be voted on separately. 

 
LIST OF APPOINTMENTS 
 
Board of Zoning Adjustment (BOZA) Appoint one new member to fill a vacancy 

ending March 31, 2015. 
 

Environmental Advisory Board (EAB) Appoint one new member to fill a vacancy 
ending March 31, 2014. 
 

 
 
ATTACHMENT A – Vacancy Report 
ATTACHMENT B – List of Applicants 
 
 

Agenda Item 8B     Page 2Packet Page     532



Vacancy Report
Boards and Commissions Database7/23/2013 Page 1 of 1

Board of Zoning Adjustment

Seat #: Requirement: Status:Occupant: Sex: End Date:Resigned:Term:
5 Citizen at Large ResignedLaura Coates F 03/15/201506/17/20135

Board Gender Makeup:
Sex: Count:
F 2
M 3

Environmental Advisory Board

Seat #: Requirement: Status:Occupant: Sex: End Date:Resigned:Term:
4 Citizen at Large ResignedVictoria Mandell F 04/01/201406/07/20135

Board Gender Makeup:
Sex: Count:
F 3
M 2

End Date prior to 7/23/2013

Attachment A

Agenda Item 8B     Page 3Packet Page     533



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 8B     Page 4Packet Page     534



Applicant List
Boards and Commissions Database7/23/2013 Page 1 of 2

Board of Zoning Adjustment Applicants
Christopher John Lane
235 Iroquois Drive
Boulder, CO 80303
Occupation: Snell & Wilmer, LLP - real estate attorney

Attachment B

Agenda Item 8B     Page 5Packet Page     535



Applicant List
Boards and Commissions Database7/23/2013 Page 2 of 2

Environmental Advisory Board Applicants
Ann Livingston
4837 W Moorhead Circle
Boulder, CO 80305
Occupation: Livingston SEAS - consultant

Morgan M. Lommele
1310 Lehigh Street
Boulder, CO 80305
Occupation: Kearns & West, Inc.

Bradley Revare
770 36th Street
Boulder, CO 80303
Occupation: 

Attachment B

Agenda Item 8B     Page 6Packet Page     536



 
 

 
 
 

TO: Members of Council 
FROM: Dianne Marshall, City Clerk’s Office 
DATE: August 6, 2013 

SUBJECT: Information Packet 
 

1. Call Ups 
  A. Landmark Alteration Certificate to demolish a non-contributing 

building at 1023 Walnut St. in the Downtown Historic District and in 
its place construct a new four-story commercial building to be 
connected via a bridge to the proposed building at 1048 Pearl St., 
amending the Landmarks Board September 19,2012 
approval by the Landmarks Board with conditions (HIS2012-00181). 
This Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call-up 
no later than August 6, 2013. 

 B. Vacation of a 19,998 square foot portion of an existing fifteen-foot 
utility easement in association with the Kalmia Estates subdivision and 
housing development (ADR2013-00078). 
 

2. Internal Information Item 
 A. Boulder’s Energy Future Budget Update 

 
3. Boards and Commissions 

 A. Arts Commission Amended – February 20, 2013 
 B. Arts Commission – July 24, 2013 
 C. Landmarks Board – June 5, 2013 
 D. Library Commission – June 5, 2013 

 
4. Declarations 

 None. 
 

 

Packet Page     537



 

Packet Page     538



INFORMATION PACKET
MEMORANDUM

To: City Council

From: Jane S. Brautigam,City Manager
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Plarmer
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner

Date: July 30, 2013

Call-up ltem and Extension of the Call-up Period: Landmark Alteration Certificate to
demolish a non-contributing building at 1.023 Walnut St. in the Downtown Historic District and

in its place construct a new four-story commercial building to be connected via a bridge to the
proposed building at 1048 Pearl St., amending the Landmarks Board September 19,2012
approval by the Landmarks Board with conditions (HIS2012-00181). This Landmark Alteration
Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than August 6,2013.

Executive Summary
The proposal to demolish a non-contributing building at 1023 V/alnut St. in the Downtown
Historic District and in its place construct a new four-story commercial building to be connected
via a sky-bridge to the proposed building at 1048 Pearl St., amending the Landmarks Board
September 19,2012 approval by the Landmarks Board with conditions (HIS2012-00181) was

approved with conditions by the Landmarks Board (4-1,L. Payton opposed) at the July 18,2013
meeting. Because the current proposal calls for the demolition of the existing building (where the

prior application called for the building to be remodeled), a public hearing by the Landmarks
Board was required pursuant to 9-11-14 B.R.C. The July 18,2013 decision was based upon the
board's consideration that the proposed construction meets the requirements in Section 9- 1 1 - 1 8,

B.R.C. 1981.

The Board's July 18, 2013 review was only of the 1023 Walnut Street building. The conditions
of the approval (and the conditions of the September 2012 approval of the building at 1048 Pearl

Street) will be reviewed together by the Landmarks design review committee.

Packet Page     539



The board's approval is subject to a l4-day call-up period by City Council, which ends on
August I,2013. However, the 14-day call-up period cannot be met as the next regularly
scheduled City Council meeting is on August 6,2013.

Section 9-11-16(a) of B.R.C. 1981 states: "The City Manager may extend the call-up period until
the council's next regular meeting, if the manager finds in writing within the original call-up
period that the council will not receive notice of a decision of the board in time to enable it to
call-up the decision for review."

The city manager finds that, because the next regularly scheduled City Council meeting is after
the call-up period, it did not receive notice of the board's decision regarding 1023 Walnut St. in
time to consider call-up within 14 days. Therefore, the City Manager extends the call-up period
for this application until the City Council's next scheduled meeting on August 6,2073.

Approved By:

Jane S. Brautigam,
City Manager

ATTACHMENTS:
A. Notice of Disposition dated July 18,2013
B. Photographs and Drawings of proposal for demolition and new construction at 1023

Walnut St.

Packet Page     540



Notice of Disposition

You are hereby advised that on July 18, 2013 fhe following action was taken:

Attachment A

Approved by a vote of 4-1, L. Payton opposed.

Public hearing and consideration of a Landmark Alteration
Certificate to demolish a non-contributing building at 1023 Walnut
St. in the Downtown Historic District and in its place construct a

new four-story commercial building to be connected via a bridge to
the proposed building at 1048 Pearl St., amending the Landmarks
Board September 19,2012 approval by the Landmarks Board with
conditions (HIS2012-00 1 8 1).

1023 Walnut St.

Downtown 5 - (DT-5)

Nichols Partnership

ACTION:

APPLICATION:

LOCATION:

ZONING:

APPLICANT:

This decision was arrived at based on the purposes and intent of the Historic Preservation Code as set

forth in 9-11-18, B.R.C., 1981, as applied to the Landmark Alteration Certificate application.

Public Hearing
No one spoke to this item.

Motion:
On a motion by M. Gerwing, seconded by K. Snobeck, the Landmarks Board approved (4-I,L.
Payton opposed) the demolition of the non-contributing buildingat 1023 V/alnut St. and in its
place the construction of the proposed new building, finding that subject to the conditions below,
they generally meet the standards for issuance of a Landmark Alteration Certificate (LAC) in
Chapter 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, and adopted the staff memorandum dated 7.18.2013 as findings
of the board, with the following conditions of approval:

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL:

1. The applicant shall be responsible for constructing the project in compliance with the

plans approved on July 18, 2013 (datedJune 26,2013) for 1023 Walnut St. and the plans

approved on Sept. 19,2012 (dated Aug.27,2012) for 1048 Pearl St. except as modified
by these conditions of approval.

Packet Page     541



Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark
Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall revise the plans approved on September 19,

2012 (dared Au9,27,2012) to increase the setback of the west portion of the fourth floor
adjacent to the west plaza and submit the revised plans to the Landmarks Design Review

Committee (LDRC) for its final review and approval.

Details of all exterior materials, including a simplified fenestration pattem, windows,
doors, railing, hardscape features, awnings, visibility and design of mechanical

equipment enclosures, paving, brick, glass, metal, wood, color and the use of only natural

stone, shall be reviewed by the LDRC to ensure that the approval is consistent with the

Downtown Historic District Design Guidelines,the General Design Guidelines,the
Historic Preservation Ordinance, and the intent of this approval.

Articulation of the primary masoffy portion of the Walnut Street elevation to

deemphasize itshorizontality in keeping with the Downtown Historic District Design

Guidelines and the Historic Preservation Ordinance, to be reviewed by the LDRC.

L. Payton did not support the motion. She did not object to the demolition of the building
at 1023 V/alnut St. or the proposed design of the new building, but voted against the

motion because the amended conditions include reference to the building located at 1048

Pearl St. and she does not find the overall project to be consistent with the design

guidelines or the intent of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.

4.

Packet Page     542



Attachment B

Figure L. Corner of Walnut ønd 11,th street looking southwest, 1920

Figure 2. 1-023 Walnut Street, 20L2

Existing building constructed in 1986 proposed for demolition

Packet Page     543



¡,f'

b

Þt

)
:r (l),q)

+t
. lt,

+¡
-rlrl

I f

WalnuLSI¡reet

Figure3. SitePIøn Showingproposedbuildhtg øt L048 PeørI Street (yellozoline)

ønd current proposøI at 1023 Walnut Street (green line)

Packet Page     544



FF r , rrT
lll-fl -

mI
September 19,2012 proposal to remodel 1023 Walnut Streel south façade

Figure 4. Current Proposal and SEtember 19, 2012 Proposal of 1023 Wqlnut south façøde

-..-l---

Current proposal, south façade of L023 Walnut Street

Packet Page     545



Current proposal, southeast elevation oL1023 Walnut Street

September L9,20\2 proposal to remodel 1023 Walnut Streel southeast elevation

Figure 5. Current and Septetnber '19, 2072 Rendering of L023 Wølnut from the Southeqst

Packet Page     546



Current proposal, north (alley) elevation (shaded portion) of 1023 Walnut Street

September 19,2012 proposal to remodel 1023 Walnut Street, north (alley) elevation (colored portion)

Figure 6. Current and September 19, 2012 Rendering of 1023 Wølnut from the north (ølley) eleaøtiotr

Packet Page     547



Current proposal, west elevation (shaded areas)

,r;,=-l-:-1]1I=-lF--- ü-l=-_,É= ;
-i.., 

-_ - _-;:- -: t

I ,TIt il n t-r.trn TtTin j|m il
-ffi-n-l-¡
,r---- J - -L,-[E_! -j

September L9,2012 proposal, west elevation

Figure 7. Current ønd Septenùer 19, 2072 Rendering of 1023 Wølnut from the West eleontiott

Packet Page     548



September 19,2012 proposal, east elevation (colored areas)

Figure 8. Current and September 19, 2012 Rendering of 1023 WøInut from the East eleaøtion

Packet Page     549



Current proposal sky bridge (from west)

r; ir,

I tl r.., ril,i- I lt:il.Iii i il-l

September 19,2012 proposal (from west)

Figure 9. Current ønd September L9, 2072 slcy bridge of 1023 Walnut froru theWest eleoøtion

Packet Page     550



 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
 Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
 Sloane Walbert, Associate Planner 
 
Date:   July 30, 2013 
 
Subject: Call-Up Item:  Vacation of a 19,988 square foot portion of an existing fifteen-foot 

utility easement in association with the Kalmia Estates subdivision and housing 
development (ADR2013-00078). 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The applicant requests vacation of a 19,988 square foot portion of an existing fifteen-foot utility 
easement at 3015 Kalmia Ave (refer to Attachment D for exact location). The easement was 
originally granted to the City of Boulder in 1969 for the extension of a “domestic water supply 
line.” However, the water main previously located in the easement has been removed and there is 
no public need for the portion of utility easement to be vacated. Water services to the new 
subdivision will be located within the public right-of-way along Paonia Street, Carbondale Lane, 
Big Horn Street, and Ouray Street. 
  
The proposed vacation was approved by staff on July 10, 2013. There is one scheduled City 
Council meeting on August 6, 2013 within the 30 day call-up period. 
 
CODE REQUIREMENTS:  
Pursuant to the procedures for easement vacations set forth in subsection 8-6-10(b), B.R.C. 1981, 
the city manager has approved the vacation of a 19,988 square foot portion of the existing fifteen-
foot utility easement. The date of final staff approval of the easement vacation was July 10, 2013 
(refer to Attachment E, Notice of Disposition).  This vacation does not require approval through 
ordinance based on the following criteria:  
 

 It has never been open to the public; and 
 It has never carried regular vehicular or pedestrian traffic.  

 

Packet Page     551



The vacation will be effective 30 days later on August 9, 2013 unless the approval is called up by 
City Council.  
 
FISCAL IMPACTS: 
None identified. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS:  
 Economic: No economic impact is anticipated. 

 
 Environmental: No impacts are anticipated through this utility easement vacation.  
 
 Social: None identified.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
The subject property is a 9.7 acre subdivision and housing development located in the Flex (F) 
zone district. City Council voted to annex the site in October 2011. At this time, Council also 
approved the Site Review application to develop the site with 57 attached and detached dwelling 
units. The final plat for the Kalmia Estates Subdivision was recorded February 20, 2013 
(Reception No. 03291047). The site is bordered by Palo Parkway to the north, Kalmia Avenue to 
the south, Palo Park /Sale Lake subdivisions (existing) to the west, and the developing Northfield 
Commons subdivision to the east (refer to Attachment A, Vicinity Map). The subject 15-foot 
utility easement bisects the property, extending approximately 1,332 feet from Kalmia Avenue to 
Palo Parkway (refer to Attachment B, Site Plan). The easement currently affects the development 
of Lots 2, 5, 8, 24 and 25 within Kalmia Estates. The utility easement must be vacated prior to 
building permit issuance for these properties. 
 
The portion of easement to be vacated was originally dedicated for a 12-inch “domestic water 
supply line” running north-south through the subject property in 1969. The water main previously 
located in the easement has been removed. A water main and water service stubs have been 
approved to be located within the public right-of-way dedicated with the subdivision, per technical 
document review TEC2012-00031 and building permit PMT2013-00775. There are currently no 
public or private utilities or any encroachments located in the easement. Given that there is no 
public need for the easement for which it was intended, failure to vacate the requested portion of 
easement would cause hardship to the property owner by limiting the development potential of 
Lots 2, 5, 8, 24 and 25. 
 
ANALYSIS:  
Staff finds the proposed vacation of a 19,988 square foot portion of an existing fifteen-foot utility 
easement consistent with the standard set forth in subsection (b) of section 8-6-10, “Vacation of 
Public Easements”, B.R.C. 1981. Specifically, staff has determined that no public need exists for 
the portion of easement to be vacated because the water main for which the easement was 
originally dedicated has been removed and water services for the new subdivision will be located 
in public right-of-way. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS:  
Notice of the vacation will be advertised in the Daily Camera within the 30 day call up period. 
Staff has received no written or verbal comments adverse to the vacation.  
 

Packet Page     552



NEXT STEPS:  
If the requested vacation is not called up by City Council then the Deed of Vacation (Attachment  
C) will be recorded. If the requested vacation is called up, and subsequently denied, the applicant 
will be limited to development on the property outside of the easement area. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment A:   Vicinity Map 
Attachment B:   Site Plan 
Attachment C:   Deed of Vacation 
Attachment D:  Exhibit A 
Attachment E:  Notice of Disposition 

 

Packet Page     553



 

Packet Page     554



PALO PKWY 

OURAY ST 

BIG HORN ST 

KALMIA AVE 

Calvary Bible 
ChurchSILVER

TO
N

 ST 

PA
O

N
IA ST 

CARBONDALE LN 

Kalmia Estates 
Subdivision 

Subject 
Easement 

Attachment A 
Vicinity Map

Packet Page     555



 

Packet Page     556



 

Attachment B 
Site Plan

Packet Page     557



 

Packet Page     558



Attachment C 
Deed of Vacation

Packet Page     559



 

Packet Page     560



 

Attachment D 
Exhibit A

Packet Page     561



Attachment D 
Exhibit A

Packet Page     562



 

Attachment E 
Notice of Disposition

Packet Page     563



 

Packet Page     564



 
 

1 
 

 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 Heather Bailey, Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 

Development  
 
Date:   August 6, 2013 
 
Subject: Information Item: Boulder’s Energy Future Budget Update 

 

Budget Update  
 

The municipalization exploration work plan represents a significant undertaking. In 
particular, the legal and technical work necessary to determine the final costs for potential 
acquisition of the local distribution system and launch of a municipal utility will be a 
considerable investment. Recognizing this, in 2011, city voters approved an increase to 
the Utility Occupation Tax in the amount of $1.9 million a year. The use of this tax 
revenue has been allocated to the following categories: 
 

 Legal services (condemnation and FERC Counsel) 
 Consulting services related to possible municipalization and separation of Xcel 

Energy’s (Xcel’s) system (engineering and appraisal services) 
 Salary and benefits (Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 

Development) 
 Purchased services and supplies (office space and supplies) 

 
Following the voter approval in November 2011, the city has focused its “energy future” 
work efforts on exploring municipalization. Work plan items completed since the last 
budget update to council include:    
 

 The results of ongoing modeling and analysis, which shows a municipally owned 
electric utility could still meet the charter metrics. 

 The qualitative analysis which illustrated the value of choosing between a 
municipally owned utility and the status quo with Xcel. 

Packet Page     565



 

2 
 

 The report of the City/Xcel Task Force and recommended next steps. 
 The recommendations from the Governance Working Group. 
 Recommendations from staff to move forward with the next steps supporting 

municipalization, which include approval of an ordinance authorizing the 
condemnation of Xcel’s assets as appropriate, if negotiations to acquire are not 
successful.  In addition, staff recommended continuing to work with Xcel and the 
Task Force to better understand Xcel’s proposal and find ways to collaborate to 
achieve Boulder’s Energy Future Goals. 
 

The 2013 total budget of $3,251,935 is funded from the Utility Occupation Tax, a one-
time general fund request of $303,000 allocated to support high priority staffing needs for 
this project and $1,048,935 prior year carryover from 2012. The carryover reflects 
savings from hiring the director mid-year in 2012 and a delay in spending for legal fees to 
negotiate the purchase of the system and engineering fees to assess and determine the 
technical capabilities of the system. Expenditures have been within the limitations of this 
budget. To date, we have spent $1,431,835 and have committed $1,501,813 for the 
remainder of the year for consulting and purchased services and supply contracts.  
 
The 2013 sources and uses for this effort are provided in the chart below.  In the uses 
section, staff identified uses paid as well as contract commitments and agreements 
through July 2013.  
 

2013 Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Department Budget 

2013 SOURCES:      
         
Utility Occupation Tax 1,900,000     
One-time General Fund 303,000     
2012 Encumbrance Carryover  
($1.9M Utility Occupation Tax)  

417,364  
   

2012 Carryover 
(Environmental Reserve GF) 10,000 

 
   

2012 Carryover 
($1.9M Utility Occupation Tax) 621,571 

 
   

Total 2013 Sources 3,251,935     
       

2013 USES: Budget 
Contingency 
Allocation Paid Encumbered Balance 

        
Personnel 663,000  374,039 288,961 0 
Legal Services 1,400,067  574,241 825,826 0 
Consulting Services 431,036 287,616 397,700 320,952 0 
Purchased Services & Supplies 126,261 25,668 85,855 66,074 0 
2012 Carryover  631,571 -313,284  0 0 318,287 
Total 2013 Uses 3,251,935 0 1,431,835 1,501,813  318,287 

 
 

Packet Page     566



 

3 
 

Other staff resources assigned to this effort have been allocated within existing budgets 
and are separate from the $1.9 million Utility Occupation Tax revenue and $303,000 one-
time general fund request.  This is in alignment with the overall priority of this effort and 
existing roles, responsibilities and funding, as well as the approach historically taken with 
other significant and cross-departmental city projects.  As a reminder, an organizational 
chart showing those assigned to this project and their areas of focus is included as 
Attachment A. A list of staff working on this effort, the percentage of time spent in 2013 
on the project and associated budget allocation is provided in Attachment B. 
 
Attachments: 
Attachment A: Organizational Chart 
Attachment B: Staffing Resources 

Packet Page     567



 

Packet Page     568



ATTACHMENT A 
Organizational Chart 

4 
 

 

City Council 

City Manager 
Jane Brautigam 

City Attorney                   
Tom Carr 

Municipalization 
Heather Bailey 

Executive Team 
Jane Brautigam, Heather Bailey, Tom Carr, 
David Driskell, Bob Eichem, Maureen Rait 

 

Condemnation 
Kathy Haddock,                   
Don Ostrander 

 
 

 

FERC 
David Gehr, 

Duncan and Allen 

Project Coordination & Support 
Heidi Joyce, Ruth McHeyser  

 

Metrics 
Jonathan Koehn  

Financial 
Yael Gichon, 

Cheryl Pattelli, 
Kelly Crandall 

 
 

Resource Mix 
Jonathan Koehn, 

Yael Gichon, 
David Gehr 

 
 

Decision 
Analysis  

David Gehr,   
Kelly Crandall 

 
 

Communications & Outreach 
Sarah Huntley, Andrew Barth, Wynne Adams 

 
 
 

Asset Valuation 
& Reliability 
Bob Harberg, 

Kathy Haddock 
 
 

Asset Valuation   
 
 

Reliability 
  
 
 

SmartGrid 
Kara Mertz 

 
 

Asset Inventory 
Kara Mertz 

 
 

Separation Plan 
Engineering 
Consultant 

 
 

PUC 
Deb Kalish, Jonathan Koehn, 
Kelly Crandall, Duncan and 

Allen 

Packet Page     569



 

Packet Page     570



 
 

5 
 

ATTACHMENT B 
 

Boulder’s Municipalization Exploration Project  
2013 Staffing Resources 

January - June, 2013 
 

 
       
 

Executive Director Source of Funding % of Time   
Heather Bailey Utility Occupation Tax 100                                                         
  $165,495 Utility Occupation Tax    
 
 
Executive Team Source of Funding % of Time        
Jane Brautigam CMO Budget 8    
Tom Carr CAO Budget 15  
David Driskell CP&S Budget 4    
Bob Eichem Finance Budget 7    
Maureen Rait PW Budget 8    
Patrick Von Keyserling Communications Budget 2                                                                             
    $44,792 Estimated Cost 
 

 
Project Team  Source of Funding % of Time     
Andrew Barth (Backfill) General Fund (One-time GF Request) 100  
Kelly Crandall CP&S (CAP Budget) 93   
David Gehr (Backfill) CAO Budget 100    
Yael Gichon CP&S (CAP Budget) 95     
Kathy Haddock CAO Budget 41  
Robert Harberg PW Budget 31  
Sarah Huntley Communications Budget 43    
Heidi Joyce General Fund (One-time GF Request) 100   
Deb Kalish CAO Budget 30   
Jonathan Koehn CP&S Budget 80    
Kara Mertz CP&S (CAP Budget) 42 
Cheryl Pattelli Finance Budget 8                                                       .                                                                         
  $381,191 Estimated Cost    

 
 

Support Source of Funding % of Time     
Wynne Adams   General Fund (One-time GF Request) 100, part-time hours  
Tanya Ariowitsch  CP&S Budget 10 
Brenda Dageforde  PW Budget 4   
Joanna Domaglska  CP&S Budget 3 
Brett Hill  CP&S Budget 3 
Don Jensen  General Fund (One-time GF Request) Temporary, hours vary 
Ruth McHeyser  General Fund (One-time GF Request) Temporary, hours vary 
Sean Metrick  CP&S Budget 41                                                           
   $89,250 Estimated Cost 

 $179,133 ($303K One-time GF Request) 
$336,100 Other Funding Sources  

 

Packet Page     571



 

Packet Page     572



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
Boards and Commissions Minutes 

 
NAME OF COMMISSION:  Boulder Arts Commission 

DATE OF MEETING:  February 16, 2013 
NAME/EXTENSION OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY:   Gregory Ravenwood (x4113) 
MEMBERS:  Brandy LeMae, Linda Haertling, Anna Salim, Ann Moss, Richard Turbiak 
STAFF: Gregory Ravenwood, Valerie Maginnis, Mary Wohl Haan, Mary Fowler, David Mallett, Peggy Bunzli, Tina Briggs, Mike Lamb, 
Jennifer Bray, Kathy Janosko 
COMMUNITY MEMBERS:  Deana Miller, Joy Pak, Don McDonald, Carla Selby, Amy Tremper, Annette Coleman, Marda Kirn, Doris Hass, 
Alice McDonald, Charlotte LaSasso, Barbara Kostanick, David Dadone, Barbara Neal, Elizabeth Kennedy, Larry Kapstein, Bahman Saless, 
Devin Licata, Pesha Rudnick, Rebecca Stumpf, Laura Ann Samuelson 
TYPE OF MEETING:  REGULAR                

Call to Order & Approval of Minutes: The meeting was called to order at 5:02 p.m. The January 16 minutes were approved.  
Public Art: Details of the public art projects for Elks Park were presented and approved. 
Discussion Item: An Ad Hoc committee was created to complete recommendations on the Civic Area Project. 
Arts Department Assessment:  A synopsis of the report was presented by consultants Deana Miller and Barbara Neal. Maginnis 
recommended that commissioners submit questions to her by end of February, which she would then facilitate answers for prior to the 
March BAC meeting. 
Boulder County Arts Alliance: The commission reviewed written reports provided for the 2012 collaboration between BAC and BCAA 
on the Boulder County Arts Leadership Forum and the Business of Arts Workshop. Resolution on two new proposals to continue these 
programs in 2013 was deferred until the March BAC meeting.  
Advancement Program Proposals:  A request for reimbursement for professional development classes was approved for Annette 
Coleman. Scholarships to attend the Americans for the Arts Convention in Pittsburgh (June, 2013) were approved for Meredith Grundei, 
Annette Coleman, David Dadone, Shoshana Fanizza, and James LaVita. 
Theater Rental/Marketing Assistance Proposals: Proposals were received from Dianela Acosta, Margarita Blush, Parlando School for 
the Arts (Travis LaBerge), Square Product Theatre (Emily Harrison), Betsy Tobin and The Upstart Crow, Inc. (Joan Bell). Proposals were 
funded at these amounts: Margarita Blush ($1600), Parlando School for the Arts ($3000), square product theatre ($3000), Betsy Tobin 
($3000) and The Upstart Crow ($3000). 
Mini-Grant Proposals: Proposals were received from Art as Action (Sarah Leversee), Margarita Blush, Angie Burnham, Boulder Butoh 
Festival (Amelia Burns), Boulder Chamber Orchestra (Elizabeth Kennedy), Boulder Ensemble Theatre company (Heather Beasley), Jenn 
Calvano, Ana Maria Hernando, Historic Boulder, Inc. (Arianna Funk), Rosa Lawrence, Anna Mahorski, Holly McClelland, Nathan 
Montgomery, New Horizons PreSchools (Isolde Stewart), Seicento Baroque Ensemble (Deborah Vink), Rebecca Stumpf and Tinhouse 
Experimental Dance Theatre (Joanna Rotkin).  Proposals were funded at these amounts: Rebecca Stumpf ($1000), Historic Boulder Inc. 
($500), Ana Maria Hernando ($1000), Art as Action ($1000), Joanna Rotkin ($1000), square product theatre ($1000), Margarita Blush 
($1000), Boulder Ensemble Theater Company ($1000), Nathan Montgomery ($1000), Angie Burnham ($1000), Rosa Lawrence ($500), 
Jenn Calvano ($700) and New Horizons Preschools ($600). 
Arts in Education Proposals:  Proposals were received from Art as Action (Sarah Leversee), Boulder Ensemble Theatre Company 
(Heather Beasley), Boulder Philharmonic Orchestra (Kevin Shuck), Annette Coleman, Colorado Shakespeare Festival (Amanda Giguere), 
Frequent Flyers Productions, Inc. (Nancy Smith), LOCAL Theater Company (Pesha Rudnick), Katharine Noll, Virginia Schick and Tinhouse 
Experimental Dance Theatre (Joanna Rotkin). Proposals were funded at these amounts:  Boulder High School ($2470), LOCAL Theater 
Company ($3000), Colorado Shakespeare Festival ($3000), Art as Action ($3000), Joanna Rotkin ($3000), Boulder Philharmonic 
Orchestra ($3000) and Frequent Flyers Productions, Inc. ($2995). 
Grant Budget Reports:  Reports were approved for Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (2011 Arts in Education Grant – Art Stop on 
the Go) and WreckingBall Theater Lab (2012 Theater Rental/Marketing Assistance Grant – Moulin Scrooge). 
Adjournment: The meeting was adjourned at 8:25 p.m. 
ATTACH BRIEF DETAILS OF ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS: Don McDonald presented a proposal to honor Boulder’s Nobel Prize winners 
through a public art project intended for the Pearl Street Mall or City Courthouse. Boulder Library Foundation president Barbara 
Kostanick voiced concerns in relation to the Arts Assessment and availability of library facilities for programs funded by the Foundation. 
TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY NEXT MEETINGS:  
5:30 p.m., Wednesday, March 20, 2013 in the North Meeting Room, Boulder Public Library, 1001 Arapahoe Avenue. 

 
Packet Page     573



 

Packet Page     574



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
Boards and Commissions Minutes 

 
NAME OF COMMISSION:  Boulder Arts Commission 

DATE OF MEETING:  July 24, 2013 
NAME/EXTENSION OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY:   Gregory Ravenwood (x4113) 
MEMBERS:  Felicia Furman, Richard Turbiak, Anna Salim, Ann Moss 
STAFF: Greg Ravenwood, Valerie Maginnis, Mary Wohl Haan, Mary Fowler, David Mallett, Sam Assefa, Lesli Ellis 
COMMUNITY MEMBERS:  Chelsea Pohl,  Annette Coleman, Marda Kirn  
TYPE OF MEETING:  REGULAR                

Call to Order & Approval of Minutes: The meeting was called to order at 5:30 p.m. The June 19 minutes were approved.  
Civic Area Plan: Assefa and Ellis presented an update on the the Civic Area Plan and the commissioners provided additional 
feedback on performance venues. 
Grant Project Status Updates: Memos from Marda Kirn and Nancy Smith were reviewed and extension requests for their 
projects were granted. 
Director’s Memorandum: Maginnis reviewed items detailed in her memorandum, including the public art projects for the 
Library’s renovation project, the Arts Manager recruitment process, the proposed NoBo Art District community meeting and the 
proposed deaccessioning of Boulder Municipal Airport public art sculpture.  
Collaborative Arts Project: Salim spoke to her meetings with BMoCA, the Dairy, CU Presents and Boulder Bach who wish to bring 
the arts community together for a larger collaborative project.  
Delinquent Grant Budget Reports: Ravenwood reviewed arts grant recipients with delinquent grant budget reports. 
Letter proposing General Operating Grant Category: A letter from local artists regarding their desire for the BAC to create a 
general operating support grant was reviewed. The commissioners ultimately agreed that this topic should have some part in the 
conversation of the BAC grant categories later in the meeting. 
 Arts and Business Collaborative Grant Criteria and Q&A Session: The three criteria noted for the ABC Grant were reviewed and 
the commissioners suggested these changes for scoring: 1) collaborative and mutually beneficial = 45%; 2) meeting an artistic or 
cultural need in the community = 30%; and 3) profitability = 25%. Pohl asked if the weights just discussed would be implemented 
for the upcoming grant round. She noted her desire for higher character counts in the text fields to provide more information. 
Coleman spoke to the possibility that the ABC grant category would be discontinued in 2014, noting that it would create 
hardship for artists who were anticipating its availability. 
Grant Categories Discussion: The Commissioners responded to queries from Mallet who recorded the consensus on the topics, 
with the intention of producing a comprehensive document to present to the commissioners prior to the next meeting. 
Proposal for Rent Free Space at Macky Auditorium: The application from Irene Vilar for use of Macky Auditorum for the 
Americas Latino Festival was rejected for failure to submit the rental confirmation letter. 
Grant Budget and AFTA Convention Scholarship Reports: Moss motioned to approve all reports presented [Boulder Fringe 
Festival – 2013 Major Grant (Five 5ths: Macbeth); Boulder Philharmonic Orchestra – 2013 Arts in Education Grant (Discovery 
Concerts); Jenn Calvano – 2013 Mini-Grant (The Love of Three Oranges); The Catamounts – 2012 Arts in Education Grant (Songs 
of China); Annette Coleman, David Dadone, Meredith Grundei, Shoshana Fanizza and James LaVita – 2013 Americans for the Arts 
Convention Scholarships; Parlando School for the Arts – 2012 Arts in Education Grant (At-Risk Music Class Educational 
Collaborative Project); Parlando School for the Arts – 2013 Theater Rental Grant (Musical Theater Production of "Annie!")] 
Salim seconded and the motion passed unanimously. 
Adjournment: The meeting was adjourned at 8:58 p.m. 
ATTACH BRIEF DETAILS OF ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS: Chelsea Pohl spoke to her intended application to the Arts and Business 
Collaborative Grant category, the Boulder Tattoo Project, and presented packets of information. 
TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY NEXT MEETINGS:  
6 p.m., Wednesday, August 21, 2013 in the North Meeting Room, Boulder Public Library, 1001 Arapahoe Avenue. 

 

Packet Page     575



 

Packet Page     576



Packet Page     577



Packet Page     578



Packet Page     579



 

Packet Page     580



 

Approved Minutes 
Boulder Public Library Commission meeting 

June 5, 2013 at the Main Library 
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT 

Anne Sawyer 
Celeste Landry 
Donna O’Brien 
Anna Lull 

 
COMMISSION MEMBERS ABSENT 

Dan King 
 
LIBRARY STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT 

Valerie Maginnis, Library & Arts Director 
Jennifer Miles, Deputy Library Director 
Leanne Slater, Administrative Specialist 
Crystal Niedzwiadek, Teen Librarian 
Mary Jane Holland, Children and Teen Library Manager 
Ghada Elturk, Outreach Librarian 
Gwen Holton, Branch Library Specialist 
Lacey Bearden, Library Shelving Aide 
   

CITY STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT 
Glenn Magee, Facilities Design and Construction Manager 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
David Mallett, Budget Analyst 
Jennifer Bray, Communication Specialist III  

 
PUBLIC PRESENT 
Alice McDonald, Lacy Bearden, Amy Tremper, Sharon Morris (Director of Library Development at the Colorado 
State Library), and Judy Volc. 
 
BOULDER TEEN ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER PRESENT (BTAB) 
None 
 
REPRESENTATIVES FROM STUDIOTROPE 
Brigitte Kerr, Designer 
Joseph Montalbano, Managing Partner 
 
PRESENTERS 
Jamie LaRue, Director of Douglas County Libraries 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
Agenda Items B & C were added under Matters from the commission. 
 
Two agenda items, flood assessment update and timeline for the patron survey have been added to the July 
meeting’s agenda. 
 

Packet Page     581



 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

1. Amy Tremper from the Holiday neighborhood (in north Boulder) updated the commission about the 
success of the Little Lending Libraries at Lucky’s and in the Holiday neighborhoods.  Both libraries are 
going so well that they are almost completely out of children’s books. 

 
She mentioned one of tonight’s agenda items (regarding the concept of a north Boulder library station 
operating in the WestView Apartments storefront) and the community input meetings that are [proposed 
to] happen in July.  In light of this, Ms. Tremper invited everyone to attend an event in Holiday Park on 
July 13.  At this event will be: food cooked by the Boulder Shelter, Boulder Housing Partners (BHP) will 
offer Izze drinks, live music, and artists (of the Little Lending Libraries).  She said that Parks and Recreation 
is planning to have a table at the event to talk about the park and that the library is also welcome to be 
involved.   

 
Tremper also mentioned that she hopes that the Planning Department will also attend this event.  She 
told the commission that Planning is currently working on the north Boulder sub-community plan and that 
they are not currently planning to consider the following:  

 the potential of a north Boulder storefront/branch 

 traffic concerns 

 the art district.   
Tremper said that she will be speaking at the Planning Board’s meeting tomorrow in favor of 
consideration of the items above.   
 

2. Alice McDonald told the commission that Diana Sherry, former employee of Boulder Public Library and 
founder of BoulderReads!, would be recognized at a community event (an awards luncheon) put on by 
the Boulder Chamber called Women Who Light Up the Community. Ms. McDonald hoped the Library 
Commission would somehow recognize Diana for the work that she has done for the library and the 
community. 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. APPROVAL OF MAY 1, 2013 MINUTES 
Landry moved and O’Brien seconded that the May 1, 2013 minutes be approved as amended.  The motion 
passed unanimously (4-0, King absent.) 

 
B. COMMISSION UPDATE (FROM MEMO) 

None. 
 

C. LIBRARY UPDATE (FROM MEMO) 

Agenda Item D, under Matters from the commission was added to the agenda. 
 

PRESENTATIONS 

 

A. JAMIE LARUE, DIRECTOR OF DOUGLAS COUNTY LIBRARIES PRESENTATION  OF  BENEFITS/TRADE-OFFS OF 

LIBRARY DISTRICTS AND DOUGLAS COUNTY’S EXPERIENCE  (37 MINUTES) 
 

 
Jamie LaRue worked on library districts in Springfield, IL and in Greeley before turning his attention to 
creating a library district in Douglas County.  The Douglas County Public Library went from being the worst 
in the state in 1990 to, 15 years later, #1 in the nation.  (See Hennen's American Public Library 2009 
ratings based on data collected in 2006. 

Packet Page     582



 

http://www.haplr-index.com/HAPLR100.htm) Douglas County has gone from having 
4 library facilities to 7.  (The new libraries were all built with cash.) The district asked for a 1.5 mill levy in 
1990 and then an increase to 4 mills in 1996 - equivalent to $60/year for a typical homeowner. 
 
LaRue noted that more than half of the libraries in Colorado are now library districts and argued that it is 
because districts are the best governance structures.  He passed out a chart (see the meeting handout 
posted on the Commission webpage 
http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2013/handouts/13JunMeetingHandouts.pdf) showing the 
main considerations when creating a library district. The state has helpful resource people, including 
Sharon Morris who was in attendance. 
 
LaRue elaborated on the advantages of a district:  

 districts on average have a 20% higher performance across the board than non-district libraries, 

 dependence on a property tax rather than a sales tax gives libraries a two-year warning about an 
economic downturn,  

 citizens support libraries more than politicians, and  

 libraries can focus on services rather than looking for dollars.   
 
The successful campaign to become a library district is followed by a year of transition.  A big part of the 
both the campaign and the transition is having a transparent process.  It’s also very important to have 
stories that show the value of a library.  For instance, every tax dollar spent on libraries results in $5 to $6 
in services.  Downsides of forming a library district are that there is a learning curve and that a library 
trustee has “no life” during the transition year when there the library is typically under an 
intergovernmental agreement (IGA).  The new library district’s governing authority is typically appointed 
by the governing authorities of the original area, e.g., city councils and county commission.   
  
There are two options for placing a library district issue on the ballot: by citizen petition or by resolution 
of the local governing authority/ies.  Under the Taxpayer Bill of Rights (TABOR) the wording of the ballot 
issue can be as follows, “Shall a district be created at this mill rate that generates this much money the 
first year?”  LaRue said that after that if the assessed valuation grows faster than the general consumer 
price index (CPI) than the mill levy might get lowered; the district could also ask to be de-Bruced which 
would allow the additional tax money to be retained. 
 
If there is no debt on the facilities, usually the facilities become the property of the new governing 
authority along with all the costs of running it.  If there is debt service to be retired, the original owner 
may keep the facility until the debt is paid off, just charging the district a nominal fee, say, $1 a year.  If 
there are bad feelings between the original governing authority and the new district, the original 
authority may choose to give the facilities to the district for a limited amount of time during which the 
district will work on acquiring a new facility. 

 
 

B. 2013 SUMMER READING PROGRAM- MARY JANE HOLLAND AND CRYSTAL NIEDZWIADEK (13 MINUTES) 
 

             Crystal Niedzwiadek, the new Teen Services Librarian, introduced herself and explained her 

             professional background and shared that she is very excited to be here.  

 

            Holland presented information regarding the children’s Summer Reading Program (SRP) including 

            an excerpt from Bill Harley’s song, “You’re in Trouble.”  (More information can be founder at  

            http://bplnow.boulderlibrary.org/event/kids-family/summer-reading).  The Teen program this 

            summer was planned along with the BTAB and is called the Teen Film Nexus.  (More information    

            can be found at http://boulderlibrary.org/youth/).  Holland shared the following statistics: 

Packet Page     583

http://www.haplr-index.com/HAPLR100.htm
http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2013/handouts/13JunMeetingHandouts.pdf
http://bplnow.boulderlibrary.org/event/kids-family/summer-reading
http://boulderlibrary.org/youth/


 

            810 children signed up at the Main Library, 197 at the Meadows branch and 125 children signed   

            up at the Reynolds branch.  (More information can be found at http://boulderlibrary.org/youth/).   

           The commission was impressed with how many events were included in this year’s SRP, 

           especially in the midst of the library’s renovation project. 

 

COMMISSION PRIORITY DISCUSSION AND INPUT 

 

A. MAIN LIBRARY RENOVATION PROJECT UPDATE – STUDIOTROPE TO PRESENT A SUMMARY OF THE RESULTS FROM 

THE INREACH AND COMMUNITY AGREE MEETING; DISCUSSION AND SIGN-OFF ON MAIN LIBRARY RENOVATION 

PLANS (55 MINUTES) 
 
Brigitte Kerr, designer and Joseph Montalbano, managing partner presented a summary to the Library 
Commission regarding the results of the InReach and Community Agree meeting, the Look Books that 
were sent to the commission, and discussed the Main Library Renovation plans.  Montalbano displayed 
some visual renderings of the proposed designs.   
 
Montalbano explained, visually, the ways that people will “flow” through the building after the 
renovation.  He said that a better flow will help to create better connections, which helps with idea 
development, and more serendipitous discoveries.   
 
During the “walkthrough”, Commission discussed the following issues/concerns with 
studiotrope and library staff: 
 
- why the narrower “sandbar” entrance? We’ve taken away primary staff spaces in the 
heart of the building to improve the sight lines and flow of the library, we’ve moved 
staff offices to the entrance area. This will be more efficient to respond to service issues 
too. 
 
- while lower shelving improves line-of-sight and security, we don’t want it affecting the 
size of the collection. Moving from 6 foot shelves (which don’t use the bottom shelf as 
it’s difficult for some patrons to reach) to 3 foot shelves, how are we accommodating the 
full collection without making it difficult to reach? 
 

- just started to assess the collection needs with staff 
- bottom shelf may be raised above floor level; combination of 3’ and 5’ shelving 
- looking at collection maintenance based on the age of the items, their condition, 
  and how they are used 
- a different footprint and more efficient shelving (fuller shelves) may reduce the 
numbers for “inches” of shelving space needed 
 

- how will the steeper ramps impact those with disabilities? and how will the end of 
tunnel “corral” affect emergency exit? Montalbano explained that the ramps will be 
within code and the “corral” is just meant to be a terminus of the ramp 
being an object, not a narrowing of width. 
 
- having an enclosed teen space is something BTAB requested early in this process; yet 
it’s currently designed as open. Teens will naturally make noise, but being enclosed 
doesn’t necessarily imply to be a license to be rowdy. They want the ability to have 
smaller (non-public) performances (music, poetry slam, etc.) in their teen area without 
impacting the rest of the library. Can we change this to be enclosed? or could it be 
optionally open/closed like the rapids area? BTAB also requested a sink for water access 

Packet Page     584

http://boulderlibrary.org/youth/


 

in teen space; this is being considered in the budget and by librarians. 
 
- are we incorporating plants since people love the trees? This improves air quality and is 
unique. Since the trees are likely going away, what will replace the verticality of the 
trees? 

- looking at plants and other natural elements; big plants are expensive and require 
  maintenance, so we should think about this early. 
- looking at public art to fill vertical spaces 
 

- for the entrance technologies - these computer display areas could be an opportunity for 
innovation; can we work with Boulder technology partners to create something 
innovative and interactive? 
 
O’Brien commented that after seeing the initial 3D run through of the library redesign at 
the Agree meeting, she was very excited and moved by the photographs and design 
opportunities to make the building we love richer, more attractive, and fix problem areas. 
It was an emotional experience. Commissioners agreed. 
 
Sawyer moved and O’Brien seconded a motion which stated support for the design 
proposals as presented along with the ideas suggested by the commission and the pieces 
that are still left to be designed, withstanding. The motion also supported proceeding with 
the design development. The motion passed unanimously (4-0, King absent.) 
 

 (More information can be found at http://news.boulderlibrary.org/). 

 
B. LIBRARY PROGRAM PRIORITIES AND LONG-RANGE PLANNING (23 MINUTES) 

  

1. REVIEW OUTREACH GOAL INFORMATION 
 
Maginnis read the Outreach Goal Objectives Summary, and then pointed out that BPL is beginning to look 
at outreach services through a different lens while not forgetting the underserved population indicated in 
the objectives.  The new trends are to tailor services to the changing community and to enhance and 
promote the library’s image.  A specific example is “a librarian at every table,” where librarians share their 
knowledge by being involved in child care councils, the Chamber of Commerce, and health care initiatives, 
i.e., untraditional settings outside of the library.   
 
Four items from the Outreach Goal’s Action Plan were not included in the packet and will be included in 
the July packet although there may not be any information for them. 
 
Landry thought that several other items could be added to the Outreach Goal information, e.g., Family 
Place Library, notary services and the North Boulder Library station.  Sawyer suggested that we add 
Feedback forms (paper and online) to Community Input.  It was noted that there may be overlap between 
the Outreach Goal and some other sections, an issue that may need to be resolved.  

 
It was suggested that the library expand its outreach to schools in general, i.e. more partnerships that kids 
could benefit from in order to make the library (and its programs) more broadly available to the 
community. 

 

C. FOLLOW-UP RESPONSE TO ARTS AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS (19 MINUTES) 
 
Maginnis told the commission that two board members of the Boulder Library Foundation would be 
offering their feedback on the Arts and Cultural Programs Assessment and that this information would be 

Packet Page     585

http://news.boulderlibrary.org/


 

included as an addendum to the assessment.  Staff agreed to provide a copy of this addendum to the 
Library Commission once it is finalized. 
 

               Maginnis said that the Arts Commission focuses their time and energy on managing and 

               facilitating the arts grants, promoting the arts and, more currently, researching public art.  She 

               said that the Arts Commission does not focus time and energy on programming.   

 

There was discussion around the Library Commission’s purview over the things that are in the Arts 

division. Additionally, there was discussion around the fact that the Arts and Cultural Services Manager is 

funded through the Arts division and budget but does work for the Library division. 

 

Maginnis acknowledged that one could interpret the Arts and Cultural Manager’s job description so that 

that person is in charge of all programming, but in reality that is not the case.  No decision has been made 

about whether the Special Programs Coordinator will report to a manager in the library division or the 

arts division and that feedback will be given serious consideration.   Landry noted that both the staff and 

the assessment recommended that the Special Programs Coordinator report to the Library Division.   

 

Lull asked if we needed to better define the roles of the library division and arts division if a library district 
is pursued.  Maginnis said she thought that was important. 

 

This continued discussion was tabled for a later time.  

 

MATTERS FROM THE COMMISSION 

 

A. UPDATE ON COMMISSION WORKSHOP PLANNING 

 

The Library Commission Workshop will be held either on Aug. 17 or Aug. 24.  There will be a facilitator 

present, to be determined who that may be.  The topics to be covered are the vision and planning for the 

library, reviewing guidelines for interacting both between staff and the commission and among the 

commission.    

 

PLEASE NOTE, LATER:  This workshop has been scheduled from 9 a.m. to 4 p.m. on Saturday, August 17 in the 

Meadows Room at Chautauqua on Saturday, August 17.  

 

       B .  CONGRATULATORY LETTER TO GHADA ELTURK FOR RECEIVING THE AMERICAN LIBRARY  

                 ASSOCIATION 2013 EMIERT (ETHNIC AND MULTICULTURAL INFORMATION EXCHANGE ROUND TABLE) 

                 AWARD 

 

Please see Attachment A. for a copy of this letter.  A press release in regards to this award was discussed.  

Commission Sawyer offered to approach the news media if needed. 

 

       C.   INFORMATION ON THE LIBRARY’S WEBSITE 

 

Landry asked that we have a link to the list of the commission subcommittees on the Library 
Commission’s webpage.  She also asked to have the names and titles of the Design Advisory 

Packet Page     586



 

Group members on one of the Library’s Renovation Project pages.  Commission approved both 
ideas, and staff agreed and suggested the Share Your Ideas page for the DAG information. 
 

D. BUDGET QUESTIONS FROM JUNE 2013 LIBRARY UPDATE MEMO 

 

David Mallett, Budget Analyst, answered the Library Commission’s questions in regards to the 

adjustments to base requests.  These ATB requests are modifications of the original budget.  The $18K is 

for arts grants that have not yet been distributed from 2012.  The $197K from un-awarded grants money 

and the unspent salary for the vacant Arts and Cultural Services Manager position will be spent on public 

art, in particular for the renovation.  Sawyer asked if the Library Commission would be involved in the 

decisions on the public art component of the renovation.  Maginnis and Miles said yes.  The city has a 

public arts policy which allows for one or more representatives of the Library Commission to be involved 

in those decisions. 

   

(For more information, please see the June 2013 Library Update Memo at 

http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2013/packet/JunCompletePacket.pdf). 

   

MATTERS FROM THE DEPARTMENT 
 

A. UPDATE ON NORTH BOULDER LIBRARY STATION PROPOSAL (WITH TIMELINE) 

             Staff agreed to add the book drop return drop box and holds pick up to the list of amenities for the 
             north Boulder library station proposal. 

 

             There will be more information presented at the July meeting in regards to possibly having a 

             community input meeting at the July 13 event in Holiday Park.  

 

             Mallett offered a correction to the information in the proposal that was distributed as part of the 

             memo on this topic:  Assessing availability of funds/resources available for the North Boulder 

             Library Station is currently happening now in the budget process, not in Nov.-Dec. 2013. 

 

ITEMS FOR INCLUSION IN THE ACTION SUMMARY 
 
Commission discussed items for the Action Summary.   

 

NEXT COMMISSION MEETING (ROLLOVER ITEMS AND DATE) 
 
The next Library Commission meeting has been rescheduled and will be held at 6 p.m. on Wednesday, July 10 in 
the North Meeting Room at the Main Library and will include the following agenda items: Main Library renovation 
project update from the Design Advisory Group (DAG), presentation on the Boulder Civic Area project, the flood 
assessment results and options, community space and facilities information and vision, and the patron survey 
information and proposed timeline. 
Meeting adjourned at 8:50 p.m. 
 
Approved By ___________________________________________________    Date ___________ 
 
Please note Commissioner Sawyer approved these minutes on July 24, 2013. 

Packet Page     587

http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2013/packet/JunCompletePacket.pdf


Approved by Council 10/19/04  

Council Working Agreements 
 

Council Process: 
• The Council will work on general discipline in being prepared to ask questions and make 

comments. 
• The Council asks the Mayor to intervene if discussion on agenda items extends beyond a 

reasonable time frame. 
• The council will engage in the practice of colloquy to fully explore the different sides of a 

specific point. 
• The Mayor will ask the city clerk to set the timer lights for council members if 

discussions begin to exceed efficient debate.  Members should respect the lights as a time 
reminder, but will not be bound by them as absolute limits. 

• Rather than restating a point, council members should simply say “I agree.” 
• The council agenda committee may, with advance notice, adjust each public speaker's 

time to two rather than three minutes during public hearings for items on which many 
speakers want to address the council. 

• Council members will grant each other permission to mentor and support each other on 
how each person contributes to the goal of being accountable for demonstrating 
community leadership. 

• In order to hear each other respectfully and honor the public, council will avoid body 
language that could convey disrespect, side conversations, talking to staff, whispering to 
neighboring council members, passing notes, and leaving the council chambers. 

• Regarding not revisiting past discussions, the council should check-in with fellow 
members periodically to ensure that this is not an issue. 

 
Council Communication: 

• Council members agree to keep quasi-judicial roles scrupulously clean between members 
of boards and members of council, like expressing ideas to board members on things 
coming before the Board, and carefully disclose or recuse themselves when they're is 
involvement with board members on a topic.   

• Council agrees to e-mail the city manager about issues that they run into that staff or 
boards may be working on so that the manager can be actively involved in managing 
issues and keeping the full council informed well in advance of items coming before 
council for action.  

• Members will keep the full council informed on issues from committees, public groups or 
other agencies that they are following, the a hot line e-mails, brief verbal reports at the 
end of council meetings or other means. 

• The Council will find ways to support majority council decisions and adequately inform 
the public, through response letters that explain how divergent points of view were heard 
and honored in decisions, via standard e-mail responses for hot issues, by occasional 
council Letters to the Editor to clarify the facts, or by seeking out reporters after meetings 
to explain controversial decisions. 

 
Council Committees 

• Council goal committee meetings will be scheduled to accommodate the council 
members on the committee.   

• Notice of the times and places for each goal committee meeting will be noticed once per 
month in the Daily Camera.   

• The council agenda will include time for reports from committees under Matters from 
Members of Council, noting that written communications from the committees are 
appropriate as well. 

 
 

Packet Page     588



An updated Council Master 
Calendar will be provided again 

beginning August 20. 

Packet Page     589



 
 
 
 

City Council Goals – 2013  
 
Top Priorities:  
 
1. Boulder’s Energy Future  
The top priority for the City in 2013 is the development of a framework for planning the 
energy future for the city of Boulder. This framework will focus on the idea of localization, 
the overarching goal of which is:  
To ensure that Boulder residents, businesses and institutions have access to energy that 
is increasingly clean, reliable and competitively priced.  
 
2. Climate Action Plan  
  
Outline the next generation of climate action efforts in Boulder  
 
Consider extension of CAP tax  
 
3. Affordable Housing  
  
Receive report of the Task force created in 2010 to evaluate goals and the approach to 
affordable housing and Based on Council review and discussion of these recommendations, 
develop an action plan to improve the availability of affordable housing in the city  
 
Consider policies regarding inclusionary housing for rental units  
 
4. Civic Center Master Plan  
  
Study and develop a master plan for the area between 15th and 9th Streets, with a focus on 
Farmer’s Market and area between Broadway and 15th Street.  
 

Packet Page     590



Next Tier Priorities:  
1. University Hill Revitalization  
  
Continue work of Ownership Group to develop comprehensive revitalization strategy  
 
Investigate formation of a general improvement district, including the commercial area and 
part of the residential area to control trash and other problems  
 
Change boundaries of BMS land use to coincide with UHGID through BVCP process  
 
Support private development and investment in Hill area  
 
Partner with CU to consider opportunities for properties in the Hill area  
 
Provide an opportunity to explore big ideas  
 
2. Homelessness  
  
Participate in Ten Year Plan to Address Homelessness  
 
Balance long term and short term approaches to address needs  
 
Invest new resources in Housing First model  
 
Work with partners, such as BOHO, to address approaches to immediate needs  
 
3. Boulder Junction Implementation  
 
Work with RTD and selected developer of site to maximize mixed use urban center  
  
Invest in planned infrastructure  
 
Achieve goals of plan while ensuring flexibility in working with developers  
 
Prioritize city actions to facilitate private investment  
 
Focus additional planning work on reconsidering use for Pollard site  
 

Packet Page     591



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 1

 
City Council 

2013 Work Plan by Council Goal 
 

TOP PRIORITIES 
 

GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBooouuullldddeeerrr’’’sss   EEEnnneeerrrgggyyy   FFFuuutttuuurrreee   
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – ongoing 
analysis of municipalization and 
work on Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at roundtables  

 Recommended strategies to achieve 
community’s energy goals - Study 
Session and Public Hearing 

 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – 
based on the strategies 
approved by Council in 1st 
Quarter, ongoing analysis of 
municipalization and work on 
Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at 
roundtables  

 Municipalization Exploration 
Project Work Plan Phase 2 – 
Study Session 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – 
ongoing analysis of 
municipalization and work on 
Energy Action Plan with updates 
to council at roundtables  

 Study Session 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – ongoing 
analysis of municipalization and 
work on Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at roundtables 

 Study Session  

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCllliiimmmaaattteee   AAAccctttiiiooonnn   PPPlllaaannn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric 

Project 
 Climate Commitment – RFQ for 

consulting assistance for targets and 
goal setting, development of new 
GHG inventory, and tracking and 
reporting tools 

 Energy Efficiency: 
o Launch of 2013 program priorities 
o Upgrades in City Buildings – 

employee education and outreach 
project (IP) 

 Disposable Bag Fee – 
implementation plan and revised 
budget (IP) 

 Transportation Master Plan (TMP) – 

 Commercial Energy Efficiency 
Strategy (CEES) - feedback on 
options (Study Session) 

 Climate Commitment – Study 
Session to review program 
annual targets, short/ long term 
goals, tracking and reporting 
systems 

 Electric/ Hybrid vehicles – 
project closeout 

 Energy Efficiency – finalize 
Market Innovations approach  
(Study Session) 

 Solar/ Wind Generation Facility 
Code Changes 

 SmartRegs – code changes 

 CEES – adopt Energy Rating and 
Reporting Ordinance 

 Climate Commitment – policy 
integration with TMP and ZWMP 

 Energy Efficiency – launch 
Market Innovations competition 

 Zero Waste Master Plan (ZWMP) 
– draft 

 Climate Commitment – policy 
integration with TMP and ZWMP 

 Energy Efficiency  
o Upgrades in City Buildings – 

results of employee education 
and outreach (IP) 

 SmartRegs – options for quality 
control of rental housing 
inspections 

 

Packet Page     592



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 2

initial results of Transportation 
Funding Task Force (Study Session) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAffffffooorrrdddaaabbbllleee   HHHooouuusssiiinnnggg   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 ADU/ OAU – study results (IP) 
 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 

issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 Density and Distribution of 
affordable and special needs 
housing - report 

 Inclusionary Housing Rental Policy 
– consideration of ordinance 
changes following stakeholder 
engagement process 

 Mobile Homes Parks – legislative 
agenda 

 Comprehensive Housing 
Strategy 
o Stakeholder engagement 

process 
o Study Session 

 

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 
issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 
issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 

 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCiiivvviiiccc   AAArrreeeaaa   PPPlllaaannn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Board and community input 
 Council participation in Ideas 

Competition 
 

 Council direction on preferred 
option(s) and strategies  

 Draft plan  
o Development 
o Community input 
o Study Session 

 Municipal Space Study Final 
Report 

 Boulder Civic Area vision and 
plan  
o Study session 
o Public hearings on adoption 

 

 

Packet Page     593



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 3

 
NEXT TIER PRIORITIES 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      UUUnnniiivvveeerrrsssiiitttyyy   HHHiiillllll    RRReeevvviiitttaaallliiizzzaaatttiiiooonnn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 2013 action priorities confirmed by 

Council at January retreat 
 Hill Residential Service District – 

update 
 Innovation District - update 

 Action on other priorities 
 Hill Residential Service District 

– 1st reading of petition 
 

 Capital infrastructure 
improvements for the residential 
and commercial areas – consider 
during CIP process 

 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAddddddrrreeessssssiiinnnggg   HHHooommmeeellleeessssssnnneeessssss      

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 City and Community Efforts – 

Denver sleeping ordinance (IP) 
 Housing First (1175 Lee Hill Road) 

– Statement of Operations (IP)  
 Work plan check in and priority – 

Council retreat 
 

 Analysis of funding for 
homeless services and 
alignment with the Ten Year 
Plan and unmet needs 

 Ten Year Plan to Address 
Homelessness – progress 
update (IP) 

 Analysis and recommendations 
regarding banning panhandling on 
street corners 

 Ten Year Plan to Address 
Homelessness – progress update 
(IP) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBooouuullldddeeerrr   JJJuuunnnccctttiiiooonnn   IIImmmpppllleeemmmeeennntttaaatttiiiooonnn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Depot Square implementation – 

update 
 MU-4 zone change - consideration 
 TDM District Implementation 

Update (IP) 
 Update on potential policy issues 

related to key public improvements 
and city owned site (as needed) 

 Update on potential policy 
issues related to key public 
improvements and city owned 
site (as needed) 

 Boulder Junction Access District 
Parking – update  

 TDM Access District 
implementation - IP  

 

 

 
 
 

Packet Page     594



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 4

 
OTHER 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      OOOttthhheeerrr   CCCiiitttyyy   GGGoooaaalllsss   aaannnddd   WWWooorrrkkk   PPPlllaaannn   IIIttteeemmmsss   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 13th Street Plaza - IP 
 28th Street Multi-use Path and 

Bikeable Shoulders Iris to Yarmouth 
CEAP – potential call up 

 Acquisition Plan Update - OSMP 
 Alcohol/ Land Use Code Changes – 

options and recommendations 
 Boating on Barker Reservoir 
 Burke Park/ Thunderbird Lake – 

recommendations on lake water 
levels and enhancing park facilities 

 BVCP Area III Planning Reserve 
Amendments (if approved by 
County) 

 Chautauqua Guiding Principles, 
Next Steps –update on progress 

 Civic Use Task Force – update from 
Council members 

 Cultural Master Plan 
 Design and Construction Standards 

Update – consideration of minor 
updates 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Hogan Pancost – annexation and 

site review 
o Wonderland Creek Townhouses – 

potential call up 
o 28th and Canyon (Eads/ Golden 

Buff) – potential call up 
o Landmark Lofts II (970 28th 

Street) – potential call up 
 East Arapahoe Study – potential 

action on limited zoning changes 
 Economic Sustainable Strategies – 

 Access and Parking 
Management Strategies – study 
session 

 Alcohol Land Use Code 
Changes - action 

 Baseline Underpass East of 
Broadway CEAP – Call up 

 Bike Parking Ordinance 
Updates 

 Capital Improvement Bond 
Projects status update - IP 

 Capital Projects – carry over 
and first supplemental 

 Critical Facilities Ordinance – 
public hearing and motion 

 Education Excise Tax – 
consideration of City Manager 
funding recommendations 

 Floodplain Management 
including Boulder Creek 
Mapping, South Boulder Creek 
Mitigation, and Critical 
Facilities 

 Human Rights Ordinance – 
proposed changes regarding age 
discrimination 

 Integrated Pest Management 
Program Changes - IP 

 International Building and 
Energy Codes – public hearing 

 North Boulder Subcommunity 
Plan - IP 

 Old Hire Fire and Police 
Pension Plans – Study Session 

 2014 Budget Process 
 Access and Parking Management 

strategies (update) 
 Boulder Reservoir Site 

Management Plan – status of 
planning efforts and outcomes of 
community engagement (IP) 

 Capital Improvement Program – 
study session 

 Carter Lake Pipeline – thru CIP 
process 

 Contractor Licensing – proposed 
changes (IP) 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Blue Spruce Auto (4403 

Broadway) – potential call up 
o Boulder Outlook Hotel 

Redevelopment (800 28th 
Street) –  potential call up 

o Colorado Building Parking Lot 
(1301 Walnut) - ordinances 

o 1000 Alpine – potential call up 
o 3085 Bluff – potential call up 
o 3390 Valmont (Former 

Sutherlands Site) – potential 
call up 

 Eco Pass- report on results of 
Joint Study with Boulder County 
on community-wide Eco Pass 
Feasibility 

 FAM Master Plan – study session 
 Harbeck-Bergheim House – 

Future Use Options (IP) 
 North Trail Study Area – study 

 Access and Parking Management 
Strategies – update 

 Agriculture Plan (OSMP) – public 
hearing 

 Capital Improvement Program – 
adoption of CIP; 2nd budget 
supplemental 

 Contractor Licensing – 
consideration of proposed changes 

 Design and Construction Standards 
Update – consideration of 
additional changes 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Village Shopping Center Hotel 

(26th and Canyon) – potential call 
up 

 East Arapahoe Study – check in on 
project scope and work plan (3/4Q) 

 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City 
Buildings – results of employee 
education and outreach project (IP) 

 FAM Master Plan – consideration 
of acceptance 

 Fourmile Canyon Creek Violet 
Avenue to Broadway CEAP – 
potential call up 

 Human Relations Commission 
Work Plan update - IP 

 Human Services Fund allocations - 
IP 

 Light Response Vehicle Pilot 
Program - IP 

 OSMP Natural Resources 
Overarching Issues – Study session 

Packet Page     595



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 5

study session 
 Education Excise Tax Allocation of 

Funds – refine RFP criteria 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City 

Buildings – employee education and 
outreach project (IP) 

 Floodplain Management including 
Boulder Creek Mapping, South 
Boulder Creek Mitigation, and 
Critical Facilities 

 Hazardous Materials Management 
IGA 

 Hydroelectric operations and 
opportunities - IP 

 Keep It Clean IGA 
 Mobile Food Vending – options for 

ordinance changes 
 Multi-hazard mitigation plan – 

possible consent item 
 Nuisance Mosquito Control Pilot 

Project Evaluation - IP 
 OSMP Overarching Issues – 

discussion and possible action on 
Voice and Sight Tag Program, 
Commercial Use Program, Pilot 
Parking Permit Program; IP on 
timeline and process for evaluation 
of remaining topics 

 Police Department Master Plan – 
Study Session 

 State of the Court Presentation 
 Sustainable Streets & Centers – 

update on proposed scope options, 
next steps and integration with 
TMP, East Arapahoe Area Plan and 
proposed Economic Sustainability 
Strategy 

 Transportation Funding (SS) 
 TMP Update – additional direction 

 OSMP natural resources – 
overarching policy issues 
o Temporal Regulations 
o Penalties for violations 
o Multi-modal access and 

parking opportunities 
o Analysis of trail network and 

distribution of activities 
 Parks and Recreation Master 

Plan 
 Pearl Street Mall Code Changes 
 Police Department Master Plan 
 Randolph Center Condominium 

Declaration 
 Recirculation of wastewater – 

CU Williams Village North (IP 
if necessary) 

 Skunk Creek, Bluebell Creek 
and King’s Gulch Flood 
Mapping Update – public 
hearing and motion 

 Smoking Ban on Pearl Street 
Mall - IP 

 Snow and Ice Control 
Evaluation – study session 

 Transportation Funding – study 
session 

 TMP Update – additional 
direction 

 Twomile and Upper Goose 
Creek Flood Mapping Update – 
public hearing and motion 

 Water budgets – commercial, 
industrial and institutional – 
Council direction 

 Water supply status – IP 

session or dinner discussion 
 Old Hire Fire and Police Pension 

Plans – possible discussion during 
budget process 

 Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
 Regional Trail Connections 

(OSMP) – IP 
 South Boulder Creek Flood 

Mitigation Study – public hearing 
and motion 

 Transportation Demand 
Management Toolkit - IP 

 Valmont Butte Future Use 
Discussions – study session 

 Water Conservation Futures Study 
 Youth Opportunities Funding 

allocations - IP 

on remaining topics 
 Urban Wildlife – Consideration of 

Wildlife Protection Ordinance  
 Water budgets – commercial, 

industrial and institutional – 
consideration of changes 

Packet Page     596



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 6

 US36 Bikeway Maintenance – 
Enhancements IGA (tentative based 
on if extra community investments 
are desired) 

 Urban Wildlife – Black Bear 
Education and Enforcement pilot 
program update 

 Woodland Creek Diagonal to 
Winding Trail CEAP – potential call 
up 

 Zero Waste Master Plan Update 
 

KEY 
ADU Accessory Dwelling Units 
BVCP Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
CEAP Community and Environmental Assessment Process 
CIP Capital Improvement Program 
CU University of Colorado 
DUHMD/PS Downtown and University Hill Management District/ Parking Services (City 

Division) 
FAM Facility and Asset Management 
ICC International Code Council 
IGA Intergovernmental Agreement 
IP Information Packet 
OAU Owner Accessory Units 
OSMP Open Space/Mountain Parks Department 
RFQ Request for Qualifications 
RFP Request for Proposals 
TDM Transportation Demand Management 
TMP Transportation Master Plan 
ZWMP Zero Waste Master Plan 

 

Packet Page     597



 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
ACCOMPLISHMENTS – 1ST AND 2ND QUARTER 2012  

 
TOP PRIORITIES: 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBOOOUUULLLDDDEEERRR’’’SSS   EEENNNEEERRRGGGYYY   FFFUUUTTTUUURRREEE   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Hiring of Executive Director for Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development 
 Retention of FERC and acquisition legal counsel 
 Initial work in developing appraisal of distribution system and preparing legal strategy 
 Initial work on Phase 1 of a new Energy Action Plan, including demand side programs and renewables modeling 
 Active participation at the PUC to advance Boulder’s energy goals and protect community interests 
 Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric Facility Agreement: City Council authorized the dedication of easements to Public Service 

Company of Colorado to facilitate upgrades to the city’s Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric Facility. 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCLLLIIIMMMAAATTTEEE   AAACCCTTTIIIOOONNN   PPPLLLAAANNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Third party review and evaluation of CAP tax funded programs to date 
 Preparation of November 2012 CAP tax ballot options for Council consideration 
 Initial steps to develop and refine a new Climate Action Framework consisting a renewed climate action commitment, five-year 

goals, annual targets, integration with appropriate master plans and city operations, and new reporting tools 
 Initial work to identify priorities for the next generation of energy efficiency programs (as part of Phase 1 of the Energy Action 

Plan) 
 Development of Commercial Energy Efficiency Strategy approach and stakeholder process (to be integrated as part of Phase 1 of 

the Energy Action Plan) 
 Continued delivery of CAP programs and services to achieve annual targets (EnergySmart, Ten for Change, SmartRegs 

compliance, etc.) 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City Facilities - (a) Energy Performance Contract (EPC) – Phase III; (b) Lease purchase financing 

for energy conservation measures; and (c) Energy improvements, lease amendments, and payments. - Implemented the third phase 
of Energy Performance Contracts (EPC) for city facilities, including the installation of another 347 kilowatts of solar photovoltaic 

Packet Page     598



 
at the Municipal Service Center buildings, Fleet Services, OSMP Annex and The Dairy Center for the Arts. 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City Facilities – Employee Education and Outreach Project (Information Packet) - A staff team 

participated in three workshops with McKinstry, the city’s Energy Performance Contractor, to help develop a new PowerED energy 
education and outreach program for employees. Program development will continue with other city staff focus groups through the 
end of December 2012. 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAFFFFFFOOORRRDDDAAABBBLLLEEE   HHHOOOUUUSSSIIINNNGGG   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Added 12 new permanently affordable homes to inventory  
 Affordable housing agreement for Gunbarrel Town Center 
 Affordable Housing Program Work plan - Council Consideration and Direction; new initiatives identified 
 Analysis completed of affordable housing distribution 
 Completed funding of major renovations to improve housing quality and economic sustainability of three BHP properties 
 Development of voluntary affordable housing agreement for Depot Square project 
 Inclusionary Housing Rental Policies – Council Consideration and Direction 
 Thistle Community Housing completing fire sprinklers in all of its properties 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCIIIVVVIIICCC   CCCEEENNNTTTEEERRR   MMMAAASSSTTTEEERRR   PPPLLLAAANNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Development of interdepartmental project team and approach; project goals and objectives; and public engagement strategy 
(reviewed at joint Planning Board / City Council study session in April) 
 Detailed design of community visioning process and articulation of key project assumptions (reviewed with Council at June 12 

study session) 
 Preparation of baseline materials and launch of public engagement in July. 
 The Municipal Space Study contract was awarded to StudioTerra on March 23.  FAM and the consultants are interviewing city 

departments and conducting research on industry trends and standards for office space.  Preliminary results of the space study, as it 
relates to the Civic Center Master Plan, will be presented at the July 31 study session. 

 

Packet Page     599

http://www.peoplepowerplanet.com/


 
 
 

NEXT TIER PRIORITIES: 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      UUUNNNIIIVVVEEERRRSSSIIITTTYYY   HHHIIILLLLLL   RRREEEVVVIIITTTAAALLLIIIZZZAAATTTIIIOOONNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Zoning change: Business Main Street (BMS) boundary to coincide with the University Hill General Improvement District 
boundary; rezoning of UHGID lots to BMS zoning (approved by Planning Board; scheduled for Council consideration in August) 
 Continued work of the Hill Ownership Group to develop a comprehensive revitalization strategy. 
 In coordination with a volunteer, stakeholder committee completed a proposal for a Residential Service District which includes: 

boundaries, scope of services, proposed budget, proposed governance structure, agreements for financial participation by tax-
exempt sororities and fraternities, and a timeline for a 2013 Petition and Election process.   
 Landmarking of Flatirons Theater building (and associated building renovation) 
 955 Broadway (Acacia Fraternity site redevelopment) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAADDDDDDRRREEESSSSSSIIINNNGGG   HHHOOOMMMEEELLLEEESSSSSSNNNEEESSSSSS   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Council Consideration and Direction on:  1175 Lee Hill Project; added 31 permanent housing units for chronically homeless, 
disabled adults 
 Continued Homeless Service Provider Coordination Project to develop action plans for case management, outreach and service 

coordination 
 Continued implementation of Ten year Plan to Address Homelessness 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBOOOUUULLLDDDEEERRR   JJJUUUNNNCCCTTTIIIOOONNN   IIIMMMPPPLLLEEEMMMEEENNNTTTAAATTTIIIOOONNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Developed and implemented a funding strategy to finance the acquisition of 100 parking spaces by the Boulder Junction Access 
District – Parking (BJAD-P) in the Depot Square parking garage including a Lease/Purchase Agreement between BJAD-P and the 
developer, and a City of Boulder/BJAD-P Cooperation Agreement 
 Developed a strategy to manage parking in the parking structure through technology and a management agreement among the 

Packet Page     600



 
users.  The arrangement provides for parking spaces to be paid, unbundled, and shared in a manner to meet the needs of the various 
users of Depot Square (hotel, residential, RTD) and general parking in BJAD-P spaces.  Agreement was reached with RTD 
regarding short term and long term parking management strategies given their current legislative mandate. 
 Finalized the ownership structure for five different owners to coordinate management of their units and common areas through a 

Condominium Declaration for the Depot Square project 
 Finalized a renovation agreement and lease consistent with guiding principles with Pedersen Development Corporation for the 

Depot 
 Finalized legal agreements for joint public/private development of Depot Square (RTD facility, shared parking, affordable housing, 

hotel, public space and rehabilitation of historic depot  
 Approved changes to the Transportation Network Plan in support of the Transit Village Area Plan (TVAP) 
 Revised Street Design for Pearl Parkway and Connections Plan Revisions (adopted by Council January 17) 
 Consistent with the TVAP connections plan and along with private redevelopment, a number of capital improvements are 

underway, including the installation of underground power lines, preparations for installing a traffic signal at Junction Place and 
Pearl Parkway, and portions of the Pearl Parkway multi-way boulevard 
 Consistent with the TVAP connections plan, design work continues for the bridge over Goose Creek and the multi-use path on the 

north side of Pearl Parkway between 30th Street and Foothills Parkway 
 Received a Federal Hazard Elimination Program grant award through the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) that will 

allow installation of a traffic signal at 29th Street and Valmont Road, improving safety and implementing improvements identified 
in the Transit Village Area Plan (TVAP) (project will begin in 2014)  
 Completion of engineering and building construction plan review for a 319 unit residential development at 3100 Pearl and the RTD 

Depot Square transit-oriented development  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page     601



 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      OOOTTTHHHEEERRR   CCCIIITTTYYY   GGGOOOAAALLLSSS   AAANNNDDD   WWWOOORRRKKK   PPPLLLAAANNN   IIITTTEEEMMMSSS   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

CCCAAAPPPIIITTTAAALLL   IIITTTEEEMMMSSS   
 Anemone Trails (new) – design work completed 
 Arapahoe Avenue (Folsom to 30th) - Multimodal Improvements Project Completed construction on the Arapahoe Avenue multi-

use path project. The remaining street resurfacing and landscaping work will be completed in 2012. 
 Boulder Creek and South Boulder Creek – restoration of grassland and riparian areas continued 
 Broadway (Euclid to 18th) - Transportation Improvements Project - Made progress on the Broadway (Euclid to 18th) 

Transportation Improvements Project. 16th Street opened the first week of May and the Broadway underpass and the four lanes on 
Broadway (two in each direction) are scheduled for completion by early July. 

 Broke ground in January for a new multi-use path on the south side of Baseline, connecting U.S. 36 and the Bear Creek 
Underpass, including a pedestrian crossing for Baseline Road at Canyon Creek.  Completion of the multi-use path on the west end 
is underway through a redevelopment project. 

 Completed a new sidewalk along Gillaspie Drive, connecting Greenbriar Boulevard and Juilliard Street connecting to Fairview 
High School 

 Completed the course bunker renovation/playability project at Flatirons Golf Course by installing 19 new sand bunkers  
 Continued work at Valmont City Park, including additional construction at Valmont Bike Park; outreach and design for Valmont 

Dog Park; and design and construction of the interim disc golf course 
 Facility ADA Compliance - An Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) consultant completed comprehensive ADA assessments 

for the Park Central and Municipal buildings. Costs for the recommendations are being identified and prioritized, with other 
buildings planned for assessment. 

 Green Bear Trail Re-route – work in progress with one section completed and opened to public 
 Gregory Canyon Trailhead Site Plan – initial site plan design work began 
 Homestead Trail Re-route – work in progress with one section completed and opened to public 
 Library Facility Upgrades and Enhancements (New Children’s Library and New Teen Space): The selection of a design firm is 

underway 
 Linden Avenue Sidewalk Project (Safe Routes to School) - Completed a Safe Routes to School Project, providing a sidewalk on 

the north side of Linden Avenue between Fourth Street and Broadway. 
 New Wildland Fire Facilities - Responses to the request for qualifications (RFQ) for facility designs were received on May 11. 

Requests for proposals (RFP) to be sent in early June 
 Organic farming – agricultural contract written for 47 acres 

Packet Page     602



 
 Replaced traffic signal incandescent lamps with sustainable, energy-saving light-emitting diode (LED) lamps 
 Sanitas Stone Hut Repair – hut was reinforced and stonework repaired 
 South Boulder Creek West Trailhead – Parking areas for cars and horse trailers completed and open to public; working through 

permit process for outhouse and kiosk installations; interpretive signs in production 
 South Boulder Recreation Center - The contaminated sub floors from the gymnasium, racquetball court, and Pilates room have 

been removed and are expected to be replaced with new wood floors by early June 2012.  
 Street repair expanded efforts – began the first of three years 

 
OOOTTTHHHEEERRR   SSSIIIGGGNNNIIIFFFIIICCCAAANNNTTT   AAACCCTTTIIIOOONNNSSS 111    
 Boulder B-cycle station at the North Boulder Recreation Center sponsored 
 Boulder Community Hospital Expansion Rezoning 
 BVCP: Area II study results and potential next steps (IP to City Council in July) 
 BVCP Comprehensive Rezoning (scheduled for council consideration in August) 
 BVCP 2010 Major Update: planning reserve policy changes (study session discussion with Council on May 29; Council and 

County Commissioner dinner discussion on June 14) 
 Boulder Reservoir Master Plan completed 
 Boulder Valley School District Faculty and Staff Eco Pass Program Expansion - Continued partnership with the Boulder Valley 

School District (BVSD) to expand the BVSD faculty and staff Eco Pass program. 
 Chautauqua Stewardship Framework: Draft and Next Steps 
 City Website Redesign Kickoff - Kicked off redesign with Vision Internet and the City of Arvada. Gathered a list of key 

stakeholders and surveyed them regarding elements the new website should contain. 
 Code enforcement - reallocation of resources to the Boulder Police Department was fully implemented to ensure efficient and 

effective service delivery 
 Community and Environmental Assessment Process (CEAP) for flood mitigation and transportation improvements along Fourmile 

Canyon Creek, near Crest View Elementary School completed, including a City Council call-up opportunity. 
 Compatible Development implementation - annual report to Council 
 Congregate Care code changes (pending further consideration based on Council direction) 
 Constituent Relationship Management (CRM) procurement effort - Designed and implemented a staff engagement and 

procurement initiative to implement a new CRM application resulting in the unanimous selection of Government Outreach.  
Vendor contract negotiations are currently underway.  This initiative is designed to significantly improve our customers’ ability to 
request, track and ultimately receive more timely and effective services while providing staff with automated tools to better 

                                                 
 

Packet Page     603



 
manage these requests. 

 Disposable Bag Reduction Ordinance: research and options presented to Council on May 15; work on nexus study underway 
 Draft Fire-Rescue Master Plan completed and approved by Planning Board.   
 Economic Sustainability Strategy: phase one study of primary employer space needs underway; presentation of results to Council 

scheduled for August  
 Elks neighborhood park planning, outreach and design continued with construction and completion in 2013 
 Family Resource Center opened at Manhattan Middle School in partnership with Boulder County Housing and Human Services 
 FasTracks’ Northwest Rail Plan - Approved guiding principles for developing and designing a hybrid approach to FasTracks’ 

Northwest Rail Plan. 
 Fire Master Plan – Council feedback on strategies (April 3, 2012); Planning Board recommendation for acceptance (May 17, 

2012); Scheduled for Council consideration (June 19, 2012) 
 Heather wood Trail Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) - City Council authorized the signing of an intergovernmental agreement 

(IGA) with Boulder County related to the maintenance of a trail that crosses the Wastewater Treatment Facility property. 
 Integrated Pest Management Policy Revision and Program Direction (Council provided direction on May 1) 
 Landmarking of First Christian Church building (950 28th Street) 
 Locomotive #30 narrow gauge historic cosmetic restoration completed  
 Mesa Memorial Park design and development initiated 
 Mosquito control annual report (Completed report on the IPM web site – link will be provided to council with first weekly 

mosquito report in June) 
 Named number 3 on list of best cities for bicycling by Bicycling Magazine, in part due to the Valmont Bike Park and new path 

connections made possible by the capital improvement bond 
 New Transportation Safety Ordinances - Approved ordinance changes to improve transportation safety in the city and initiated 

education and enforcement efforts to support the ordinance changes 
 Organic turf and landscape bed program at six park locations launched 
 Received a Safe Routes to School Grant to install a traffic signal at South Boulder Road and Manhattan Drive to create a safe 

crossing for middle school students taking transit, riding, or walking to and from school. 
 RH-2 Zone District Changes (scheduled for council consideration in August) 
 Safe Streets Boulder report published in February. 
 SmartRegs - Continued the successful implementation of SmartRegs and the pilot program for rental housing licensing 

enforcement. The backlog of rental license compliance cases is almost entirely eliminated. 
 Transportation Report on Progress, Transportation to Sustain a Community published in February. 
 Valmont Butte – VCUP implementation commenced; excavation work began on April 4 with both the tribe-designated native 

cultural monitor and the city’s archaeologist consultant present.   

Packet Page     604



 
 Veterans and active duty military personnel recreation pass program developed 

 
 
 
 
Key: 
 
ADA = Americans with Disabilities Act 
BHP = Boulder Housing Partners 
BVSD = Boulder Valley School District 
BMS = Business Main Street   
CAP = Climate Action Plan 
CDOT = Colorado Department of Transportation  
EPC = Energy Performance Contract 
EET = Education Excise Tax 
FAM = Facilities and Asset Management (City Division) 
FERC = Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
IGA = Inter-governmental Agreement 
IP = Information Packet 
OSMP = Open Space/ Mountain Parks Department 
PUC = Colorado Public Utilities Commission 
RFP = Request for Proposals 
RFQ = Request for Qualifications 
RTD = Regional Transportation District 
TVAP = Transit Village Area Plan 
UHGID = University Hill General Improvement District 
VCUP = Colorado Voluntary Cleanup Program 
 
 

Packet Page     605



1/23/2013 
 

                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew 
Appelbaum 

 Mayor 

Lisa Morzel  Mayor Pro Tem 
Suzy Ageton  Council Member 

KC Becker  Council Member 
Macon Cowles  Council Member 
Suzanne Jones  Council Member 

George Karakehian  Council Member 
Tim Plass  Council Member 

Ken Wilson  Council Member 
                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Bob Eichem  Chief Financial Officer 
Alisa D. Lewis  City Clerk 

Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 
David Driskell  Community Planning + Sustainability -  Executive Director 

Paul J. Fetherston  Deputy City Manager 
Molly Winter  Downtown, University Hill Management & Parking Services 

Director 
Heather Bailey  Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Executive Director 

Larry Donner  Fire Chief 
  Housing, Assistant City Manager for 

Mary Ann Weideman  Human Resources (Acting) Director 
Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 

Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 
Eileen Gomez  Labor Relations Director 

Valerie Maginnis  Library and Arts Director 
Lynne C. Reynolds  Municipal Court Administrator 

Michael Patton  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 
Kirk Kincannon  Parks and Recreation Director 

Mark Beckner  Police Chief 
Maureen Rait  Public Works - Executive Director  

Tracy Winfree  Transportation Director 
Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 

 

Packet Page     606



1/30/13     Approved   01-22-2013 

2013 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Karakehian, Wilson (alt) 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones, Appelbaum (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Becker, Jones (Alternate) 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Ageton 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Plass, Morzel (at large seat) 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU) / City Oversight Wilson, Jones, Karakehian 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum, Ageton (alternate) 
US36 Commuting Solutions Ageton, Karakehian (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Morzel 

 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Cowles, Becker (alternate) 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Becker, Plass (alternate)  
Dairy Center for the Arts Karakehian 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board Plass, Jones 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Morzel, Becker, Cowles 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)  
Mayoral Appointment 

Becker (appointed through 2015) 

Charter Committee Morzel, Cowles, Ageton, Karakehian 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Morzel, Jones, Becker 
Council Budget Action Plan Committee Ageton, Becker, Plass 
Evaluation Committee Karakehian, Morzel 
Legislative Committee Ageton, Karakehian, Wilson, Jones 
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Ageton 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Karakehian 
Yamagata, Japan Wilson 
Mante, Mexico Plass 
Yateras, Cuba Cowles 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, Cowles 
 

Packet Page     607


	00_Agenda
	3A_June 10, 2013 Minutes
	3B_June 18, 2013 Minutes
	3C_June 11, 2013 Work Plan Update Study Session Summary
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Attachment A - Study Session Summary

	3D_July 23, 2013 Municipalization Study Session Summary
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation
	Attachment A - Study Session Summary
	Attachment B - Reponses to Council Questions

	3E_Appointing 2013 Auditor
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback and Analysis
	Proposed Resolution

	3F_2012 CAFR
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Impacts and Feedback
	Background and Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Resolution
	Attachment B - Ind. Auditor's 2012 Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
	Attachment C - Independent Auditor's 2012 Management Letter with City Responses
	Attachment D - 2012 CAFR

	3G_Emergency Ordinance Supplement 117
	Executive Summary
	Impacts, Recommendation and Discussion
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

	3H_US 36 Managed Lanes Project Disposal of Open Space Land
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback and Analysis
	Attachment A - Vicinity Map
	Attachment B - Location Map
	Attachment C - Location Map
	Attachment C - Land Descriptions

	3I_Jewel Disposal of Open Space Land
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Impacts and Feedback
	Background and Analysis
	Attachment A - Vicinity Map
	Attachment B - Location Map
	Attachment C - Valve Set Depiction
	Attachment D - Legal Descriptions

	5A_Ord. 7917 Third Party Evaluation
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation and Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - Answers to Questions from July 23 Study Session

	5B_Ord. 7918 Acquisition through negotiation or condemnation
	Executive Summary
	Recommendations, Impacts and Feedback
	Background and First Reading Questions
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Ordinance 7918

	5C_Ord. 7919 Ballot Language for Citizen Initiated Amendment to Charter
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Background
	Attachment A - Ordinance 7919
	Attachment B - Timeline and Details of South Daytona, FL
	Attachment C - Timeline and Details of Winter Park, FL

	5D_Ord. 7920 Alternative Ballot Measure to Initiated Amendment
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback and Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Ordinance 7920
	Attachment B - Draft Ordinance from 07.24.13

	8B_Board and Commission Appointments
	Executive Summary 
	List of Appointments
	Attachment A - Vacancy Report
	Attachment B - Applicant List

	08062013IPprinter
	Cover Sheet
	1A  1023 Walnut Street
	1B  Call Up 3015 Kalmia Ave
	2A  Boulder's Energy Future Budget Update
	3A  Arts Commission Amended - February 20, 2013
	3B  Arts Commission - July 24, 2013
	3C  Landmarks Board - June 5, 2013
	3D  Library Commission - June 5, 2013

	Reference Materials
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. and 3.  An updated Council Master Calendar will be provided again beginning August 20
	4. City Council Goals 2013
	5. Council Work Plan - 2013
	6. Workplan Update - 2012 Accomplishments
	7. Council and Key Staff
	8. Council Committee Assignments



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV <>
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV <>
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV <>
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV <>
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV <>
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




